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Shared
Value…

Lonmin is one of the world’s largest primary
producers of Platinum Group Metals (PGMs).
These metals are essential for many industrial
applications, especially catalytic converters
for internal combustion engine emissions,
as well as their widespread use in jewellery.

Our core operations, consisting of eleven shafts and inclines, are situated

in the Bushveld Complex in South Africa, a country which hosts nearly

80% of global PGM resources. We have been granted a New Order

Mining Licence by the South African government for our core operations,

which runs to 2037 and is renewable to 2067. We have resources of

179 million troy ounces of PGMs and 43 million ounces of reserves.

We conduct business in a sustainable,
socially and environmentally responsible way.
We believe this is essential for Lonmin’s future and for the wellbeing of the communities
that host our operations.

See further information at www.lonmin.com
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The context
The mining industry is at a crossroad, calling
for a new collaborative model for decision
making to resolve issues and disagreements
before they turn into tension and mistrust.

Our commitment
We are committed to a process, including
fundamental change, to rebuild trust with
all our stakeholders.

g Safe sustainable start-up

g Improved Lost Time Injury Frequency
Rates (LTIFR)

g Production ramped up

g Corporate funding structure secured

g Focus on cost management continues

Lonmin

Government Investors

Use of invested
capital and infrastructure
work with labour and
industry to make better
use of invested capital
and infrastructure

Migrant and local
labour supply

review the current shift
system and leave cycles

Employee relations
and engagement

LONMIN

Employees/
communities

The Lonmin Renewal Plan:
a platform for operational excellence

We have developed a strategy
to navigate these uncertain
times and we have the expertise
and know how to safely and
sustainably deliver our cost
control ambitions, underpinned
by sound technical planning.

2013 Change
Initiatives

• Strong performance across the Company

– Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR) of 3.50, 
a 15.9% improvement on previous year, but sadly 
3 fatalities

– Production ramp up achieved well ahead of
Renewal Plan

– Highest Marikana underground tonnes hoisted
in 6 years (11 million)

– 751,000 Platinum ounces in concentrate achieved,
highest in 6 years and a 10.5% increase on last year

– Platinum sales of 696,000 ounces, exceeding
guidance of 660,000 ounces; pipeline rebuilt

– Immediately available ore reserves at 3.8 million
centares, up 14.7%

– Concentrator recoveries at record level at 87.0%

• Financial results

– Rights Issue of December 2012, raised net
proceeds of $767 million

– Underlying profit before tax of $158 million
($57 million in 2012)

– Net cash of $201 million (net debt of $421 million 
in 2012)

– Cost of production per PGM ounce increase
contained to 3.8% – exceeding guidance and lower
than South African inflation

– Capital expenditure of $159 million (below guidance
of $175 million – in line with guidance in Rand terms)

– Underlying Earnings per Share of 20.5 cents 
versus 3.9 cents in prior year (restated for impact 
of Rights Issue)

How we performed
in 2013:

Momentum re-established
at the beginning of the
financial year – we exceeded
our guidance.
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PROJECT
TEAM

Empowerment
address needs and
challenges of our
communities and
employees including

ESOPs and
Community trusts

Delivering shared value
We have established a project team
to deliver value for all our stakeholders
by focusing on five key initiatives,
which enhance the operational
achievements of the Lonmin
Renewal Plan.

C
OL

LABORATIVE

APPROACH

Housing and
accommodation

continue conversion of
hostels and contribute to

wellbeing and living conditions
of our employees and

communities

Lonmin Charter

Our Mission

To grow and build our portfolio
of high quality assets.

To deliver the requirements
of the South African broad-
based socio-economic Mining
Charter and we welcome the
opportunity to transform our
business.

To build a value-based
culture, which is founded
on safe work, continuous
improvement, common
standards and procedures,
community involvement and
one that rewards employees
for high performance.

We are successful
when
Our employees live and work
safely and experience the 
personal satisfaction that
comes with high performance
and recognition.

Our shareholders are realising
a superior total return on their
investment and support our
corporate sustainability values.

The communities in which we
operate value our relationships.

We are meeting our
commitments to all business
partners and our suppliers,
contractors, partners and
customers support our
Charter.

Our Values

Zero Harm
We are committed to zero
harm to people and the 
environment.

Integrity, Honesty & Trust
We are committed ethical 
people who do what we say
we will do.

Transparency
Open, honest communication
and free sharing of information.

Respect For Each Other
Embracing our diversity 
enriched by openness, 
sharing, trust, teamwork
and involvement.

High Performance
Stretching our individual and
team capabilities to achieve 
innovative and superior
outcomes.

Employee Self-Worth
To enhance the quality of life
for our employees and their
families and promote self 
esteem.

We are Lonmin, a primary producer of Platinum Group Metals. We create value by
the discovery, acquisition, development and marketing of minerals and metals.

We respect the communities and nations that host our operations and conduct 
business in a sustainable, socially and environmentally responsible way.

Roger Phillimore
Chairman

July 2013

Ben Magara
Chief Executive Officer
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f Performance Highlights

f 2013 Change Initiatives

Dea r Fellow Sha reholder,
The past year has been one of progress for your Company, marked by restored financial stability,
impressive operational performance, continued achievements in safety and changes at senior
management level which position us well to make further progress in the performance and
standing of Lonmin.

I would like to start by offering my thanks to all of you who supported our Rights Issue at the
beginning of our financial year. Almost 97% of shareholders took up their rights and this,
combined with the support of our banks in agreeing new loan facilities, placed Lonmin on a solid
and disciplined financial footing for the future.

It has been a turbulent year in terms of the social and political environment in which we operate.
From that turbulence has come welcome direction from the Government of the Republic of South
Africa which has become more involved in the issues which affect us, particularly labour matters,
as it has become clear that these are key not just in mining but across the country’s economy.
We welcome that involvement. I believe the Government recognises that business alone cannot
deal with many of the socio-economic issues driving these changes, and that the nation’s
economic future rests on dealing with them. Lonmin has a major role to play in improving the
lives of its employees and the communities around its operations and will act with determination
as both catalyst and contributor to achieve this.

Whilst Lonmin has made positive strides this year, it has done so against the background of an
economic environment which continues to be tough. Prices have not recovered, the Rand/Dollar
exchange rate is volatile and we have seen renewed challenges with organised labour as the face
of union representation changes across the platinum industry in South Africa.

Our response to these changes is centred on our belief that employee relations and issues of
sustainability and transformation are as key to our success as those around mining, processing
and marketing. At the Annual General Meeting earlier this year your Board laid out five key
initiatives in this area, shown in a diagram on the previous page. You can read more about
progress in these areas throughout the Performance section of this report.

Alongside this some of our major commitments to Black Economic Empowerment (BEE) and
the Mining Charter must be fulfilled in the year ahead and your Company is working hard with
stakeholders to complete its obligations here. Our approach and proposals to achieve 26% BEE
ownership may need to be put to you, our shareholders, for approval in the course of the year.

Progress is being made in rebuilding relationships with our employees. Some of you will have
seen the moving pictures of the Sixteen-Eight Memorial event held at Marikana in August. This
was an emotional day but also one full of hope, and commendably conducted by everyone involved
in a spirit of remembrance and peace. It gave all who experienced it hope for the future.

That confidence in the future all stems from our performance as a business this year. You will see
solid numbers throughout our Annual Report and Accounts this year on mining, processing and
sales which, combined with our strategic vision for the coming years, bode well for creating
shareholder and stakeholder value. Whilst the year ahead will still remain challenging, particularly
around labour dynamics, our steady progress in 2013 allows us to remain cautiously confident
about the medium-term. Success will require us to achieve considerable improvement in the
efficiency of production. With constant vigilance on cash flow and the strength of the balance
sheet, capital expenditures will be prioritised to offer attractive, robust returns and be affordable.

Letter from Roger Phillimore

http://www.lonmin.com


  

In management we welcomed Ben Magara to Lonmin in July as our new CEO. Ben’s experience,
energy and passion for Lonmin is already producing results, and he has brought fresh perspectives,
skills and vision to bear. Simon Scott returns to his core role as CFO, having given outstanding
service as Acting CEO during a difficult 2013, and I know you will join me in thanking him for all
he has done.

Our previous permanent CEO, Ian Farmer, fell ill during August of last year. I am pleased to tell you
that Ian has made good progress with his recovery. I know all our shareholders would wish to
send their best wishes to Ian, who gave more than 26 years service to this Company before he
stepped down as a Director in December 2012.

A dividend is not proposed for the current financial year. However, Lonmin has confidence in the
future demand for PGMs and our expectation is for prices to firm in the future. Our Renewal Plan
anticipates positive free cash flow from the 2014 financial year onwards. The return to stronger
earnings and cash flows will permit the resumption of dividends. When we do resume the
payment of dividends, we intend to follow the existing policy of declaring an ordinary final
dividend at a rate which the Board expects can at least be maintained in subsequent years.

Given the performance of the business this year, which is especially impressive given the situation
in which we started the year being reported on here, I would also like to offer my thanks to our
Executive Committee, management and employees. Lonmin has come from a difficult place,
and through a terrible tragedy, and it is the determination of all our employees to help get the
business so successfully back on track which allows us to look forward with more confidence
to the year ahead.

We have also significantly strengthened your Board this year, with the addition of two new
Non-executive Directors, Gary Nagle and Paul Smith, from our largest shareholder Glencore
Xstrata. We also welcome Brian Beamish, who joins us as an Independent Non-executive
Director and Phuti Mahanyele who replaces Cyril Ramaposa as Shanduka’s representative
on the Board.

At the forthcoming AGM we will bid farewell to two Non-executive Directors, who have chosen
not to offer themselves for re-election. David Munro joined the Board in August 2007 and his
technical understanding and experience, always conveyed with an engaging directness, have
been an invaluable resource to the Board. Mahomed Seedat served as your Company’s COO
before retiring from his executive career, joining the Board as a Non-executive Director in
January 2011. During the crisis of August 2012 he re-joined the Executive Committee and
provided excellent and stalwart support to management and the Board, and continued to fulfil
this vital role until 30 September 2013. They leave with our heartfelt thanks and best wishes.

In November 2013 I informed the Board that I intended to retire. I joined the Company in
September 1997 when Lonmin was emerging from the remnants of the Lonrho Group. I became
Chairman on an interim basis in November 2008 and took the role on a permanent basis in
March 2009. After five years as Chairman, and leading the Board through some of the most
challenging years in the Company’s long history, I feel that the time is right to pass on the mantle.
We have an energetic and capable new CEO who has already re-examined our strategy, an
invigorated management team to support him and I believe Lonmin will benefit from the fresh
perspective of a new Chairman. The Nomination Committee has begun the search for a new
Chairman and although I will seek re-election at the AGM to provide continuity, I will step down
from the Board immediately that individual has been appointed.

Yours faithfully

Roger Phillimore
Chairman

“Impressive operational performance gives
us confidence for the future of this business.”
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We aim to be the safest primary producer of PGMs and to minimise our adverse
environmental impact.

Developing industry –
leading processing and
refining techniques.

Established mines in the world’s premier PGM
deposit with a long-life mineral resource. Significant
inherent value in the existing infrastructure and the
underground ore reserves that we have developed
ready for mining.

Our safety aim is zero harm. Some of our shafts
remain industry leaders. The 4B/1B shaft won
the prestigious JT Ryan trophy this year as
South African’s safest shaft of its type.
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Jewellery is the second major market for
platinum, accounting for an estimated
37% of total global platinum demand
in 2013.

Our current PGM resources will
enable us to sustain our business
for decades to come.
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01 /
S
trategic R

eport
03 /

Financial S
tatem

ents



Lonmin Plc
Annual Report and Accounts 2013

An Interview with the Chief Executive Officer

/ 04

“SINCE JOINING THE BUSINESS

I HAVE MADE IT MY PRIORITY TO

ENGAGE AND LISTEN TO ALL OUR

STAKEHOLDERS. THE COMMON

THEME FROM ALL OF THEM, FROM

SHAREHOLDERS TO COMMUNITIES,

IS A SHARED DESIRE FOR LONMIN

TO SUCCEED.”

Ben Magara
Chief Executive Officer

Q. What about the particular South African
challenges you face as a platinum mining
company?

A. I have been around long enough to experience four
economic cycles in the mining industry. I remember
the gold crisis, I remember when the National Union
of Mineworkers (NUM) was formed and I remember
union rivalry as far back as the early 1990s between
NUM and Mouthpiece on the very soil we are mining
today. There will always be challenges but it is how
we deal with those challenges that sets us apart.
Mining is synonymous with South Africa: a growing
South African economy needs a robust mining
industry. We need to stand up and lead, showing
new ways of doing things. Our challenges fall broadly
into the categories of economic empowerment,
transformation and leadership. Balancing the wish
for higher salaries, better benefits and improved
living conditions is something we need to work
towards together and they are all linked to our
industry’s financial reality. To achieve these, it is
necessary that the business is stable and runs at
optimal levels and profits. When everyone is pulling
in that direction, everyone wins.

That means a focus on operational excellence, value
optimisation, cost control and mining for margins
combined with a drive to build decent, dignified,
prosperous and sustainable communities – all driven
by the same tough delivery expectations.

Q. Why did you take this job?

A. First, it’s a good Company which can be a great
Company, which is an attractive prospect for any
leader to be involved in. We have strong assets,
resilient people with talent, pride and purpose. Our
growing operational credibility, safety record and a
strong team give us a good base to build on from
which we can effect real change and drive value.
Apart from the richness of the mineral endowment,
the critical differentiator between one mining
company and another is how people relate to one
another. I am driven by the need to motivate our
people to go the extra mile for Lonmin.

Q. What makes you the right man to lead Lonmin?

A. That’s really a question for the Board but what I can
tell you is the experience I bring, both operationally
and in relationship management. My 22 years of
experience in mining with Anglo American makes
me acutely aware of the challenges in our industry
and PGM markets. I am passionate about mining
and can’t think of any other industry that is more
exciting. It is an industry where our technical skills
are as important as our people skills. I cannot
emphasise enough the importance of relationships
in delivering value – migrating relationships from
win-lose mindsets to win-win outcomes – with all
stakeholders. I care very much how we engage and
collaborate, be it with our shareholders, employees,
managers, inspectors of mines, regulators,
communities and our partners. I think building a
better working environment and ensuring our
stakeholders want us to succeed too is as
important as driving the hard numbers, and that
approach has brought me some success so far.

Looking forward
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Q. So what has changed since you started?

A. Team Lonmin is doing a lot of good things and
clearly there are still a number of challenges and
opportunities that require us to work together to
realise the changes we want – and need – to restore
Lonmin to its leading role as a PGM mining
company that creates value for all its stakeholders.
I’m encouraged that we have made some significant
strides: the signing of the recognition agreement
with our majority union AMCU on 14 August is one
example. Flowing from that we are engaging
constructively with minority unions to find solutions
that will allow our business to thrive and all voices
to be heard. Secondly, on 29 October we donated
50 hectares of serviced land to the Government
of the North West Province to be used for much
needed housing in the Marikana area. The
anniversary of Marikana came and went without
incident despite some 25,000 people attending
an emotionally charged commemoration. In the
financial year just ended we have delivered on our
Renewal Plan, exceeded our ramp up expectations
and continued our journey towards zero harm. We
are working hard to get it right and it is gratifying to
see how much goodwill exists from stakeholders
who want to see us succeed and share our success.

Q. What about your leadership team?

A. We have an excellent team of individuals with great
competencies, capacity and capabilities. We have
recently added new faces and new responsibilities
in order to create the agility and capacity needed to
address our current and future challenges such as
stakeholder engagement and particularly reclaiming
the management of our employees. We are well
placed to take Team Lonmin to the next level.

Q. What about Black Economic Empowerment
(BEE) and sharing of benefits?

A. Among those who live in the shadow of our
operations there is a perception that mining is
endlessly wealthy and this perception is supported
by the sheer size of our infrastructure, all of which
creates huge levels of expectation. Lonmin’s
Historically Disadvantaged South African (HDSA)
ownership is currently at 18% and we are required
in terms of the Mining Charter to increase this to
26% by December 2014. The required increase in
BEE ownership provides us with the opportunity to
share equity with employees and communities, in a
way which is fair and equitable to all shareholders.
We need to grow and prosper in order to share
prosperity. That means productivity and efficiencies
must improve drastically.

Q. Does Lonmin have enough capital to fund its
operations?

A. In November last year shareholders recapitalised
the business and this together with a renegotiation
of our debt facilities de-risked our balance sheet
and we are in a much better place. Every economic
sector goes through cycles of profitability and
financial stress and it is our aim over the next two
years to fund our projects solely from our operations.

Q. How do you see the PGM industry today?

A. The industry is facing significant challenges but
the long-term fundamentals are strong. Those
challenges are chiefly around price, including its
volatility, as well as rising costs and increasingly
challenging technical mining conditions. There have
been issues with over investment during periods of
high prices and, of course, we face the real threat to
supply from recycling. Frugal management of cash
is therefore critical ahead of market recovery. The
wins are achievable, but we must work harder than
ever to ensure we benefit from them when they come.

Q. What does the future hold?

A. I don’t have a crystal ball but the robust long-term
fundamentals for PGMs coupled with Lonmin’s
stable balance sheet, quality ore body and the
capacity and quality of its people offer great promise
for the future. But simply waiting for it to happen
won’t work. Between now and then we need to do
two things: win back the hearts and minds of our
people and become a more efficient and effective
mining business. Then we will make money for our
shareholders and thereby “grow the pie” and bring
value for all our stakeholders too.

My view is that success will depend on our delivering:

• Safety and operational excellence: delivering
zero harm to people and the environment;

• Value optimisation: ensuring that our efforts from
mining and processing to sales and marketing,
including procurement of goods and services,
create the most value for our shareholders and
stakeholders;

• Industry collaboration: putting the collective
resources and talents of our industry peers,
trades unions and Government together to
contribute to social cohesion;

• Steady, visible improvement in social
infrastructure and sustainability: building support
from our stakeholders by proving to them
through our actions that a successful Lonmin
benefits their lives too; and

• Developing our people and relationships: this is
the foundation upon which everything else is built.

With the input of our employees, our management
team and all other stakeholders, I believe all of this
is possible.

Q. Your message to Team Lonmin?

A. Let’s individually and collectively put our shoulders
to the wheel to make Lonmin what it can be –
a great mining Company delivering value to all
our shareholders and stakeholders.

Ben Magara
Chief Executive Officer

AMCU
recognition
agreement
see p / 30 for
more information

BEE 
see p / 33 for
more information
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How we generate value
for our shareholders

LONMIN MINES, REFINES AND MARKETS PLATINUM GROUP METALS (PGMS) –

PLATINUM, PALLADIUM, RHODIUM, IRIDIUM, RUTHENIUM AND GOLD. GOLD

IS INCLUDED IN THIS GROUP IN THE ECONOMIC (THOUGH NOT CHEMICAL)

DEFINITION. PLATINUM IS OUR PRINCIPAL PRODUCT, AND IN A TYPICAL YEAR

IS THE SOURCE OF 60-70% OF OUR REVENUES.

Our key institutional shareholders tell us that they invest in our shares because they believe
in our business plans and management team but principally to gain exposure to the price
of platinum. For this reason, we don’t mine other commodities, except as by-products from
PGM mining. Those commodities are chrome, nickel, copper and cobalt.

While there will inevitably be short-term volatility in the prices of one or more of the PGMs,
we believe that the long-term fundamental economics of these metals remain highly attractive.

Our fundamental purpose is to create value for our shareholders.
This can take the form of dividends or other distributions or growth
in the value of their investment, or both, as we move through the
economic cycle. We generate value from our operations in four stages:

1. By securing prospecting and mining rights
to areas which have PGM mineralisation.
We hold rights to significant areas of the
Bushveld Complex in South Africa, the
world’s largest deposit of PGMs and home to
around 80% of the world’s known platinum
resources. We maintain a modest
international exploration budget, operating
largely in areas of known prospectivity for
PGMs – if successful, this could provide us
with new economic sources of PGMs in other
areas of the world divorced from the socio-
economic pressures associated with mining
in southern Africa and so mitigate the risks
faced by shareholders.

2. By developing these areas into resources and
reserves and managing mining operations.
With over 40 years’ experience in mining PGMs
in South Africa, Lonmin has developed expertise
that enables us to generate significant value from
our predominantly underground mining operations.

3. By developing industry leading processing
and refining techniques. We were the first
in our industry to commercialise the separate
treatment of UG2 ore and use our know-how
and technology to create value by putting
our ore through the full vertically integrated
processing chain, producing high purity
refined metals for sale.

4. By maintaining deep relationships
with key customers, acquiring market
intelligence and understanding of
market trends which then informs
our investment decisions.

⁄

⁄

⁄

⁄
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OUR AIM:
TO CREATE VALUE

FOR SHAREHOLDERS,
OVER TIME, GREATER
THAN THEIR COST

OF CAPITAL

Exploration

Ma
rke
tin
g

Processing

Mi
nin
g

We preserve and protect this value creation potential in five ways:

• Governance – we have created and maintain a robust internal
control and reporting environment, with strong processes for risk
identification and mitigation, implemented by a dynamic management
team and overseen by an experienced Board of Directors;

• Culture – we are seeking to develop a value based culture where
the behaviour of all employees, managers, Directors and others
helps promote an ethical, responsible and fair approach to how
we do business;

• Relationships – we work hard at establishing appropriate
relationships with a wide range of stakeholders from employees
and their trades unions, through communities and local government,
suppliers, contractors, customers and other business counterparties,
to national government in its many guises and the providers of our
funding – lending banks and our shareholders;

• Sustainability – we believe that there is only one way to sustain
our success, by taking all critical risks into account when we are
planning the business. Working safely, respecting those with
whom we work and protecting the environment are all part of our
core processes; and

• Transformation – operating in South Africa brings with it a
responsibility to help the nation overcome legacy challenges.
We endeavour to play our full part in addressing historic inequalities
and creating the conditions in which current and future generations
can succeed.

How we create value = what we do

How we preserve value = how we do it

We recognise that our business requires
inputs from, and has an effect on, a
number of stakeholders. We see it
as crucial that each group regards
that their relationship with Lonmin is
positive, and that they achieve some
net gain, whether financial or otherwise.
The analysis below shows how the
$1,530 million of cash earned in the
financial year was distributed:

Cents
in the

Destination US$m dollar

Payments to employees
(including Directors) 745 49

Payments to suppliers* 443 29

Payments to government 37 2

Payments to/for communities 8 1

Payments to bank lenders
(interest etc) 34 2

Cash retained for
reinvestment 263 17

Reconciling to: Cash
earned in the year 1,530 100

* A significant proportion will be wages paid to
contractors. We estimate around 60% of our costs
are labour related.

In 2013 we met costs of 80 cents for
every dollar we earned, predominantly
in South Africa, and kept another
17 cents for future reinvestment, again
predominantly in South Africa. We spent
2 cents in every dollar on interest and
fees to the banks who lent us money.
Payments for community projects and
donations amounted to one cent in
every dollar earned. Shareholders were
asked to provide funding to the Company
through the Rights Issue launched in
2013. This generated net proceeds of
$767 million, the equivalent of 50 cents
in cash for every dollar of cash earned.

Governance

Tra
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Creating value from our PGM
operations in South Africa

SOUTH AFRICA IS THE HOME OF AROUND 80% OF THE WORLD’S KNOWN

RESOURCES OF PLATINUM GROUP METALS AND OVER THE PAST 40 YEARS WE

HAVE INVESTED A SIGNIFICANT AMOUNT OF OUR SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS TO

CREATE THE CURRENT ASSET BASE.

Context – Our Current Asset Base
Current productive operations are in South Africa. We also have a small resource in Canada
and while we hope in time to find further economic PGM resources there and elsewhere,
for the foreseeable future our principal asset base will be located in South Africa.

We have a material investment in established mines in the world’s premier PGM deposit,
and have developed a long-life mineral resource over which we have long-term mineral
rights granted by the South African Government. There is significant inherent value in the
existing infrastructure and the underground ore reserves that we have developed ready
for mining. Our existing operations create value through mining, focus on safety, vertical
integration and harnessing our industry leading expertise in processing UG2 ore.

Description Underground mining of two
‘reefs’, Merensky and UG2 each
approximately 1m thick

Crushing circa 11 million tonnes
of ore brought to surface to
the consistency of talc, circa
75 microns

Separation of metalliferous
particles from silicate host rock
using basic physical chemistry

Output measurement Millions of tonnes Millions of tonnes Kilogrammes of PGMs
in concentrate

Effectiveness measures Tonnes hoisted
Ore reserves

Tonnes milled PGMs in concentrate (kgs)
Recovery rate (% of contained
PGMs recovered)

Quality measures Underground head grade, per
ore type (grammes per tonne)

Milled head grade
(grammes per tonne)

Concentrate grade
(grammes per tonne)

Efficiency measures Cost per ounce Cost per tonne milled Cost per ounce recovered

> > > >

Our Business

Process Mine Milling Concentrator
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Our current PGM resources will enable us to sustain our business for decades to come:

• Marikana operations – our flagship operation and currently the source of more than 95% of our
annual production;

• Pandora operations – a joint venture in which we have a 42.5% interest, contributes 5% of our
annual production;

• Marikana Smelters and Base Metal Refinery and Brakpan Precious Metal Refinery – capacity
to process and refine our current and future production, offering the potential to smelt and refine
third party and recycling material;

• Limpopo project – formerly an operational mine placed on care and maintenance in early 2009. 
We have a conditional agreement to sell control of this asset to our Black Economic Empowerment (BEE)
partner, Shanduka, in pursuit of our transformation objectives;

• Akanani project – following the recently completed pre-feasibility study, we consider this is a viable
resource which offers future optionality. We maintain our strategy of continuing exploration and studies
to develop a viable operation at this location;

• Canadian projects – joint ventures with Vale and Wallbridge exploring PGM mineralisation in the
Sudbury Basin in Ontario with a pre-feasibility study on a modest open pit completed; and

• Northern Ireland project – an early stage exploration opportunity in an area which shares a number
of geological hallmarks with known economically exploited PGM deposits.

Lonmin draws significant advantage from its position on two key stock exchanges – a primary listing in
London and a secondary listing in Johannesburg. They are the two exchanges on which investors are
most likely to seek to invest in our business model and strategy. It also provides the Company with
excellent flexibility for liquidity in capital markets, a healthy mix of longer and shorter term investors and
creates international capital inflows in to South Africa.

> > >Smelter Base Metal
Refinery

Precious Metal
Refinery Markets

Further separation of metals
(‘matte’) from silicate host rock
(‘slag’) using electrically-
generated heat

Chemical and electro-chemical
separation of base metals
(for sale in finished or semi-
finished form) from PGMs
within the matte

Chemical separation of the
individual PGMs contained in
BMR matte and refining to
purity of 99.995% or better for
sale in various finished forms

Two principal customers for
PGMs, both global corporations.
Six customers for base metals

Kilogrammes of PGMs
in smelter matte

Troy ounces of PGMs
in BMR matte

Troy ounces of finished metals Troy ounces of finished metals
purchased

Primary tonnes smelted
Recovery rate (% of contained
PGMs recovered)

Recovery rate (% of contained
PGMs recovered)

PGMs in saleable form
Recovery rate (% of contained
PGMs recovered)

Revenues per PGM ounce
achieved relative to price
in spot market

Convertor matte grade
(grammes per tonne)
Recovery rate (% of contained
PGMs recovered)

• Base metal Purity (%)
• PGM %
Recovery rate (% of contained
PGMs recovered)

Purity (%) Quality of product confirmed
by customer as complying
with specification

Cost per tonne smelted Cost per refined ounce Cost per refined ounce
First pass recoveries (% of each
metal recovered)
Throughput time

Days from delivery of PGMs
to cash settlement

> > >

OUR LONG LIFE ASSETS AND EXISTING INFRASTRUCTURE

WILL ENABLE US TO SUSTAIN OUR BUSINESS FOR

DECADES TO COME.

⁄
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Our current competitive position
The following diagram illustrates our current pipeline in mining, the engine room of our business which is
indicative of life cycle only:

Shaft Lifecycle of Marikana Mines

We have an extensive project pipeline which offers a range of options – extending the life of maturing shafts,
expanding production to fill existing infrastructure or growth options, should market conditions allow. Pursuing
these opportunities will require capital investment.

Of our eleven mine shafts, a significant number are either in the early stages of ramp up or in the sunset phase
of their existence. To bring the early stage operations to economic maturity will require capital investment.

Given the cyclical nature of our business and the risks associated with being a ‘pure play’ single commodity
miner, we seek to avoid carrying material levels of bank debt on anything but a short-term basis. Our philosophy
is that long-term projects should be funded from shareholders’ funds, whether equity or retained profits and
our ability to re-invest in our asset base is therefore contingent on short and medium-term profitability.

Context – Our Markets
PGMs are used globally in a range of ways:

• Autocatalysts – a vital component in the reduction of emissions from internal combustion engines,
principally those powering cars, vans and trucks, but also extending to ships, trains, motorcycles and
even lawnmowers;

• Jewellery – platinum is seen as the ultimate jewellery metal – pure, rare and eternal – and has secured
a position as the metal of choice in the bridal market;

• Industrial – PGMs are used in a range of ways, either within or in the manufacture of everyday goods
including flat screen televisions, mobile phones, glass manufacturing, medical applications and in
petroleum refineries; and

• Investment – demand interest continues for platinum, palladium and rhodium as investment metals,
either in physical form as coins and bars or indirect holding in the form of Exchange Traded Funds (ETFs).

Our aim
We aim to be the safest primary producer of PGMs and to generate and preserve value for our shareholders.
Over time, we aim to generate returns greater than our cost of capital. In pursuit of those objectives we aim
to do no harm and, where appropriate, create benefit for our stakeholders.
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Our strategic priorities

1. Building a safe and sustainable business

We aim to be the safest primary PGM producer and to minimise our adverse environmental impact –
our aim is to cause zero harm to people – by integrating our operational and sustainability strategies.
While there are commercial advantages, this is simply the right thing to do.

Alongside our formal legal licences, we must also earn a social licence to operate from the people and
communities who host our operations and pursue a number of initiatives to share some of the value
we create.

We are giving significant focus to the needs of our employees, including housing, healthcare, HIV/AIDS
support and working with our employees and unions in re-thinking the whole employee value proposition.
We estimate that for every dollar of sales we achieve, around 60 cents flows to our workers (employees
and contract labour).

In January 2013 we announced five major projects which we are exploring with our employee, union and
community partners and other key stakeholders, seeking to find fundamentally new and more sustainable
ways of working:

• Employee relations and engagement;

• Empowerment and equity participation;

• Exploring alternatives to migrant labour and improved working arrangements;

• Better use of existing invested capital and infrastructure; and

• Living conditions – sustainable housing and human settlements.

2. Protecting the short-term value of the Marikana assets

We have significant amounts of shareholders’ capital tied up in the existing asset base, and mining is
generally highly capital intensive. Our expectation is that PGM markets will remain lacklustre in the short-
term, but we believe that there will be significant value potential over the longer term. We therefore aim
to remain frugal with our cash and optimise limited capital investment in the immediate future but without
compromising the potential of the business to reach higher levels of production when market circumstances
improve. Our K4 shaft is currently on care and maintenance, but is a crucial asset for when we wish to
replace or increase production.

Many other PGM producers in South Africa are facing the need to include a greater proportion of UG2 reef
in the mix of ores they mine. Our industry leading expertise in processing these ores is therefore a valuable
source of competitive advantage, creating value for Lonmin’s shareholders.

3. Continuing focus on productivity and cost management

We will maintain a rigorous focus on cost control, in relation to both gross costs and costs per PGM ounce
produced. Gross costs are tightly controlled through centralised procurement and unit costs are managed
by developing a clear understanding of normal levels of usage relative to production, all of which is supported
by strong management information systems and a robust internal control environment to ensure that all
costs are properly incurred before payment is made.

The nature of our industry is that a significant proportion of our costs are fixed and add to the operational
gearing of the business. Excluding the effect of metal prices and foreign exchange, the profitability of our
business is closely related to productivity and efficiency, as well as the level of production we achieve.
We therefore monitor all three factors very closely and seek out any innovative ideas as part of our
continuous improvement philosophy.
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4. Maintaining balance sheet strength

We aim to preserve a conservative balance sheet with access to sufficient funds to finance both ongoing
operations and, prudent and efficient capital expenditure.

We believe that, in general, long-term assets such as our mines and processing plants should not be
financed from bank debt but rather from shareholders’ funds, and that bank debt should only be used
sparingly and on a short-term basis – to finance working capital, or to bridge short-term fluctuations in
operational cash flows.

5. Preserve the longer term value potential of the Marikana assets

We believe that the long-term demand outlook for PGMs will improve, and aim to ensure that the
Company is well placed to benefit from increased demand when it occurs.

A number of our smaller shafts are currently in the later stages of their operational lives while some
of the newer and larger shafts are still in a ramp up phase, and therefore less efficient. Over the longer
term, we expect the older shafts to reach the end of their operational lives and to invest further in the
newer shafts in the expectation of production growth, improved cost efficiency and generate material
profitability. As the majority of these newer shafts are close to ‘production-ready’ status, we believe
that the execution risk associated with this strategy is acceptable.

6. Maintaining the option of attractive longer term growth opportunities

We have established brownfield growth opportunities in Marikana and Limpopo
assets and through our participation in the Pandora joint venture, and a greenfield
opportunity through our Akanani assets. In addition, we have a modest resource
in the Sudbury Basin in Ontario, Canada which has the potential for a small open
pit operation. Further exploration work is being pursued in this part of Canada
through three joint ventures. All of the Canadian interests fall within the footprints
of old nickel mining activities and would be classed as brownfield opportunities.

Monitoring Performance
We have developed a set of Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) which are used by the Board and
management to monitor the implementation of the various elements of this strategy, and which are reported
in this Annual Report and Accounts on page 24. These also form the core of the corporate Balanced
Scorecard Annual Bonus Plan, which drives business performance.

The Board has scheduled meetings six times annually and, after reviewing safety, these KPIs are generally
the first item for discussion.
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The Evolving Picture
The evolution of our strategy is based on a simple principle: we must maintain, then improve that which
we do well and deliver step changes in performance in those areas where we can and must do better.

Lonmin has considerable strengths and there is much the business is doing successfully, but there are
other areas where the Company needs to do significantly better, particularly around employee
relationships and stakeholder engagement. In these areas the evolution needs to be faster and stronger.

Below we set out our broad strategic approach to these key issues.

Strategic and Operational Imperatives
At our annual results presentation on 11 November 2013 Lonmin’s Chief Executive Officer, Ben Magara,
laid out significant changes in strategy based around four management pillars:

• Our People and Relationships

• Operational Credibility and Excellence

• Value Optimisation Management (VOMA) 

• Sustainability and Social Agenda

Our People and Relationships
Relationships, in terms of how we interact with our employees and stakeholders, will be a key driver of
our future success. Here we require a new approach to delivery. In the past, even where we have done
good work, we have not brought to bear the same delivery focus we have applied to operational issues.
That must change.

We understand the context within which we operate.

As a hugely labour-intensive business the future of mining in South Africa is inexorably linked to the
development of the country as a whole. The nation’s democracy is young and evolving rapidly. That
change brings pressures in all areas of life, including on business. Lonmin acknowledges it must play its
part and recognises that only as a thriving business can it make real changes around social development.
As the nation’s economy has grown there have been many winners, not least a newly empowered black
middle class. Yet the challenges of poverty, unemployment and lack of education and skills remain with
us. Beyond compliance with our Social and Labour Plans (SLPs), we remain committed to work with
communities to create sustainable change.

Whilst mining has been in a period of sustained transformation for almost two decades in South Africa,
partly as companies work to be better corporate citizens and partly thanks to legislation around issues
such as BEE and wider transformation, companies have found themselves consistently in the spotlight
where these national socio-economic priorities are concerned. Given the size of large mining operations,
the scale of workforces and the impact on communities surrounding mining properties, this is inevitable.

What has become clear in recent years though is that the need and demand for change is accelerating.
More recently still, Lonmin has been thrust into the centre of the debate on these issues by events and
it has become clear to the Company that its future as a business rests as much on the relationship it has
with its employees and wider stakeholder group as it does on the core fundamentals of mining and markets.

Lonmin no longer subscribes to the idea that these are “hard” and “soft” issues.

The reality is that demand for Lonmin’s metals is expected to be solid and sustainable for the foreseeable
future, and that the Company has excellent assets but to deliver that value for shareholders and all its
stakeholders the business must operate effectively in a sustainable environment.

The Company’s vision, then, is for operational excellence to marry with optimisation of value in a reliable
environment where all Lonmin’s stakeholders are supportive of the business and wish to see it prosper.
That delivers both shareholder and stakeholder value.

It is a fact that this end state cannot be delivered by Lonmin alone, but the Company believes that in doing its
part, effecting change where it can (sustainably and with sound fiscal judgement) it unlocks action elsewhere.

… SO HOW DO WE BUILD ON THESE UNIQUE ADVANTAGES

TO DRIVE SHAREHOLDER AND STAKEHOLDER VALUE IN

THE FUTURE? 

⁄
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Ben Magara, who joined in July 2013, has made clear that the “status quo” in mining will no longer deliver the
environment companies need for success.

Ben is clear that the old “win-lose” positions which existed on each new area of negotiation and change with
stakeholders, from employees and unions to communities and government, were unsustainable.

Ben visited our shafts, plants and the communities around them and went to the areas of South Africa from
which most of our employees come. He also visited the families of those who lost their lives during the terrible
Events at Marikana last year. All these groups of people expressed to him the shared wish of wanting Lonmin to
succeed. This is important and encouraging, given that we regard the support of all our stakeholders as crucial
in stripping uncertainty from our business and driving higher performance.

Lonmin will work towards the “win-win” outcomes which all stakeholders on a given issue feel they can support.
We have employed this ethos in our union recognition agreements already this year, achieving success many
thought hard to find. Helping to build competitive advantage through a supportive workforce, this approach
relies on rebuilding trust with our stakeholders and creating positions in which they feel they have as much to
gain from a successful Lonmin as the Company itself does. 

Operational Credibility and Excellence
All our operational issues start with safety. It is our number one priority and has its own section in this report
in page 27.

The overarching principle in the way we view our operations is that we believe that our goal of “zero harm” is
achievable, that all injuries and fatalities are avoidable and that people should be able to return safely to their
homes at the end of the day. Lonmin has a good safety record and some of our shafts are rightly proud of being
industry leading, but if we are to regain our record as the safest miner in our sector we need to revisit this area.

We must also drive this excellence approach across our wider operational work.

Given our cautious view of the near and medium-term PGM markets (which are covered in detail on page 18
of this report) it is vital that we ensure we are working our assets as well as possible and focussing on hard
costs, thus driving profitability. Lonmin believes that even in the present markets it should be able to produce
and sell at a profitable and sustainable level, with market improvements a bonus “down the line”.

The foundation of this has been the Lonmin Renewal Plan (LRP), which has been implemented successfully in
2013 and allowed us to ramp up operations after the lengthy disruptions and tragedies of 2012 we surpassed
our guidance targets.

The LRP remains fully supported by management but in order to plan more effectively for our future we will look
strategically and holistically at all our assets and properties, reviewing them to decide where we have the
balance right, where we need to invest in an asset and where, if necessary, we need to make difficult decisions.

Combined with this we will work to avoid executing too many projects concurrently to ensure capital efficiency
by bringing the projects to steady state capacity where possible before starting new ones. Having a more linear
approach to projects will, the Company believes, allow for greater financial transparency and certainty and aids
long-term fiscal planning.

1. Saffy Shaft

Investment in Saffy, both historically and more recently in line with the LRP, has been significant. That
investment has developed a large body of ore reserves which now give the shaft the ability to deliver
on a sizable scale through better filling the shaft hoisting capacity and optimising efficiencies.

The majority of the investment in Saffy has already been made. We expect Saffy to mine 200,000 tonnes
per month when it reaches full capacity making this Lonmin’s second largest shaft.

The de-bottlenecking implemented at Rowland shaft is beginning to show success, and we will bring this
approach to bear at Saffy. At the same time the available ore reserves at Saffy now provide flexibility and
additional stoping crews have been deployed from other shafts to Saffy to facilitate its ramp up in 2014.
This was a reorganisation of the workforce, not addition of headcount.

The Company believes that continuing to invest in Saffy is the best use of capital at this stage, optimising
efficiencies and enabling growth at the right time.



01 /
S
trategic R

eport
02 /

G
overnance

03 /
Financial S

tatem
ents

04 /
A
 D
eeper Look

05 /
S
hareholder Inform

ation
Lonmin Plc
Annual Report and Accounts 2013

Our Strategy

/ 15

www.lonmin.com

Value Optimisation Management (VOMA)
VOMA is the name we give our drive to ensure we are working as efficiently, profitably and strategically
as possible. It drives our thinking across the business and will do so even more in 2014. 

With overarching strategic priorities set by the Board and Executive Committee (Exco), VOMA helps us
ensure that the entire business is constantly thinking about ways to deliver more value.

From our work on VOMA stems our strategic near and medium-term plans:

2. K4 Shaft

K4 shaft will remain on care and maintenance. We expect to see capital expenditure at K4
in preparation for a potential start-up in 2015, market conditions permitting.

1. Near-term

• Return on Saffy investment;

• Cash generation and cash conservation; 

• Fixed and overhead cost management; and

• Business improvement initiatives: Total Cost of Ownership and Theory of Constraints.

2. Medium-term

• Ensuring production flexibility to respond to changing market conditions;

• Working to continually identify and evaluate opportunities to enhance value. 

– Tailings Re-treatment
We are also advancing our PGM Tailings Re-treatment project, where we
expect to mine one of our old tailings dams hydraulically for the extraction
of both PGMs and chrome. Re-treatment of old tailings is not new in mining
and is a great source of medium-term value. This will allow us to tap into a
low risk, low cost on surface asset to enhance our overall profitability.

It is crucial to balance capacity through the value chain and ensure capital
efficiency, In this regard, profitable opportunities are pursued through
business optimisation, continuous improvement and new value sources.
To this extent process teams have improved safety, recovery and cost
performance by leveraging both our current ore and equipment assets,
whilst in mining we have doubled available ore reserves over the last
five years.
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Sustainability and Social Agenda
Details of our work in these areas in 2013 can be found in the Performance section of the Annual Report
and Accounts from page 31. Here we will lay out the strategy behind that work and how we intend to
apply it in the future.

These are huge challenges and link strongly to our strategy around people and relationships, but in the
simplest terms they can be defined as: 

a) The quality of life of our employees, their families and the communities who live on and around our
operations. These include, but are not limited to: infrastructure, housing, education and health, and
being a good corporate citizen of South Africa.

b) Environmental issues – the impact our operations have on the areas they are situated, and more
widely. These include, but are not limited to: power, water, pollution and noise.

Many of these issues go to the heart of our licence to operate, both morally and in some cases technically
and legally. They are vital for our future. We must not only do what is asked of us, but do more and move
beyond simple compliance.

Areas of social infrastructure policy are complicated by the fact that, however large, a business cannot
deliver on the scale required. Our relationships with stakeholders such as government assist in the
delivery of social infrastructure where we form effective partnerships.

But we can make a difference, and in collaboration with all stakeholders, we believe we will.

The fact remains that housing is the most pressing challenge we face, and the one which is perhaps the
most obvious example of the unacceptable quality of life standards for many people.

Our Marikana assets will produce for decades to come. As a result we need to take a long-term view of
housing requirements as we plan our life of mine.

Whether housed in rented, bonded or owned properties, we must do more to ensure a long-term,
sustainable community at Marikana. We cannot do this alone. No company is large enough to single
handedly deal with the national problem of housing and remain viable (and unless companies are viable
and profitable they can do nothing at all), but Lonmin believes that it must formulate a more ambitious
and innovative approach to the housing issue in partnership with other stakeholders, as dictated by
one of the initiatives the Company’s Board identified as crucial at the start of 2013.

We are working on a number of solutions and intend to say more as details emerge.

In relation to environmental impact the Company remains committed to its long-held “zero harm”
aspiration. We use innovative solutions to try to minimise our power and water usage – essential given
issues with supply in South Africa. We have set ourselves tough targets across the board on issues of
sustainability and are determined to meet them.

This is a key area where we want to build on another emerging driver for delivery – industry collaboration.

It is clear that many of the issues facing Lonmin are faced equally by all miners in South Africa. The
Government has recognised this and 2013 has seen welcome interventions in a number of areas, most
notably labour unrest, the changing face of the union landscape, and peace and sustainability of the
mining industry.
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Lonmin believes that its future, and those of its shareholders and stakeholders, are best served by
supporting the drive for the wider industry to speak with cohesion. This will avoid duplication of effort and
give the industry a stronger voice in the debate with government and the wider public, both in South
Africa and globally.

Lonmin is active in the Chamber of Mines, International Council on Mining and Metals and other
organisations which seek to advance this view.

This is strongly linked to issues around sustainability, be they environmental, around water or power or
about the long-term impact our operations have on communities. Lonmin has clear plans, strategies and
commitments in all these areas and continues to work to further those in a way which is sustainable in
terms of the viability and health of its operations. We do this in conjunction with our stakeholders in
government, the NGO sector, communities and employees.

This focus on collaboration impacts across our wider business strategy, in all areas.

Human Rights
The Company welcomes the implementation of the United Nations’ Guiding Principles on Business and
Human Rights and legal developments in the countries in which we operate in support of those Principles.

Avoiding infringing the human rights of others and addressing any adverse impacts in which we are
involved are at the heart of how we do business. However, we currently lack a formalised response to the
Principles and intend to make an appropriate policy commitment, undertake due diligence to assess actual
and potential human rights impacts (whether direct or indirect) and act upon the findings of that review,
track the effectiveness of our responses and communicate this in future years’ reporting. Some of the
building blocks necessary are already in place, such as participation and engagement, and transparent,
equitable and predictable grievance mechanisms, but we understand that more could, and should, be done.

Companies are required to address “adverse human rights issues with which they were involved” in their
reporting. The tragic events at Lonmin’s Marikana facilities took place in 2012, but clearly the Company
is deeply involved in the repercussions, predominantly in working to rebuild trust with employees and
communities.

We are constrained in what we can say in this document about the events themselves because The
Farlam Inquiry, a judicial body set up by the South African Government to examine the events which led
up to the police shootings and the events of the day itself is ongoing. Lonmin, which wholly supports
Judge Farlam’s inquiry, committed not to discuss the details around these issues publicly until it had given
evidence to the inquiry, something we expect to take place in early 2014.

It should be noted, however, that we do talk in great detail in this report about our efforts to build
community cohesion, repair relationships, build trust, deliver on our social responsibilities and work in
partnership to bring about real change. Although much of this work predates the Events at Marikana
in 2012, that tragedy has had a huge impact in all these areas.
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Strong drivers for demand growth,
moderated by increasing recycling

Overview
In 2013 Lonmin sold 695,803 ounces of Platinum into
the market. Platinum sales contributed 69% of our
turnover. Palladium was the second highest contributor
to the revenue basket with the 313,030 ounces
produced constituting 15% of Lonmin’s income.
Combined sales of Rhodium, Ruthenium and Iridium
contributed a further 8% and Gold and Base Metals
made up the balance.

Autocatalyst production remains the largest end user
of our products. The internal combustion engine is set
to remain the dominant drivetrain for passenger and
commercial vehicles for the foreseeable future, offering
the best combination of fuel efficiency, purchase cost
and running cost. Diesel engines for light duty
vehicles, which are more highly platinum loaded than
gasoline engines, retain their fuel efficiency advantage
over gasoline at a time when reducing CO2 emissions
is paramount for automakers. Of the two leading light
duty diesel markets, Europe is mature while India still
has significant growth potential. Increasing categories
of non-road engines are now subject to emissions
legislation in the US and Europe, resulting in growing
platinum demand despite slowing vehicle production
in Europe. Rising concerns over air quality in China
and other growing markets is expected to see
emissions legislation tightening for both on-road and
non-road vehicles, despite ongoing efforts to substitute
metals with less volatile price profiles. PGMs remain
the most effective product for autocatalyst production.

Jewellery, driven by Chinese demand, which has
taken advantage of periods of lower prices and
strengthening local currency continues to grow at a
steady pace and is forecast to contribute 37% to
platinum demand in 2013.

The influence of primary production from South Africa
on platinum prices is diminishing somewhat, in part due
to the growth of recycling in the northern hemisphere
which is having an increasing impact on primary supply.

Secondary platinum supply from the recycling of spent
catalysts, jewellery and investment bars has increased
since 2009 to equal almost 20% of South Africa’s total
annual output.

PGM prices
The 2013 calendar year started with a platinum price
rally on the back of supply fears and planned producer
restructuring, with prices peaking at $1,725 per ounce
in early February.

Thereafter, investor concerns about excess capacity
removed much of the upside momentum and the
price retreated back towards $1,400 per ounce by
the end of September, despite the purchase of
660,000 ounces of platinum by the Absa Exchange
Traded Fund (ETF).

Investor sentiment generally swung away from
commodities and into equities as the US Federal
Reserve indicated it would taper quantitative easing.

Platinum prices have also been undermined by a
weaker currency, with the Rand-Dollar exchange rate
starting at ZAR8.5-USD 1 in January and falling to
ZAR10 by the end of September.

The gold price collapse in April 2013 pulled platinum
down with it. At the beginning of April gold was
trading at over $1,600 per ounce, but by the end of
June had fallen to below $1,200 per ounce and has
since recovered to over $1,300 per ounce.

Platinum Price

Source: London Platinum Palladium Market

Firming palladium demand supported a steady rise in
the palladium price through the first half of the year,
followed by a more volatile second half. 

Palladium Price

Source: London Platinum Palladium Market

Rhodium is a small market and susceptible to price
volatility from trading movements; the spike in
September 2012 was prompted by an 8,000 ounce
flow into the ETF.
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Rhodium Price

Source: Johnson Matthey

Supply
Primary South African supply is unlikely to grow over
the next year as a result, primarily, of restructuring
activities. However, there is mounting pressure on
primary producers to reduce operating costs and
raise operating efficiencies.

Platinum supply in the rest of the world is forecast
to remain flat in 2013, with growth in Zimbabwe
offsetting lower production in Russia. Production in
North America is flat year on year. As outlined earlier
the rate of recycling will compensate for the lower
primary supply.

Demand
Autocatalyst PGM demand has inevitably been
affected by the slowdown in vehicle production, but
was mitigated by the rise in Chinese jewellery demand.

Platinum Demand

Source: SFA (Oxford) 2013, estimated

Automotive
Car production in Europe, diesel’s largest car market
and hence platinum’s largest automotive market,
is anticipated by many in the industry to be close to
a return to growth after several years. Despite the
emergence of some very competitive gasoline cars,
highly fuel efficient diesel took just short of 50% of
light duty vehicle sales and we anticipate that this
will continue.

Palladium automotive demand growth has excelled
over the last five years, increasing by 1,910,000 ounces
mainly on the back of strong gasoline vehicle sales in
emerging markets and the increasing substitution of
platinum in diesel vehicles in Europe. Over the same

period, however, the price has more than doubled
leading to a drop in demand in other applications and
encouraging further recycling. Net new metal demand
growth was 480,000 ounces.

Jewellery
Jewellery remains the second major market for
platinum, accounting for an estimated 37% of total
platinum demand in 2013. China continues to
dominate the platinum jewellery market and indeed
accounts for 24% of total platinum demand alone.
Platinum is making headway in India, the largest
market for gold jewellery. India is now the fourth
largest market for platinum jewellery and is expected
to move into second place over the next few years
on the back of changing demographics.

Investment
Overall holdings in the principal platinum ETFs grew
by just 22,000 ounces or 1.5% over the first four
months of the year to 1,474,000 ounces. Absa bank’s
NewPlat ETF, launched in April, has added 660,000
ounces (to the end of September) and total holdings
have increased by 516,000 ounces (35%) to
1,990,000 ounces.

Palladium ETFs started the year more strongly than
platinum, adding 160,000 ounces in Q1, taking total
holdings in the principal ETFs to 2.0 million. Over the
last three months, the major ETF holdings have seen
modest outflows of some 110,000 ounces, down to
1.75 million (to the end of September). Year-to-date
palladium ETFs have lost 46,000 ounces (-2.6%).
Absa is expected to launch a new palladium ETF by
the 2013 calendar year end.

Rhodium ETF holdings have almost doubled this year,
adding 41,000 ounces to total 95,000 ounces.

Outlook
PGM demand growth from autocatalysts is based
on the expected growth in vehicle numbers and on
more classes of vehicle becoming subject to tighter
emissions legislation. Europe with Euro 6, and the US
with LEV III, are leading the way. These regulations are
likely to form the basis for legislation in all regions in
future although the availability of sufficiently clean fuel,
both diesel and gasoline, is a prerequisite for this.
Increasingly, driving emissions are found to be
significantly higher than legislated standards, raising
the prospect of even tighter standards, and hence
PGM demand.

Consumers and retailers, particularly in China and
increasingly in India, continue to grow the market for
platinum jewellery. Platinum is increasingly seen as the
bridal metal of choice. Retailers continue to expand
their store networks to meet demand as disposable
income rises outside the main metros in Asia.

The minor end uses of platinum – including chemical
and petroleum catalysis, medical, glass fabrication
and electronics – together make up around 20%
of total demand. Most are highly dependent on the
particular properties of platinum and face little risk
from substitution, but significant recycling takes
place too, reducing the need for new metal.
Palladium and Rhodium are highly dependent on
the autocatalyst market.
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LONMIN’S TOP 10 PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES ARE DESCRIBED ON

THE FOLLOWING PAGES TOGETHER WITH THEIR POTENTIAL IMPACT, MITIGATING

STRATEGIES AND THE PERCEIVED CHANGE IN THESE RISKS SINCE THE

PREVIOUS FINANCIAL YEAR.

These risks have been ranked according to the magnitude of potential impact before mitigating actions. These risks represent a
snapshot of the Company’s risk profile at this time. They are not intended to represent an exhaustive list of all risks. As the macro
environment changes and country and industry circumstances evolve, new risks may arise or recede or the rankings of these risks
may change according to severity and probability of occurrence.

Risk tolerance
Risk tolerance is an indication of the amount of risk a company is willing to accept in order to meet its strategic objectives. This
is reflected in a company’s capacity to sustain losses and in its ability to continue to meet its obligations under different trading
conditions. Lonmin has a matrix scoring system in place in terms of which risks are rated based on their likelihood and potential
severity. This severity can be measured using financial, health and safety, environmental, stakeholder or legal criteria. As such,
Lonmin measures more than just the potential financial impact of risks. These scores are then used to escalate risks within the
organisation as appropriate and prompt mitigating actions to be taken.

1. Safety

Description

At Lonmin we value our people. We try to
position ourselves as an employer of choice,
and provide safe jobs for both our employees
and our contractors. However, inherent to
the mining industry are risks due to unsafe
events or conditions that can cause fatalities
or injuries. These include falls-of-ground,
tramming, scraping and rigging incidents,
exposure to various gases, fire, molten metal,
electrocution and many other hazards.

Impact

A failure in safety could result in injury or
a loss of life which would have tragic
implications for employees, their families
and the local communities. It would also
severely disrupt operations. In certain
situations, these failures could result in safety
stoppages instigated by management or
the Department of Mineral Resources
(DMR) could temporarily suspend part or
all of the operations under the Mine Health

and Safety Act (commonly referred to as a
Section 54 stoppage).

Mitigation

There is a clearly defined employee safety
engagement strategy, safety protocols
and standards that are set and monitored
regularly by the Executive Committee
(Exco). The Safety & Sustainability
Committee oversees all safety matters.
Certain targets in the Balanced Scorecard
are designed to incentivise safe behaviour,
as discussed in more detail in the
Remuneration Implementation Report.

After the strike in 2012, as part of the
production ramp up process, the Company
invested many hours in safety training
before re-opening operations in order to
minimise the risk of any safety failures,
either underground or in the surface works,
as our main focus was on our people.
A safe working environment is normally
also a more productive one.

Change

During 2013 there has been an improvement
in the safety environment at Lonmin. The
number of Section 54 stoppages declared
at Lonmin decreased and, as a result, so
too has the number of shifts lost as a
result of these stoppages. We continue to
engage with the DMR at various levels of
management and our relationship with the
DMR continues to improve as a result of
this engagement and the various safety
initiatives that have been implemented
during the course of the year. Lonmin
has one of the lowest Lost Time Injury
Frequency Rate (LTIFR) in the platinum
industry in South Africa, demonstrating
the effectiveness of these initiatives.
Further information on Lonmin’s safety
achievements can be found in the
Strategic Report and A Deeper Look.

2. Employee relations

Description

There have been significant changes in the
industrial relations landscape in the South
African mining industry in the past year.
With the emergence of the Association of
Mineworkers and Construction Union (AMCU)
as a significant union in the platinum
industry and a realignment in employee
support in favour of this union, new ways
need to be found to engage with
employees and unions to ensure a safe
and productive working environment in
which all stakeholders are winners.

Impact

A volatile industrial relations environment
characterised by mistrust and strike action
could result in disruptions to operations and
have a material adverse effect on the Group’s
financial position and have a negative impact
on our employees, their families and the local
communities. This was clearly demonstrated
by the strike action which occurred in 2012.

Mitigation

A detailed employee relations strategy has
been developed and is being implemented.
A recognition agreement has been signed
with the new majority union, AMCU.
Detailed induction plans are in place for
AMCU shop stewards as the transition from
the National Union of Mineworkers (NUM)
to AMCU as the majority union takes place.
However, Lonmin also continues to engage
with all trade unions including the minority
unions to ensure their concerns are heard.
Notwithstanding the union engagement,
there is an increased focus on rebuilding
relations directly with our employees.

Change

The industrial relations environment has
improved in 2013 compared to 2012,
however, it still remains volatile. Lonmin is
working hard to rebuild trust with employees
and worker representatives as well as
maintain close relationships with all unions.

This is evident from Lonmin being a
signatory to the Deputy President’s
framework for Stability & Sustainability in
the mining industry and Lonmin’s
participation in the commemoration of the
Events at Marikana in August. The Board
has prioritised initiatives aimed at improving
the quality of life of our employees and their
families and the local communities in the
areas surrounding our operations.

At the beginning of the year AMCU became
the majority union at Lonmin. The rest of
our workforce are represented by NUM,
Solidarity or UASA or are not unionised.
Wage negotiations have historically
resulted in a volatile period during which
the Company attempts to balance the
expectations of employees and the
economic realities of an industry under
significant margin pressure.
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3. Changes to the political, legal, social and economic environment, including resource nationalism

Description

The Company is subject to the risks
associated with conducting business in
South Africa including but not limited to
changes to the country’s laws and policies
in connection with taxation, royalties,
divestment, repatriation of capital and
resource nationalism. The latter is a broad
term that describes the situation where a
government attempts to assert increased
authority, control and ownership over the
natural resources located in its jurisdiction.

Resource nationalism is a global
phenomenon, not limited to any country.
In South Africa, the threat of nationalisation
appears to have dissipated to some extent,
however, debate continues regarding future
policies relating to South Africa’s natural
resources. This includes debate regarding
the identification of strategic minerals, the
extent of beneficiation required, development
of a state owned mining company and
whether there should be increased taxation
of the South African mining industry.

The above issues have all largely been
incorporated within the Mineral and
Petroleum Resources Development Act
(MPRDA) Amendment Bill which is currently
the subject of Parliamentary debate. In
particular, beneficiation is a major

consideration with the Bill proposing that the
Minister be granted a discretion to declare
certain minerals as strategic, that the
Minister determine what percentage of
strategic minerals are to be made available
locally and the developmental price at which
strategic minerals are to be sold, as well as
the Minister being able to determine the
conditions applicable to export permits. In
addition, the Davis Commission is currently
looking at the current tax regime with a view
to determining whether additional taxes
should be imposed on mining companies.

Impact

The current debates in respect of resource
nationalism have created policy uncertainty
and this has inevitably led to a decline in
investor appetite for South African investment
risk. This is reflected in decreased offshore
investor appetite for both South African
equity and debt exposure.

If some of the issues under consideration
are implemented this could have a material
adverse effect on the Group’s future
operational performance and financial
position. For example, profits could be
negatively impacted by the imposition of
additional taxes and revenues could be
impacted by the sale of metals at discounted
developmental prices. The obligation to sell

locally could impact long-term supply
agreements with our customers and give
rise to concerns about security of supply
from South Africa, potentially expediting
the growth of the recycling industry.

Mitigation

Bilateral and industry level discussions
with the DMR are ongoing with a view
to balancing the need for the country to
benefit more from its natural resources
with the need to attract and retain mining
investment and jobs. Mining companies and
industry bodies have made representations
regarding the content of the draft MPRDA
Amendment Bill with a view to highlighting
areas of concern and motivating for
amendments to the Bill.

Change

There has been a slight improvement in this
risk in 2013 from 2012. The move away
from the concept of nationalisation in the
resource nationalism debate has been
positive. However, many of the issues as
described above which the South African
government is now trying to implement
through the draft MPRDA Amendment
Bill require further consideration and, if
implemented in their current form, could
be negative.

4. Social licence to operate

Description

There are a number of issues that can affect
Lonmin’s social licence to operate. These
include Lonmin’s sustainability performance
(such as our impact on the environment in
terms of water, air and soil pollution and
waste production), our safety record, the
contribution we make towards South
Africa’s transformation agenda and the
impact we have on our employees,
communities and other stakeholders. The
Board supports the view that delivering
our transformation and social responsibility
obligations are essential, as are our
commitments under the Mining Charter and
our need to be a good corporate citizen.

Impact

Not focusing and delivering appropriately
on the issues that give us our social licence
to operate could result in deteriorating
relationships with our stakeholders and
thereby place our ability to operate effectively
at risk. Furthermore, to the extent that these
issues are covered in our SLP, non-delivery

against our targets could impact our mining
licences. Withdrawal of our mining licences
would have a material adverse effect on the
Group’s financial position.

Mitigation

Social and community programmes are
implemented by our Exco and monitored
by the Transformation Committee and the
Board. There is a stakeholder engagement
programme in place, including ongoing
dialogue with the relevant authorities in
South Africa and all other stakeholders.
Furthermore, the Balanced Scorecard
includes specific metrics which have been
designed to incentivise delivery against
specific targets. During 2013, Lonmin
appointed an additional Exco member,
Lerato Molebatsi, Executive Vice President
for Communications and Public Affairs,
who, amongst other responsibilities, has
specific responsibility for Stakeholder
management, South African regulatory
affairs and community development.

Lerato Molebatsi and another Exco member,
Barnard Mokwena, who is responsible for
transformation, human settlements and
mining charter compliance are driving our
strategy in these areas.

Change

There has been an increase in this risk for
Lonmin in 2013 compared to 2012. The
Company’s reputation has undoubtedly
been damaged following the Events at
Marikana in 2012 and this has inevitably
had a negative impact on our social
licence to operate. We are committed to
addressing the underlying issues that were
highlighted by last year’s events. This is
discussed in more detail in the Strategic
Report and A Deeper Look. In addition
the Farlam Commission of Inquiry is still in
progress and the findings of this commission
into the Events at Marikana in 2012 may
have an impact on Lonmin.
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5. Community relations

Description

Due to the fact that mining is conducted in
areas where communities are present this
creates a sense of ownership amongst
communities which leads to the expectation
that they will benefit from mining activities.
This expectation is often not met and this
may result in conflict and unrest. Affected
communities are particularly vulnerable to
flawed consultation processes and a lack
of access to information.

The environmental, health and social
impacts of mining are often felt by those
communities who live and work in close
proximity to the mine and the living conditions
of our employees have a direct influence on
their general wellbeing and on their ability
to succeed in their working environments.

Impact

Deteriorating relationships with our
communities as a result of poor services
and high unemployment can result in civil
unrest which could severely disrupt our
operations. As many of our employees also
live within these communities, disruptions
within these communities and poor living
conditions have a direct impact upon our
employees, which in turn can impact
employee productivity and morale.

Mitigation

The Board has prioritised initiatives aimed at
improving the quality of life of our employees,
their families and their communities.

A number of projects have been developed
as part of the Employee Value Proposition
and the Community Value Proposition.

These projects are being driven through a
stakeholder engagement. There are also
many community projects underway,
many of which are particularly focused
on increasing levels of local recruitment.

Change

Risk in this area remains unchanged from
2012. Our focus during the last year has
been on rebuilding trust with our
communities following the Events at
Marikana. The appointment of the EVP for
Communications and Public Affairs and the
formation of the stakeholder engagement
forum represent two key elements in our
strategy to drive improvements in this area.

6. Metal prices and currency volatility

Description

Commodity price and currency volatility
increase the risks in managing a mining
business. This is especially because mining
requires long planning horizons to plan new
mines and make decisions regarding the
expansion and contraction of existing
operations. These decisions often need to
be made based on assumptions regarding
future metal prices (which drive revenue)
and exchange rates (in our case primarily
the USD/ZAR exchange rate as the majority
of our cost and capital expenditure are
incurred in South African Rand). When
these assumptions are wrong and this
then results in cash flows being less than
anticipated this can have a significant
negative financial impact upon the business.

Impact

Incorrect metal price and exchange rate
assumptions used in long-term planning
can lead to incorrect planning decisions
and have negative financial consequences.

In addition, volatile metal prices may also
affect the decisions made by our customers
and may result in them considering
substituting our products with other
alternatives. This could then negatively
affect the demand for our products and
hence our revenue. Job losses may also be
inevitable in order to protect the business
during low metal price regimes.

Mitigation

Lonmin gathers market information from
a number of different sources to better
understand the supply and demand
dynamics for our key products and the
factors that could affect metal price volatility.
We do this to try and develop more accurate
assumptions in our forecasting. We also
enter into longer term volume contracts
with key customers to mitigate off-take risk.

Although historically there has been a
degree of correlation between the USD/ZAR
exchange rate and the PGM basket price,

this does not always hold true and can
dislocate. Such dislocations can be both
positive and negative. Currently it is not our
policy to hedge, partially because the cost
of hedging the metal prices for the products
which Lonmin produces are high and the
forward markets in these metals are not
very liquid.

Change

Risk in this area remains unchanged from
2012. Metal and currency markets continue
to remain very volatile. In particular 2013
has seen lower USD PGM metal prices
but these have been off-set by a weaker
South African Rand which has meant that
cost and capital expenditure increases
(as reported in USD) have been contained.
This has helped maintain margins. However,
the continued volatility and uncertainty in
commodity price and currency markets
continue to make longer term planning and
investment decisions challenging.

7. Uncompetitive costs

Description

Lonmin measures its costs based on its
cash cost per PGM ounce produced. When
this is compared to the equivalent costs
for our peers, this determines our relative
position on the cost curve for the industry.
The PGM mining industry is highly
concentrated in Southern Africa and as a
result all the main producers face very
similar cost pressures. In particular, labour
is a significant cost driver for both Lonmin
and the industry generally due to the large
amount of labour required to mine the very
narrow PGM reefs predominantly found
in Southern Africa. Other important cost
drivers include the cost of chemicals,
power, water, timber, steel and concrete.

Impact

In a poor metal price environment cost
increases can result in a margin squeeze
which would result in negative financial
consequences. Because so much of the
PGM industry is concentrated in Southern
Africa and therefore most producers are
subject to the same cost pressures, this
then makes it extremely important to be
competitive in respect of costs versus peers.

Mitigation

Lonmin has a clear understating of its
competitive position both at a Group level
and by operation (including at each shaft)
and the productivity improvements that are
required to improve this position. These
requirements are driven through the
budgeting and long-term planning process,
with numerous detailed initiatives in place
across the business to drive productivity

improvements. The Balanced Scorecard
measures also incentivise cost control.
Ultimately, to grow profitability, productivity
must grow at a rate greater than the rate at
which margins might otherwise decline as a
result of lower metal prices and higher costs.

Change

Risk in this area has improved from 2012.
Lonmin believes that its relative unit cost
position when compared to its peers is
better than in 2012. Already before the
Events at Marikana in 2012 a number of
key operating initiatives had started to
produce good productivity improvements
within the business. Following the Events
at Marikana these initiatives have continued,
together with a focus on cash conservation
and a management restructuring exercise
to reduce costs and increase effectiveness
in the management hierarchy.
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8. Utilities

Description

As a result of historical under investment by
South Africa in infrastructure Lonmin faces
potential supply constraints in respect of
utilities (especially energy and water) together
with increased costs in the consumption of
these utilities. Electricity supply is likely to
be especially at risk in the next two years
until Eskom’s new power stations, which
are currently behind schedule, come on
stream. Water availability is particularly
problematic in provinces such as the North
West and Limpopo where the infrastructural
capacity to store and transfer water is
limited and where long periods of drought
are common. Furthermore, water for mining
is increasingly competing with other
priorities, such as water for communities,
agriculture and other industries.

Impact

Supply constraints in respect of energy or
water could impact upon our ability to
operate effectively and meet our production
targets. Furthermore, cost increases in
respect of these utilities impact our
margins. This is then compounded by the
imminent implementation of a carbon tax
which would place further pressure on our
operational costs.

Mitigation

Lonmin has implemented numerous energy
saving initiatives. There are also load
shedding and contractual agreements in
place with Eskom to manage any supply
side constraints from the grid. Trial renewable
generation and additional energy saving
projects are currently under investigation
or implementation. Similarly, with regard

to securing water, an Integrated Water
Balance project is underway and forms part
of the Water Conservation and Demand
Management Plan for Marikana. The aim
of this strategic project is to optimise water
use efficiency, minimise fresh water
consumption and improve our long-term
access to water.

Change

Risk in this area has increased from 2012.
Despite this, 2013 was a successful year
in terms of our energy efficiency journey
with several initiatives completed and a
significant increase in general awareness
evident amongst the management teams
across our operations was achieved. Further
information on our water consumption and
conservation measures is available in the
Strategic Report and A Deeper Look.

9. Long-term planning

Description

Difficult geological conditions result in
increased complexity in the ability to design
a mine. The consequence of this is to risk
the production profile which may necessitate
the acceleration of underground ore
reserve development to generate sufficient
replacement ore reserves. Further, as
borehole drilling is done in a grid with a
spacing of 800 metres between boreholes
there is uncertainty in respect of the actual
grades and reef thickness that will be
encountered when mining. This uncertainty
is higher in some reefs than others. As a
result of the wide spaced data, grade
estimates are often smoothed over large
areas, increasing risk.

Impact

The result of poor long-term planning due to
not properly understanding the geology of
a mineral property or poor timing decisions
can result in sub optimal capital allocation,
which may result in poor value extraction
for a shaft over its life. This will then result

in shareholder value not being optimised
over the long-term.

Mitigation

Borehole drilling, magnetic surveys and
3D seismic surveys are conducted during
study work in Concept, Pre-feasibility and
Feasibility phases which are aligned to
a project pipeline schedule. The mine
extraction strategy for the whole property
is then revised annually to take into account
new data. Conceptual scenario planning is
also conducted annually driven by strategy,
structural geology and mining shaft hoisting
and processing capacities and incorporated
into the long-term plan. The revised plan is
then managed weekly to deliver against this
long-term plan. Further, independent peer
reviews of the long-term plan are held before
submission to the Board. The technical
service function also acts independently of
mine management and scrutinises flexibility
of working areas. Balanced Scorecard
measures also incentivise appropriate
reserve development planning.

Change

Risk in this area remains unchanged
from 2012. During 2013, surface drilling
of 40,000 metres continued at Marikana
with the completion of 34 boreholes as
part of an infill programme to improve the
confidence of the mineral resource. In
addition, reprocessing of the K4 and K5
seismic surveys has been completed,
which resulted in an improved understanding
of the geology. This data will be included in
the long-term planning process for the
2014 plan.

As a result of the restricted capital
available in the LRP, we are using current
infrastructure to the maximum in extending
current shaft boundaries. A comprehensive
capital ranking model was developed in the
past year to enable an integrated mining
and processing ranking approach that will
enable better decision making in terms of
capital allocation and spend.

10. Skills shortages

Description

Increased global investment in mining over
the past few years has driven demand for
skilled workers around the world. In South
Africa, this is compounded by the
requirement to increase the proportion of
HDSAs represented in management to 40%
by the end of 2014.

Impact

Lack of appropriate skills could negatively
impact safety, production and the ability to
deliver against targets. Failure to meet our
HDSA targets could also negatively impact
Lonmin’s mining rights. In order to retain our
skilled labour we need to continuously look
at market related remuneration packages
as compared to the incentive and retention
schemes offered by Lonmin. This continuous
monitoring of remuneration practices and

matching the packages offered by our
peers in order to attract and retain
employees of a suitable calibre can result
in increased costs.

Mitigation

There are processes in place for individual
development programmes, succession
planning and retention strategies for scarce
skills. There is also a particular focus on
bursaries, graduate development, mentorship
programmes and an Internship programme
to assist students who need to complete
their practical work in order to obtain a
tertiary qualifications. When recruiting,
preference is given to HDSA applicants.
Lonmin is also launching an artisans
college. For mining there are portable skills
development training programs to help
drive productivity improvements.

Change

Risk in this area remains unchanged from
2012. At the end of 2013 we had 47.6%
HDSAs in management, including white
women, of which 36% HDSAs are in
permanent management positions. Women
made up 8% of our workforce at the end
of 2013, with 5.1% being in core mining
positions. Woman at the mine increased
by 1.8%.

More than 50% of the bursaries allocated
have originated from the greater Lonmin
community. Within the mining and
processing divisions the Leadership
Staircase programme that maps the route
of an employee that is to be fast tracked for
management positions has been rolled out.
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Achieved Highest Platinum Ounces
in Concentrate in 6 years

g Safety – Lost Time
Injury Frequency
Rate per Million
Man Hours Worked
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We are committed to zero
harm to our employees and
contractors. We regard safety
performance as a lead
indicator of the health of our
business. Lost Time Injury
Frequency Rate (LTIFR) is
measured per million man
hours worked and reflects
all injuries sustained by
employees which mean that
the injured party is unable to
return to work on the next shift.

The LTIFR continues to
improve with an increase
of 15.9% in 2013.

g Saleable Metals
in Concentrate
– Platinum
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The metals in concentrate
produced by the mills include
metal derived from slag
processing and have been
calculated at industry
standard downstream
processing losses to present
produced saleable ounces.

We have introduced this
KPI as it combines the
performance of the Mining
and Concentrating business
areas, including the grade,
ore mix and concentrator
recovery rate without the
distorting impact of stock
movements further down the
pipeline. 750,942 Platinum
ounces is the highest volume
produced in six years,
surpassing the revised
guidance of greater than
700,000 ounces. This increase
was driven by the increase in
tonnes mined and improved
concentrator recovery rates.

g Sales – Platinum
Ounces Sold
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Platinum ounces sold are
those ounces we produce
either as refined ounces or
recoverable ounces sold in
concentrate.

Our business performance
has exceeded the LRP and
we exceeded our sales
guidance of 660,000. Sales
in 2013 were lower than
saleable metals in concentrate
produced, due, firstly to the
planned replenishment of
pipeline stock following the
depletion in September 2012
in order to protect liquidity
and, secondly, due to the
smelter capacity constraints
following the incident at the
Number Two furnace in April,
which occurred during the
planned shutdown of the
Number One furnace in the
same period.

g Development –
Immediately Available
Ore Reserves
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Immediately available ore
reserves, in square metres or
centares, excludes partially
developed ore reserves in line
with industry best practice.

Our immediately available ore
reserves at our Marikana
operations were 14.7% higher
than last year, mostly due to
the increase of ore reserve
position at Saffy. This overall
level of preparedness allows
us to plan our future growth
with confidence.
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UNIT COST INCREASE CONTAINED TO A 3.8% INCREASE

OVER LAST YEAR, AHEAD OF GUIDANCE.
⁄

g Productivity
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Square meters per mining
employee (Marikana mining)
excluding opencast and ore
purchases from our joint venture
operations.

We have introduced this KPI
this year as it measures the
productivity of our mining
operations. Productivity compared
to 2012 improved by around 6%
including the production ramp up
following the Events of Marikana.
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g PGM Instantaneous
Recovery Rate

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

09 10 11
Financial year

R
ec

ov
er

y 
(%

)

12 13

70.4

79.1
82.5 82.4 85.0

The instantaneous recovery rate
is the product of the recoveries
achieved at each step of the
processing cycle and measures
the efficiencies in the recovery
of metals.

The instantaneous recovery rate
achieved in 2013 of 85.0% is
outstanding and represents a
2.6 percentage point increase on
the prior year. The continuous year
on year improvements in this metric
are a result of extensive optimisation
plans which have focused on plant
availability and reliability, milling the
right ores at the right concentrator
and excellent management disciplines.
In addition, carefully considered capital
expenditure on upgrading plants
and building tailing treatment plants
at Easterns and Rowland and the
treatment of the tailings from the
Chrome plants has enabled the
Company to recover additional
PGMs. Security processes and
procedures at our refining operations
have been overhauled.

g Cost of Production
per PGM ounce

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

09 10 11
Financial year

R
an

d 
pe

r 
P

G
M

 o
z 

pr
od

uc
ed

12 13

7,069 7,013

7,815

8,843
9,182

In the current year we have
introduced a new measure for
unit costs, “Cost of production
per PGM ounce”. This measure
differs from the C1 cost per
PGM ounce produced in that
it includes some sales and
marketing costs, as well as
other management and
shared services costs which
are not directly linked to
production where the C1
excluded these costs.

Cost per unit is key to allowing
us to operate profitably for
far longer through any down
cycle. Unit costs were well
contained to a 3.8% year
on year increase.

The cost of production per
PGM ounce in 2013 at
R9,182 increased by 3.8%
over 2012 which is in line
with the C1 unit cost increase
of 3.8%.
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g Free Cash Flow
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Trading cash flow after capital
expenditure and minority
dividend payments. 

Increases in working capital
including the replenishing of
pipeline stock following its
depletion in September 2012
in order to protect liquidity as
well as the once-off increase
in the value of the in process
stock following the incident
at the Number Two furnace
amounting to $189 million
has resulted in negative free
cash flow.

g Energy Efficiency
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Total gigajoules of direct
(gas, petrol, diesel, coal) and
indirect (electricity) energy
consumption per ounce of
PGMs produced including toll
processed material. In terms
of electricity consumption,
which makes up approximately
80% of the Group’s energy
consumption, many initiatives
have been successfully
implemented.

Although the initiatives
undertaken have proven very
successful when ring-fenced,
from an overall perspective
there has been a decrease
in efficiency when compared
to 2012 with energy per unit
of production increasing by
5.7%. This was driven by a
shift in tonnages produced
from shallow incline shafts,
which were historically more
energy efficient, to deeper
vertical shafts.

g Underlying EBIT
(Earnings Before
Interest and Taxation)
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For any business the ultimate
aim is to grow underlying
EBIT and deliver value to
shareholders. We track our
performance by looking at
our EBIT from continuing
operations. Underlying EBIT
is calculated on profit for the
year and excludes the effect
of one-off and non-trading
items.

The increase in profitability
reflects the effects of the
weaker Rand more than
off-setting inflationary costs
rises. US Dollar metal prices
remain below those realised
in 2010 and 2011.
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Lonmin believes this objective is achievable, and that
every injury or fatality is preventable.

Our Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR) in 2013
improved again, this time by 15.9% to reach 3.50.

Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate

However, improvements become more and more
difficult as safety achievements are made. Initially
systems, protective equipment and working practices
must be evaluated where after a culture of safe
working must be designed and implemented. But
after this, safety increasingly rests on the behaviours
and mindsets of individuals which is a much harder
thing to change.

Some of our shafts remain industry leaders in safety.
4B/1B, for example, is deemed the safest shaft in the
country, achieving seven million fall of ground fatality
free shifts during the year. It won the prestigious
JT Ryan trophy this year to mark it as South Africa’s
safest shaft of its type.

We are deeply saddened by the deaths of Elson
Ngomane, Gil Macamo and Ayanda Dziliyana in falls
of ground. These were a tragic reminder of both the
dangers of mining and our need to constantly
redouble our safety efforts.

Our safety strategy rests on three pillars: fatality
prevention; injury prevention; and safe production.
Within each of these pillars the strategy focus is on
leadership, simplifying systems, creating an enabling
environment and creating a safety conscious culture.

We believe that keeping people safe is a team effort
and that good working relationships lead to good
working practices.

Another feature of our safety initiatives has been the
continual empowerment of employees to exercise
their right to withdraw from unsafe work areas.
We report and analyse these incidents weekly and
use the data to address shortcomings and drive
improvement.

Finally, safety for Lonmin does not end at the gate to a
mine. We work hard with employees, Non-Governmental
Organisations and authorities to address concerns
about crime, stress and substance abuse away
from work.

Safety
Performance
see p / 158 for
more information

OUR SAFETY AIM IS SIMPLE – ZERO HARM. HOWEVER, THERE STILL

REMAINS A LOT TO DO.

Safety
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IN THE FINANCIAL YEAR 2013, MARIKANA UNDERGROUND

OPERATIONS DELIVERED THEIR BEST PERFORMANCE IN THE

LAST SIX YEARS. GIVEN THE ISSUES AT THE END OF LAST YEAR,

THIS IS A WELCOME ACHIEVEMENT.

We maintained the momentum established at the
beginning of the financial year and achieved an
impressive result, to mine a total of 11.7 attributable
million tonnes during the year, an increase of 1.3 million
tonnes from 2012.

It is important to read these results, however, within
the context of the six week stoppage and early ramp
up of late 2012, which affects year on year
comparisons favourably for 2013.

Of this, 11.0 million tonnes were from Marikana
underground operations, being a 12% increase from
2012 whilst ore reserves increased overall by 14.7%
to 3.8 million centares.

K4 shaft was placed on care and maintenance at the
beginning of the year and contributed 0.1 million
tonnes in the prior year.

Productivity, measured as square meters per mining
employee (Marikana mining) excluding opencast, W1
and ore purchase from our joint venture operations,
improved by 6% year on year. The method of
calculation as well as prior year data is outlined under
the KPI section of this report.

The impact of Section 54 stoppages, Management
Induced Safety Stoppages, and labour disruptions
reduced to around 0.6 million tonnes compared to
2.4 million tonnes for the financial year 2012, which
included the lengthy strike action and wider disruption
at Marikana.

The reduced number of Section 54 stoppage figures
also provides encouragement in terms of our,
relationship with the Department of Mineral Resources
(DMR) at all levels.

Karee operations, comprised of K3, 4B/1B and K4,
mined 4.95 million tonnes during 2013, an increase
of 12.9%. K3, our largest shaft, increased by 17.2%
whilst the grade increased by 9.2% year on year
mainly as a result of an increase in the Merensky
grade as mining increased in the higher grade decline
area. Hossy shaft increased tonnes hoisted by 21.6%
to 1.05 million tonnes during 2013, despite continuing
challenges relating to machine reliability, the availability
of replacement parts and retention of trained artisans
that have negatively affected the mechanisation of
this shaft. The decision to introduce hybrid mining
continues to deliver positive results. The roll-out of
the hybrid crews will be further pursued in 2014.

Importantly our investment and focus on Saffy has
begun to yield positive rewards, as production for the
year reached 1.15 million tonnes a 28.1% increase
from last year as its ore reserve position increased by
108.7% year on year in line with plans to ramp up
production at this shaft. Notwithstanding this
encouraging increase in production, the ramp up at
Saffy has been slower than planned as it continued
to face poor ground conditions and follows a process
of stringent roof support systems. The significant
increase in available ore reserves however now
provides the flexibility required to address these
challenges. Additional stoping crews have been
deployed from other shafts and more will be added to
Saffy which gives us confidence that the further ramp
up planned for 2014 can be realised. We expect Saffy,
to mine 200,000 tonnes per month when it reaches
full capacity making this Lonmin’s second largest shaft.

Saffy Shaft

Capital expenditure in the Mining Division was limited
to $99 million during 2013. The majority of the capital
was spent on sustaining capital across the various
shafts and central engineering. Only K3 Shaft UG2
Decline project, Saffy Shaft and Rowland Shaft were
allocated capital funds to continue with ore reserve
development projects that are currently in execution.
K4 shaft will continue to be on care and maintenance
for the duration of 2014. Key work on ore passes
and critical infrastructure will take place during 2014.
The restart of K4 is currently contemplated to take
place in 2015 and its ramp up will be subject to
market conditions.

KPIs
see p / 24 for
more information

Mining Operations
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De-bottlenecking of the Operations
A pilot project based on the Theory of Constraints
management philosophy was conducted at Rowland
Shaft during the year. The programme has delivered
promising results with the production output at
Rowland increasing towards the end of the year to
achieve an 11.4% increase from the last financial year.
Our intention is that this philosophy will be integrated
into the mining operating model and rolled out to all
operations during the next year, starting with Saffy.
The best practice teams have also undergone
extensive training in this and assist in the roll-out.

Alternative Shift Cycle Configuration
A project was initiated as one of the Board’s five
initiatives to investigate alternatives to the current
eleven day per fortnight shift cycle that is being worked.
The brief was to explore alternative shift cycles that
would be value accretive for all stakeholders in the
business. A number of options have been investigated
and explored and have been narrowed down to those
that have the greatest probability of success at our
operations. The remaining options will be further refined
and consultations with the unions will follow during
2014. Implementation will be evaluated thereafter.

Operational
statistics
see p / 170 for
more information

DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR OUR TOTAL TONNES MILLED INCREASED BY

9.3% TO 11.8 MILLION TONNES. THIS WAS A COMMENDABLE ACHIEVEMENT

WHICH REFLECTS THE INCREASE IN TONNES MINED IN A CHALLENGING YEAR.

THE TOTAL MILLED HEAD GRADE IMPROVED TO 4.54 GRAMMES PER TONNE

OR 1.1% HIGHER THAN THE PRIOR YEAR PERIOD.

We saw a continued improvement in the concentrators’
efficiency during the year, with an exceptional improved
year-on-year recovery performance from 86.1% to
87.0%. This was achieved against the backdrop of
one plant being out of operation for an upgrade for
the full year. We rationalised plant use and took the
opportunity to upgrade the plant at the same time.
The continued multi-year investment made in the
concentrator operating assets, to secure higher
sustainable run times over previous reporting periods,
enabled this outstanding performance. We are
particularly proud of the fact that all our plants are
achieving recoveries in excess of 80% for the first time.

For the financial year, we achieved 750,942 saleable
ounces of Platinum in concentrate, up 10.5% and the
highest amount since 2007 due to higher mined
production and improved recoveries. Refined
production was lower as a result of refilling the pipeline
and a stock lock up following the smelter incident at
the Number Two furnace. Platinum sales of 695,803
ounces were achieved during 2013.

The strategy to increase the back up capacity at the
smelter has proven to be successful, as production
from the smelter for the full year did not suffer after the
failure of the Number Two furnace roof in April 2013.
Whilst the smelter was able to process the backlog,
some excess stock remained in the pipeline at the
refineries at the year end. A full refurbishment of all the
pyrometry furnaces ancillary equipment was completed
to improve the reliability of the back up capacity.

PGM ounces produced of 1,336,109 were down
13,693 or 1.0% compared to the prior year period.
The difference in production of Platinum and PGMs
is a reflection of the longer processing times for
non-Platinum PGMs.

In 2013, the Process Division spent $52 million on
capital compared to $121 million in 2012. The 2013
expenditure included the completion of the Number
One shaft concentrator and the Number One furnace
integrity optimisation. The prior year included the
completion of the Tailings Treatment Project and the
Number Two furnace.

Processing
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THE LABOUR RELATIONS LANDSCAPE CHANGED SIGNIFICANTLY

FOLLOWING THE EVENTS AT MARIKANA IN AUGUST 2012. AMCU

BECAME THE NEW MAJORITY UNION REPRESENTING 66% OF

OUR TOTAL WORKFORCE.

This significant increase in membership resulted in
NUM’s overall membership declining to 14% of the
total workforce.

We were legally obliged to terminate our existing
union agreements and negotiate new ones as a result
of these changes, most significantly in the year our
new agreement with AMCU, as largest union. It is
unfortunate that this process is formally called
“derecognition” in South Africa – a term which is
unhelpful and does not reflect events.

Lonmin’s view is that every employee’s voice must be
heard, regardless of which union, if any, they belong to.

Going forward, our primary focus will remain on
rebuilding relations with our employees and
strengthening bonds with the representative unions
of their choice.

You can read more detail on this area in A Deeper
Look on page 163.

Employee Value Proposition
We have made a good start with the Employee
Value Proposition initiative that was outlined earlier
on page 11. The main focus of this initiative is to
address the needs of our employees as we work to
rebuild relationships. It seeks to go beyond taking an
interest in an employee only when he or she is at work
and takes a holistic approach.

An example of the kind of initiatives we want to see
more of in this area is financial literacy training, aimed
at addressing the high levels of debt among our
employees. More than 11,000 employees participated
in this training in the last twelve months and it has
now been incorporated into the induction programme.

Health and wellbeing
There is recognition of the interdependency between
health and safety given that effective health
management systems can reduce illnesses, injuries
and medical expenses and significantly improve the
productivity of workers.

Lonmin prioritises our occupational health, HIV/AIDS,
tuberculosis (TB) and community healthcare projects,
as well as education initiatives to encourage
individuals to take responsibility for their health.

Our health strategy is built on objectives that relate
to improving health outcomes for TB, HIV/AIDS and
chronic diseases, providing customer centred services,

preventing occupational exposure risk profile and
occupational diseases as well as enhancing quality
of life including community health initiatives.

HIV/AIDS related conditions are the primary cause of
mortality among in-service employees. This remains a
strong focus area for Lonmin. In 2013, 3,288 people
participated in the Company’s Anti-retroviral treatment
programme (2012 – 2,510), an increase of 31% from
the previous year.

TB is a significant threat to health in South Africa,
and is particularly so in labour-intensive industries
and when it is associated with HIV/AIDS. In 2013,
446 new cases of TB were diagnosed and treated
(2012 – 527 cases), and we achieved a cure rate
of 82% for cases where the treatment outcome was
known, against a target of 85%.

Number of patients on anti-retroviral treatment
(ART) and cases of tuberculosis (TB)

Gender Analysis
as at 30 September 2013

Male Female

Lonmin Plc Board 10 2
Senior Managers 15 4
Employees 26,110 2,269

The total women employed represents 8% of the
Company’s workforce. This is a number we focus
on and track as part of our commitment to the
mining charter. 5.1% of core mining positions were
filled by women at the end of 2013, an increase of
1.8% on 2012.

Senior Manager is per the definition in Section 414C
of the UK Companies Act 2006.

People 2013

Labour Relations

Our People and
Relationships
see p / 13 for
more information
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THIS IS A CRUCIAL AND COMPLEX AREA FOR LONMIN. AS SUCH

WE DESCRIBE WHAT WE HAVE DONE IN 2013 HERE AND DEAL WITH

OUR STRATEGIC ASPIRATIONS AND INTENTIONS FOR HOUSING IN

THE STRATEGY SECTION ON PAGE 16.

Housing is one of the areas which goes to the heart
of our licence to operate, both legally in terms of The
Broad-Based Socio-Economic Empowerment Charter
for the South African Industry, known as “the Mining
Charter”, and morally in terms of our relationship with
our employees.

It is also true that whilst it requires significant
investment to achieve, a successful housing policy
brings long-term benefits around productivity and
attendance.

Completion of Hostel Conversion
In our SLP, we originally committed to convert
128 traditional single-sex blocks with a mixture of
family and bachelor units. Upon completion, the
128 converted hostel blocks will yield 812 family
units and 1,978 single units. The conversion work
commenced in 2008 and completion shall be
achieved in 2014. To date,107 hostel blocks have
been converted.

The hostel conversion programme is measured and
monitored by the Department of Mineral and Energy
and DMR on a calendar year basis.

All the conversion work thus far has been executed
by HDSA Greater Lonmin Community (GLC)
companies which we have incubated, nurtured,
mentored and assisted. The outcome is that they
are now able, technically, operationally and financially,
to manage and deliver multimillion Rand projects.

A feasibility study to develop additional infill apartments
was conducted, which included security upgrades,
landscaping and recreation facilities, at the open
spaces in and around the existing converted hostel
blocks, which would provide accommodation for the
displaced hostel dwellers. The study concluded that
there was sufficient land to develop a total of 4,000
family and bachelor accommodation units.

We have also concluded research and scoping
projects around Integrated Human Settlements as
part of our long-term planning for housing development
and supporting infrastructure at Marikana.

Post the year end, we signed an agreement with the
Provincial Department of Human Settlement, whereby,
we have contributed 50ha of serviced land for
immediate development. This land contribution is
an integral part of the integrated human settlement
plan for the Marikana area and forms part of our
commitment to support the Presidential initiatives
to improve living conditions. In addition Lonmin will
contribute at least R0.5 billion over the next five years
towards employee accommodation and bulk services
as part of its SLP programme.

Housing

Integrated
Housing/Human
Settlements 
see p / 163 for
more information
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THROUGH THE COMMUNITY VALUE PROPOSITION, LONMIN

WANTS TO ENSURE IT IS WORKING ON THE CORRECT PROJECTS

AND PITCHING THEM AT A SUSTAINABLE LEVEL, SO THAT THE

COMPANY CAN LEAVE A LASTING LEGACY IN THE COMMUNITIES

AROUND ITS OPERATIONS.

New Social and Labour Plan
The original Western Platinum Limited (WPL) and
Eastern Platinum Limited (EPL) SLPs that were
approved by the DMR expired in December 2012.
These plans entailed a number of key initiatives that
Lonmin committed to deliver as part of its social
license to operate. Lonmin is required to submit new
five year SLPs and arrangements are at an advanced
stage to finalise these documents for implementation
in 2014. 

Improvement of Living Conditions
The pressing need to improve living conditions
necessitates increased investment in the development
of basic social infrastructure. This investment includes
contributions towards:

• Bulk water infrastructure – to enable access to
portable water and sanitation facilities;

• Road infrastructure – involves construction of new
access roads and improvement of existing roads;

• Waste removal – this involves continuation of the
GLC waste management programme and
identification of potential downstream recycling
opportunities;

• Improvement of public safety through increasing
the limited street lighting across all GLC villages;
and

• Increased local recruitment through the community
mining related skills programme targeting entry
level mining jobs.

Long-Term Investments
The above measures will be supplemented by
long-term investments aligned with our vision of
“Empowered, Sustainable Communities beyond
mining”. Long-term investments will facilitate reduction
in high levels of unemployment, significantly improve
the education system (local schools), increase access
to health services and maintain sustainable access to
basic social services.

In addition, we will be targeting measures to create
capacity within the local municipalities as well as local
and major labour sending communities to sustain
improvements realised through our investments.
Key priority areas will include:

• Community education value chain – school
infrastructure, learner support and teacher
development as well as community skills
programmes; and

• Community health – health infrastructure,
HIV/AIDS and health promotion programmes.

2013 Project Highlights:

Community Health
• The Community HIV/AIDS programme continued

with 136 active volunteers, supporting 1,528
home based care clients and 1,258 orphans and
vulnerable children;

• Community food centres provided meals to
415 orphaned and vulnerable children;

• Completed the building of a new clinic in
Hwelereng, Limpopo; and

• The building of additional staff accommodation
facilities at the Bapong Community Health Centre
were completed in this year.

Enterprise Development
We successfully launched the enterprise development
incubator in partnership with the Shanduka Black
Umbrellas.

Economic, Education and Community Development
Key project highlights for our local economic
development can be found in A Deeper Look on
page 164.

Community Relations

Community Value Proposition

Community Value
Proposition
see p / 164 for
more information
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BEE Equity Ownership
The Company is required to increase HDSA
ownership in its prospecting and mining ventures by
31 December 2014 to at least 26% as required under
the Mining Charter. As at 30 September 2013, HDSA
investors directly and indirectly owned 18% of the
share capital of the Company’s subsidiaries that
own and operate Marikana and Limpopo and that
participate in the Pandora joint venture, as well
as 26% of the share capital of the subsidiary that
owns Akanani.

Shanduka owns 50.03% of the Company’s BEE
partner, Incwala Resources (Pty) Limited (Incwala).
Other equity investors in Incwala include a trust for
the benefit of community members, the Industrial
Development Corporation and Lonmin itself. In
considering how best to meet its HDSA ownership
requirements by 31 December 2014, the Board
believes that it should strive to achieve further HDSA
ownership through a broad based solution as this will
ultimately be in the best interest of shareholders.

The Company will in the coming financial year,
facilitate the creation of trusts for the benefit of current
and future employees, and separately for members of
the Greater Lonmin Community to which new shares
will be allotted for their sole economic benefit. In order
to achieve this increase in HDSA participation, the
Company is considering a range of options involving
the issuance of additional shares which could dilute
the interests of shareholders. The Company has not
yet finalised its proposals, and any future transaction
would need to be considered on its merits and may
require prior shareholder approval.

Judicial Commission of Inquiry
The Farlam Commission into the events of August
2012 at Marikana continues with our full participation.
We continue to wholly support the inquiry and expect
some of our employees to be asked to give evidence
in early 2014.

Our Environment

Respecting our resources
By its very nature mining affects our environment,
sometimes adversely. Through our Integrated
Environmental Strategy our approach to environmental
management is a precautionary one, based on a
sound assessment of potential risks and their mitigation
throughout the life cycle and value chain of our
operations. Our strategy is aimed at:

• Maintaining effective environmental programmes
to comply with existing and new environmental
legislation and to minimise the risks of directives
or fines being issued;

• Continually progressing towards environmental
maturity;

• Implementing uniform and integrated systems; 

• Using resources efficiently, with strategic
programmes and corporate targets in place
relating to energy, water and waste management;

• Minimising our environmental footprint, pollution,
degradation and social liability by integrating
short-, medium- and long-term closure planning
into operational environmental plans; and

• Maintaining a good business and stakeholder
standing by facilitating environmental integration
within the business, strengthening relationships with
stakeholders and enhancing community wellness
and development through the implementation of
environmental community projects.

All our operations retained ISO 14001 certification.
We have developed an internal environmental maturity
protocol, aligned with ISO 14001 as well as general
environmental best practice.
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Greenhouse Gas (GHG) emissions classification
According to the GHG Protocol developed by the
World Business Council for Sustainable Development
and the World Resources Institute, GHG emissions
are classified as either direct or indirect, and from
there are divided further into Scope 1, Scope 2 and
Scope 3 emissions.

Direct GHG emissions are emissions from sources
that are owned or controlled by the reporting entity.
Indirect GHG emissions are emissions that are a
consequence of the activities of the reporting entity
but that occur at sources owned or controlled by
another entity.

• Scope 1 emissions: Direct emissions from
sources owned or operated by our Company.

• Scope 2 emissions: Indirect emissions attributable
to our Company due to its consumption of
purchased electricity.

• Scope 3 emissions: All other indirect emissions
associated with activities that support or supply
our Company’s operations. 

Our Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions footprint is
calculated in accordance with the GHG Protocol:
Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard. We
use the methodology outlined in the GHG Protocol:
Corporate Value Chain (Scope 3) Accounting and
Reporting Standard for the reporting of our Scope 3
emissions.

Our total carbon footprint for 2013 was 1,646,520
tonnes CO2e, 4.74% higher than in 2012 (1,571,940
tonnes CO2e). Our dependence on electricity
continues to make up the most significant share
of our GHG emissions profile.

Scope 1 GHG Emissions by Source (%)

Emissions in 2013

Scope 1 Scope 2 Scope 3 Total
Source* (CO2e) (CO2e) (CO2e) (CO2e)

Marikana 98,887 1,469,220 3,210 1,571,317
PMR 2,421 18,828 158 21,407
Limpopo 592 52,047 – 52,639
Group – – 1,157 1,157

Total 101,900 1,540,095 4,525 1,646,520

* Excludes London office, Johannesburg office and exploration
sites as these are considered insignificant in comparison to
the operations at Marikana and Limpopo.

Five-year emissions profile (tonnes CO2e)

Greenhouse Gas Efficiency

The GHG efficiency encompasses the scope 1 and 2
boundary. The GHG efficiency performance follows that
of the energy profile for 2013 and, given the increase in
production and increased use of electrical energy, the
GHG efficiency has decreased by 5.7% against 2012.

Energy Consumption
The demand for South Africa’s already stretched
energy capacity continues to increase. We remain
cautiously confident that we have secure, reliable
power supply to support our operations and growth
plans until 2017. The steep and steadily rising
increases in electricity prices together with the
imminent implementation of carbon taxation place
rising pressure on our operational costs.

Our approach rests on improving operational energy
efficiencies and reviewing the business case behind
renewable energy generation. We aim to achieve
this through the implementation of strategic new
technologies and enhancing awareness levels
enhancement among our management teams
and workforce.

Energy Consumption

The increase in energy consumption in 2013 of 5%
was driven by the increase in production.
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Freshwater Consumption
Water scarcity is one of the greatest potential challenges
to South Africa’s economic development. Our response
aims to: 

• Secure access to sufficient water and sustain our
Life of Business Plan;

• Optimise fresh water consumption and use
processed water more efficiently; and

• Minimise contamination of ground and surface
water resources and reduce closure liabilities.

Water scarcity and the lack of water storage and
distribution infrastructure have a significant effect
on the livelihoods of local communities, this being a
concern frequently expressed by local stakeholders.

Freshwater Consumption (’000m3)

Freshwater consumption in 2013 was 4% lower than
2012 despite the higher levels of production driven by
a 16% increase in recycling of process water.

Financial Overview
The foundation for this year’s financial performance
was laid in the first half of the financial year when we
strengthened our financial position with a successful
refinancing and we achieved a better than anticipated
production ramp up following the production
disruption in 2012. The excellent operational
performance continued into the second half of the
year. This coupled with a consistent focus on cost
containment and assisted by the weakening Rand
resulted in a solid financial outcome for the year
ended 30 September 2013.

The Group undertook a successful Rights Issue
which was completed in December 2012. The Rights
Issue was fully subscribed with just below 97% of the
take up coming from existing shareholders and the
remainder from the rump placement. Total net proceeds
of $767 million after costs and foreign exchange
movements were raised. In addition, the terms of our
debt facilities were revised in conjunction with the
successful Rights Issue. Details of the amendments
to debt facilities are discussed in A Deeper Look on
page 168. This refinancing has resulted in a robust
balance sheet with significantly improved funding
flexibility.

The exceptional production performance during the
year allowed us to replenish the metal in process
pipeline which was depleted in order to protect
liquidity in September 2012. Saleable metal in
concentrate Platinum production reached its highest
level in six years. However PGM sales volumes were
lower compared to 2012 given lower opening stocks
and the lock up in inventory as a result of the smelter
incident in April 2013. The overall PGM pricing
environment improved marginally which partially
mitigated the effect of lower sales volumes but the
net result was lower revenue for the year ended
30 September 2013 compared to 2012.

The Rand was significantly weaker during the year
under review resulting in favourable exchange impacts.
This, coupled with positive stock movements as a
result of the metal in process replenishment, offset
cost escalations yielding significantly improved
profitability for the year ended 30 September 2013.
Profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders
amounted to $166 million (2012 – loss of $410 million)
and the earnings per share were 31.2 cents
compared to a loss per share of 107.7 cents in 2012
(note that the prior period loss per share has been
recalculated, in accordance with accounting
standards, to take into account the effects of the
Rights Issue referred to above). It should also be
noted that 2012 profitability was severely impacted by
the disruptive events of last year and the impairment
of Akanani, an exploration and evaluation asset.

The successful refinancing of the business, the return
to profitability during the year under review and the
revised strategy and streamlined capital investment
programme have allowed us to repay all debt and
end the year in a net cash position of $201 million.

Outlook & Guidance
Given the prevailing labour landscape combined with
the uncertain market outlook, we are maintaining sales
guidance in excess of 750,000 Platinum ounces with
capital spend estimate set at $210 million in line with
our Renewal Plan. Unit cost of production is guided
to be less than wage inflation.

Financial Review
see p / 165 for
more information

Contribution to
bulk infrastructure
see p / 31 for
more information
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1. Roger Phillimore (64) Chairman
Roger was appointed Chairman of the
Board in March 2009, having served as
an independent Non-Executive Director
since 1997, and also chairs the
Nomination Committee. Born and raised
in South Africa, Roger is a graduate in
economics and law and has career-long
experience of the international mining
industry. Roger’s previous experience
includes roles as joint managing director
of Minorco and as a non-executive
director of Harry Winston Diamond
Corporation and Engelhard Corporation.
Roger is both a South African and a
British national.

2. Ben Magara (46) Chief Executive Officer
Ben joined the Company and Board as
Chief Executive on 1 July 2013. He is a
graduate Mining Engineer from the
University of Zimbabwe and has
attended various management
programmes including the Accelerated
Development Programme at the London
Business School, UK and the AMP at
GIBS, SA. Ben has extensive mining
experience in both underground and
surface mining as well as soft and hard
rock mining. He also has experience in
the energy and logistics industries. Ben
was the Chief Executive Officer of Anglo
Coal South Africa and the Executive
Head responsible for Engineering and
Capital Projects at Anglo Platinum. Ben
is a non-executive director of Foskor
and was previously a director of Anglo
American South Africa (2006-2013), was
Chairman of Richards Bay Coal Terminal
and the Eskom 2008 Coal Working
Group. He is also a Trustee of the
UNISA Foundation and is the Chairman
of the Board of Trustees at St Peters
Prep School Foundation. He is a
Zimbabwean national.

3. Simon Scott (55) Chief Financial Officer
Simon joined Lonmin and the Board in
September 2010, became CFO in
November 2010 and was Acting CEO
during the period 24 August 2012 to
30 June 2013. He is a graduate with
accounting and commerce degrees from
the University of the Witwatersrand, and
has also attended the management
development program at the University
of Cape Town. A South African registered
chartered accountant, he has held a
number of financial management roles
in South Africa with local and global
employers including over eight years
with Anglo American. Most recently
he was CFO of the JSE-listed Aveng
Limited, a globally active engineering
and construction group with significant
involvement in the mining sector. Simon is
both a British and a South African national.

4. Karen de Segundo (66) Independent
Non-Executive Director
Karen was appointed to the Board in
2005 and is a member of the Audit &
Risk, Nomination, Remuneration and
Safety & Sustainability Committees.
A graduate in law, with an MBA from
Michigan State University, she spent
more than 30 years working globally
with Shell, becoming their first female
country head in 1983. After two
years as CEO of Shell’s global Gas
& Power business, she spent five
years developing and leading Shell’s
renewable energy business. She is
a non-executive director of British
American Tobacco where she chairs
the Corporate Social Responsibility
Committee, a member of the
Pöyry board and a member of the
supervisory board of E.ON. Karen
is a Dutch national.

3. 4.

9.8.

1. 2.

8. Phuti Mahanyele (42) Non-Executive
Director
Appointed to the Board on 2 April 2013,
Phuti is the CEO of Shanduka Group,
Lonmin’s BEE partner, and was
nominated to the Board under a
contractual arrangement. She has a BA in
Economics from Rutgers University, USA,
an MBA from De Montfort University, UK
and completed the Kennedy School of
Government Executive Education
program ‘Global Leadership and Public
Policy for the 21st Century’ at Harvard
University in 2008. Her executive
experience includes financing infrastructure
assets and other project finance work in
both the US and South Africa. She joined
Shanduka Group in 2004 as the
Managing Director of Shanduka Energy,
and became CEO in September 2010.
She was selected as a Global Young
Leader in 2007 by the World Economic
Forum and listed as one of the Top 50
women in the world to watch in 2008 by
the Wall Street Journal. She is a director
of a number of Shanduka Group investee
companies, including Deputy Chair of
AIM/JSE listed Pan African Resources Plc.

9. Jonathan Leslie (62) Independent
Non-Executive Director
Jonathan was appointed to the
Board in 2009, chairs the Safety
& Sustainability Committee, and is
a member of the Nomination and
Remuneration Committees. After
graduating in jurisprudence and
qualifying as a barrister, Jonathan
spent 26 years with Rio Tinto,
including nine years’ service on its
board. His roles at Rio Tinto included
Mining Director and Chief Executive
of the Copper and later the Diamonds
& Gold Product Groups. He was
subsequently CEO of Sappi, the
executive chairman of Nikanor and
CEO of Extract Resources Limited.
Jonathan is a British national.

Strength through
our people
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5. 6.

10. 11. 12. 13.

5. Jim Sutcliffe (57) Independent
Non-Executive Director
Jim was appointed to the Board in 2007
and is chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of the Audit
& Risk, Nomination and Transformation
Committees. He was appointed Senior
Independent Director at the 2012 AGM.
An actuary by profession, Jim has
extensive UK and South African
business experience, including senior
executive roles with Prudential UK and
Old Mutual, being Group CEO of the
latter from 2001-2008. He is a director
of the Financial Reporting Council
Limited where he chairs the Codes and
Standards Committee and is also a
director of Liberty Group and Liberty
Holdings, and chairman of Sun Life
Financial. Jim is a British citizen.

6. David Munro (58) Independent
Non-Executive Director
David was appointed to the Board
in 2007 and is a member of the
Nomination, Safety & Sustainability
and Transformation Committees.
He was most recently Development
Director of Kazakhmys from 2006
to 2011. David’s experience prior to
this includes roles as CEO of RMC
Group Plc, Chief Development Office
of BHP Billiton, and as the director
of Biliton Plc responsible for its
global aluminium and base metals
businesses. David is a graduate
in mining engineering and has
extensive experience of mine
management in South Africa.
He is a British national.

7.

7. Len Konar (59) Independent
Non-Executive Director
Appointed to the Board in 2010,
Len has chaired the Audit & Risk
Committee since July 2010 and is
a member of the Nomination and
Transformation Committees. Len
holds degrees in accounting and
commerce from South African and
U.S. universities. After qualifying as
a chartered accountant, he pursued
an academic career at the University
of Durban-Westville, before moving
into commercial roles. He now has
a broad ranging business career,
chairing the boards of leading South
African companies including Exxaro
Resources and Steinhoff International
and serving on the boards of others
including Sappi and Alexander Forbes.
A member of the King Committee on
Corporate Governance, he is also a
member of the Corporate Governance
Forum and the Institute of Directors.
Len is a South African national.

10. Mahomed Seedat (57)
Non-Executive Director
Appointed to the Board on
1 January 2011 Mahomed is
a member of the Safety &
Sustainability and Transformation
Committees. Mahomed has
extensive knowledge and
experience of South African
mining, gained from a senior
level executive career with Anglo
Coal, BHP Billiton and latterly
as Chief Operating Officer of
Lonmin from October 2008 to
December 2010. A graduate in
electrical engineering, Mahomed
was awarded a fellowship from
Harvard Business School in
1990. He is also a non-executive
director of Mechel Mining OAO
and of Aveng (Africa) Limited
and chairs the boards of
Lonmin’s South African operating
subsidiaries. Mahomed is a
South African national.

11. Brian Beamish (56) Independent
Non-Executive Director
Brian was appointed to the Board
with effect from 1 November 2013.
He was formerly Group Director,
Mining and Technology at Anglo
American where he worked for
36 years. Brian was also a non-
executive director of JSE-listed
Anglo American Platinum Limited
from May 2010 to 30 September
2013. His previous executive roles
included four years as Operations
Director of Anglo Platinum and
working as COO and subsequently
CEO of Anglo American’s global
Base Metals business. A graduate
in mechanical engineering from
Wits University and of the PMD
programme at Harvard Business
School, he has career long
experience of the mining industry,
largely gained in operational roles
in South Africa and latterly in other
parts of the world, particularly
South America. He is both a British
and South African national.

12. Gary Nagle (38) Non-Executive
Director
Gary was appointed to the Board
on 9 September 2013 on which
date he also joined the Safety &
Sustainability Committee. He has
commerce and accounting
degrees from the University of the
Witwatersrand, and qualified as a
Chartered Accountant in South
Africa in 1999. Since then he has
held a variety of appointments within
the Glencore group, including more
than five years as CEO of Prodeco,
Glencore’s Colombian coal
operation. He is currently CEO of
Glencore Xstrata’s Alloys Division
and is a member of its global
management committee. Gary is
a South African national.

13. Paul Smith (43) Non-Executive
Director
Paul was appointed to the Board on
9 September 2013. He is the Head
of Strategy and Communications for
Glencore Xstrata plc and sits on its
executive capital allocation committee.
A graduate from Oxford University in
Modern History, he is also a qualified
Chartered Accountant. His career
to date has been in investment
banking and fund management,
before joining Glencore in 2011.
Paul is a British national.
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2. Simon Scott (55) Chief Financial Officer
Biography included overleaf on page 36.

3. Albert Jamieson (55) Chief Commercial
Officer (to 31 December 2013)
Albert joined Lonmin in 1989 after
eight years at Impala, where he was
responsible for their concentrator
operations. He has held a number of
senior management and executive
positions in the mine production and
commercial areas of the business
including responsibility for investments
in Africa, South America, North America,
Australia and Japan. The commercial
portfolio currently comprises business
development, strategy, marketing and
sales, exploration, legal and life of
business planning. Albert has a BSc in
Minerals Engineering from the University
of Birmingham and an MBA from the
University of Cape Town. Albert is a
British national.

2. 3.1.

1. Ben Magara (46) Chief Executive Officer
Biography included overleaf on page 36.

6.

6. Thandeka Ncube (44) Business
Transformation Manager,
Shanduka Resources
Thandeka was nominated by
Shanduka. She works with
Shanduka’s investee companies
advising on transformation and
broad-based empowerment. She
holds a social sciences degree from
the City University of New York and
an MBA from Henley Business
School. She began her career
working with various government
institutions, developing strategy
and policy for small and medium
enterprises, and then joined the
retail banking side of Standard
Bank. Thandeka is a South
African national.

A team dedicated
to the future of
Lonmin
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4. Barnard Mokwena (49) Executive Vice
President Strategic Business Transformation
Barnard joined Lonmin in October 2005 as a
Group Manager, Communications and External
Affairs and was promoted to Executive Vice
President, Human Capital and External Affairs
in September 2009, at which time he was also
appointed to the Exco. In September 2013,
Barnard assumed responsibility for
Transformation, human settlements and mining
charter compliance. He previously worked in
senior management positions in a range of
sectors for a number of companies including
Sentech, the South African Rail Commuter
Corporation and the National Lottery Operator
(UTHINGO). He holds a BA Phil from Urban
Pontifical University, an MA Licentiate from
Gregorian University and an EDP from Pretoria.
Barnard is a South African national.

5. Mark Munroe (44) Executive Vice
President Mining
Mark joined Lonmin in March 2008
in the mining business, becoming
VP Capital Projects & Engineering
before being appointed as EVP
Mining in June 2009. He joined
Lonmin from DRDGold, where he
spent six years holding a number
of senior management positions
including General Manager of
DRDGold and CEO of DRDCapital.
Prior to this, he worked for
AngloGold for twelve years. He is
a mining engineer and also has a
degree in economics. Mark is a
South African national.

7. Natascha Viljoen (44)
Executive Vice President
Processing and Sustainability
Natascha joined Lonmin in 2008
from BHP Billiton, where she
was General Manager for the
Klipspruit mine. Her initial
responsibility was for managing
Lonmin’s concentrators, and in
May 2011 she was promoted
to her current role, covering all
concentrating, smelting and
refining operations. She holds
an engineering degree and is
currently studying for an
executive MBA at the University
of Cape Town. Natascha’s
career stretches over various
commodities and disciplines in
the mining industry with nine
years in senior management roles.
Before BHP Billiton she held
positions with Anglo American
and AngloGold. Natascha is a
South African national.

8. Abey Kgotle (42) Executive Vice
President Human Resources
Abey joined Lonmin in April 2008 as
Senior Manager Human Resources.
He held several roles including
Executive Manager External Affairs
and Executive Manager Human
Resources. He was appointed
Executive Vice President Human
Resources in September 2013. Prior
to joining Lonmin, he worked in
executive human resources roles at
GrafTech South Africa, City of
Johannesburg, Samancor Manganese
and Denel. Abey has extensive
experience in human resource
management, labour relations,
community investment and stakeholder
relations. He holds a Bachelor of
Social Sciences from the University
of the North West and a Masters
Diploma in Human Resource
Management. Abey has also attended
the Global Executive Development
Programme at Pretoria University’s
Gordon Institute of Business Science.
Abey is a South African national.

9. Lerato Molebatsi (44) Executive
Vice President Communications and
Public Affairs
Lerato joined Lonmin in September 2013
having worked at the Department of
Labour since September 2011 as their
Deputy Director General: Corporate
Services. Prior to joining the Department
of Labour, Lerato worked in senior
executive positions at Sanlam, Old
Mutual and Alexander Forbes. She holds
a Bachelor of Arts degree in Psychology
from the University of Johannesburg and
a Post Graduate Diploma in Rural Policy
Development Policy and Management
from the University of Witwatersrand.
She has also attended the Senior
Management Development Programme
at the University of Stellenbosch. Lerato
has considerable experience in labour
dynamics, community engagement,
government and regulatory policy.
Lerato will be responsible for corporate
communications, media and public
relations, stakeholder management,
South African regulatory affairs and
community development. Lerato is a
South African national.
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Platinum sales of 696,000 ounces –
exceeded guidance.

Restructuring complete
and on track to deliver
annualised savings.

More inclusive and a transparent cost reporting.
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Contribution of land for Integrated Human Settlements
for employees and communities.

As a labour-intensive industry our people are
key to our success. In narrow tabular mining,
where mechanisation will always be limited,
people make the difference and should be
a source of competitive advantage.

The conversion of hostel blocks into a mixture
of family and bachelor units should be completed
by 2014. 107 of the 128 hostel blocks have been
converted to date.

Improving wellbeing and living
conditions for employees and
communities.
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Corporate Governance Report

Acting in
shareholders’
interests
Letter from Roger Phillimore

Dear fellow shareholder

I have chosen to introduce the reporting on our corporate governance arrangements this year so that
I can emphasise their importance, and explain how these function for the benefit of the Company and
its shareholders. A board of directors should add value in many ways – most obviously through
establishing the moral tone of the company, and then through the decisions taken. In this regard the
thinking which goes into designing its composition and balance, in defining its remit and in planning
the processes to ensure that it focuses effectively on the key issues are of paramount importance.
In essence, a board comprising the right directors must consider the right issues at the right time,
when in possession of all necessary information. To achieve this requires deliberate planning and
sustained effort over a prolonged period.

As an English-incorporated company with its primary listing in London, Lonmin is subject to the UK
Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”). The Code encourages me to report personally on how its
principles relating to the role and effectiveness of the Board have been applied, and I am pleased to do so.

We choose to maintain the highest standards of corporate governance as we believe these should
help to facilitate the success of the Company and sustain this over time. An important distinction is
that management, led by the CEO, is responsible for running the business while the Board, acting
under my leadership, runs the Company and provides the constructive challenge to management
necessary to create accountability and drive performance. Our effectiveness in doing this should make
a material difference in terms of the creation and preservation of value for shareholders, and to the
benefit of other stakeholders. Board composition is therefore of enormous importance and there are
three critical dimensions: the balance of skills and experience; maintaining a strong level of
independence and objectivity; and ensuring that all members have sufficient knowledge of the
Company and the context in which we operate. As we act in shareholders’ interests, it is right that
shareholders have the opportunity to vote on the re-election of every Director on an annual basis.

As I committed a year ago, during 2013 we have undertaken an externally-facilitated review of the
performance of the Board, its Committees and individual Directors. This has been a searching process
managed by Sheena Crane, an experienced independent practitioner who has no other connection
to Lonmin, under my direction. A fuller description of the process is set out in section 1.6 of this report,
together with the focus areas for the new year resulting from the review. We will tackle these challenges
with rigour and urgency in the months ahead.

The remainder of this report contains the narrative reporting variously required by the Code, the
Listing Rules and the Disclosure & Transparency Rules, including the role and work of the Nomination
Committee. I hope you find this an informative and helpful discussion of an important topic.

Yours faithfully

Roger Phillimore
Chairman

Roger Phillimore
Chairman



 

Compliance statement
As noted in the Chairman’s introduction, Lonmin is subject to the UK Corporate Governance Code, published by the Financial
Reporting Council and available on their website, www.frc.org.uk. The edition of the Code published in September 2012 applied
throughout our financial year ending 30 September 2013, but the Financial Conduct Authority has yet to change the Listing Rules
and therefore requires that certain compliance statements are made in relation to the predecessor edition of the Code, issued in
June 2010. This report addresses the requirements of both editions of the Code.

During the year to 30 September 2013 (“FY2013”) the Company has in all respects complied with the provisions of both editions
of the Code, save in relation to the period 9 to 30 September 2013 (and through to 1 November 2013) during which time less
than half the Board (excluding the Chairman) were independent Non-executive Directors. On 9 October 2013 we announced the
appointment of an additional independent Non-executive Director, Brian Beamish, with effect from 1 November 2013 which restores
compliance with the recommendations of the Code.

Almost all of the Group’s business is based in South Africa, where the prevailing governance code is the King Report on
Governance for South Africa 2009, more commonly known as ‘King III’, available from www.iodsa.co.za. While the Company and
its subsidiaries are not subject to King III the Board has identified certain provisions which it feels are of benefit to the Company’s
overall governance framework, primarily in relation to ethics and sustainability, and which we follow on a voluntary basis.

Role and effectiveness of the Board
The Company is led and controlled by a Board of Directors, which is collectively responsible for the long-term success of the
Company. It does so by creating and preserving value, and has as its foremost principle acting in the interests of shareholders.

1.    How the Board of Directors operates
1.1 The role of the Board

The Board is the custodian of the Company’s strategic aims, vision and values. It provides entrepreneurial leadership to
management within a framework of prudent controls which enables risk to be assessed and managed appropriately. It
assesses whether the necessary financial and human resources are, and will continue to be, in place to enable the Company
to meet its objectives and ensure that it takes full account of safety, environmental and social factors. The graphic below
shows the iterative nature of the Board’s role:

The schedule of matters reserved to the Board, last reviewed in January 2012 and available on the Company’s website, sets
out the Board’s ultimate responsibility for the Group’s strategy, operations and risks, and reserves to the Board power to
approve a range of decisions of a significant nature.

While it is invidious to single out aspects of these responsibilities as being of greater importance than others, determining the
Company’s risk appetite (which we define as the risks we actively seek or accept in pursuit of our long-term objectives),
deciding the Company’s business strategy, and then determining the risk tolerance (which we define as the limit of risk we are
prepared to face in pursuit of those long-term objectives) are clearly crucial. Naturally, these must be supported by sound risk
management and internal control systems, the design and maintenance of which is also the responsibility of the Board.
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Report to shareholders on
business performance, and

ascertain their views

Oversee reporting to other
stakeholders

Monitor and understand the
risk environment in which the

Company operates

Monitor the delivery of strategy

Challenge or support
management as necessary

Oversee governance
environment, including 

through oversight delegated
to Board Committees

Oversee the internal control
framework

Develop the business model
and provide entrepreneurial

leadership

Appoint the CEO

Consider and approve strategy,
business plans and budgets



1.    How the Board of Directors operates (continued)
1.1 The role of the Board (continued)

In the early part of FY2013 the Board set a number of objectives for itself, under three headings – optimising shareholder value
(operational excellence, licence to operate and strategic imperatives), people and governance. These objectives were then
used to drive the agenda-setting process for each scheduled meeting of the Board to ensure that time was focussed on these
key areas.

1.2 Key Board roles
The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer is set out in writing and is summarised
below, together with the primary responsibilities of the Senior Independent Director and Non-executive Directors, providing a
system of checks and balances in which no individual has unfettered decision making power.

Chairman – Roger Phillimore (based in the United Kingdom) Chief Executive Officer – Ben Magara (based in South Africa)

Lead and manage the Board Provide leadership to the executive team in running the business

Lead the Board’s consideration of strategy Develop proposals for the Board to consider in all areas reserved
for its judgement, particularly strategy

Promote the highest standards of corporate governance Ensure effective internal controls and risk management systems
are in place

Ensure effective communication with shareholders Implement agreed strategy and all Board approved actions

The Chairman is in regular contact with the CEO to discuss current material matters, and the Chairman also visits the
operations outside the Board meeting schedule to meet a range of senior executives, managers and external stakeholders.

Senior Independent Director – Jim Sutcliffe Non-executive Directors

Act as an intermediary for the other Directors when necessary Provide input to, review proposals for and then approve strategy

Be available to shareholders if they have concerns which Scrutinise the performance of management in meeting agreed
contact with the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer or goals and objectives and monitor the reporting of performance
Chief Financial Officer has failed to resolve, or where
such contact would be inappropriate

Provide a sounding board for Chairman Review the integrity of financial information and determine 
whether internal controls and systems of risk management 
are robust

Determine appropriate levels of remuneration of Executive
Directors, be involved in the appointment and, where necessary,
the removal of Executive Directors and monitor succession
planning

Detailed knowledge of South Africa, the mining industry, the PGM business and Lonmin’s operations is crucial to the Board’s
ability to lead the Company. On appointment each Director is provided with a tailored induction, and they are expected to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills on an on-going basis. The Company supports this by organising site visits and
working sessions with a wide range of operational managers and external experts throughout the year and the Chairman
agrees with each Director their training and development needs as and when required. The Non-executive Directors have regular
opportunities to meet members of the Exco (see section 8 below) and the broader management team both at these working
sessions and at social occasions.

At the end of every Board meeting the Chairman holds a discussion with the Non-executive Directors without the Executive
Directors being present followed by a meeting of the independent Non-executive Directors. The Directors also meet, without
the Chairman being present, under the leadership of the Senior Independent Director at least once in each year.
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1.    How the Board of Directors operates (continued)
1.3 Appointments to the Board

The Company’s Articles of Association empower the Board to appoint new Directors. To ensure a formal, rigorous and
transparent procedure for appointing new Directors to the Board, a Nomination Committee comprising the independent
Non-executive Directors has been created, whose work is described in section 5 of this report.

In order for any board to discharge its duties and responsibilities effectively, it must comprise the right blend of individuals,
whose skills and experience were gained in a diverse range of backgrounds. Above all, the Directors must exhibit
independence of mind, integrity and the courage to challenge constructively when appropriate. Appointments are therefore
made on personal merit and against objective criteria. In the case of candidates for non-executive directorships, care is taken
to ascertain that they have sufficient time to fulfil their Board and, where relevant, Committee responsibilities. As part of this
process, candidates disclose all other time commitments and, on appointment, undertake to inform the Board of any
changes. The Non-executive Directors’ letters of appointment are available for public inspection and the generic template is
provided on the Company’s website.

Shanduka Group, the ultimate parent of our BEE partner Incwala Resources, has a contractual right to nominate one Director
for membership of the Company’s Board, subject to the subsequent recommendation of that individual by the Nomination
Committee. No other party has any legal right to nominate Directors to the Board.

Once appointed, all Directors are required to submit themselves for re-election by shareholders on an annual basis.

As the current composition of the Board and Exco demonstrates, Lonmin strongly supports the benefits of diversity, both in
the boardroom and in the business. Our principal challenge is in meeting the transformation and employment equity targets
we face in South Africa. In order to prioritise these, we have decided not to impose further, gender-based targets upon
ourselves, as these could create an unhelpful constraint on future Board appointments.

1.4 The Board of Directors
As at the date of this report, the Board has thirteen members: the Chairman, ten Non-executive Directors and two Executive
Directors. The names of the Directors serving at the end of FY2013 and their biographical details are set out on pages 36
and 37. All Directors served throughout that year, save as noted below:

Ian Farmer – as a result of illness, retired as CEO and a Director with effect from 31 December 2012

Cyril Ramaphosa – retired as a Non-executive Director of the Company on 31 January 2013 following his election as
Deputy President of South Africa’s governing political party, the African National Congress

Phuti Mahanyele – appointed as a Non-executive Director on 2 April 2013, following nomination by Shanduka Group
(see 1.3 above)

Ben Magara – appointed as a Director and CEO 1 July 2013

Gary Nagle – appointed as a Non-executive Director on 9 September 2013

Paul Smith – appointed as a Non-executive Director on 9 September 2013

In addition, Brian Beamish was appointed as a Non-executive Director with effect from 1 November 2013.

1.5 Balance and independence of the Board members
The Board believes that it and its Committees have an appropriate composition to discharge their duties effectively and to
manage succession issues. However, a Board with thirteen members is very large, especially in the context of a business
of this size and complexity, however, the Board believes this should not hinder its effectiveness.

One determining factor in the Board’s ability to fulfil its remit is the blend of individuals and their personal qualities, and
ensuring that no individual or small group dominates decision-making. The Board keeps its membership, and that of its
Committees, under review to ensure that an acceptable balance is maintained, and that the collective skills and experience
of its members continue to be refreshed. It is satisfied that all Directors have sufficient time to devote to their roles and that
undue reliance is not placed on any individual.

The Board determines whether Non-Executive Directors are independent. Mahomed Seedat was formerly the Company’s
Chief Operating Officer and provides consultancy services to the Company, and is not regarded as independent. As noted
above, Phuti Mahanyele was nominated to the Board by Shanduka and the Board does not regard her independent. Gary
Nagle and Paul Smith are senior employees of, and were nominated by, Glencore Xstrata which owns 24.5% of the
Company’s shares. As a result the Board does not regard either as independent. The Board considers the six other
Non-executive Directors serving at the date of this report to be independent and is confident that they are of sufficient
calibre and number that their views can carry sufficient weight in the Board’s deliberations.
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1

1

South Africa

Spain

United Kingdom

Switzerland

6

5

Non-independent

Independent

1.    How the Board of Directors operates (continued)
1.5 Balance and independence of the Board members (continued)

The experience, professional backgrounds, international diversity and independence of the current eleven Non-executive
Directors can be summarised as follows:

Industry sector experience Professional background

Current country of primary residence Independence

A number of the Non-executive Directors have lived and worked in countries other than those in which they currently reside,
and the vast majority have strong links with South Africa as evidenced in the biographical details on pages 36 and 37.

1.6 How we assess and refresh the Board and its Committees
There are three ways in which we make sure that the Directors continue to provide suitable leadership and direction to the
Company: performance evaluation, succession planning and annual re-election by shareholders.

Performance evaluation
The Board believes that annual evaluations are helpful and provide a valuable opportunity for continuous improvement.
However, given the circumstances at the time the Board judged that it was inappropriate to carry out an evaluation in FY2012.
For this reason, there are no ‘brought forward’ actions on which to comment.

An externally-facilitated review was already scheduled for FY2013 covering the Board, its Committees and individual Directors,
including the Chairman. As in 2010, the facilitator was Sheena Crane, an independent practitioner with no other connection
to the Company. Her review took the form of structured interviews with Directors, focussed on the Board’s composition,
formulation and delivery of strategy, risk identification and mitigation and individual performance and contribution. Members
of the Executive Committee, the Company Secretary, the Assistant Company Secretary and the Senior Statutory Auditor were
also interviewed. The feedback from the evaluation was reviewed by the Chairman (or, in relation to the Chairman, by the
Senior Independent Director) and the principal findings and recommendations presented to the Board in November 2013.
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1.    How the Board of Directors operates (continued)
1.6 How we assess and refresh the Board and its Committees (continued)

The review helped identify the following focus areas for the Board in FY2014:

Area                                                                          Action

Strategy                                                   •    Identify and evaluate strategic options 
                                                               •    Set hard measurable outcomes for the transformation programme and drive an

increased pace of delivery by management
Operational excellence                            •    Improve operational excellence further, and ensure that cultural and environmental

factors are taken fully into account
Risk                                                        •    Undertake a comprehensive review of the top priority risks and mitigation plans,

and give more attention to ‘second tier’ risks
People                                                    •    Further develop executive and Board succession planning, in support of the CEO

At the November 2013 meeting the Board also reviewed an assessment of its performance against its FY2013 objectives
(see 1.1 above) as a further means of checking its effectiveness. In general, material progress had been made and there were
no fundamental shortcomings.

Succession planning
The Board is ultimately responsible for succession planning for directorships and key management roles. This requires a
programme of performance and talent assessment, to ensure that able successors for key roles are identified and then provided
with suitable opportunities through agreed career and personal development plans. It is crucial that we remunerate our most
talented people fairly and properly, such that they are more likely to stay in our employment. During the year, the Remuneration
Committee reviewed the status of our succession planning and also how the processes for recruitment and selection support
this programme, and our employment equity objectives. That Committee’s views were summarised to the Board.

Re-election of Directors
All Directors will retire from the Board at the Company’s AGM in January 2014 and, save for David Munro and Mahomed
Seedat, each wishes to seek re-election. The Nomination Committee has conducted a formal performance evaluation of each
Non-executive Director seeking re-election and concluded that their performance continues to be effective and that they
demonstrate commitment to the role. The Committee is also satisfied that the backgrounds, skills, experience and knowledge
of the Company of the continuing Directors collectively enables the Board and its Committees to discharge their respective
duties and responsibilities effectively.

We believe that sufficient biographical and other information on those Directors seeking re-election is provided in this Annual
Report and Accounts and the AGM Circular to enable shareholders to make an informed decision.

1.7 Board meetings
The Directors met fourteen times during the year, of which six were scheduled meetings. The other eight meetings were called
at short notice and did not necessarily require full attendance and related principally to the 2012 Rights Issue, or otherwise to
ad-hoc events or granting formal approvals. As in prior years, the Board visited the operations in South Africa twice during
the year. Although we no longer hold formal board meetings in South Africa, this provides a useful opportunity to investigate
operational and especially transformation issues in depth and to meet members of the Exco and other managers. In addition
to their meeting commitments, the Non-executive Directors also make themselves available to management whenever
required and there is regular contact outside the Board meeting schedule.

Attendance at Board meetings during each Director’s period of service in FY2013 is set out in the table below.

Scheduled Extra
Director meetings meetings

Ian Farmer (retired from the Board 31 December 2012) 1 of 1 6 of 6
Len Konar 6 of 6 7 of 8
Jonathan Leslie 6 of 6 8 of 8
Ben Magara (appointed 1 July 2013) 2 of 2 1 of 1
Phuti Mahanyele (appointed 2 April 2013) 2 of 3 1 of 1
David Munro 6 of 6 6 of 8
Gary Nagle (appointed 9 September 2013) 1 of 1 –
Roger Phillimore 6 of 6 8 of 8
Cyril Ramaphosa (retired from the Board 31 January 2013) 1 of 2 4 of 7
Simon Scott 6 of 6 8 of 8
Mahomed Seedat 6 of 6 8 of 8
Karen de Segundo 6 of 6 7 of 8
Paul Smith (appointed 9 September 2013) 1 of 1 –
Jim Sutcliffe 6 of 6 8 of 8

When a Director is unable to participate in a meeting either in person or remotely, the Chairman will solicit their views on key
items of business ahead of time, in order that these can be presented at the meeting and influence the debate.
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1.    How the Board of Directors operates (continued)
1.8 Board Committees, and how they support the Board

To fulfil its role in the time available, the Board must delegate some of its duties and powers to committees. As well as the
committees recommended in the Code, the Board has established two other Committees to deal with specific business
needs, the Safety & Sustainability and Transformation Committees. Each Committee and its members are provided with
accurate, timely and clear information and sufficient resources to enable them to undertake their duties. Membership of the
Committees during the year to 30 September 2013 is shown below, together with individual attendance at the Committee
meetings held during each Director’s period of service in FY2013.

Safety &
Audit & Risk Nomination Remuneration Sustainability Transformation 1

Non-executive Directors
Len Konar Chairman 4 of 4 Member 5 of 5 Chairman 2 2 of 2

Jonathan Leslie Member 5 of 5 Member 7 of 7 Chairman 3 of 3

Phuti Mahanyele 3 Member 1 of 2 Member 1 of 2

David Munro Member 5 of 5 Member 3 of 3 Member 2 of 2

Gary Nagle 4 Member 0 of 1

Roger Phillimore Chairman 5 of 5

Cyril Ramaphosa

Mahomed Seedat Member 3 of 3 Member 2 of 2

Karen de Segundo Member 4 of 4 Member 5 of 5 Member 7 of 7 Member 3 of 3

Paul Smith

Jim Sutcliffe Member 3 of 4 Member 5 of 5 Chairman 7 of 7 Member 2 of 2

Executive Directors
Ben Magara 5 Member 2 of 2 Member 1 of 1

Simon Scott 6 Member 2 of 2 Member 2 of 2

1 Mr Phillimore, Mr Leslie and Mrs de Segundo were also in attendance at both meetings.

2 Dr Konar was appointed Chairman of this Committee from 1 February 2013.

3 Ms Mahanyele was appointed on 2 April 2013.

4 Mr Nagle was appointed on 9 September 2013.

5 Mr Magara was appointed on 1 July 2013.

6 Mr Scott relinquished his duties as Acting CEO with effect from 30 June 2013.

Following the year end, Brian Beamish was appointed as a member of the Nomination, Safety & Sustainability and
Transformation Committees, all with effect from 1 November 2013.

Each Committee has written terms of reference, approved by the Board, summarising its objectives, remit and powers, which
are available on the Company’s website. All Committee members are provided with appropriate induction on joining their
respective Committees, as well as on-going access to training. Minutes of all meetings of the Committees (save for the private
sessions of Committee members at the end of meetings or where the information in the minutes would conflict with the
information protocol discussed below) are made available to all Directors and feedback from each of the Committees is
provided to the Board by the respective Committee Chairmen at the next Board meeting. The Committee Chairmen attend
the AGM to answer any questions on the Committees’ activities.
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1.    How the Board of Directors operates (continued)
1.8 Board Committees, and how they support the Board (continued)

The interaction between the Board, its Committees and the management of the Company can be summarised as follows: 

1.9 How the Board manages conflicts of interest
Directors have a statutory duty to avoid actual or potential conflicts of interest. Where these have occurred, or may occur, the
Board can ‘authorise’ conflicts where it feels this to be appropriate, on such terms as it may decide. There is a documented
procedure in place to ensure best practice is followed. This requires that when a Director becomes aware that he or she:

• is in a situation which does or could create a conflict of interest; or

• has an interest in an existing or proposed transaction in which the Company also has an interest;

then they are required to notify the Board in writing of the situational or transactional conflict as soon as possible and, in any
event, prior to any conflicted transaction being concluded. Directors have a continuing duty to update the Board on any
changes to their other appointments which, by way of further check, are reviewed by the Board on an annual basis. The
interests of new Directors are reviewed during the recruitment process and authorised (if appropriate) by the Board at the time
of their appointment.

Two of the Board’s Non-executive Directors, Gary Nagle and Paul Smith, are senior executives of Glencore Xstrata, a
significant shareholder of the Company. In addition, Glencore Xstrata owns and operates a PGM business located in South
Africa (producing concentrates) and their Nickel division produces by-product PGMs from its operations in Canada (which
are processed through to refined metal and then marketed). As a result, Glencore Xstrata is a competitor of Lonmin for
competition (anti-trust) law purposes. An Information Sharing Protocol has been adopted by the Company and these two
Directors in order to minimise the risk of breaching applicable law or regulation, whilst at the same time ensuring sufficient
information is provided to enable them to discharge their duties as Directors of the Company.

No Director had a material interest in any contract of significance in relation to the Company’s business at any time during the
year or to the date of this report.

1.10 How we support the Board
The Board, and its Committees, are supplied with regular, comprehensive and timely information in a form and of a quality that
enables them to discharge their duties effectively. All Directors are able to make further enquiries of the Executive Directors or
management whenever necessary, and have access to the services of the Company Secretary. There is a procedure in place for
Directors to take independent professional advice, if they judge this to be necessary, at the Company’s expense.
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1.    How the Board of Directors operates (continued)
1.11 Directors’ remuneration

A report on Directors’ remuneration is set out on pages 70 to 99. Interests in the Company’s shares held by the Directors in
office during the year, and to the date of this report, are shown in that report. No Director held any beneficial interest in the
share capital of any other Group company at any time during the year and to the date of this report.

1.12Protection available to Directors
In law, Directors are ultimately responsible for most aspects of the Company’s business dealings. As a consequence, they
face potentially significant personal liability under criminal or civil law, or the UK Listing, Prospectus, Disclosure & Transparency
Rules, and face a range of penalties including private or public censure, fines and/or imprisonment. In line with normal market
practice, the Company believes that it is in the Company’s best interests to protect the individuals prepared to serve on its Board
from the consequences of innocent error or omission, since this enables us to attract prudent individuals to act as Directors.

The Company maintains, at its expense, a Directors’ & Officers’ liability insurance policy to afford an indemnity in certain
circumstances for the benefit of Group personnel including, as recommended by the Code, the Directors. This insurance
policy does not provide cover where the Director or Officer has acted fraudulently or dishonestly.

In addition, Deeds of Indemnity have been issued by the Company which, in general terms, protect all past, present and
future Directors and officers of the Company to the extent permissible by law from all costs and expenses incurred in the
defence of any civil or criminal proceedings in which judgement is given in their favour or the proceedings are otherwise
disposed of without a finding of fault or where there is a successful application to court for relief from liability. Under the terms
of these indemnities, the Company may advance money to fund a Director’s defence costs which, should the Director not be
exonerated, would be repayable to the Company. Each indemnity operates only to the extent that the applicable Director is
not able to recover the relevant amounts under the Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance policy. All these indemnities were
in force throughout the financial year and to the date of this report, and are available for inspection at the Company’s
Registered Office.

Accountability to Shareholders
The Board’s primary duty is to promote the long-term success of the Company for the benefit of its shareholders taken as a whole.
As seen from the schematic illustrating the role of the Board in section 1.1 above, accountability to shareholders is a key
consideration. This is a combination of reporting on what has been achieved and our plans for the future, and also assessing and
reflecting on the views expressed by shareholders. Whenever appropriate, we will hold open and frank discussions with our key
shareholders, which can span a range of issues.

2.1 Owners of the Company
Lonmin Plc has a premium listing on the London Stock Exchange and our UK share register has circa 13,750 registered
shareholders. We also have a secondary listing on the JSE Securities Exchange, South Africa. Our South African branch
register has approximately 2,000 beneficial owners of our shares, including those who hold their shares in dematerialised form
in STRATE, representing approximately 49% of the Company’s shares in issue. We also have a sponsored Level I American
Depositary Receipts programme, with around 650 participants.

Like most listed companies, ownership of the Company’s shares is concentrated in a number of institutional and other
corporate shareholders. The Company had been notified pursuant to DTR5 of the following interests in 3% or more of the
Company’s total voting rights up to 10 November 2013:

Holdings in the Company’s shares and voting rights

At date of notification At date of this report

Number of Number of
shares and shares and Nature of

voting rights %age voting rights %age Holding

Glencore Xstrata Plc 139,513,430 24.54 139,513,430 24.50 Direct
Old Mutual Investment Group 47,476,258 8.34 47,476,258 8.34 Direct (shares)
(South Africa) Ltd Indirect (voting rights)
Prudential plc group companies 16,558,975 8.17 42,999,867 7.55 Direct
Investec Asset Management (Pty) Limited 29,987,456 5.27 34,484,125 6.06 Indirect

All ordinary shares of the Company carry the same rights, and no shareholder enjoys any preferential rights, regardless of the
size of their holding.
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2.2 How we communicate with our institutional shareholders
The Code encourages a dialogue with institutional shareholders based on the mutual understanding of objectives. The
Executive Directors have regular discussions of operational trends and financial performance with institutional shareholders
where they believe this to be in the Company’s best interests, but no information is shared which is not available to shareholders
generally. Detailed feedback from these visits is shared with the Board. Investors’ views in relation to governance and
remuneration are sought ahead of the AGM are also summarised to the Board.

The Board is provided with detailed insight into any other shareholder views including in relation to governance and remuneration
issues, and all Directors have the opportunity to meet major investors. Copies of key sell-side analysts’ notes on the Company
are circulated to all Directors, as are summaries of their views collected anonymously by the Company’s joint brokers, financial
PR advisors and other corporate advisory providers. An independent review of the perceptions of the Company’s major
institutional shareholders was conducted during the year, and presented to the Board. No material actions were judged
necessary in response to the views expressed.

The Chairman periodically offers key shareholders the opportunity of meetings with either himself or the Senior Independent
Director to discuss governance, strategy or any other matters shareholders wish to raise. In addition, the Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee has given a standing invitation to key institutional shareholders and their representative bodies to
discuss the Company’s remuneration policy and practice whenever necessary.

The Senior Independent Director, Jim Sutcliffe, is available to shareholders if they have concerns which contact through the
normal channels has failed to resolve or for which such contact would be inappropriate.

Roger Phillimore and Len Konar undertook an extensive round of meetings with major institutional shareholders in the UK
and South Africa to exchange views on the Company’s operating and financial strategy at the time of the 2012 Rights Issue.
In addition, Jim Sutcliffe, the chairman of the Remuneration Committee, held discussions with a number of key institutional
shareholders in relation to the design of the bonus plan for FY2013 and subsequently consulted with a broader range of
shareholders and their representative bodies on the Company’s draft Directors’ remuneration policy, ahead of its presentation
at the 2014 AGM. This is discussed more fully on page 72.

2.3 How we communicate with our private shareholders
The Code urges boards to use the AGM to communicate with private investors and to encourage their participation, and the
Board has followed these principles for many years. As well as stands explaining key aspects of the Group’s business, a
presentation is given to shareholders at the AGM by the CEO, and all Directors are available to answer questions both formally
at the meeting and informally afterwards.

Shareholders vote on separate resolutions on substantially different issues, and we use electronic poll voting, with the results
being announced to the markets and displayed on our website at the conclusion of the AGM. Voting on a poll recognises
Lonmin’s geographical diversity and enables the votes of all shareholders to be taken into account whether they are able to
attend the meeting or not. The use of electronic voting tools at the AGM provides a highly democratic voting method.

2.4 Formal reporting to shareholders
We report formally in a number of ways:

• Regulatory news announcements or press releases are issued in response to events or routine reporting obligations.

• Production reports are published quarterly, generally within one month of the calendar quarter end.

• We publish an unaudited interim statement in May of each year, showing our financial performance to 31 March and
including management’s narrative commentary. This is announced to the markets and presented in London later in the day,
with an online feed available to all. The presentation slides, a transcript and the interim statement are all made available on
the Company’s website. Like most UK companies, we no longer publish a ‘glossy’ interim report.

• We publish our audited financial statements in November of each year, for the year ended 30 September, including a
detailed management commentary. We follow the same publication process as the interims, with the same materials
made available on our website.

• In December we publish the formal Annual Report and Accounts, which comprises the audited financial statements and
the narrative reporting with many other items of statutory, regulatory or voluntary reporting across a range of issues.

All of the above is supported by a wealth of information on the Company’s website, www.lonmin.com.

The Code requires that the Board provides a fair, balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s position and
prospects in its external reporting. This is the first Annual Report and Accounts prepared under this obligation, and the
Directors were responsible for its preparation and approval. They consider the Annual Report and Accounts for FY2013, taken
as a whole, to be fair, balanced and understandable and believe that this provides the information necessary for shareholders
to assess the Company’s performance, business model and strategy.

In line with best practice, our default means of communication with shareholders is online. This saves the expense, paper and
other resources that would be entailed in printing and distributing large numbers of documents without knowing whether they
are wanted. Shareholders can opt to receive paper documents at any time, should they so wish.
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2.5 Formal reporting more widely
While UK law places the shareholders in a primary position of importance, we also have a range of other important
stakeholders whom we must support with a flow of information and with whom we engage when appropriate. This is a very
broad range of parties, and includes lawmakers and regulators (including the UK and South African governments, through
various departments), our employees and their representative trade unions, the communities who host our operations and a
range of NGOs and governance commentators.

While describing the vast number of interactions that take place is beyond the scope of this report, and numerous bespoke
reports are issued privately to a number of these counterparties, there are two key public documents aimed at these
important audiences:

• The Sustainable Development Report is an online-only document, published through the Company’s website,
www.lonmin.com. This can be downloaded in pdf form, using an editing tool to extract the required pages.

• A Summary Sustainable Development Report is also published, primarily in online form but with some printed copies also
being distributed.

Again, these audiences are also provided with access to additional materials on our website.

2.6 The AGM
The 2014 AGM will be held at 9.30 a.m. on 30 January 2014 at The Assembly Hall, Church House Conference Centre, Dean’s
Yard, Westminster, London SW1P 3NZ. A separate circular containing the Notice of Meeting, together with an explanation of
the items of special business has been sent to all shareholders and is available on the Company’s website.

Among the resolutions proposed are those seeking renewal of shareholders’ authority for the Directors to allot equity
securities and an authority for the Company to make market purchases of its own shares. In addition a resolution is proposed
in relation to extending the life of one of the Company’s employee share schemes, the Long-Term Incentive Plan. Absent this
approval, the LTIP will expire on 5 February 2014 and the Board is seeking approval to extend its duration by a further two
years pending the development of a new remuneration strategy. Further information is provided in the Directors’ Remuneration
Report on pages 70 to 99. Full details of all of these matters are set out in the AGM Circular.

2.7 Dividend
As noted in the Chairman’s Letter at the beginning of the Annual Report and Accounts, the Board is not recommending a final
dividend for FY2013. Under our dividend policy, the Board no longer declares interim dividends, and so no dividends will have
been recommended or declared for that year.

The Audit & Risk Committee
3.1 The Audit & Risk Committee Report on pages 57 to 64 includes a full discussion of the role, structure and composition of the

Audit & Risk Committee, which acts of behalf of the full Board.

The Remuneration Committee
4.1 The Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 70 to 99 includes a full discussion of the role, structure and composition of the

Remuneration Committee, which acts on behalf of the full Board.

The Nomination Committee
5.1 Role of the Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee has delegated authority from the Board set out in its written terms of reference, available on the
Company’s website, which were last reviewed by the Board in November 2006. The primary purposes of the Nomination
Committee are:

• to ensure that a regular, rigorous and objective evaluation of the structure, size, composition, balance of skills, knowledge
and experience of the Board is undertaken;

• to recommend any proposed changes to the composition of the Board and to instigate and manage the recruitment process;

• to ensure the Company’s adherence to applicable legal and regulatory requirements in relation to the above; and

• to oversee compliance with the Code and other applicable corporate governance regulations.

The Committee reports its material findings and recommendations at the next Board meeting and copies of the minutes of
its meetings are circulated to all Directors.

5.2 Composition of the Nomination Committee
All of the independent Non-executive Directors are members of the Committee. The Chairman of the Board chairs the
Committee, except when the matters under consideration relate to him or succession to his role. No individual participates
in discussion or decision-making when the matter under consideration relates to them.

The Committee is supported by the services of the Company Secretary who acts as secretary to the Committee and it has full
access to the CEO. It is empowered to appoint search consultants, legal, tax and other professional advisors as it sees fit to
assist with its work.
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5.3 Activities of the Nomination Committee during the year
The Committee met five times during the year and attendance at those meetings is shown in section 1.8 of this report.
Matters considered by the Committee in FY2013 included the following material items:

• reviewed the Committee’s report within the 2012 Annual Report and recommended approval to the Board;

• considered the implications of Ian Farmer’s illness and implemented a search to identify a successor, resulting in the
appointment of Ben Magara;

• following the retirement of Cyril Ramaphosa from the Board, considered the nomination by Shanduka of Phuti Mahanyele
for appointment as a Non-executive Director and her subsequent appointment as a member of the Safety & Sustainability
Committee;

• considered the nomination by Glencore Xstrata of Gary Nagle and Paul Smith for appointment as Non-executive Directors;

• considered the composition and balance of the Board and implemented a search to identify an independent candidate
with appropriate underground hard rock mining experience, culminating in the appointment of Brian Beamish as a
Non-executive Director;

• considered and approved recommendations from the CEO regarding the composition of the Exco; and

• after the year-end, considered the outcome of the externally-facilitated evaluation when discussing the effectiveness of the
Non-executive Directors seeking re-election at the 2014 AGM.

5.4 Policy on appointments to the Board
Our policy is outlined in section 1.3 above, but in brief all Board appointments are made on merit, against objective criteria.
The issue of diversity was debated by the Board in March 2012, and a formal policy adopted. This is predicated on appointing
the best possible candidates and, to avoid precluding any deserving candidate from consideration, requires that short-lists
contain candidates from a diverse range of backgrounds, and that these lists are gender-neutral. The Board will maintain its
practice of embracing diversity in all its forms, but has chosen not to set any measurable objectives.

The process of identifying candidates for Board appointment commences with drawing up a job specification which includes,
in the case of non-executive appointments, an estimate of the time commitment required. Generally, the Committee will
engage executive search consultants, or consider open advertising, to assist in ensuring a comprehensive listing of potential
candidates from a range of backgrounds for the Committee’s consideration. Phuti Mahanyele, Gary Nagle and Paul Smith
were appointed to the Board following nominations from their respective employers as explained earlier in this report, and
neither an external search consultancy nor open advertising was used. Ben Magara was appointed following an external
search managed by Meyer Hosking & Associates, and Brian Beamish following an external search managed by Spencer
Stuart. Neither firm has any other connection to the Company.

The Safety & Sustainability Committee
This Committee was created voluntarily by the Board to help it oversee the significant risks that the Company faces in the twin
areas of safety and sustainability. The matters it considers are a mixture of legal obligations (most often arising from South African
legislation or regulation) and other actions we believe are necessary to be a good corporate citizen and retain our social ‘licence
to operate’.

6.1 Role of the Safety & Sustainability Committee
The Safety & Sustainability Committee has delegated authority from the Board set out in its written terms of reference,
available on the Company’s website, which were last reviewed by the Board in March 2012. The primary purposes of the
Committee are:

• to assist the Board in meeting its commitments under the Group’s Safety and Sustainable Development Policy;

• to have oversight of and provide advice to the Board in the areas of safety, health, environment, community (to the extent
not covered by the Transformation Committee), external affairs and human rights, including the risks in each of these areas;

• to have oversight of and provide advice to the Board on the Group’s compliance with applicable legal and regulatory
requirements associated with safety and sustainability;

• to report to the Board developments, trends and / or forthcoming significant legislation in relation to safety and sustainability
which may be relevant to the Group’s operations, its assets or employees; and

• to review the Group’s external reporting and regulatory disclosures in relation to safety and sustainability.

More detailed information concerning the Group’s sustainability related activities is set out in the Strategic Report, (page 6
onwards) and in ‘A Deeper Look’ (page 158 onwards), as well as in the Sustainable Development Report, available on the
Company’s website.
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6.2 Composition of the Safety & Sustainability Committee
The members of the Committee as at the date of this report are Jonathan Leslie (Chairman), Karen De Segundo, David
Munro, Mahomed Seedat, Phuti Mahanyele, Gary Nagle, Brian Beamish and Ben Magara, giving the Committee a broad and
balanced blend of skills, experience and independence, and detailed knowledge of the Company and its operations. At the
request of the Committee’s Chairman, the EVP – Processing (who is responsible for sustainability issues for the Group), the
EVP – Mining (who is responsible for Group safety), the Executive Manager – Sustainability and the Assistant Company
Secretary (who acts as Secretary to the Committee) attend all meetings of the Committee. The Head of Tax, Treasury and Risk
also attends certain meetings. Other managers attend as necessary when their specialist expertise is required, or incidents
have occurred in operations under their control.

6.3 Activities of the Safety & Sustainability Committee during the year
The Committee met three times during the year, and attendance at those meetings is shown in section 1.8 of this document.
The Committee has an annual work plan, developed from its terms of reference, with standing items that the Committee
considers at each meeting in addition to matters of topical relevance or on which the Committee has otherwise chosen to
focus. The work of the Committee in FY2013 is summarised below.
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Safety

• Received reports from
accountable managers on all
fatal accidents and serious safety
incidents, including a detailed
analysis of root and contributory
factors and the corrective and
preventative measures taken 

• Reviewed reports on key safety
indicators and trends

• Reviewed progress and
implementation of a strategic
plan to improve safety

• Considered progress on the
development and implementation
of a contractor management
association which would enable
contractors to follow a single
regime of pre-qualification vetting,
induction and training agreed by
mining companies operating in
and around the Group’s operations

Environmental and health

• Received reports from
accountable managers on all
serious environmental incidents,
including a detailed analysis of
root and contributory factors and
the corrective and preventative
measures taken 

• Reviewed reports on key
environmental indicators and
trends

• Reviewed progress reports on
various environmental initiatives,
including the Group’s integrated
water management strategy and
waste services project operating
in the local communities
surrounding the operations

• Considered the potential impact
of a Carbon Tax proposed by the
South African government and
considered the Group’s strategy
to manage the implications of
the same

• Reviewed reports on health and
community indicators and trends

• Considered a report on the
impact of anti-retroviral treatment
on the incidence of HIV/AIDS
and the effects on individuals
undergoing treatment

Governance, regulatory and reporting

• Reviewed changes to local and
international safety, health and
environmental regulations,
including the United Kingdom’s
Greenhouse Gas Reporting
Requirements and associated
DEFRA best practice guidance

• Considered feedback from
external auditors following their
assurance review of selected
data in the FY2012 Annual Report
and Accounts and FY2012
Sustainable Development Report

• Considered changes to the Global
Reporting Initiative reporting
standard and reviewed and
approved the proposed indicators
to be disclosed in the FY2013
Sustainable Development Report

• Considered and approved the
appointment of KPMG as the
assurance provider for the
FY2013 Sustainable Development
Report



The Transformation Committee
This Committee was created voluntarily by the Board in January 2011 to help it oversee the significant risks that the Company
faces in the crucial area of transformation. While this term is not commonplace in the UK, in South Africa it refers to the over-arching
aims of the entire process of Black Economic Empowerment, and changing how business is done. In our case, we have committed
to certain outcomes through the SLPs to which our ‘new order’ mineral rights are subject and to a series of initiatives outlined at
the 2013 AGM. In addition, there are many other actions we believe are necessary to be a good corporate citizen and retain our
social ‘licence to operate’ which support the aims of the SLPs and transformation.

7.1 Role of the Transformation Committee
The Transformation Committee has delegated authority from the Board set out in its written terms of reference, available on
the Company’s website, which were last reviewed by the Board in March 2012. The primary purpose of the Committee is to
ensure that the Company meets or exceeds its commitments and obligations in the areas of transformation and empowerment,
and that the interests of all stakeholders (including shareholders) are properly recognised when doing so, with its principal
duties being:

• to develop strategies, policies and processes and set goals and targets for transformation and empowerment, and assess
the means by which such strategies are proposed to be implemented and goals achieved, with the goal of ensuring that
there is a disciplined, co-ordinated and sustainable approach to transformation;

• to monitor, review and evaluate progress made by management in meeting the Company’s obligations in respect of
transformation and empowerment, including the Company’s adherence to applicable legal and regulatory requirements
and external commitments made in relation to the same;

• to ensure effective communication on transformation issues between management, the Board and various stakeholders;
and

• to guide and otherwise provide encouragement and counsel to management in relation to transformation and empowerment.

7.2 Composition of the Transformation Committee
The members of the Committee include all of the Directors resident in South Africa, together with those with the greatest
experience of doing business there, and are disclosed in section 1.8 of this report. Meetings of the Committee are attended
by the EVP – Human Resources and the Company Secretary (who acts as secretary to the Committee), neither of whom do
so as of right. Other senior managers and Board members attend as needed when specialist input is required.

7.3 Activities of the Transformation Committee during the year
Given the nature of the social conditions revealed by what we have previously referred to as the Events at Marikana, the profile
and strategic importance of many of the issues captured under the heading of ‘transformation’ is such that they have been
considered at Board level. As a result, the Committee only met twice during the year, though all other Board Directors were
invited to attend those meetings, as summarised in section 1.8 of this report.

The Committee has an annual work plan, developed from its terms of reference with standing items that the Committee
considers at each meeting in addition to matters of topical relevance or on which the Committee has otherwise chosen to
focus. The material items considered by the Committee in FY2013 were:
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Implementation

• Reviewed progress against the
objectives of our SLPs (to be
assessed ‘as at’ end 2012) and
the targets contained in the
Mining Charter Scorecard
(to be assessed ‘as at’ end 2014),
and in transformation matters
generally

• Reviewed progress reports on the
projects supporting the five social
intervention initiatives announced
at the 2014 AGM

• Received an update on industrial
relations, including a review of the
trade union memberships of our
employees

Strategy

• Considered strategies to improve
employee living conditions across
five interlinked areas:

– Employee relations

– Empowerment

– Migrant and local labour

– Shift patterns

– Housing and Living
Conditions

• Reviewed preliminary results of
research on revised shift patterns

• ‘Deep dive’ on progress with
initiatives on housing and living
conditions

Governance, regulatory and reporting

• Considered strategies for better
communication of BEE
achievements to local community
and wider audiences

• Considered and approved the
appointment of an independent
external assurance provider to
assess the Company’s
performance against its Mining
Charter Scorecard targets



Management Committees
As with any business, power is delegated from the Board to the CEO, and through him to the management team via a documented
Cascade of Authorities, setting out the responsibilities, decision-making and approval powers of managers at different levels of the
enterprise. To support the CEO in managing the business, two Committees have been created as explained below.

8.    Executive Committee
The members of the Exco are the two Executive Directors, Ben Magara and Simon Scott, a number of senior executives and
Miss Phuti Mahanyele, a member nominated by Shanduka Resources, the Company’s principal BEE investor. She has no
executive responsibilities, but participates fully in the Committee’s activities. The names and biographical details of the Exco
members are set out on pages 38 and 39. In addition, the Chairman of the Board, Roger Phillimore, served as a member of
the Exco until June 2013 and a Non-executive Director, Mohamed Seedat, served as a member until 30 September 2013.

The CEO chairs the Committee, which meets monthly and has a weekly updating call. It has formal terms of reference, which
were last reviewed in October 2010 and which dovetail into the schedule of matters reserved for the Board’s decision. Its
responsibilities include the following key areas:

• to develop strategy for submission to the Board;

• to develop, implement and monitor operational plans, policies, procedures and budgets;

• to review financial performance, forecasts and targets;

• to prioritise initiatives and allocate resources;

• to identify and drive efficiencies across the Group;

• to approve capital expenditure proposals within the authority levels delegated by the Board and otherwise recommend
to Board;

• to develop and monitor the Group’s policies and practices in respect of health, safety and environmental matters taking
into account legal requirements, regulations and best practice;

• to review ICAM findings for all serious incidents;

• to oversee risk management including identifying risks and developing and implementing risk mitigation plans;

• to develop and monitor the internal control environment; and

• to develop and implement Group-wide evaluation, training, reward and remuneration practices and manage wage
negotiations / benefits with unions.

9.    Price & Risk Committee
The Price & Risk Committee is chaired by the CEO and the members are the CFO, Chief Commercial Officer, Head of
Treasury, Tax & Risk, Head of Financial Planning and Analysis and the Executive Manager, Marketing. The primary purpose of
this Committee is to review and agree proposals in relation to the forward sale of by-products, principally nickel and copper.
The Committee meets as and when required. The Committee’s terms of reference were last reviewed in March 2012.
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Audit & Risk Committee Report

Protecting
shareholders’
interests

Len Konar
Chairman, Audit & Risk Committee

Dear fellow shareholder

The Audit & Risk Committee sits at a crossroads between management and the Company’s shareholders
and for this reason, comprises only independent, Non-executive Directors. While the Committee has
very specific duties set out in its terms of reference, mirroring the recommendations of the UK
Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”), it serves a much greater purpose; that of reassuring
shareholders that their interests are properly protected in respect of the Company’s financial
management and reporting.

There are a number of key elements to this, starting with assessing whether we have robust systems
and procedures for recognising assets and liabilities whose value is recorded in our books accurately
and fairly. We must have prudent accounting policies and practices, supported by responsible exercise
of judgement, so that the accounts we produce are reliable and give the ‘true and fair view’ expected. 
In support of all of this is a significant assurance framework, in which the internal control framework,
internal audit function, external auditors and regular internal reporting against budgets, forecasts and
prior year actuals all play an important part. The Committee reviews all of these activities with the
ultimate aim being that the Company should produce accounts which shareholders can expect to
portray a reliable picture of the financial position of the Company, and on which they can base their
investment decisions.

Like all businesses, we face risk. For this reason, the Board requested that the Committee also oversee
the Company’s procedures and systems in relation to risk management, focusing on the methodology
used by management. Responsibility for the identification, assessment and management of risk remains
a responsibility of the full Board. An outline of how the Committee discharged these responsibilities is
discussed in section 1.9 of this report.

The Code invites the Committee to report on the significant issues considered during the year. Full
details are contained later in the report, but from my perspective the most important were:

Issues considered in relation to the financial statements – there were three key areas of judgement, all
of which relate to the balance sheet. These were the carrying value of the loans made to an undertaking
within the Shanduka Group, the carrying value of the Group’s operational assets at Marikana and
Akanani and the degree of estimation involved in the measurement of inventory quantities.

Relationship with the external auditors – we are satisfied that the incumbent firm and audit partner
are effective, and that they have robust processes for maintaining their objectivity and independence.
KPMG performed a material amount of work during the year, notably including acting as Reporting
Accountants on the Company’s Rights Issue in late 2012. The fees for this role were considerable,
but their ability to perform the role was enhanced by the firm’s deep knowledge of the Company and
Group’s business and finances. After a competitive tendering process, another arm of KPMG also won
work advising on a restructuring. Again, the fees were material but the Committee is satisfied that their
appointment was appropriate. Having reflected on this with the Senior Statutory Auditor, I and the
Committee are satisfied that these additional roles and fees did not compromise their objectivity
and independence.



Tendering of the external audit – the Committee has considered the recommendations of the latest
edition of the Code and related guidance in relation to tendering the external audit contract at least
every ten years. The Company faces a number of critical strategic challenges in the near term, all of
which will be potentially time consuming for both management and the Board. We are of the view
that it will be less disruptive and potentially more effective if we align the tender of the external audit
contract with the rotation of the current lead auditor, which is due to occur in November 2015. We
do not feel that this compromises shareholders’ interests in any way.

In addition to its routine business, I have agreed with the Chairman of the Board and management that
there will be two key focus areas for the Committee over the next 12 – 18 months. Firstly, more could
and should be done in the area of risk management, and we will look again at the processes for the
identification and assessment of risk. Secondly, in support of this aim we will continue to monitor the
internal audit function, with the aim of increasing the alignment between its programme and the Group’s
risk profile.

Yours faithfully

Dr Len Konar
Chairman, Audit & Risk Committee
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As noted in section 1.8 of the Corporate Governance Report, the Board delegates certain of its duties, responsibilities and powers
to the Audit & Risk Committee, so that these can receive suitably focussed attention. However, it acts on behalf of the full Board,
and the matters reviewed and managed by the Committee remain the responsibility of the Directors taken as a whole.

1.1 Role of the Audit & Risk Committee
The Audit & Risk Committee has delegated authority from the Board set out in its written terms of reference, available on the
Company’s website, which were last reviewed by the Board in March 2012. The primary purposes of the Audit & Risk
Committee are:

• to monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial statements and regulatory announcements relating to its financial
performance and review significant financial reporting judgements;

• to keep under review the effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls, including financial controls and risk
management systems;

• to provide the Board with an independent assessment of the Group’s accounting affairs and financial position;

• to monitor the effectiveness of the internal audit function and review its material findings; 

• to oversee the relationship with the external auditors, including agreeing their remuneration and terms of engagement,
monitoring their independence, objectivity and effectiveness, ensuring that policy surrounding their engagement to provide
non-audit services is appropriately applied, and making recommendations to the Board on their appointment, reappointment
or removal, for it to put to the shareholders in general meeting; and

• to report to the Board on how it has discharged its responsibilities.

1.2 Composition of the Audit & Risk Committee
The members of the Committee are set out in section 1.8 of the Corporate Governance Report. Len Konar, who chairs the
Committee, is a Chartered Accountant with extensive financial and accounting experience, and is a member of the King
Committee on Corporate Governance. Jim Sutcliffe is an actuary by training, and serves as a non-executive director of the
Financial Reporting Council, where he chairs the Codes and Standards Committee. Karen de Segundo had a long career in
international business, including spells with P&L responsibility for major natural resource businesses. All three members of the
Committee are regarded by the Board as independent Non-executive Directors, and the Board regards Dr Konar as the
member possessing recent and relevant financial experience. The varied backgrounds of the Committee’s members, and their
collective skills, experience and knowledge of the Company, allows them to fulfil the Committee’s remit and to oversee the
Company’s auditors.

Meetings of the Committee are attended by the CEO, CFO, Head of Accounting & Reporting, Head of Treasury, Risk & Tax,
Head of Internal Audit and the Assistant Company Secretary (who acts as secretary to the Committee), none of whom do so
as of right. The external auditors attend Committee meetings and a private meeting is routinely held with the internal and
external auditors to afford them the opportunity of discussions without the presence of management.

1.3 Number of Audit & Risk Committee meetings and attendance
The Committee met four times during the year and attendance at those meetings is shown in section 1.8 of the Corporate
Governance Report.

Audit & Risk Committee Report
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1.4 Activities of the Audit & Risk Committee during the year
The Committee has an annual work plan, developed from its terms of reference, with standing items that the Committee considers
at each meeting in addition to any specific matters arising and topical items on which the Committee has chosen to focus.

The work of the Audit & Risk Committee in FY2013 principally fell under three main areas and is summarised below.

Internal controls and risk

• Considered reports from the
internal auditors on their audits
and assessment of the control
environment

• Considered reports from the
external auditors on their
assessment of the control
environment

• Considered feedback from the
assurance letters submitted by
around 70 senior managers
across the Group

• Reviewed output from the risk
reviews which required managers
and the Exco to identify risks and
evaluate them before and after
mitigating controls were agreed
and implemented

• Reviewed the resources of the
internal audit function and
considered and approved the
scope of the internal audit
programme

• Considered the level of alignment
between the Company’s key risks
and internal audit programme

• Considered the effectiveness of
the internal auditors

• Reviewed matters reported to the
external whistleblowing hotline and
a report from the investigations
department

• Considered and approved the
structure, scope of cover and
renewal terms of the Group’s
insurance programme

• Assessed the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control
environment

• Considered progress of roll-out of
CURA integrated risk management
software across the business

External auditors

• Considered and approved the
audit approach and scope of the
audit work to be undertaken by
the external auditors and the fees
for the same

• Reviewed reports on audit findings

• Considered the independence of
the auditors and their effectiveness,
taking into account:

(a) non-audit work undertaken
by the external auditors and
compliance with the policy;

(b) feedback from a survey
targeted at various
stakeholders; and

(c) the Committee’s own
assessment

• Considered the recommendations
in the UK Corporate Governance
Code regarding the tender of the
external audit contract

• Considered and approved letters
of representation issued to the
external auditors

Accounting, tax and financial reporting

• Reviewed the half year and annual
financial statements and the
significant financial reporting
judgements

• Reviewed the Q2 production
report

• Considered the liquidity risk and
the basis for preparing the Group
half yearly and full year accounts
on a going concern basis and
reviewed the related disclosures in
the Annual Report and Accounts

• Reviewed an accounting matters
update, including consideration of
relevant accounting standards and
underlying assumptions

• Reviewed disclosures in the
Annual Report and Accounts in
relation to internal controls, risk
management, principal risks and
uncertainties and the work of the
Committee

• Received a corporate governance
update including changes to the
UK Corporate Governance Code,
the Sharman Panel and revisions
to ISA 700

Audit & Risk Committee Report

1.5 Significant issues considered by the Audit & Risk Committee
After discussion with both management and the external auditor, the Committee determined that the key risks of misstatement
of the Group’s financial statements related to:

• Impairment of non-financial assets (excluding inventories and deferred tax);

• Recoverability of the $399 million HDSA receivable; and

• Physical quantities of inventory (excluding consumables) and net realisable value.

These issues were discussed with management during the year and with the auditor at the time the Committee reviewed and
agreed the auditors’ Group audit plan, when the auditor reviewed the half year interim financial statements in May 2013 and
also at the conclusion of the audit of the financial statements.
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1.5 Significant issues considered by the Audit & Risk Committee (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (excluding inventories and deferred tax)
As more fully explained in note 1 to the financial statements, the Group’s principal non-financial assets are grouped into cash
generating units (CGUs) for the purpose of assessing the recoverable amount. The Group has two key CGUs, being Marikana
and Akanani. Marikana includes goodwill, and therefore is tested for impairment on an annual basis. Akanani is an exploration
and evaluation asset, and was impaired in 2012. Any change in assumptions could lead to further impairment or a reversal of
impairment. Akanani, like Marikana, has been subject to an impairment assessment at the year-end. 

In performing their impairment tests, management determined the recoverable amount of each CGU, and compared this to
the carrying amount. Management reported to the Committee the results of its impairment assessment, noting to the Committee
that future cash flows for each CGU had been estimated based on the most up to date business forecasts or studies for
exploration and evaluation assets and discounted using discount rates that reflected current market assessments of the
time value of money and risks specific to the assets. Management highlighted to the Committee how they arrived at the key
assumptions to estimate future cash flows for the CGUs, specifically PGM metal prices, foreign exchange rates and
discount rates.

Management also brought to the attention of the Committee the sensitivity analysis to be disclosed in note 1 of the financial
statements with regards to the recoverable amount of the Akanani CGU.

The Committee interrogated management’s key assumptions to understand their impact on the CGUs’ recoverable amounts.
The Committee was satisfied that the significant assumptions used for determining the recoverable amount of non-financial
assets had been appropriately scrutinised, challenged and were sufficiently robust. The Committee was further satisfied with
the impairment disclosures in the financial statements.

The auditor explained their audit procedures to test management’s impairment assessment and considered the Group’s
disclosures on the subject. On the basis of their audit work, the auditor considered that the carrying value of non-financial
assets was materially appropriate in the context of the financial statements as a whole.

Recoverability of the $399 million HDSA receivable
As detailed in note 14 to the financial statements, the Group has an amount due to it from a subsidiary of Shanduka
Resources (Proprietary) Limited (the Shanduka subsidiary) amounting to $399 million at 30 September 2013. The “Impairment
– financial assets” section of note 1 to the financial statements notes a financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or
loss is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired.

Management reported to the Committee that the receivable was secured on the shares in the Shanduka subsidiary, whose
only asset of value was its ultimate holding in Incwala Resources (Pty) Limited (Incwala). Incwala’s principal assets were
investments in Western Platinum Limited (WPL), Eastern Platinum Limited (EPL) and Akanani Mining (Pty) Limited (Akanani),
all subsidiaries of Lonmin Plc. Management further reported that one of the sources of income to fund the settlement of the
receivable was the dividend flow from these underlying investments, but that given the current state of the PGM industry there
had not been any substantial dividend payments to Incwala in recent times. Management also reported concern that, in the
current economic environment, the value of the security could fall below its carrying amount.

On the basis of the above matters, management reported that it was likely that a “loss event” could have occurred.

Management reported to the Committee that an assessment had been made to determine the extent of any required
impairment. Management reported that this assessment was based on the value of the security which was primarily driven
by the value of Incwala’s underlying investments in WPL, EPL and Akanani. Management reported that the same valuation
models for the Marikana and Akanani CGUs as described in the Impairment of non-financial assets section above had been
used as the basis for determining the value of Incwala’s investments, and ultimately the value of the Shanduka subsidiary.
Management reported that the results of this analysis indicated that the security had a value of $403 million at 30 September
2013, and therefore impairment was not necessary at 30 September 2013.

Management also brought to the attention of the Committee the fact that given the valuation of the security only marginally
exceeded the carrying amount of the receivable, a downward movement on the value of the security would lead to
impairment. Management further noted the sensitivity analysis included in note 21a of the financial statements.

The Committee interrogated management’s procedures in arriving at the conclusion that there was a “loss event”. They also
scrutinised management’s valuation of the underlying security. The Committee was satisfied that a sufficiently robust process
was followed to confirm the recoverability of the receivable.

The auditor explained their audit procedures to test management’s impairment assessment and considered the Group’s
disclosures on the subject. On the basis of their audit work, the auditor reported no inconsistencies or misstatements that
were material in the context of the financial statements as a whole.
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Physical quantities of inventory (excluding consumables) and net realisable value
As detailed in the “Use of estimates and judgments” section in note 1 to the financial statements, inventory is held in a wide
variety of forms across the value chain, and prior to production as a final metal, is always contained in a carrier material.
As such inventory is typically sampled and assays taken to determine the metal content and how this is split by metal,
the accuracy of which can vary quite significantly depending on the nature of the vessels and the state of the material.
Furthermore, as detailed in the “Inventories” section in note 1 to the financial statements, inventory is valued at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. The PGM industry has seen costs increase, whilst prices continue to be subdued and volatile.
As such there is a risk that the cost of inventory exceeds its net realisable value.

Management reported to the Committee the procedures undertaken to determine the physical quantities of inventory at year
end which included observation of count and sampling procedures by independent metallurgists. Management highlighted
to the Committee the estimation uncertainty in sampling and assays, and that a downward adjustment had been made to
inventory quantities to allow for estimation uncertainty at various stages of the process. Management reported to the
Committee its calculations of the adjustment, and noted that the adjustment is dependent on the degree to which the nature
and state of material allows for accurate measurement and sampling. Finally, management reported that calculations had
been undertaken to verify that the cost of inventory does not exceed its net realisable value.

The Committee scrutinised the inventory estimation adjustment calculations in conjunction with a history of stock count results
and process losses as well as the procedures undertaken by management to confirm the physical existence of inventory. The
Committee was satisfied that a sufficiently robust process was followed to confirm the quantities of inventory, and that the net
realisable value of inventory exceeds its cost at year end.

The auditor explained their audit procedures to test the physical quantities of inventory and to check the net realisable value
calculations performed by management. On the basis of their audit work, the auditor reported no misstatements that were
material in the context of the financial statements as a whole.

Misstatements
Management reported to the Committee that they were not aware of any material misstatements or immaterial misstatements
made intentionally to achieve a particular presentation. The auditors reported to the Committee the misstatements that they
had found in the course of their work and no material amounts remain unadjusted. The Committee confirmed that it was
satisfied that the auditors had fulfilled their responsibilities with diligence and professional scepticism.

After reviewing the presentations and reports from management and consulting, where necessary, with the auditors, the Committee
was satisfied that the financial statements appropriately addressed the critical judgements and key estimates (both in respect
to the amounts reported and the disclosures). The Committee was also satisfied that the significant assumptions used for
determining the value of assets and liabilities had been appropriately scrutinised, challenged and were sufficiently robust.

1.6 Internal audit
The Company has an internal audit department comprising three in-house auditors, supported by the South African arm of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC) who provide specialist services in connection with matters such as IT security and
treasury, which it would be inefficient to resource internally. The Head of Internal Audit reports jointly to the Chairman of the
Audit & Risk Committee and to the CFO.

A total of 61 assignments were undertaken during the year across a cross-section of activities identified and prioritised by
the internal auditors with input from management and the Committee. The audit plan that was subsequently approved by
the Committee targeted operational processes, aimed at testing the robustness of the mitigating controls and identifying
improvement opportunities. At the request of the Committee, the plan was further refined to align more closely with the
principal risks faced by the Company.

Internal audit reports were reviewed in conjunction with operational and line management and then reviewed by the Exco.
Audit findings and the related management actions were tracked to completion by Internal Audit, and verified periodically
after being reported by management as complete. The Committee was provided with reports on material findings and
recommendations and regular updates on the progress made by management in addressing the findings were also provided
during the course of the year. All action points were recorded on a Company-wide database to facilitate monitoring and
accountability.

The Head of Internal Audit is also responsible for the Company’s whistle-blowing programme and heads up the investigations
unit comprising 7 investigators. The primary focus of this team is addressing the risk of theft of PGMs, but they also have a
significant role in helping counter copper cable theft, white collar crime and other criminal and unauthorised activities which
could have a material impact on the business.

A review of the effectiveness of Internal Audit was carried out during the year by way of a questionnaire completed by those
in the business who had been audited and the external auditors. Having considered the results of this survey and a number
of other factors, including the quality of reporting to the Committee and impartiality of the internal auditors, the Committee
concluded that Internal Audit was in all respects effective.
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1.7 External audit
The external auditors are appointed by shareholders to provide an opinion on the financial statements and certain other
disclosures prepared by the Directors. Following their re-election at the 2013 AGM, KPMG Audit plc acted as the external
auditors to the Lonmin Group throughout the year. The Senior Statutory Auditor is based in London and supported by an
audit partner based in Johannesburg. The Committee is responsible for oversight of the external auditors, including approving
the annual work plan and, on behalf of the Board, approving the audit fee.

To safeguard the objectivity and independence of the external auditors, the Company adopted an Audit Engagement Policy
in 2010, a copy of which is available on the Company’s website. Under this policy, the external auditors are not permitted to
perform any work that they may subsequently need to audit or which might either create a conflict of interest or affect the
auditors’ objectivity and independence. Non-audit services are normally limited to assignments that are closely related to the
annual audit or where the work is of such a nature that a detailed understanding of the Group is necessary. Management
regularly provides the Committee with reports on audit, audit-related and non-audit expenditure, together with proposals of
any material non-audit related assignments. The Committee reviews and, where necessary, challenges management to ensure
auditor objectivity and independence is not impaired.

The policy provides for the following annual authorisation limits:

Audit-related services Non-audit services

Chief Financial Officer $200,000 $100,000
Chairman of the Audit & Risk Committee $500,000 $250,000
Audit & Risk Committee > $500,000 > $250,000

Fees for audit related and non-audit services incurred during the year amounted to $1.3 million (2012 – $0.6 million) representing
118% of the audit fees. Details of the fees paid for audit services, audit related services and non-audit services can be found
in note 4 to the financial statements.

$0.2 million of the non-audit work related to the external auditors’ review of the business’ management operating model and a
related organisational re-design exercise. A formal tender process was undertaken involving three firms, one of which included
KPMG. Of these, two were short-listed and invited to present their respective proposals to the Exco. The Exco found KPMG
provided the most comprehensive proposal and scope of works, they had significant experience of this kind of work within
the industry and they were able to mobilise an appropriately skilled and experienced team within the necessary timescales.
Importantly, the Exco was assured that the consulting division of KPMG (that was not involved in the external audit of the
Company and its subsidiaries) would be involved in this project. On this basis, the Committee approved management’s
recommendation to appoint KPMG.

The other substantial non-audit work undertaken by KPMG, amounting to $0.68 million, related to their appointment as
Reporting Accountant in respect of the 2012 Rights Issue. Extensive financial information was provided in the Rights Issue
Prospectus in respect of prior financial reporting periods and, in light of KPMG’s position as statutory auditor of the Company
for those prior financial periods and for the FY2012 financial year, the Committee felt that KPMG were best placed to
undertake this non-audit work. The Committee was assured that the use of the external auditors in this capacity was
considered normal practice in such capital raisings.

On balance, the Committee is satisfied that the overall levels of audit-related and non-audit fees are not material relative to
the income of the external audit offices and firm as a whole and therefore the objectivity and independence of the external
auditors was not compromised.

The Committee has evaluated the performance, independence and objectivity of KPMG and also reviewed their effectiveness
as external auditors. As part of this process, the Committee considered feedback on the year’s audit gathered through a
survey facilitated by the Secretary to the Committee. Respondents to the survey included the financial management team at
corporate and business levels, company secretariat, the safety and sustainability, tax and stock-taking teams and the internal
auditors. The following factors were also considered:

• the external auditors’ progress achieved against the agreed audit plan and communication of any changes to the plan,
including changes in perceived audit risks;

• the competence with which the external auditors handled the key accounting and audit judgements and communication
of the same with management and the Committee;

• the external auditors’ compliance with relevant regulatory, ethical and professional guidance on the rotation of partners;

• the external auditors’ qualifications, expertise and resources and their own assessment of their internal quality procedures; and

• the stability and continuity that would be provided by continuing to use KPMG.

After taking into account all of the above factors, the Committee concluded that the external auditors were effective.

KPMG Audit Plc informed the Company that they wished to formally change the entity which conducts the Company’s audit
from KPMG Audit Plc to KPMG LLP. KPMG Audit Plc has indicated therefore that it will not stand for reappointment at the
Company’s 2014 AGM, however KPMG LLP will seek election at this meeting. The Committee decided to recommend to the
Board that KPMG LLP be appointed as external auditor to the Company at the AGM. The Committee also recommended the
Board seek authority for the Directors to fix the external auditors’ remuneration.

Audit & Risk Committee Report
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1.7 External audit (continued)
A predecessor firm of KPMG Audit plc was first appointed in 1970 and, since that time, the lead audit partner at group level
has changed regularly and in recent years every five years in accordance with professional and regulatory standards designed
to safeguard independence and objectivity. The most recent lead audit partner rotation was in November 2010 when Robert
Seale was appointed Senior Statutory Auditor. In addition, senior audit staff, who are located both in the United Kingdom and
South Africa, rotate periodically in accordance with KPMG’s internal policies on independence. A formal tender of the external
audit contract has not been carried out since first appointment.

The Committee has considered the timing of the next formal tender in light of the recommendations contained in the
September 2012 edition of the Code, and expect that this will be aligned with the date on which the current lead audit partner
ceases to act. There are no contractual obligations which restrict the Committee’s choice of statutory auditor.

1.8 Internal controls
As in any business, Lonmin faces risk and uncertainty in everything it does. Section 1.9 explains how we consider risk, and
how the corporate strategy, which is reviewed on a regular basis, seeks to capitalise on identified opportunities while
mitigating known downside risks. Where material risks have been identified within our business, we have implemented an
appropriate internal control environment to endeavour to protect shareholders’ interests. The Board is ultimately responsible
for the Group’s system of internal controls and risk management, and it discharges its duties in this area by:

• Determining Lonmin’s risk appetite (the risk we actively seek or accept in pursuit of our long-term objectives, in the
expectation of an economic return) and risk tolerance (the risk we are prepared to face in achieving our strategic goals);

• Overseeing the risk management strategy; and

• Ensuring management implement effective systems of risk identification, assessment and mitigation and internal controls.
These systems are designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and cannot
provide absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Key features of Lonmin’s internal control framework include:

Audit & Risk Committee Report

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal controls over financial reporting, including
over the Group’s consolidation process. Internal controls over financial reporting are designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external reporting
purposes. A comprehensive strategic planning, budgeting and forecasting system is in place. Monthly financial information,
including trading results and cash flow statements, are reported to the Board and management. The Exco reviews
performance against budget and forecast on a monthly basis and senior financial managers regularly carry out group
consolidation reviews and analysis of material variances.

Responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the internal controls has been delegated to the Audit & Risk Committee.
The Committee uses information drawn from a number of different sources to carry out this review:

• Internal Audit provides objective assurance – their annual work plan is developed in conjunction with management and
focuses on key risks and key internal controls. In the light of Internal Audit’s recommendations, management develops and
implements corrective action plans, which are tracked to completion by Internal Audit, with the results reported to
executive management and to the Committee;

• Annual self-assessments completed by around 70 executive and senior managers in the Group – each manager confirms
whether there have been any breaches of internal controls or their awareness of any weaknesses in the control
environment within their area of the business. The principle of individual accountability and responsibility at operational
level is an important component in the Group’s overall risk philosophy. Managers are responsible for the identification and
effective management of all risks in their areas of responsibility and these letters have a wide ranging scope; and

• Further objective assurance is provided by the external auditors and other external specialists.
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1.8 Internal controls (continued)
Throughout the year Lonmin complied with the provisions of the Code (as these relate to internal controls) and the relevant
sections of Internal Control: Revised Guidance for Directors (the Turnbull guidance) and Guidance on Audit Committees.
No significant weaknesses or material failings were identified in the annual review.

1.9 Risk Management
Lonmin has an integrated approach to risk management and internal controls to ensure that our reviews of risk are used to
inform the internal audit process and the design of internal controls.

The risk management process, which has been in place throughout the year under review and to the date of approval of the
accounts, identifies, evaluates, manages and monitors the risks facing the business. Those risks that are identified as significant,
in addition to the associated mitigating controls, are reviewed regularly by the Exco and then by the Board. The Committee
regularly reviews the effectiveness of the risk identification process and the methodology used to evaluate and quantify the
risks, in line with the guidance appended to the Code.

The corporate strategy, which is reviewed on a regular basis, seeks to capitalise on identified opportunities while mitigating
known downside risks. Where material risks have been identified within our business, we have implemented an appropriate
internal control environment to endeavour to protect shareholders’ interests.

Lonmin’s Risk Management Framework, policy and procedures aim to:

• Enable management to implement effective systems of risk identification, assessment and mitigation and internal controls;

• Assist management and the Board to determine Lonmin’s risk appetite and risk tolerance;

• Embed a risk based approach and awareness into the corporate culture so that risks are communicated and understood
at all levels and functions within the Group;

• Encourage line management accountability for identifying and managing the risks within their area of the business; and

• Develop and implement risk management strategies which address the full spectrum of risks, including compliance,
industry-specific, competitiveness, environmental, business continuity, strategic, reporting, security, privacy, and operational.

Top 10 Risks
The top 10 risks and the associated mitigating controls are reviewed at least annually by the Exco and the Board.

Review of Risks
“Top-down” and “bottom-up” risk reviews are carried out in each area of our business, involving the Exco, operational and
middle managers respectively. All senior managers are responsible for managing and monitoring risks in their area of
responsibility and recording these in the risk register. It is mandatory for this process to take place at least once a year but
in practice reviews often take place more frequently. For each risk identified, management assesses the root causes,
consequences and mitigating controls. An assessment is then made of the maximum risk exposure, taking into account
parameters such as the risk category, the likelihood of the risk occurring, the impact before mitigating controls, the estimated
efficacy of controls, the consequence of the failure of controls.

Each of the business areas is supported by either a Risk Officer or an Operational Risk Champion who co-ordinates all risk
management activity in that business area and ensures that actions are implemented appropriately. This process ensures all
risks are measured, monitored and reported on a consistent basis. In order to protect our strategic objectives, it is important
that we manage these risks as effectively as possible. The work of the Risk Management Department is closely aligned to that
of the Internal Audit Department.

Risks related to sustainability
Risks related to safety, labour and community relations, social development, transformation and environmental impacts make
up a significant portion of Lonmin’s risk profile. Each business area is responsible for managing safety and environmental
impact mitigation and for monitoring the relevant action plans in place. In this way, the Company ensures that focus on these
areas is maintained and that accountability is embedded at operational management level. Reviews of these risks and their
associated management plans are conducted by the Safety & Sustainability and Transformation Committees, the results of
which are presented to the Board.

Risk Management System
To assist with the risk management process the Company embarked on a project in 2012 to implement the CURA risk
management system. This project was completed and the system implemented with effect from December 2012. The
application allows all users within the Group access to the risk registers through a web based system. The methodology
has been built on the same platform as the previous process and is integrated with the business model process. The risk
management process within the organisation also complies to, among others, King III, the Mines Health and Safety Act,
environmental laws as well as alignment with leading practices such as ISO 31000.

Audit & Risk Committee Report



Introduction
This report is required to be produced by law. The UKLA’s Disclosure &
Transparency Rules (“DTRs”) and Listing Rules (“LRs”) also requires us to make
certain disclosures.

The Corporate Governance Report, which can be found on pages 42 to 56, the
Audit & Risk Committee Report on pages 57 to 64 and the section titled ‘A Deeper
Look’ on pages 158 to 177 form part of this Directors’ Report. Disclosures
elsewhere in the Annual Report and Accounts are cross-referenced where appropriate.
Taken together, they fulfil the combined requirements of company law, the DTRs
and LRs.

The Company
1.1 Legal form of the Company

Lonmin Plc is a company incorporated in England & Wales, with company number 103002. It conducts very limited business
activities on its own account, and trades principally through its subsidiary undertakings in various jurisdictions. The material
subsidiary undertakings are listed in note 32 to the accounts on page 146. A branch of Lonmin Plc operates in South Africa,
trading as Lonmin Management Services or ‘LMS’ and which is registered in that country as an external company with
company number 1969/00015/10. The branch and the English company are legally indivisible.

1.2 Amendment of the Articles of Association
The Company’s constitution, known as the Articles of Association, is essentially a contract between the Company and its
shareholders, governing many aspects of the management of the corporation. It may only be amended by a special resolution
at a general meeting of the shareholders.

1.3 Rules on Appointment and Removal of Directors
Subject to applicable law, a Director may be appointed by an ordinary resolution of shareholders in general meeting following
nomination by the Board or a member (or members) entitled to vote at such a meeting, or following retirement by rotation if
the Director chooses to seek re-election at a general meeting. In addition, the Directors may appoint a Director to fill a vacancy
or as an additional Director, provided that the individual retires at the next AGM. A Director may be removed by the Company
as provided for by applicable law, in certain circumstances set out in the Company’s Articles of Association (for example
bankruptcy, or resignation), or by a special resolution of the Company. All Directors stand for re-election on an annual basis,
in line with the recommendations of the Code. For a full description of the Company’s policies in relation to the appointment
and replacement of Directors see sections 1.3 and 5.4 of the Corporate Governance Report, from page 42 onwards.

Statutory Disclosures
2.1 Employees

The Group employed 28,230 people in South Africa and 9 people in the United Kingdom at the end of the year. Information
on the Group’s policies on employee recruitment and engagement can be found in the Sustainable Development Report.

As the Group employs less than 250 employees in the UK, the Company is not subject to the statutory obligation to discuss
its policies in relation to employee involvement or the employment of disabled persons. However, full and fair consideration
would always be given to applications for employment from disabled persons, having regard to their particular aptitudes and
abilities, or continuing the employment of people who become disabled during their career.

2.2 Research and development
Group companies continue to focus on research and development in the areas of mineral extraction, processing and refining
to unlock new technology opportunities and to extract optimal value from our assets. Good progress has been made on these
projects across the business, including:

• ongoing work on the characterisation of ores, leading to improved specifications for processing equipment and reagents
aimed at improving PGM recovery at our concentrators;

• improved stability and availability of the smelting furnaces through sensor technologies, better mineralogical understanding
and design improvements which has been evident in the performance of our smelting operations in 2013;

• ongoing work on a new process aimed at significantly upgrading the PGM concentrates from the BMR leading to an
overall reduction in waste, reduction in residue tolling costs and improved PMR efficiencies as well as improvements made
on the NiS04 crystalliser that has given us the ability to operate at higher and more stable throughputs at the PMR; and

• significant progress has been made on the development of a new process for the production of finished metals at the
PMR following extensive and successful pilot plant trials.

Our research efforts remain pragmatic and cost-effective and are conducted in collaboration with the Universities of Stellenbosch,
Cape Town and Pretoria under the leadership of Lonmin management. This has the added benefit of generating a pool of
highly competent and industry-focused graduates for the future.
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2.3 Greenhouse gas emissions
The disclosures concerning greenhouse gas emissions required by law are included in the Strategic Report, on page 34.

2.4 Political donations
No political donations were made during the year. Lonmin has an established policy of not making donations to any political
party, representative or candidate in any part of the world.

2.5 Financial instruments
Full details can be found in note 21 to the financial statements on page 135 and in A Deeper Look on page 168.

Share Capital and Related Matters
3.1 Share capital and reserves

The total share capital and reserves attributable to the Group amounted to $3,409 million at 30 September 2013. The
structure of the issued share capital of the Company at 30 September 2013 is set out in note 25 to the accounts. In addition
to the Ordinary Shares of $1 each, the Company’s share capital also comprises 50,000 Sterling Deferred Shares of £1 each,
which were issued in 2002 and allotted to a nominee company to comply with the requirement that a public limited company
must have a minimum share capital of £50,000. These shares do not rank equally with the Ordinary Shares of the Company,
and have minimal rights. The holders’ consent is not required for changes to the Company’s share capital, and they are not
entitled to receive notice of, or attend, speak or vote at, any general meeting. The holders are not entitled to participate in any
distribution of income or capital save that, following the distribution of £100,000,000,000 plus the paid-up nominal value of
every other share in the capital of the Company, they are entitled to receive an amount equal to the nominal value of their
Sterling Deferred Shares.

3.2 Shareholders’ rights
Holders of Ordinary Shares are entitled to:

• receive all shareholder documents, including notice of any general meeting;

• attend, speak and exercise voting rights at general meetings, either in person or by proxy; and

• participate in any distribution of income or capital;

subject to applicable law and the Company’s Articles of Association.

In general there are no restrictions on the holder’s ability to transfer their shares or exercise their voting rights, save in
situations where the Company is legally entitled to impose such restrictions (usually where amounts remain unpaid on the
shares after request, or the holder is otherwise in default of an obligation to the Company).

The Company is not aware of any agreements between its shareholders that may restrict the transfer of their shares or the
exercise of the voting rights attaching to them, save in relation to the employee benefit trust established by the Company,
the Lonmin Employee Share Trust, to facilitate various employee share plans. The trustee, which is independent of the
Company, does not seek to exercise voting rights on the Ordinary Shares held in trust, and a dividend waiver is in place in
respect of shares which are the beneficial property of the trust. For details of the Company’s employee share plans, see the
Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 70 to 99.

No shareholder, or trust relating to an employee share plan, holds securities carrying special rights relating to the control
of the Company.

3.3 Powers conferred on the Directors in relation to share capital
Subject to applicable law and the Company’s Articles of Association the Directors may exercise all powers of the Company,
including the power to authorise the issue and/or market purchase of the Company’s shares (subject to an appropriate authority
being given to the Directors by shareholders in general meeting and any conditions attaching to such authority). There were
two occasions in the year under review when shareholders delegated powers to the Directors in relation to share capital:

• at a General Meeting held on 19 November 2012, to facilitate the Rights Issue; and

• at the Annual General Meeting held on 31 January 2013.

Directors’ Report
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3.3 Powers conferred on the Directors in relation to share capital (continued)
The nature and extent of these authorities are summarised below:

Amount of authority outstanding
Authority Utilisation during the year at the end of the year

19 November 2012 – Power granted 365,496,943 Shares were issued by To the extent not utilised, this authority
to allot equity securities with a nominal way of a 9 for 5 Rights Issue expired at the conclusion of the AGM
value of up to $826m on 31 January 2013

31 January 2013 – Power granted No shares were issued during the year Authority remains outstanding in
to allot equity securities with a nominal pursuant to this authority full until the next AGM or, if earlier,
value of up to $189.3m 30 April 2014

31 January 2013 – Power granted at The Company made no purchases of Authority remains outstanding in
AGM to make market purchases of its its own shares during the year full until the next AGM or, if earlier,
own shares, up to a maximum of 30 April 2014
56,800,000 shares (being approximately
10% of the issued share capital) at prices
not less than the nominal value of each
share (being $1) and not exceeding
105% of the average mid-market price
for the preceding five business days)

No shares were acquired by forfeiture or surrender or made subject to a lien or charge.

During the year, 900,000 Ordinary Shares of $1 each Shares were issued for cash, to satisfy the exercise of options or the
vesting of awards granted under the Company’s employee share plans (see note 25 to the accounts). However, these do not
count against the allotment authority summarised in the table as each of the share plans had previously been approved by the
shareholders in general meeting.

Transactions, Contractual Arrangements and Post-Balance Sheet Events
4.1 Transactions with Related Parties

There was one transaction with a related party during the year, other than those in the ordinary course of business. On
25 September 2013 a subsidiary company, Western Platinum Limited made a non-interest bearing loan of R110 million to
Incwala Platinum (Pty) Limited (“Incwala”), the Company’s BEE partner, and committed to make a further non-interest bearing
loan of R160 million by no later than 31 March 2014. Incwala owns beneficially more than 10% of the share capital of two
material operating subsidiaries, Eastern Platinum Limited and Western Platinum Limited, and is therefore a related party.
Further disclosure is in note 27 to the financial statements.

4.2 Significant Agreements – change of control
A number of agreements take effect, alter or terminate upon a change of control of the Company following a takeover bid,
such as debt facilities and employee share plans. None of these are deemed to be significant except for the Company’s bank
debt facilities in the amount of approximately $600 million spread across three separate bilateral ZAR facilities and a
syndicated USD facility, which includes seven banks. These facilities contain provisions under which, in the event that new
terms to continue the facility are not agreed within ten days of a change of control in respect of the ZAR facilities and 30 days
in respect of the USD facility, the lender is entitled to give notice cancelling the facility and declaring all outstanding loans
together with accrued interest to become payable within 15 days of such notice.

The Company does not have agreements with any Director or employee that would provide compensation for loss of office or
employment resulting from a change of control, except that certain provisions in some of the Company’s long-term incentive
schemes may be triggered. Awards made under the Stay & Prosper Plan crystallise immediately following a change of control,
although they only vest and become payable on their normal maturity date (three years from the date of grant) and are subject
generally to the continued employment of the participant. Directors of the Company are not permitted to hold awards under
this Plan. Awards under the Company’s other share plans will vest on a change of control, save to the extent specified by the
Remuneration Committee, who will generally take into account the extent to which the performance targets have been met
and such other factors as they believe to be appropriate in line with the rules of the relevant plans. Further information on
these plans and other long-term incentives, including the Special Award granted to Simon Scott in FY2012 and the retention
award granted to Mr Magara on his appointment, is provided in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 70 to 99.

4.3 Post-Balance Sheet events
There have been no material events from 30 September 2013 to the date of this report.
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Reporting, Accountability and Audit
5.1 Directors’ Responsibilities in respect of the Annual Report and Accounts

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Group and parent company Accounts in accordance
with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Group and parent company financial statements for each financial year. Under
that law they are required to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and
applicable law and have elected to prepare the parent company financial statements in accordance with UK Accounting
Standards.

Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and parent company and of their profit or loss for that period. In preparing each of
the Group and parent company financial statements, the Directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

• for the Group financial statements, state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU;

• for the parent company financial statements, state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed,
subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the parent company financial statements; and

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and the
parent company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the parent
company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the parent company and
enable them to ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They have general responsibility for
taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and
other irregularities.

Under applicable law and regulations, the Directors are also responsible for preparing a Strategic Report, Directors’ Report,
Directors’ Remuneration Report and Corporate Governance Statement that comply with that law and those regulations.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the
Company’s website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from
legislation in other jurisdictions.

The Directors’ Responsibility Statement can be found on page 105.

5.2 How the Directors discharged their responsibilities in this area
The Lonmin Group financial statements are presented in accordance with the IFRSs as adopted by the EU, using the US Dollar
as its reporting currency.

Details of the Group’s financial risk management are described in note 21 to the accounts on page 135 and in the discussion
of Internal Controls and Risk Management in section 1.8 and 1.9 of the Audit & Risk Committee Report on pages 63 and 64.

5.3 Going Concern
The Directors consider that the Group has adequate financial resources to continue operating for the foreseeable future and
that it is therefore appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

The Directors have satisfied themselves that the Group is in a sound financial position and that it has access to sufficient
borrowing facilities and can reasonably expect those facilities to be available to meet the Group’s foreseeable cash
requirements. Further information is provided in note 1 to the accounts on page 110 and A Deeper Look on page 167.

Directors’ Report



01 /
S

trategic R
eport

02 /
G

overnance
03 /

Financial S
tatem

ents
04 /

A
 D

eeper Look
05 /

S
hareholder Inform

ation
Lonmin Plc
Annual Report and Accounts 2013

Governance

/ 69

www.lonmin.com

5.4 Scope of the reporting in this Annual Report and Accounts
The Board has prepared a Strategic Report (which includes the Chairman’s Letter and the CEO’s interview) which provides an
overview of the development and performance of the Company’s business in the year ended 30 September 2013 (“FY2013”)
and it’s position at the end of that year, and which covers likely future developments in the business of the Company and
Group. Supplementary information is provided in the section titled ‘A Deeper Look’ on pages 158 to 177, which is hereby also
incorporated by reference into this Directors’ Report.

For the purposes of compliance with DTR 4.1.5R(2) and DTR 4.1.8R, the required content of the ‘Management Report’ can be
found in the Strategic Report and this Directors’ Report, including the sections of the Annual Report and Accounts incorporated
by reference.

We have been mindful of the best practice guidance published by DEFRA and other bodies in relation to environmental,
community and social KPIs when drafting the Strategic Report. The Board has also considered social, environmental and
ethical risks, in line with the best practice recommendations of the Association of British Insurers. Management, led by the
CEO, has responsibility for identifying and managing such risks, which are discussed extensively in this Annual Report and
Accounts and the online Sustainable Development Report.

5.5 External auditors
So far as each current Director is aware, there is no information relevant to the audit of which the Company’s auditors are
unaware, and each Director has taken all the steps that he or she ought to have taken as a Director to make himself or herself
aware of any such information and to ensure that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information.

KPMG Audit Plc has notified the Company that they are not seeking reappointment. It is proposed that KPMG LLP are
appointed auditors of the Company and they will hold office from the conclusion of the AGM in January 2014 until the
conclusion of the next general meeting at which accounts are laid before the Company. See page 62 of the Audit & Risk
Committee Report and the Notice of Meeting for further details.

The Strategic Report, the Directors' Report and the Directors' Remuneration Report were approved by the Board on
10 November 2013.

For and on behalf of the Board.

Rob Bellhouse
Company Secretary
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Directors’ Remuneration Report
for the year ended 30 September 2013

Jim Sutcliffe
Chairman, Remuneration Committee

Dear fellow shareholder

The past year has been one of immense challenge for the Company. Following the strike and appalling
violence late in the previous financial year the twin operational challenges were to manage the return to
work peacefully and safely, and then to deliver the outcomes expected in the Lonmin Renewal Plan.
Although we were disappointed to have three fatalities, more was achieved than many imagined
possible in many areas. LTIFR improved again from our industry leading levels, we exceeded our sales
guidance, produced more platinum than in any of the last 6 years, and ended the year with a healthy
cash and stock position. The share price, which has disappointed for so long, now stands 27% higher
than the implied price at the time of the rights issue.

Maintaining both our hard legal and softer social licences to operate is of crucial importance. Five
major initiatives were announced at the 2013 AGM, which taken together would vastly improve the
lives of our workers and their communities. Progress has been made during the year, but tangible
outcomes still need to be delivered.

Overall, the formula for the Balanced Scorecard agreed at the beginning of the year with management
produced a result slightly ahead of target, and the Remuneration Committee (the “Committee”) decided
not to apply any discretion to the formulaic outcome, feeling that this was a fair reflection. We also
felt that the efforts over the year by management merited good personal elements of the bonus plan.
Although it is a short period, we felt that Ben Magara has made an excellent start in his first three
months, and we set his personal element, proportionately, at the same generous level as his team.
We recognised the role played by Simon Scott as Acting CEO by awarding him the full personal
element available under the plan.

Our LTIP plans again failed to meet their performance hurdles, and awards made in 2010 lapsed for
no value. This is appropriate, given the share price movement over the three year period.

The Committee made no substantial changes to the Directors’ remuneration structure during the year.
The ‘Blue Sky’ process explained last year was resurrected in June 2013, but the arrival of the new
CEO and the need for his strategic review to be completed before finalising our pay policies means
that we are not yet in a position to finalise our thinking. We will follow through on this during the
coming months and consult with shareholders on all material matters.

As required by law, at the 2014 AGM we are seeking shareholders’ approval of our Directors’
remuneration policy, as set out in the next section of this report, and also an extension of the life of
the LTIP. We have sought comments from shareholders in advance on a draft of the policy statement
and made appropriate changes. The substance of our policy is as laid out last year. We expect to
ask for shareholder approval of a new policy next year as indicated in the previous paragraph.

The LTIP is due to expire on 5 February 2014. Given the delay necessary to incorporate Ben Magara’s
strategic thinking, we recommend that you agree a short extension to the current plan, which will allow
the current policy to operate a little longer.
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Directors’ Remuneration Report
for the year ended 30 September 2013

The Committee also took decisions during the year in relation to Simon Scott which were reported
in last year’s remuneration report and discussed with key institutional investors at the time of the last
AGM. There was some unhappiness amongst shareholders at the payment of a bonus and the granting
of the Special Award to Simon Scott or, in some cases, to the form of the Special Award. A number
of meetings were held with shareholders, whose views were discussed extensively by the Committee
and brought to the attention of the Board. We subsequently converted the Special Award onto a
share-settled basis in response to those concerns. Simon played a key role in delivering the Recovery Plan
and as a result the Company is in a better place, and far more valuable, than might have been the case.

The Committee also had to decide what to offer Ben Magara. We took a decision to employ him on a
salary of £450,000, being somewhat less than his predecessor had been earning and also reflecting
the changes in the Company’s relative and competitive position. The rest of his package is in our
standard form for Executive Directors. As explained on page 78, we also compensated him for the
loss of incentives from his previous role. The Recruitment Award is no more valuable than the awards
replaced, no vesting was accelerated and the arrangements are all in the form of Lonmin shares,
which ensures his alignment with shareholders.

Your Committee works hard to ensure that remuneration reflects value created and preserved,
primarily for shareholders but also for other stakeholders, recognising that the long-term success of
the organisation is dependent on the role we play in our community and in South Africa as a whole.
Over the long run, we believe that a fair remuneration system will develop most loyalty to the
Company. Although we believe good progress was made in the past year, there remains an enormous
amount to do, and we shareholders need that loyalty from our management. We therefore see fairness
as central to everything we do. We have to make judgments in pursuit of these outcomes, using our
discretion where appropriate, and we believe that the decisions we took in FY2013 reflect this
approach.

We are happy to discuss any remuneration matters at any time and hope that we can enjoy your
support on the remuneration-related votes at the 2014 AGM.

Yours faithfully

Jim Sutcliffe
Chairman, Remuneration Committee 



Policy Report
Process
This report sets out the Company’s policy on the remuneration of its Executive and Non-executive Directors, and will be proposed
for approval by shareholders at the AGM on 30 January 2014. Our policy is unchanged from that in force in recent financial years.
It will take effect from the day following the AGM and may operate for up to three years although reviews of our business and
remuneration strategies are currently underway, as noted below, and we anticipate presenting a revised remuneration policy for
approval within the life of the policy summarised in this report.

So that we can implement this policy, the Company will be seeking shareholder approval at the AGM to extend the life of the
Company’s Long-Term Incentive Plan (which would otherwise expire on 5 February 2014) by two years, to ensure that the
Company has a suitable vehicle to facilitate long-term share-settled incentive arrangements.

The Remuneration Committee (the ‘Committee’) commenced a fundamental review of the Company’s approach to the remuneration
of the Executive Directors and other senior executives in 2012. Following the appointment of the new CEO on 1 July 2013 a
strategic review has also been underway. It is clearly vital that the remuneration strategy supports the business strategy, and we
have therefore deferred changes to our remuneration policy pending the finalisation of the strategy review. We therefore envisage
presenting a revised policy for consideration and approval at the 2015 AGM.

Remuneration policy is an integral part of the management of the business, and the Committee takes input from many sources,
and routinely reviews the pay and employment conditions of employees of the Group. The EVP Human Resources provides
insight into levels of pay, bonus and other benefits relative to South African market norms for employees both at workforce and
managerial levels. Members of the Committee bring their experience from other Committees, notably the Transformation
Committee, the Safety & Sustainability Committee and the Audit & Risk Committee to bear on their work, as well as the discussions
at full Board meetings on matters including strategy, performance and labour relations (including pay and employment conditions),
and the presentations made by the CEO, CFO and other members of management.

The Company has not consulted its employees in formulating this policy. However, as the Chairman made clear at the 2013 AGM,
the strategy of the Company has to include imperatives to improve the social and living conditions of its employees, and the
Balanced Scorecard (see below) has been adapted to bring remuneration practice into line.

As the policy is a continuation of that currently in force, the Committee has not used any remuneration comparison measurements,
other than its own knowledge of market conditions for executive pay in the UK.

We are committed to discussing all major changes to remuneration policy and any major applications of discretion with
shareholders in advance, wherever this is possible within the legal and regulatory constraints we face. In preparing this policy, the
Company took the known views of its major institutional shareholders into account. In addition, the Committee Chairman wrote to
the Company’s twenty largest institutional shareholders and major representative bodies. Two principal points emerged from these
discussions. The need for consultation with key institutional shareholders wherever possible prior to any exercise of discretion,
and full retrospective disclosure explaining the circumstances, the need for discretion to be exercised and the consequences of
this for remuneration. In addition, shareholders requested a stronger explanation of how the performance measures chosen for
the short-term incentive (the BSC Bonus Plan, plus the ASAP) and long-term incentive (the LTIP) plans supported delivery of the
business strategy and goals. The drafting of this policy report was updated in response to the views received.

Future policy – Executive Directors
The Company’s policy in relation to the remuneration of Executive Directors has evolved over a number of years in response to
changing circumstances. It is designed to enable the Company to attract and retain individuals of the calibre necessary to manage
the Board’s strategic plans and lead the management team, to incentivise them to achieve stretching strategically-aligned goals
and to align their interests with those of shareholders by delivering a significant proportion of the reward in shares. This latter point
is bolstered by a shareholding obligation which is at the upper end of market practice for a London-listed company of comparable
size. Crucially, the policy is also designed to operate through the economic cycle and to deliver outcomes which are fair to both
the Executive Directors and shareholders. The Committee sees its key purpose as ensuring that the Company’s remuneration
systems encourage value creation for shareholders, promote socially responsible and safe practices and maintain a demonstrably
fair relationship between pay and performance.

The Company is incorporated in England, has its primary listing in London and is obliged to withhold UK tax and social security
from Directors’ earnings, but the Executive Directors reside in South Africa together with the rest of the management team. As a
result, while we devise pay systems relative to norms in the London market for directors of listed companies, these also give due
regard to remuneration practices in the South African mining sector, as well as South African tax and exchange controls rules
and requirements.
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Directors’ Remuneration Report
for the year ended 30 September 2013

Future policy – Executive Directors (continued)

Components of
remuneration

How this supports the
short- and long-term
strategic objectives
of the Group

How this component of
remuneration operates

Maximum that may be paid Description of the framework used to
assess performance:

(1) Applicable performance measures
and weighting where applicable
(note 2)

(2) Details of any performance period

(3) Amount that may be paid at (i) the
minimum level of performance that
results in a payment and (ii) at any
further levels of performance

Whether there are
any provisions for
the recovery of
sums paid or
the withholding
of payment

Base Salary Offering market-
competitive levels of
guaranteed cash
earnings should help
us attract and retain
executives of suitably
high calibre to manage
the Board’s strategic
plans and lead the
management team.

Reflects the
individual’s skills,
experience and role
within the Group.

Salary is paid monthly in
arrears in cash. While the
Company’s obligation is
denominated in sterling,
Directors resident outside
the UK receive a proportion
of their pay in local currency,
converted at prevailing
exchange rates. The
individual therefore bears
the currency risk.

The Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee
discusses the performance
of each Executive Director
in role with the Chairman
of the Board, and seeks
the view of the CEO in relation
to other Executive Directors,
ahead of all pay reviews.

For confirmatory purposes,
independent data on
prevailing market rates of
salary for each role (a) paid
in UK listed companies of
equivalent size, complexity
and risk profile and (b)
comparable South African
mining companies, will be
reviewed by the Committee.

Base salaries for the year to
30 September 2014 are:

Ben Magara £462,150

Simon Scott £334,650
(across both employments
– see page 91)

Salaries are reviewed
annually, effective 1 October.
In normal circumstances, any
increase will reflect UK or
South African price inflation
and will be contained within
the levels of increase offered
to the workforce generally.

Salary increases will also
reflect any changes in
responsibility, market
conditions, and performance
in role.

Year-on-year increase will not
exceed 10% per annum.

(1) Not applicable

(2) Not applicable

(3) Not applicable

No contractual
provisions for
claw-back or
malus
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Components of
remuneration

How this supports
the short- and
long-term strategic
objectives of the
Group

How this component of
remuneration operates

Maximum that may be paid Description of the framework used to
assess performance:

(1) Applicable performance measures
and weighting where applicable
(note 2)

(2) Details of any performance period

(3) Amount that may be paid at (i) the
minimum level of performance that
results in a payment and (ii) at any
further levels of performance

Whether there are
any provisions for the
recovery of sums paid
or the withholding
of payment

Benefits
in kind

Offering market-
competitive levels
of benefits-in-kind
should help us
attract and retain
executives of
suitably high calibre
to manage the
Company’s
strategic vision
and plans.

As the Company is
obliged to operate
cross-border
income tax and
social security
deductions, we
provide appropriate
support to help
the individuals with
these complex
obligations, to avoid
the distraction or
time consumed in
basic compliance
activities.

The Company offers
Executive Directors a
range of benefits
including some or
all of:

• car allowance
paid in cash

• private medical
insurance for the
Executive Director
and their family

• income protection
insurance

• life assurance

• annual medicals

• advice and support
in managing their
tax and exchange
control obligations

• access to
independent
actuarial, financial
and legal advice
when necessary

Where benefits are
provided in kind, these
are generally sourced
in the open market
and the Company and
Committee keep the
costs under review.

Policy limits are set at a
level that reflects market
practice for individuals of
this level of seniority and at
a cost which is affordable
to the business.

The maximum benefit that
can be offered or paid to
the Executive Directors for
each element is:

• car allowance of
£15,790 per annum
(increasing annually in
line with base salary)

• private medical insurance
is provided on a family
basis

• income protection
insurance of
approximately 75% of
salary in certain
circumstances

• life assurance of 4x base
salary

• annual full medicals

• up to £10,000 per
annum + VAT of tax and
exchange control
support

The Committee may
choose to make suitable
independent professional
advice available to the
Executive Directors; for
example, in the event that
a benefit is being removed
or a material change to
their terms and conditions
of employment is being
contemplated of up to
£10,000 per annum + VAT.

(1) Not applicable

(2) Not applicable

(3) Not applicable

No contractual
provisions for claw-
back or malus

Relocation/
expatriate
assistance

Offering assistance
to Executive
Directors who are
asked to work
away from their
home location
should enable the
Company (a) to
employ the best
person for each
role and (b) where
the appointee is
already employed
by the Company,
provide career
and/or personal
development
options and
potentially help
retain their services.

Assistance will include
(but is not limited to)
facilitating and/or
meeting the costs of
obtaining visas and
work permits for the
Executive Directors and
their immediate family
members, removal and
other relocation costs,
house purchase or
rental costs, children’s
education, a limited
amount of family travel
and tax equalisation
arrangements; and
may extend to
facilitating and/or
meeting the costs of
re-establishing them
to their previous
location at the end
of the employment
or assignment.

There are a number of
variables affecting the
amount that may be
payable, but the
Committee would pay
no more than it judged
reasonably necessary, in
the light of all applicable
circumstances. For the
purposes of compliance
with the Regulations, the
maximum would not
exceed £250,000 in any
year for one individual.

(1) Not applicable

(2) Not applicable

(3) Not applicable

No contractual
provisions for claw-
back or malus
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Directors’ Remuneration Report
for the year ended 30 September 2013

Future policy – Executive Directors (continued)

Components of
remuneration

How this supports the short- and long-term strategic
objectives of the Group

How this component
of remuneration
operates

Maximum that
may be paid

Description of the framework used to
assess performance:

(1) Applicable performance measures
and weighting where applicable
(note 2)

(2) Details of any performance period

(3) Amount that may be paid at (i) the
minimum level of performance that
results in a payment and (ii) at any
further levels of performance

Whether there are
any provisions for the
recovery of sums paid
or the withholding
of payment

Pension Offering market-competitive levels of guaranteed cash
earnings should help us attract and retain executives of
suitably high calibre to manage the Board’s strategic
plans and lead the management team.

The Company
currently offers an
allowance (expressed
as a percentage of
base salary) which
the Executive Director
can choose to take
(a) as an employer
contribution to a
defined contribution
pension scheme
(subject to applicable
tax law), (b) as a
non-bonusable salary
supplement, or (c) as
a blend of the two.

The maximum
amount payable
is 20.52% of
base salary.

(1) Not applicable

(2) Not applicable

(3) Not applicable

No contractual
provisions for claw-
back or malus

Annual
Bonus – the
Balanced
Scorecard
Plan (the
‘BSC’)

The short-term incentive arrangements use a Balanced
Scorecard format to provide an incentive for delivery
within the financial year across a range of strategically-
important areas. These reward delivery of key strategic
and personal objectives within agreed risk parameters
over a one year period, and help create a strong
performance culture.

Performance measures
The Committee uses the BSC as an opportunity to
create a focus and financial incentive for the delivery of
short-term strategic imperatives, in collaboration with
the CEO and Board. While we expect the majority of
the measures to be relatively unchanged year-on-year,
the BSC is used as a tactical tool in support of strategic
outcomes as circumstances dictate. As a result, the
Committee believes it is inadvisable to commit itself to
a fixed set of measures or BSC design in advance, as
this would greatly reduce the value and usefulness of
the tool. Among the core measures that we do not
expect to vary between financial years are the following:

Safety – incentivises management to ensure that risk
controls, safety procedures and the culture of the
organisation are constantly improved to reduce LTIFRs
and avoid fatal accidents. In addition, it reinforces the
Company’s commitment to Zero Harm to employees
and contractors which is essential for the long-term
sustainable operation of the mines. The target is set
to improve the LTIFR, subject a modifier which adjusts
the value of the bonus for any fatalities.

Social responsibility – encourages management to
operate in a way that is thoughtful about the impact the
Company has on its host communities and recognise
that the vast majority of its employees have homes
away from the mine.

Platinum Production – the Company’s sole source
of revenue is the metals it sells, and this measure
incentivises management to produce finished metal
ready for sale. We choose to incentivise production
rather than sales to avoid distortions that could be
caused by movements in stock levels between year ends.
The timing of sales can therefore be planned to maximise
profits free from any influence caused by the bonus plan.

Operating Unit Costs – encourages management to
keep control over cost per unit (defined as cash operating
costs per PGM ounce produced), allowing the business
to operate profitably through any down cycle.

Net cash – encourages management to devise
operational plans focussed on cash generation, to
create options for the Board in relation to (among
other uses) reinvestment in future production capacity,
distribution to shareholders or social spending in
support of the Company’s licence to operate.

Annual bonus is
linked to base salary
only.

Three levels of
attainment are
defined in advance
– threshold, target
and stretch.

All bonus metrics are
subject to audit or
other external
assurance and the
formulaic outcome of
the Balanced
Scorecard is
reviewed for fairness
by the Committee.

Bonus at ‘target’
would be 83.5% of
base salary and at
‘stretch’ would be
125% of base salary,
being 1.5x target.

Bonuses are settled
in cash but can be
settled in shares or
a mixture of cash
and shares at the
discretion of the
Committee.

125% of base
salary, if every
metric was
achieved at
‘stretch’.

(1) Executive Directors’ bonus
metrics are currently weighted
at target so that:

(a) 80% of value is linked to
corporate KPIs; and

(b) 20% of value is linked to
personal objectives.

For both corporate and personal
elements, ‘stretch’ performance
would be 1.5x these levels.

The corporate metrics support
our strategy, and can be
grouped under the generic
headings of safety,
transformation, sustainability,
production, operations, financial,
risk and governance. The key
elements are outlined in the
second column and disclosed
in full detail in arrears because
the targets, and potentially the
measures and/or weightings,
are commercially sensitive.
The Committee has discretion
to alter the formulaic outcome
in the light of unforeseen events,
and to reflect the actual delivery
of value to shareholders.

The personal metrics are agreed
between the Chairman, the
Committee and the Director
concerned each year in advance,
with a wide degree of discretion
given to the Committee. They
generally relate to projects or
initiatives linked to the design or
delivery of strategic outcomes.

Any discretion applied to the
BSC, its corporate or personal
measures, weightings and
targets, will be discussed
with shareholders whenever
appropriate, and in any event
fully reported to shareholders.

The Committee has discretion
to make changes in future years
to reflect the evolving nature of
the strategic imperatives that
may be facing the Company.

(2) Performance is measured over
one financial year.

There are no
claw-back or
malus provisions
in the plan rules

www.lonmin.com
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Future policy – Executive Directors (continued)

Directors’ Remuneration Report
for the year ended 30 September 2013

Components of
remuneration

How this supports the short- and
long-term strategic objectives of the Group

How this component
of remuneration
operates

Maximum that
may be paid

Description of the framework used to
assess performance:

(1) Applicable performance measures
and weighting where applicable
(note 2)

(2) Details of any performance period

(3) Amount that may be paid at (i) the
minimum level of performance that
results in a payment and (ii) at any
further levels of performance

Whether there are
any provisions for the
recovery of sums paid
or the withholding of
payment

Annual
Bonus – the
Balanced
Scorecard
Plan (the
‘BSC’)
(continued)

PGM recoveries – efficiency and effectiveness in
recovering PGMs from rock mined and hoisted to surface
is crucial in creating value. This metric encourages
management to explore technical and other opportunities
that could improve recovery rates and reduce the value
of materials left in process residues and tailings.

Weightings
The Committee also uses the weight attached to each
performance measure within the BSC in further support
of the short-term delivery of corporate strategy, and can
also use one or more of these measures as a hurdle or
multiplier for part or all of the BSC, subject to the
maximum amount contained in the plan rules. There
will be times when it is appropriate, and in shareholders’
best interests, to attach more significant weight to
(for example) one or more of production, financial or
transformation outcomes, reflecting immediate priorities.
Again, the Committee believes it inadvisable to commit
to a particular design in advance, as this would greatly
reduce the value and usefulness of the tool.

Targets
Once the measures and weightings have been set the
Committee devises three levels of attainment for each
measure, at threshold, target and stretch. In general
terms, the threshold level of performance is set at the
minimum level of performance for which it would be
reasonable to offer additional remuneration, and has
a lower level of payment; target is generally set at or
about budget or market consensus; and stretch
(which results in a higher level of payment) is set at a
challenging, yet potentially achievable, level which
should result in the creation of direct or indirect value
for shareholders. Wherever possible, quantifiable hard
targets are set to enable accurate measurement and
assurance before payment.

(3) The nature of the BSC is that any
amount between zero and the
maximum can be earned.

If all the corporate metrics were
achieved at the same level, the
resulting payment (as a
percentage of salary) would be:

• at ‘threshold’: 43% (assuming
that half of the 20% personal
element was achieved)

• at ‘target’: 83.5% (assuming that
the 20% personal element was
achieved in full)

• at ‘stretch’: 125% (assuming
the personal element was
outperformed and assessed
at 30%)

Annual Share
Award Plan

Ensures the interests of the Executive Directors and
shareholders are aligned by providing a material
financial exposure to the Company’s shares. We expect
this to incentivise the delivery of long-term strategic
objectives as it clearly aligns the value of reward with
performance.

As the award is forfeitable if the executive resigns or is
dismissed within three years of granting, this may help
the Company retain Executive Directors.

The ASAP supports the BSC Bonus Plan in driving the
short-term delivery of strategic objectives, but value is
delivered in the form of Lonmin shares, after a deferral
period of at least three years. Please refer to the row
above for a fuller description of how the BSC Bonus
Plan works in practice. The delivery of value in the
form of shares helps create a longer-term focus on
value creation.

The face value of the
award is of equal
value to the bonus
paid for the
preceding financial
year. The average
prevailing share price
up to the award date
value is used to
calculate the number
of shares in the award.

Awards are structured
as nil-cost options,
and vest on the third
anniversary of grant,
subject to continued
service. Once vested,
the award may be
exercised at any time
between the third and
tenth anniversaries of
grant at executive’s
discretion. The award
is settled by either the
issue of new shares
or the transfer of
market-purchased
shares to the
Executive Director.

Dividend equivalents
are paid on any
shares vesting.

The maximum
face value
of the award is
capped at 125%
of salary.

The final value
of the award
will depend on
share price
performance
to the date on
which the award
is exercised.

In addition, in
line with UK best
practice dividend
equivalents can,
at the
Committee’s
discretion, be
paid on the
vesting of
awards. These
equal the value
of dividends that
would have been
declared or paid
on the number
of shares vesting
during the tenor
of that award.

(1) The bonus earned and paid in
respect of the preceding financial
year is used to determine the
size of the award.

Once granted, the only on-going
condition is continued
employment.

(2) The award is made on a
discretionary basis to Executive
Directors who worked for part or
all of the preceding financial year
and are still in employment at the
date of granting.

The award vests on the third
anniversary of the date of grant,
and can be exercised at any
point up to the tenth anniversary,
provided the individual is still in
employment.

(3) The face value of the award will
be of equal value to the gross
bonus paid in respect of the
preceding financial year, capped
at 125% of salary.

The final value of the award
will depend on share price
performance to the date on
which the award is exercised.

Malus can be applied
at the Committee’s
discretion at any time
during the three-year
vesting period in the
event of (1) a
misstatement of the
financial results and/or
health of the Company
during the year for
which the underlying
bonus was assessed
(the ‘Relevant Year’);
(2) an erroneous
calculation in relation
to the Company’s
results or other
performance
benchmark; (3) errors
in the Company’s
financial statements;
or (4) discrepancies in
the financial accounts
for the Relevant Year,
whether or not arising
from fraud or reckless
behaviour on the part
of any Director or
employee of a Group
company.
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Future policy – Executive Directors (continued)

Directors’ Remuneration Report
for the year ended 30 September 2013

Components of
remuneration

How this supports the short- and long-term
strategic objectives of the Group

How this component
of remuneration
operates

Maximum that
may be paid

Description of the framework used to
assess performance:

(1) Applicable performance measures
and weighting where applicable
(note 2)

(2) Details of any performance period

(3) Amount that may be paid at (i) the
minimum level of performance that
results in a payment and (ii) at any
further levels of performance

Whether
there are any
provisions for
the recovery
of sums
paid or the
withholding
of payment

Long-Term
Incentive
Plan

This plan aims to create alignment of
executive and shareholder interests by:

• facilitating a material exposure to the value
of the Company’s shares by the Executive
Directors

• making the vesting of the award subject
to the achievement of performance
conditions combining sustained operational
performance and the change in value of
shareholders’ investment relative to our
peers

We believe that the potential value available
to the Executive Directors through the LTIP
leads to fairness – median performance
should lead to median pay while upper
quartile performance should lead to upper
quartile total reward. In turn this should help
us attract, retain and motivate Executive
Directors of the right calibre.

An award over a fixed
number of shares is
granted on and
vests on the third
anniversary of grant,
subject to (i)
continued service
and (ii) achievement
of the performance
condition.

The award is settled
by either the issue
of new shares or
the transfer of
market-purchased
shares to the
Executive Director.

Dividend equivalents
are paid on any
shares vesting.

The rules of
this plan will,
following the
2014 AGM,
provide that the
maximum face
value of an award
will not normally
exceed 150%
of salary except
in exceptional
circumstances,
which for
Executive
Directors would
be limited to
where the plan is
used to facilitate
the buy-out of
incentives on
recruitment.

In addition, in
line with UK best
practice dividend
equivalents
can, at the
Committee’s
discretion, be
paid on the
vesting of
awards. These
equal the value
of dividends
that would have
been declared
or paid on the
number of
shares vesting
during the tenor
of that award.

(1) The performance condition
multiplies (i) the corporate
elements of the BSC (averaged
over 3 years) by (ii) Relative Total
Shareholder Return (‘RTSR’)
over 3 years, relative to the
median of a group of five PGM
producers (see page 93).

The BSC is weighted on a scale
running from 0-1.5x and RTSR is
weighted on a scale running from
0-2.0x, with the resulting sum
then divided by 3, to give the
final answer. By these means
we create a bias towards the
delivery of value to shareholders.
This is described more fully on
page 93.

(2) BSC component: average
(mean) of the three corporate
scorecards finalised during the
three year vesting period.

RTSR component: performance
over a period of 36 months
broadly coterminous with the
vesting period, but ending on a
calendar month end. This allows
time to communicate the vesting
outcome to participants in
advance of the vesting date, so
that tax withholding obligations
can be calculated.

(3) Vesting can be at any level from
0% to full vesting.

The final value of the award
will depend on share price
performance to the date on
which the award is exercised.

The rules of this
plan will, in
respect of awards
made following
the 2014 AGM,
provide that
malus (pre
vesting) and
clawback (post
vesting) may be
applied where
the level of grant
or vesting of an
award has been
affected by any
of the events
described above
in relation to the
ASAP. Clawback
may also be
applied where
the Company
discovers
any event of
pre-vesting
misconduct
on the part of
the Executive
Director.

The Company imposes an obligation on the Executive Directors to amass and retain a personally significant investment in the
Company’s shares. We regard this as an important and integral part of the remuneration policy, as this means that they experience
the same changes in value as shareholders, and so are incentivised to create and preserve value. Executive Directors are required
to build up a shareholding within five years of taking office with a value of at least 3x salary (in the case of the CEO) and 2x salary
(other Executive Directors). Should this be achieved but the market value then fall below the required level, the individual has a
period of three years in which to restore compliance. No forfeiture, clawback or malus provisions are applicable, as these are
personal investments in the Company’s shares created from after-tax income, including the vesting of awards under the
Company’s employee share schemes and other share-settled arrangements.
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Directors’ Remuneration Report
for the year ended 30 September 2013

Future policy – Executive Directors (continued)
Footnotes:
1. In addition to the items in the policy table, there are two arrangements forming part of the on-going policy, each applicable to only one of the Executive

Directors. Both awards were made in unusual circumstances, as permitted under Listing Rule 9.4.2R:

Simon Scott – on 11 September 2012 the Committee approved the basis of a Special Award to be made to him, but this was only granted on 7 November
2012 after the Committee approved the terms of the performance condition. This award was granted at a time when the Company faced multiple crises
and an unprecedented level of uncertainty, and recognised his important role in the Company’s recovery from the Events at Marikana. As originally
contemplated, this was a cash-settled award with a face value of £814,625, being 2.5 times Mr Scott’s CFO basic salary for FY2012. This reflected the
regulatory and legal position in force at the time, which precluded the issue of a share-settled award. The quantum reflected the fact that no LTIP award
could be made to Mr Scott at that time. Following discussions with key institutional shareholders, the award was converted from a cash-settled to a
share-settled basis on 5 March 2013. Linking the future value of the Award to the Lonmin share price should boost his alignment with shareholders’
interests more quickly and completely than would otherwise have been the case. A maximum of 254,570 shares can be acquired under this award,
the vesting of which is subject to the satisfaction of two performance measures. The first is that the average corporate BSC performance for the three
financial years FY2013 to FY2015 is at or above the threshold percentage. The second performance measure is a personal performance element, being
that Mr Scott’s average personal achievement for those same financial years is at or above 65%. Where each of the performance measures has been
met, the award will vest in full on the vesting date, 7 November 2015, but the award will immediately lapse should one or both of the tests fail to be met.
The Award is not subject to any clawback or malus provisions.

The award is subject to continued employment with “Good Leaver” provisions applying in specified circumstances (for example death, ill-health or redundancy)
or at the Committee’s discretion. Should Mr Scott be classified as a “Good Leaver” the performance condition will be assessed in relation to completed
financial years, with the Committee making such adjustments as it considers appropriate to take account of the shortened performance period. If the
performance condition is met, the award will vest immediately, subject to pro-rating for time. Otherwise it will lapse in full.

Ben Magara – he became entitled to the Recruitment Award on 1 July 2013 when he commenced employment with the Company, and the Award was
granted on 10 July 2013. This Award was designed to encourage Mr Magara to join the Company by making share-settled awards on joining of equal
value to those he would forego on leaving his previous employment and a maximum of 130,302 shares can be acquired under this award. The vesting of
the Recruitment Award reflects the terms of the deferred bonus arrangements it replaces, which were effectively cash-settled and payable at three fixed
dates. As a result, the Award is not subject to a performance condition and vests in three equal tranches on 31 May 2014, 31 May 2015 and 31 May 2016,
assuming Mr Magara is still in service at the relevant vesting date. Should Mr Magara leave prior to any of these dates for a ‘good leaver’ reason, then the
entire value of the award vests and the shares will be transferred to him. If he is summarily dismissed, the Award will lapse immediately. By making the
Award share-settled, we believe that we boosted his alignment with shareholders’ interests more quickly than would otherwise have been the case. An
LTIP award over the same number of shares was made on the same date, replacing performance-related awards held by Mr Magara which were lost on
leaving his previous employment. The Recruitment Award is not subject to any clawback or malus provisions.

In relation to both the Special Award and the Recruitment Award, on a change of control of the Company, the Committee will consider whether any
performance condition has been satisfied in relation to the relevant period. However, the vesting dates will not change, unless the Committee determines
otherwise, and the Awards will not be pro-rated for time. If any applicable performance condition is not satisfied the Awards will lapse in full. Otherwise the
Awards will be settled on the vesting date, or, if earlier, upon the relevant Executive Director ceasing to be employed by the Group (unless he resigns other
than in circumstances constituting constructive dismissal, ceases to be employed without giving or receiving notice, or his employment is terminated for a
reason which would have justified summary dismissal, in which case the award will lapse in full).

No other Director was eligible to receive either the Special Award or the Retention Award, and the provisions of the Awards in relation to their maximum
value, the performance condition (if any) and the basis of vesting cannot be altered to the advantage of the participant without the prior approval of
shareholders in general meeting (except for minor amendments to take account of legislative change, or tax or regulatory treatment, or of an
administrative nature).

The values of the Special Award and Recruitment Award are not pensionable. The terms of the two awards are available for inspection at the Company’s
Registered Office.

2. As noted above, performance measures apply to the Balanced Scorecard Bonus Plan (BSC), the Annual Share Award Plan (ASAP) and the Long-Term
Incentive Plan (LTIP). These were chosen and targets are set as follows:

• BSC – the specific metrics and their weightings are set by the Committee in the light of the Board’s assessment of the strategic imperatives facing the
Company and the budgets and other operational plans adopted by the Board to best address both short and longer-term imperatives. Management
proposes suitable metrics (which are quantitative wherever possible) and levels of performance to form the threshold, target and stretch levels of
attainment. The Committee then assesses whether achievement of these is appropriately aligned with shareholders’ interests, and whether the
reward that would accrue to the Executive Directors would be justifiable. They also examine whether the metric is consistent with the requirements
of prudent risk management (and does not itself create perverse incentives) and good governance.

• ASAP – shareholders will recall that this plan replaced the previous practice of mandatory deferral of after-tax bonus, following changes in South
African tax law. When the amounts available under this plan are combined with the value of the BSC bonus, the total value as a multiple of base
salary has not changed for several years. The maximum award requires significant performance achievement, which has resulted in actual awards
under the BSC and ASAP having been considerably below the maximum in recent years. As the prior year bonus determines the award size, the
Committee believes that no subsequent performance condition is required, other than continued employment, noting that the ultimate value of the
award will move with the share price. The vesting period of three years is felt appropriate given practices in competitor companies and the requirement
for the Executive Directors to build and retain material long-term holdings of Lonmin shares.

• LTIP – after consulting with shareholders in 2010, it was determined that the BSC plan was fully aligned with the strategic imperatives facing the
Company, could easily be adapted to changing circumstances and so represented a strong means of assessing value-creating activities. By
averaging the outcomes over three years and including a longer-term assessment of shareholder value, a clear incentive is created to manage the
business for value over the longer term. We multiply the average BSC outcome by the Total Shareholder Return generated by Lonmin relative to the
median of a peer group of other listed PGM producers, measured over a three-year period. These companies have similar business activities to
Lonmin, so face the same socio-economic and operational challenges. The levels of relative performance were established after actuarial modelling
of long-term historic data, with the intention that material levels of vesting would only occur for strong levels of performance. Combining the two
components of the condition helps avoid a situation where reward flows to the Executive Directors from operational performance but no relative value
advantage has been gained by shareholders.

Details of outstanding awards under the ASAP and LTIP are set out on page 96. These will continue on the terms set out in this report.

3. Other than as described in the policy table, there are no components of the Executive Directors’ remuneration that are not subject to performance measures.

4. All of the items now proposed for inclusion in the Directors’ remuneration policy formed part of the previous policy.

5. None of the items now proposed for inclusion in the Directors’ remuneration policy have been changed from those previously in force, save that we intend,
as explained more fully on page 93, to amend the PGM peer group used for the LTIP performance condition to include only companies operating in
South Africa.
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Future policy – Executive Directors (continued)
Footnotes: (continued)
6. The policy in relation to the remuneration of the Executive Directors applies in virtually unchanged form to the members of the Exco and their more senior

first reports (we call this group the RemCo Purview Group), though the levels of awards tend to be lower than those offered to the Executive Directors and
BSC targets may include elements relating to parts of the business for which the individual executive is responsible. Below the RemCo Purview Group
remuneration is a combination of fixed pay (salary, benefits and pension) and short-term incentive pay (BSC and other one year bonus arrangements).
Share-settled long-term incentives are no longer offered to these employees as we judge that their roles do not have the longer-term dimensions that
would this make this appropriate, but we do encourage employees to consider investing in the Company’s shares. For employees of the Group generally,
pay comprises base salary, various allowances provided in cash or kind and short-term bonuses linked to safety, production and cost which are generally
paid quarterly. An Employee Share Ownership Plan for employees generally is under active consideration as part of our commitment to meet the
transformational requirements of the South African government’s Mining Charter.

Illustrations of application of remuneration policy
We estimate that the level of remuneration received by each of the two current Executive Directors for the first full year in which
the policy applies will be, indicatively, at three different levels of performance:

• Minimum – where only fixed pay (salary, benefits and pension) is payable and no short or long-term performance-related
pay accrues;

• At expectation – fixed pay plus short and long-term performance related pay vesting at the levels reasonably expected; and

• Maximum – fixed pay plus full vesting of all performance-related pay, but ignoring any share price appreciation.

Chief Executive Officer

Chief Financial Officer

The way in which the Company’s annual bonus plan operates is such that amounts in respect of a financial year are only paid in
the following financial year, after the completion of all audit, assurance and approval processes. However, to preserve the integrity
of the charts above, the ‘bonus’ amount reflects the bonus earned in respect of the year of employment.

The basis of calculation and key assumptions used to compile the charts above is as follows:

• Salary, benefits in kind and pension (as described in the future policy table are shown at the estimated cash cost to the
Company or the taxable value to the individual, as appropriate. No relocation assistance is currently in payment.

• Bonus at ‘minimum’ reflects the position where none of the corporate or personal metrics in the Balanced Scorecard is achieved
at threshold level; ‘expectation’ reflects the position where every such metric is achieved at target level; ‘maximum’ reflects the
position where every such metric is achieved at stretch level and is the amount at which the bonus payment is capped.

• Annual Share Award Plan shows the value of the awards (being equal to the gross bonus for the financial year) made in respect
of the year under review, ignoring any future change in the value of the shares.

• Long-Term Incentive Plan shows the value of the award vesting in the year based on the proportion of the shares comprised in
the award that will vest, multiplied by the original strike price used to convert the face value (a multiple of salary) into a number
of shares under award. This therefore ignores the change in the value of those shares over the vesting period.

As seen from the charts above, at ‘target’ levels of performance, around 55% of the CEO’s total pay, and around 65% of CFO’s
total pay, arises from performance-related elements, rising to over 70% at ‘stretch’ levels for both, at which point total pay is
capped. The Committee is satisfied that there is a strong incentive for the prudent management of risk, and that there are no
perverse incentives created by the pay policy.
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for the year ended 30 September 2013

(£000s)

Minimum

At expectation

Maximum

Salary Pensions ASAPBenefits in kind Bonus LTIP

500 1,000 1,500 2,000 0

Minimum

At expectation

Maximum

10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

(%)

335335

335

335

22

10

21

30

79

69 21

419 419

279 279 112

69

21

69 21

4
1

26 26

26 26

16 5

6

2

500 1,000 1,500 2,000

Salary Pensions ASAPBenefits in kind Bonus LTIP

Minimum

At expectation

Maximum

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

(%)

Minimum

At expectation

Maximum693462

462

462

28

15

19

29

79

(£000s)

2,500

92
27

579 579

386 386 231

92

27

92 27

4
1

24 24

24 24

16 5

6

2



Lonmin Plc
Annual Report and Accounts 2013

Governance

/ 80

Future policy – Non-executive Directors
The Company seeks to appoint individuals as Non-executive Directors who have gained extensive strategic level experience,
almost invariably through operating at Executive Director level in other businesses, and often in a South African operating context.
They are required to attend Board meetings, Committee meetings and other educational and briefing sessions, both in South
Africa and the UK and to be available to the Chairman of the Board and the Executive Directors as needed. In addition, they are
expected to familiarise themselves with the Company’s business and the context in which it operates, and to maintain their
technical skills and knowledge. The Company’s general approach to the determination of their fees is to pay at levels applicable
in the UK market for companies of similar size, complexity and risk, reflecting the travel commitment we require of the appointee.
No Non-executive Director receives any benefits in kind, relocation support, pension or performance-related payments.

Directors’ Remuneration Report
for the year ended 30 September 2013

Fee payable to Directors

All Non-executive Directors are
offered a base fee of £50,000 per
annum for acting as a Director,
same as explained below.

Fees to independent Directors
are payable in cash upfront for
the first year of appointment,
reflecting the commitment
necessary to undertake a full
induction programme including
site and other visits and in-depth
research. Thereafter fees are
paid in cash monthly in arrears.

Where the individuals serving
as Non-executive Directors are
employed by a third party, then
the Company may instead be
invoiced quarterly by that third
party for a sum equal to the fees
that would otherwise have been
payable to the individual Non-
executive Director, to be settled
in cash.

Any additional fees payable for any other duties to the Company

The Chairman of the Board receives a fee of £200,000 per
annum and the Senior Independent Director a fee of
£15,000 per annum, in each case in addition to their
annual base fee.

Where individuals serve as a member or Chairman of a
Committee of the Board, additional fees are payable,
as follows:

• Audit & Risk Committee Chairman: £17,500 per annum

• Audit & Risk Committee member: £10,000 per annum

• Nomination Committee Chairman: £12,500 per annum

• Nomination Committee member: £7,500 per annum

• Remuneration Committee Chairman: £17,500 per annum

• Remuneration Committee member: £10,000 per annum

• Safety & Sustainability Committee Chairman: £12,500
per annum

• Safety & Sustainability Committee member: £7,500
per annum

• Transformation Committee Chairman: £12,500 per
annum

• Transformation Committee member: £7,500 per annum

Such other items as are to be considered
in the nature of remuneration

No other items in the nature of
remuneration are provided by the
Company to its Non-executive
Directors, save that Mahomed
Seedat also provides services
to certain Group companies under
a consultancy agreement, as
described more fully on page 94.

The Company believes that this level of remuneration is sufficient to secure the services of individuals possessing the skills,
knowledge and experience, gained in an employment likely to be credible to shareholders necessary to support and oversee the
Executive Directors in their execution of the Board’s approved strategies and operational plans. These fees have historically been
reviewed biennially, the last such review being in July 2013, and in normal circumstances it is expected that the next review will
be in July 2015. There was no increase to the base fee at any of the last four reviews. Any future increase to any of the above fees
will not exceed 10% annum. No Non-executive Director receives any performance-related pay. No amounts due to a Non-executive
Director are subject to any recovery or withholding arrangements. None of the amounts stated above vary from those in force prior
to the drafting of this policy.

Non-executive Directors in receipt of fees from the Company are obliged to amass a shareholding with a value of 1x their annual
based fee within five years of taking office. Should this be achieved but the market value then fall below the required level, the
individual has a period of three years in which to restore compliance.
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Other policy provisions in relation to Directors’ pay
Flexibility, discretion and judgement
We believe that the remuneration of the Executive Directors should reflect their performance in delivering the Company’s strategy.
No remuneration policy and structure, however carefully designed and implemented, can ever pre-empt every possible scenario.
As a result, the application by the Committee of flexibility, discretion and judgement is crucial in achieving fair outcomes. Flexibility
is necessary in designing each year’s remuneration within the approved three-year policy, for example in devising appropriate
metrics for the annual bonus plan to support short-term business imperatives. Discretion is needed, amongst other things, in
determining whether mechanistic or formulaic outcomes are fair, in context, and can be applied in an upward or downward
manner. For example, the assessment of the Balanced Scorecard may generate pay outcomes that need to be adjusted to reflect
broader socio-economic realities or the Company’s financial position and prospects. Judgement is vital in setting individual targets
and goals, for example in the Balanced Scorecard, which will be seen as reasonable by shareholders (at threshold) and realistically
achievable by executives (at stretch) or in the detailed design or interpretation of performance conditions.

English company law requires us to state the extent of discretion available to the Committee on any aspect of the Directors’ remuneration
policy. In addition to the above, while noting that there are three distinct concepts, the Committee has discretion as follows:

• Annual Bonus – The Committee has discretion (1) to invite participants into the bonus programme, and determine the percentage
of their salary which can be earned as a bonus at ‘target’ and ‘stretch’ (subject to the plan rules), (2) to design performance
measures and set targets for each financial year to incentivise business outcomes which are aligned with the strategic imperatives
facing, or likely to be facing, the Company and to allocate weightings between these as it judges appropriate, (3) during each
financial year, to amend the design of the Balanced Scorecard where material external factors render the original design
inappropriate or inadvisable, (4) in assessing the formulaic outcomes of the Balanced Scorecard for the year, to apply its discretion
(upwards or downwards) to ensure that the resulting bonus payment is fair (a) between shareholders and the Executive Directors
and (b) between the Executive Directors, (5) in relation to leavers as provided for in the table set out on page 75, (6) on a change of
control of the Company, to determine the amount, or a minimum amount, of bonus for that year taking into account such factors it
considers appropriate, including performance and time-apportionment, the timing of payment and any additional terms which may
apply to such payment, and (7) whether to settle bonus awards in cash or in shares.

• ASAP – The Committee has similar discretions as under the Annual Bonus in relation to participation, award level, performance
measures, targets and weightings, and amendments to the plan. In addition, the Committee has discretion (1) to determine
the form of awards (whether a conditional allocation, restricted shares or nil-cost option) and, in relation to options, the
exercise period and whether any amount need be paid in order to exercise, (2) in relation to leavers as provided for in the table
set out on page 76, (3) to determine whether awards vest on a restructuring of the Company, (4) to pay dividend equivalents
on vested shares either in cash or in additional shares, and (5) to apply malus adjustments to all or part of any award in the
circumstances set out in the table on page 76.

• LTIP – The Committee has discretion (1) to determine who is to participate in the plan and the levels of award to be made, (2) to
set the performance measures and targets, and the weightings between them, to determine the vesting of awards, (3) in relation
to leavers as provided for in the table set out on page 77, (4) on a change of control of the Company, to determine the level of
vesting of awards taking into account performance and such other factors as the Committee believes to be relevant, (5) to pay
dividend equivalents on vested shares in cash, and (6) in relation to awards made after the 2014 AGM, to apply malus and/or
clawback to all or part of any award in the circumstances set out in the table on page 77.

• Shareholding obligation – The Committee may opt to vary the length of the periods within which shareholdings are acquired,
in appropriate circumstances.

Directors’ Remuneration Report
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Other policy provisions in relation to Directors’ pay (continued)
Approach to remuneration of Directors on recruitment
When determining the remuneration of a newly-appointed Executive Director, the Remuneration Committee will apply the following
principles:

• offer a package which is sufficiently competitive (in terms of both fixed and performance-related remuneration) to attract, retain
and motivate candidates of suitable calibre and experience, but without over-paying, relative to London-listed companies (or,
where relevant, mining companies in South Africa or another market from which the individual is being recruited) of equivalent
size, complexity and risk;

• design the package such that the amount of performance-related remuneration offered (by way of annual bonus and participation
in any long-term incentive plans) incentivises the individual to deliver value-creating outcomes, but does not create a perverse
incentive for the individual to pursue excessively risky strategies;

• in determining what is appropriate remuneration, the Committee will take all relevant factors into consideration, including (but
not limited to) the impact on other existing remuneration arrangements and internal pay relativities; the candidate’s current
location and role, and their skills, knowledge and experience; the nature of the role they are being recruited to fulfil and the
desired outcomes the individual will deliver; and external market influences generally including any competing offers the
individual may be considering;

• design the package such that high levels of reward will only result from performance and/or the delivery of value to shareholders
that justifies such pay, and that the relationship between pay and performance creates fairness between the new Director and
shareholders; and

• ensure that there is fairness between the terms and conditions of employment of the new and existing Directors.

Where promotion to an Executive Director role is from within the Company, any performance-related pay element arising from their
previous role will generally continue on its original terms.

All of the components of pay set out in the policy table would be considered for inclusion in the remuneration package, and the
maximum values set out in that table would apply in respect of elements of variable remuneration.

Where the appointee has variable remuneration arrangements with a previous employer that will be lost on leaving employment,
the Company will consider offering a sign-on award in compensation for the value foregone, either as an award under an existing
share plan or a bespoke award under the Listing Rules exemption available for this purpose. The face and/or expected values of
the award(s) offered will not materially exceed the value ascribed to the award(s) foregone, and would normally follow the same
vesting timing and form (cash or shares) save that the Committee may award the whole of the value in Lonmin shares, at its
discretion. The application of performance conditions would be considered and, where appropriate, the awards could be made
subject to claw-back or malus in appropriate circumstances. The Committee would, where practicable, consult with key
institutional shareholders ahead of committing to make any such sign-on awards and a full explanation of any amounts awarded,
an explanation of why this is necessary and a breakdown of the awards to be made would be announced to the markets at the
time of granting.

In accordance with the policy table on page 80, new Non-executive Directors would be paid a base fee for their appointment as a
Director, plus fees for their participation on any board committees, time-apportioned in the first year as necessary. In certain cases,
equivalent amounts may be invoiced by their employing companies. No sign-on payments are offered to Non-executive Directors.

Directors’ Remuneration Report
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Other policy provisions in relation to Directors’ pay (continued)
Service contracts
Each of the Executive Directors is employed on a service contract governed by English law, and Mr Scott has a second employment
contract with a South African subsidiary company governed by South African law. These contracts place the following obligations
on the Company which could give rise to, or impact on, remuneration payments or payments for loss of office:

• to provide pay (inclusive of Directors’ fees), contributions to a defined contribution pension arrangement (or a cash supplement
in lieu) and benefits (whether in cash or kind) as specified in the contract, and to reimburse expenses incurred by the Director
in performing their duties;

• to give the Director eligibility to participate in discretionary short- and long-term incentive plans;

• to provide 25 working days’ (plus bank/public holidays) paid holiday per annum, or pay in lieu of any accrued but untaken
holiday on termination of employment;

• to provide sick pay as specified in the contract;

• subject to the termination, garden/special leave and suspension provisions of the contract, to provide continued employment
in the role to which the individual has been appointed; and

• to terminate the contact only on the expiry of 12 months’ written notice (save in the event of a repudiatory breach of contract
or in certain other very limited circumstances), or to make a payment in lieu of notice equal to the value of the base salary,
pension contributions and benefits in kind that would have been payable for the period of contractual notice (subject to
exercising the Company’s discretion to make phased payments). The treatment of short- and long-term incentives on
termination is dealt with in the next section of this policy report.

There are no relevant contractual provisions imposing an obligation on the Company which could give rise to or impact on
remuneration payments or payments for loss of office specific to an individual Director. It is not currently intended that future service
contracts for Executive Directors would contain terms differing materially from those summarised above and in the policy table.

In addition to the contractual rights to a payment on loss of office, any employee including Executive Directors will have statutory
and/or common law rights to certain additional payments, for example in a redundancy or retrenchment situation.

The Non-executive Directors have each entered into a letter of appointment with the Company and Services Agreements have
been entered into with the respective employers of three Non-executive Directors. These do not require any period of notice of
termination, regardless of the circumstances, and have no provisions for compensation on termination.

The Executive Directors’ service contracts and the Non-executive Directors’ letters of appointment are available for inspection
at the Company’s registered office.

Policy on payment for loss of office
The Company’s policy on the setting of notice periods for Executive Directors is driven by the need to protect shareholders’
interests. The service contracts of the current Executive Directors are terminable on the expiry of:

• six months’ notice from the Director – this means that, where no in-house successor has been identified, the Company would
have time to replace the Executive Director through an orderly external recruitment process, and ideally have a period of
handover; or

• twelve months’ notice from the Company – this makes the individual a less attractive candidate for a prospective employer,
given the time that will elapse before they could be sure of taking up their new employment, and also provides the Company
with the ability to place a Director joining a competing employer on a lengthy period of garden/special leave so that the
information they possess becomes out of date.

The principles on which the determination for payments on termination will be approached are as follows:

Calculation of each component of payment – save in circumstances where the Company is entitled to terminate employment
summarily, the Executive Directors’ service contracts legally oblige the Company to either continue to pay salary and pension
allowance and maintain all contractual benefits for any unworked period of notice or, at the option of the Company, to make a
payment in lieu of such notice comprising base salary that would otherwise have been paid.

The service contracts do not oblige us to pay short-term incentives for that proportion of the bonus year worked by the Director,
but it is our custom and practice and a requirement of the plan rules to do so, based on an assessment of personal and corporate
performance to the date of exit, and time apportionment. As policy, the Committee will not pay bonus for any unworked period of
notice, even though this is permitted in the plan rules.

In circumstances where the role fulfilled by the Executive Director is declared redundant or retrenched, then the individual may
have a legal right to either statutory redundancy pay, or to a payment under the Company’s normal severance arrangements
applicable to employees generally.

www.lonmin.com
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Except in cases of death-in-service, the Committee’s policy is not to vest any long-term incentive awards for leavers earlier than
their normal vesting date. Where leaver entitlements require an assessment of performance conditions, this will be at the end of
the performance period in the usual way, and time-apportionment then applied.

In our experience, Directors can leave employment for a wide range of reasons which do not fall within the prescribed category of
‘good leaver’, encompassing a vast range of individual situations. The Committee must retain discretion to approve payments to
individuals falling into this ‘middle ground’ to create sufficient differentiation, taking the Director’s performance in office and their
circumstances of their exit into account. In doing so, the Committee will recognise and balance the interests of shareholders and
the departing Executive Director, as well as the interests of the remaining and departing Directors. Where awards which are
permitted to vest are subject to performance conditions, these would only be assessed at the end of the relevant period(s) and
any resulting reward then subject to time-apportionment.

Plan

The Balanced Scorecard
Bonus Plan (“BSC”)

Annual Share Award Plan

Long-Term Incentive Plan

“Good” leaver (being broadly redundancy or retrenchment,
retirement, injury, ill-health or disability, death, the sale of
the Company or that part of the business in which the
Director was employed)

The Committee’s policy is that, as provided for in
the rules of the BSC, the bonus will be calculated
after the usual year end audit and assurance
processes and time-apportioned for the
proportion of the financial year worked, although
the Committee has the discretion to determine
the bonus amount as of the date of leaving, taking
into account such additional factors to the above
as it considers appropriate.

An award is not forfeit. Our current policy is to
allow the award to be exercised within six months
of the vesting date (being the third anniversary
of the date of grant).

Awards vest at the time and to the extent
determined by the Committee after taking into
account the extent to which applicable
performance conditions have been met and
time apportionment.

“Other” leaver scenarios

No right to a bonus under the BSC but the
Committee has discretion to treat other leavers
in the same manner as “good leavers”. This
discretion will not be exercised in the case of
summary dismissal.

The Committee may determine that an award
will not be forfeit in which case our current policy
is to allow the award to be exercised within
six months of the vesting date (being the third
anniversary of the date of grant.

In the case of summary dismissal awards will lapse.

Awards lapse unless the Committee exercises
its discretion to preserve and vest the award on
any terms it thinks fit.

In the case of summary dismissal awards will lapse.

Other policy provisions in relation to Directors’ pay (continued)
Policy on payment for loss of office (continued)
In cases of poor performance, contractual termination payments may generate undue and potentially excessive reward. In such
circumstances, the Committee would consider terminating employment other than on the terms of the contract and then seeking
to apply mitigation when calculating the damages payable. However, an action of this nature would need to be considered carefully
in its broader context, particularly given the effect such a precedent could have on the morale of other executives, and the loss to
the Company of the benefit of the restrictive covenants contained in the service contract.

The Company also has the discretion in the service contracts to determine, in accordance with prevailing best practice, that a
payment in lieu of notice should be phased in monthly or quarterly instalments over a period of no longer than 12 months and that
any payment should be reduced in accordance with the duty on the part of the executive to mitigate his loss.

The Company’s various incentive plans are governed by formal rules, all of which have been approved by shareholders. Directors
have no contractual rights to the value inherent in any awards held under these plans, whose rules make provision for vesting in
different leaver scenarios and the table below illustrates how entitlements under these plans will be managed on termination:
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Other policy provisions in relation to Directors’ pay (continued)
Policy on payment for loss of office (continued)
If employment is terminated by the Company the departing Executive Director may have a legal entitlement (under statute or
otherwise) to additional amounts, which would need to be met. In addition, the Committee retains discretion to settle any other
amounts reasonably due to the executive, for example to meet the legal fees incurred by the executive in connection with the
termination of employment, where the Company wishes to enter into a settlement agreement (as provided for below) and the
individual must seek independent legal advice. If the Executive Director has relocated to perform their duties, the Committee has
discretion to meet the reasonable costs associated with returning that individual (and where relevant their family) back to their
country of origin and winding up their affairs in the country in which they worked for Lonmin, including meeting the incidental costs
incurred in so doing.

In certain circumstances, the Committee may approve new contractual arrangements with departing executives, potentially
including (but not limited to) settlement, confidentiality, restrictive covenants and/or consultancy arrangements. These will be used
sparingly and only entered into where the Committee believes that it is in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders
to do so.

No Executive Director is employed on a service contract entered into prior to 27 June 2012.

Directors’ Remuneration Report
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Remuneration in the Year to 30 September 2013
This section of the Directors’ Remuneration Report sets out the Company’s remuneration of its Executive and Non-executive Directors
during the financial year ended 30 September 2013 (“FY2013”), and will, together with the annual statement by the Committee
Chairman, be proposed for an advisory vote by shareholders at the AGM on 30 January 2014. It has been prepared on the basis
prescribed in The Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) (Amendment) Regulations 2013
(the “Regulations”) and also includes the items required to be disclosed under Listing Rule 9.8.8(2)R. Where required, data has
been audited by KPMG Audit plc and this is indicated appropriately.

Context
Consideration of Directors’ remuneration
The Remuneration Committee (the “Committee”) is a Committee of the Board with delegated powers set out in its terms of
reference, available on the Company’s website. These are reviewed periodically and updated where necessary. The Committee’s
main responsibilities are to:

• determine and agree with the Board the Company’s executive remuneration strategy and policy;

• determine individual remuneration packages and terms of employment within that policy for the Executive Directors, members
of the Executive Committee and twelve other senior executives (collectively known as the Purview Group);

• oversee the operation of the Company’s incentive schemes, including designing and setting performance measures and targets
for annual bonus and long-term incentive schemes;

• consider major changes in employee remuneration in the Group;

• select and appoint consultants to advise the Committee;

• report to shareholders through annual reports; and

• make recommendations to the Board on the fees offered to the Non-executive Directors, after taking independent
professional advice;

all of which it carries out on behalf of the Board.

The Committee comprised three independent Non-executive Directors during the year and to the date of this report, Jim Sutcliffe
(Chairman), Jonathan Leslie and Karen de Segundo.

Mr Sutcliffe has considerable experience of designing and implementing strategically-aligned remuneration systems, having been
chief executive of several businesses, including a FTSE100 company. Dr de Segundo has extensive executive experience in natural
resources having been CEO of Shell’s global gas and power business, and spent five years leading Shell’s renewable energy
business. Mr Leslie combines his knowledge and outlook as chairman of the Safety & Sustainability Committee with the expertise
gained as a director of Rio Tinto and as CEO of Sappi (based in South Africa) and Extract Resources. The Board feels that this
collective experience enables the Committee to offer a balanced, informed and independent view on remuneration.



Context (continued)
Consideration of Directors’ remuneration (continued)
The Committee met seven times during FY2013. In addition to the four scheduled meetings, there was a ‘Blue Sky’ session in
June 2013 to discuss possible revisions to the Company’s Directors’ remuneration policy, and two further meetings to address
urgent matters. As well as routine monitoring activities, the material issues set out below were among the items discussed:
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Meeting Fixed pay matters BSC-related matters Other incentive matters
Governance, risk and
other matters

November 2012 • Consideration of
annual TCTC (SA)
or base salary (UK)
reviews for Purview
Group members 

• Approval of increases
for the Purview Group,
excluding the
Executive Directors

• Review auditors’
opinion on the BSC
Plan outcomes for
FY2012

• Approval of FY2012
BSC Plan outcomes,
including discretion
applied to Ian Farmer
and Simon Scott’s
bonuses

• Approval of ASAP
awards of equal value
to FY2012 bonus

• Adjustment of existing
share-settled incentives
for the effect of the
rights issue

• Approval of FY2012
remuneration report

December 2012

January 2013

March 2013 • Review of pay for
Cat 4-9 manual
workers at Lonmin
and other major SA
PGM producers

• Review of shareholder
feedback on FY2013
BSC and ratification
of design

• Discussion of nature
of personal objectives
for Executive Directors
and Exco members

• Review of recent and
forthcoming vesting
events

• Review of LTIP
performance
condition calculation
methodology

• Review of succession
planning status

• Review of voting on
remuneration matters
at the 2013 AGM and
views expressed by
shareholders

• Review of changes to
the UK statutory regime
for Directors’ pay and
approve response to
consultation paper

• Review of recent UK
investor policy
statements

June 2013 (Blue Sky) • Review grading of
each role on the
management payroll
to ensure that fixed
remuneration was fair 

• Consideration of the
views of employees
and shareholders on
the BSC bonus plan,
and agreement that
this worked well

• Consider excluding
employees below
Purview Group level
from future grants,
and transferring the
fair value to other
elements of pay

• Discussion of LTIP
performance condition
design and the value
of RTSR as an
incentive metric

• Agreement that
Stillwater should
be replaced by
Royal Bafokeng
Platinum in the LTIP
comparator group

• Discussed the
simplification of
long-term incentives

• Discussion of use of
shareholdings as a
motivation and risk
mitigation tool

• Agreement to use the
need to document
Directors’ remuneration
policy as a means to
drive change

• Agreement to review
advisory appointment

• This was a one-off meeting to decide on the treatment of Ian Farmer’s pay and benefits during his
long-term health-related absence

• This was a one-off meeting to reflect on shareholders’ views expressed ahead of the 2013 AGM, which
resulted in agreement to share-settle Simon Scott’s Special Award. The same meeting also considered
and approved the design of the 2013 BSC and requested that major institutional shareholders be
consulted on its design
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Context (continued)
Consideration of Directors’ remuneration (continued)

Meeting Fixed pay matters BSC-related matters Other incentive matters
Governance, risk and
other matters

July 2013 • Reviewed NED fees
and market context
and recommended
to the Board that no
change was necessary

• Reviewed Simon
Scott’s remuneration
as he relinquished
the Acting CEO role

• Decision to allow Ben
Magara to retain the
benefit of his external
NED fee, but not to
permit any further
appointments

• Approval of TCTC
packages for new
members of the Exco

• Agreed to involve
the Transformation
Committee Chairman
in assessing relevant
FY2013 BSC metrics

• Established FY2013
bonus arrangements
for Ben Magara

• Discussed how
transformation needs
could be addressed in
FY2014 BSC design

• Approved assessment
of LTIP performance
condition for 2010
share-settled awards
and vesting outcomes

• Approval of 2013
share-settled awards
to all management
levels

• Review of how
recruitment and
selection policies
supported succession
and transformation
goals

• Review of personal
shareholdings of
Directors and Purview
Group members and
adherence to policy

• Reviewed first draft
of policy report

• Reviewed UK market
trends and
shareholders’ views
on remuneration

• Appointment of new
remuneration advisors

September 2013 • Noted vesting
outcomes of 2010
share-settled awards

• Reviewed draft
remuneration strategy
and requested certain
changes be made to
this. Agreed to postpone
final approval until the
CEO’s strategic review
was complete

• Shareholder
consultation on
Directors’ remuneration
policy requested

The attendance record of the Committee members are set out in the table on page 48.

The Committee Chairman presents a summary of material matters to the Board and minutes of Committee meetings are circulated
to all Directors. The Committee reports to shareholders annually in this report and the Committee Chairman attends the AGM to
address any questions arising.

Meetings of the Committee commence with the members holding a private session. In FY2013 meetings were attended by the
CEO (or Acting CEO), the EVP – External Affairs & Human Capital (or, more recently the EVP – Human Resources), the Company
Secretary (who acts as secretary to the Committee) and the Assistant Company Secretary, none of whom do so as of right and
who do not attend when their own remuneration is being discussed, all of whom provide material assistance to the Committee.
The meetings in November 2012 and July 2013 were also attended by representatives of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, and in
December 2012 by a partner of Herbert Smith Freehills LLP. After each meeting, the Committee meets with the CEO on his own,
and then in private session again.

When considering the appointment of Ben Magara as a Director and CEO of the Company, the Committee consulted the
Chairman of the Board, Roger Phillimore, in relation to remuneration issues.
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Advisor

PricewaterhouseCoopers
LLP (London office)

The Hay Group
Management Limited
(London office)
(from 1 August 2013)

PricewaterhouseCoopers
(Johannesburg office)
(from 1 August 2013)

Herbert Smith Freehills
LLP

KPMG Audit Plc

By whom appointed and how,
and whether on behalf of the
Committee

Appointed by Roger
Phillimore, as Chairman
of the Committee
following PwC’s
acquisition of the
former advisor,
Monks Partnership

Appointed by Jim
Sutcliffe as Chairman of
the Committee following
a competitive tender
process

Appointed by Jim
Sutcliffe as Chairman of
the Committee following
a competitive tender
process

Appointed by Rob
Bellhouse, Company
Secretary for the
Company

Appointed by Rob
Bellhouse, Company
Secretary for the
Committee due

Services provided
to the Committee

General advice on
remuneration matters
Benchmarking
Advice on market
practice and shareholder
perspectives (above
services to 31 July 2013)
Independent measurement
of performance
conditions (ongoing)

General advice on
remuneration matters
Advice on UK market
practice and UK
shareholder perspectives

General advice on
remuneration matters
Advice on SA market
practice and SA
shareholder perspectives

Advice on law and
regulation in relation to
employment and share
scheme matters is
provided to the Company
and is available to the
Committee

Assurance in the form
of limited, specific
checking procedures on
the results of the BSC

Fees paid by the Company
for these services in FY2013,
and basis of charge

£40,833

Charged on a fixed fee
basis

£6,000

Charged on a time/cost
basis

No work was
commissioned by the
Committee in FY2013

Legal fees relate to
advice provided to the
Company and not the
Committee, and are
charged on a time/cost
basis

The cost of this
assurance is included in
the global audit fee

Other services provided
to the Company in FY2013

IFRS2 valuations of share
schemes
Advice in relation to
international PAYE and
other taxation issues

Support to management
in devising a revised
remuneration strategy

Specialist support to the
internal audit function
(see the Directors’ Report)

General UK and EU legal
advice

External auditor and
certain other services
(see the Directors’ Report)

Context (continued)
Advisors to the Committee
During the year, the Committee was materially assisted in its work by the following external consultants:

The Committee has not expressly considered whether the advice received from these professional firms was objective and
independent, but reflects on the quality of the advice and whether this properly addresses the issue under consideration as part of
its normal deliberations. However, the Committee is confident that none of these cross-relationships generates an unmanageable
conflict of interest and that the sums payable in respect of each service do not compromise the objectivity and impartiality of
the others.
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Context (continued)
Relative importance of spend on pay
To assist in understanding the relative importance of the Directors’ remuneration in the context of the Group’s finances more
generally, the Directors who sit on the Committee wish to highlight the following figures:

                                                                                                                                                                                        Year ended           Year ended                            
                                                                                                                                                                                   30 September      30 September                            
                                                                                                                                                                                                   2013                     2012             Difference
Item                                                                                                                                                                                             ($m)                      ($m)                      ($m)

Remuneration of Group employees of which:                                                                                 716                734                 (18)
Remuneration of Executive Directors                                                                                               4                    2                    2
Remuneration of Non-executive Directors                                                                                       2                    1                    1

Distributions to shareholders – 31 (31)

Other significant distributions of profit or cash-flow:
Capital expenditure 159 408 (249)

The apparent year-on-year reduction in the remuneration costs of the Group employees results from foreign exchange translation
effects. The Group employed additional people, and paid materially higher wages to its employees in FY2013 than in the prior year,
but these are paid almost entirely in South African Rands.

Capital expenditure is chosen in the table as the Directors have a choice of whether to distribute profits and cash-flows by way of
dividend, or reinvest these in the asset base to maintain or improve the operational health of the Company. As with any mining
business, a minimum level of ‘sustaining’ capital expenditure is essential to preserve its value and may on occasion preclude the
payment of dividends. All of these amounts are presented as shown in the Company’s audited financial statements.

Performance and pay
The chart below shows how an investment in the Company’s shares on 1 October 2008 has changed in value over the five
financial years ended on 30 September 2013. The Company’s shares are listed and traded in the UK and South Africa, in almost
equal proportions. For comparative purposes we also show how investments in the shares of companies comprising the FTSE UK
Mining Index and the JSE Platinum Index have changed in value over the same period. These indices were chosen by the Committee
as comparators as they comprise companies listed on the same markets as, and engaged in similar business activities to, the
Company and, in the case of the JSE Platinum Index, producing the same commodities in the same geographical location.

Footnotes:
1. In accordance with the Regulations, the chart assumes that dividends and other distributions were reinvested on the date that these became receivable, and that

any liabilities (for example, funding the subscription price for a rights issue) were met through a ‘tail swallow’ at the point immediately before that liability fell due.
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Context (continued)
Performance and pay (continued)
The pay of the CEO for each of those financial years is set out below for comparative purposes:

Year                                                                                                                               FY2009                FY2010                FY2011                FY2012                FY2013

CEO ‘single figure’ of total remuneration (£) (see below)

Ian Farmer 1                                                                               1,601,502      1,834,335      1,517,387         855,805                 n/a
Simon Scott 2                                                                                       n/a                 n/a                 n/a           63,847         995,729
Ben Magara 3 n/a n/a n/a n/a 703,167

Total 4 1,601,502 1,834,335 1,517,387 919,652 1,698,896

Annual bonus paid against maximum opportunity (%)

Ian Farmer                                                                                         55%              66%              39%                0%                 n/a
Simon Scott                                                                                         n/a                 n/a                 n/a               37%              77%
Ben Magara 3 n/a n/a n/a n/a 72%

Long-term incentive vesting against maximum opportunity (%)

Ian Farmer                                                                                         33%                0%                8%                0%                 n/a
Simon Scott 5                                                                                       n/a                 n/a                 n/a                 n/a                 0%
Ben Magara 6 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Footnotes:
1. Historic data for Ian Farmer is taken from the remuneration reports for the relevant years, but recast on the basis for the ‘single figure’ prescribed in the

Regulations. His FY2012 CEO remuneration is for a period of 11 months, after which he ceased to act in that capacity as a result of serious ill-health.

2. Historic data for Simon Scott is taken from the remuneration reports for the relevant years, but recast on the basis for the ‘single figure’ prescribed in the
Regulations as far as practicable. FY2012 relates to 1 month serving as Acting CEO, and FY2013 relates to 9 months serving in that capacity.

3. Ben Magara served as CEO for the 3 months commencing 1 July 2013.

4. For ease of comparison, an aggregate of pay to the Director undertaking the role of the CEO in each year is included.

5. Simon Scott joined the Company and Board in September 2010. As our long-term incentives have three-year vesting periods, only one tranche of awards
reached their vesting date during the period covered by the table. Although Mr Scott had ceased to serve as Acting CEO prior to that date, the outcome
is included for completeness.

6. Ben Magara joined the Company and Board in July 2013 and no long-term incentive awards have reached their vesting dates.

Directors’ remuneration in FY2013
Single total figures for Directors’ remuneration
Executive Directors

                                                                                 Ian Farmer 1                             Ben Magara 2                            Simon Scott 3                                  Total
                                                                           
                                         Calculation
                                                note(s)             FY2012             FY2013             FY2012             FY2013             FY2012             FY2013             FY2012             FY2013

Fixed pay
Salary & fees                                579,000      144,750              n/a      112,500      339,009      416,738      918,009      673,988
Taxable benefits                   4      155,480        39,095              n/a          6,673        20,597        21,643      176,077        67,411
Pension-related benefits       5      199,125        43,425              n/a        22,500        65,168        83,346      264,293      149,271

Sub-total                                     933,605      227,270                  –      141,673      424,774      521,727   1,358,379      890,670

Performance-related pay
Money/assets received or receivable for the year

Short-term incentives       6                  –                  –              n/a      201,496      260,622      805,912      260,622   1,007,408
Other incentives               7                  –                  –              n/a      359,998                  –                  –                  –      359,998

Long-term incentives           8                  –                  –              n/a                  –                  –                  –                  –                  –

Sub-total                                                –                  –                  –      561,494      260,622      805,912      260,622   1,367,406

Total                                            933,605      227,270                  –      703,167      685,396   1,327,639   1,619,001   2,258,076

This table and the associated footnotes have been subject to audit by KPMG Audit Plc.
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Directors’ remuneration in FY2013 (continued)
Executive Directors (continued)

Footnotes:
1 To 31 December 2012, the date of his resignation from the Board.

2 From 1 July 2013.

3 Paid as Acting CEO to 31 August 2013 and reverted to CFO salary from 1 September 2013 after completion of a handover period.

4 ‘Taxable benefits’ is the gross value of all benefits, whether provided in cash or kind, that are (or would if provided in the UK, have been) chargeable to UK
income tax. These comprise the cash-settled car allowance, private medical insurance, income protection insurance, life assurance, advice and support
in relation to cross-border tax and exchange control obligations and access to independent professional advice. Mr Farmer also received relocation and
expatriate worker assistance in relation to his secondment to South Africa, comprising housing allowance, home leave/family visits and local private
medical insurance. The only component of taxable benefits with a significant cost was Mr Farmer’s relocation costs, which amounted to £32,021 in the
three months he served as a Director (FY2012 full year: £127,863). Please see the discussion on compensation for loss of office in relation to payments
made and benefits provided to Mr Farmer following his ceasing to act as a Director.

5 ‘Pension’ is shown as the amounts paid by the employer to defined contribution plans or salary supplement provided in lieu of such contributions.

6 Bonus is stated for the financial year in respect of which it is earned. Please see the section titled ‘BSC Bonus Plan’ below for details of the calculation of
cash-settled bonus payments. The value in the table for Short-term incentives includes the face value of ASAP awards that will be made to the Director later
in the year. The operation of this share plan is discussed fully in the section titled ‘Directors’ shareholdings and share interests’ on page 95 for further details.

7 Mr Magara joined the Company on 1 July 2013 and received a Recruitment Award, full details of which can be found on page 78. This is included in the
table at the face value of the award, as shown in the scheme interests table on page 96. Despite being a multi-year award vesting in three annual
tranches, it falls within a definition contained in the Regulations and must be presented as ‘current year’ earnings.

8 Please see the section titled ‘Directors’ shareholdings and scheme interests’ on page 97 for further details. Mr Scott joined the Company in September
2010 and awards which were made to him on joining reached their vesting date during FY2013, but as the performance conditions were not met, the
award did not vest.

To help readers gain a fuller understanding of each element of pay for the Executive Directors:

Base salary – Ian Farmer has been paid a base salary of £579,000 per annum as CEO since 1 October 2011. No increase was
awarded on 1 October 2012 due to his absence from the business. Simon Scott has been paid a base salary of £325,850 per annum
as CFO since 1 October 2011, though this was increased to £425,000 per annum when he took up the role of Acting CEO. No
increase was provided on 1 October 2012 in response to President Zuma’s call for restraint in executive pay. Mr Scott reverted
to his CFO salary on 1 September 2013 at the end of a two month handover period. Ben Magara commenced employment on
1 July 2013 on a base salary of £450,000 per annum.

Increases were provided to both Ben Magara and Simon Scott, effective 1 October 2013 of 2.7%, in line with UK CPI, taking their
base salaries to £462,150 per annum and £334,650 per annum respectively.
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Directors’ remuneration in FY2013 (continued)
Executive Directors (continued)
Short-term incentives – settled in cash: the BSC Bonus Plan – the context for the year under review is set out in the Committee
Chairman’s letter on page 70. The key focus areas for FY2013 were a safe and peaceful return to work, returning to full levels of
production such that we fulfilled the promises made in the Lonmin Renewal Plan, and beginning to establish new ways of working
for our 28,000 employees. The BSC was therefore designed to ensure the Company focused on delivering these strategic
objectives, which in their operational guise largely reflect the corporate Key Performance Indicators shown on pages 24 to 26. The
personal objectives for Simon Scott, the only Executive Director who served throughout FY2013, were set with these corporate
imperatives in mind. The operational results for the year and resulting bonus payment were calculated as follows:

                                                                                                                                                                                                                     % of bonus  Actual payment
                                                                                                                                                                                                                opportunity on         for the year
                                                                                                                                                                  Target                     Actual    offer for target        (% of bonus
Strategic element                                                         Metric                                                       performance          performance       performance        opportunity)

Safety: improvement in lost time injury        Percentage improvement                      5%                 16%               15.0                 5.6
frequency rate (LTIFR), with factor              on FY2012 LTIFR with            improvement    improvement
applied for fatalities                                     multiplier (0 = 2x, 1= 1x,                 in LTIFR            to 3.50,
                                                                  2 = 0.5x, 3 = 0.25x,                        to 3.95          but three
                                                                  4 or more = 0x, and                                               fatalities
                                                                  no payment)

Transformation: HDSAs in senior                Percentage of HDSA candidates         36%                 32%                 7.5                 0.0
management roles (Grades D Upper          in post at 30 September 2013
and above)

Transformation: progress in addressing      Subjective assessment of            Progress    Planning well                 7.5                 3.8
housing and living conditions                      progress with the initiatives          achieved,        advanced,
                                                                  announced at the 2013 AGM     with some     engagement
                                                                                                                        tangible   under way but
                                                                                                                    outcomes      not enough
                                                                                                                                                tangible
                                                                                                                                             outcomes

Operational: Platinum production 1             Troy ounces of finished                  685,000           709,000               15.0               29.7
                                                                  metal produced

Operational: available ore reserves             Square metres of UG2 ore          2,158,444        2,424,036                 5.0                 7.5
                                                                  reserves available for mining 2

Operational: instantaneous recovery rate    Percentage of contained                  82.4%              85.0%                 5.0                 7.5
                                                                  metals recovered (%)

Financial: Unit Costs per PGM ounce         Cost (in rand terms) per PGM         R8,932             R8,832               15.0               16.8
                                                                  ounce produced (6E basis)

Financial: net cash at year end                   Net cash balance (in US Dollars)      $145m             $201m               10.0               15.0
                                                                  on 30 September 2013

Sub-total: Corporate KPIs                                                                                                                                80.0               85.8

Personal                                                     3-4 stretching personal goals                                                            20.0               25.73

Total                                                                                                                                                                 100.0             111.5

Footnotes:
1. We incentivise production rather than sales to eliminate the impact that would otherwise result from stocks of finished metals held at year ends.

2. Subject to an underpin in respect of the maintenance of Merensky ore reserves ready for mining.

3. For ease of presentation this is the average of Ben Magara (21.5%) and Simon Scott (30.0%).

As Ben Magara only joined the Company on 1 July 2013 and was encouraged by the Board to focus on assessing the key
challenges facing the business and developing his strategic response during his first three months in office, the Remuneration
Committee determined that the whole of his bonus opportunity should be based on the corporate elements of the BSC (ie. with his
personal elements being deemed to be achieved at the same level as the corporate performance), on a time-apportioned basis.

Ian Farmer did not participate in any bonus plan for FY2013.
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Directors’ remuneration in FY2013 (continued)
Executive Directors (continued)
The bonus paid to Simon Scott for FY2013 of £402,956 equates to 116% of the target opportunity for the year, and 77% of the
maximum that could have been earned. The bonus paid to Ben Magara of £100,748 equates to 107% and 72% respectively.

Ben Magara and Simon Scott have chosen to invest 25% of their FY2013 bonus in Lonmin shares. The Committee believes that
this helps improve their alignment with shareholders.

Short-term incentives – settled in shares: the ASAP – awards will be made under the ASAP in early December 2013 with a
face value equal to the bonus earned for FY2013. The economic effect of this is equivalent to the deferral of a cash bonus into
shares. The eventual value of the awards will therefore be linked to the Company’s share price to the date on which the option is
exercised. The vesting of ASAP awards is subject to continued service. For further details of the ASAP, please refer to the policy
table on page 76 and the section headed ‘Directors’ shareholdings and scheme interests’ on page 97.

Long-term incentives – the LTIP
Performance conditions for long-term incentive awards
The vesting of LTIP awards made to the Executive Directors is subject to performance conditions, and the Committee ensures
that these are fully aligned with the corporate strategy. Relative TSR has always been used by Lonmin as a performance condition,
ensuring that executive remuneration reflects actual returns delivered to shareholders. The relative nature of this test creates an
objective metric of long-term value delivery to shareholders which is largely independent of the short-term variability introduced
into reported results by volatile metal prices and exchange rates (particularly between the South African Rand and the US Dollar).

Following meetings with key institutional shareholders in 2010, the Committee decided to introduce a performance condition
recognising, at a low level, the sustained hard work required in difficult times before the result is recognised in the share price. After
exploring a number of options, and further shareholder consultation, the Committee concluded that the corporate elements of the
BSC were well suited to this purpose, and adopted a performance condition based on both the corporate elements of the BSC
and RTSR, in each case measured over three-year periods, and emphasising RTSR. This approach has been used since 2010.

The matrix below illustrates the vesting outcomes (as a percentage of the face value of the award, with full interpolation between
the points shown) for the LTIP awards made since 2010:

% of face value vesting RTSR result Factor Average BSC performance over three years

BSC result <Threshold Threshold Target Stretch (Max)

Factor 0.0x 0.5x 1.0x 1.5x

RTSR performance <Median – 5% pa 0.0x 0% 0% 0% 0%

Median – 5% pa 0.5x 0% 8.33% 16.66% 25%

Median 1.0x 0% 16.66% 33.33% 50%

Median + 5% pa 1.5x 0% 25% 50% 75%

Median ≥ + 10% pa 2.0x 0% 33.33% 66.66% 100%

Factors are multiplied and, as maximum is (2.0 x 1.5) = 3, the result is then divided by 3

The matrix shows that the outcome emphasises RTSR– even with every BSC item delivering at “stretch” over three consecutive
years, if this resulted in median RTSR then only 50% of the award would vest. RTSR is assessed independently using data
normalised into US Dollars, sourced from Datastream or other independent providers.

The Committee regularly reviews the RTSR comparator group to ensure that it remains relevant and therefore properly reflects the
returns delivered to shareholders. For awards made from August 2010 onwards, we compare ourselves to a group of five listed
primary PGM producers, four of whom also operate principally in South Africa:

• Aquarius Platinum

• Anglo American Platinum

• Impala Platinum

• Northam Platinum

• Stillwater Mining

Given this small peer group, a ranking approach could lead to perverse outcomes were the results to be tightly clustered, with very
small differences in RTSR potentially leading to large differences in rank. Therefore Lonmin’s TSR performance is compared to the
median of the group to calculate relative performance, expressed as a % per annum differential.

We believe that Stillwater is no longer a directly comparable business. It mines PGMs in the USA, so operates in a different socio-
economic environment, is a palladium-dominated business and has also recently acquired base metal assets. Royal Bafokeng
Platinum, a South African platinum producer, is now listed on the JSE and we have substituted this company for Stillwater in the
comparator group for awards made after 1 July 2013.
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Directors’ remuneration in FY2013 (continued)
Performance conditions for long-term incentive awards (continued)
During FY2013, awards held by both Ian Farmer and Simon Scott reached their normal maturity date, being the third anniversary
of the date of grant. Full details of these awards are set out below, in the scheme interests table on page 96. The BSC factor
across the three financial years FY2010 to FY2012 amounted to 73.3%, but the TSR was 10.0% per annum below median. As
performance fell short of the levels required for minimum vesting, no shares or cash were transferred to the Director concerned.
No discretion was applied by the Committee.

Other earnings of Executive Directors – Ben Magara serves as a non-executive director of Foskor. The Committee has resolved
that he should be allowed to retain the benefits of the annual fee payable for this appointment which amounted to R44,400 during
his service as a Director of the Company. No other remunerated external appointment is held by either Executive Director.

Non-executive Directors
Our Non-executive Directors are paid at levels we believe to be market median for a London-listed company of equivalent size and
complexity, while reflecting the international travel commitment expected. The basis of the fees is stated in the policy table on page 80,
but is essentially a base fee plus additional fees for Committee service or Chairmanship.

                                                                                                                            Audit                                  Remun-          Safety &             Trans-              Other
                                                                   Directorship              Other             & Risk     Nomination            eration    Sustainability        formation         qualifying          Total for           Total for
                                              Calculation                  fee       office held      Committee      Committee      Committee      Committee      Committee          services           FY2013           FY2012
Director                                         note(s)                     £                     £                     £                     £                     £                     £                     £                     £                     £                     £

Roger Phillimore                   1       50,000     200,000                –       12,500                –                –                –                –     262,500     262,500
Len Konar                                      50,000                –       17,500         7,500                –                –       10,833                –       85,833       82,500
Jonathan Leslie                             50,000                –                –         7,500       10,000       12,500                –                –       80,000       80,000
David Munro                                  50,000                –                –         7,500                –         7,500         7,500                –       72,500       72,500
Cyril Ramaphosa                 2       16,667                –                –                –                –                –         4,167                –       20,834       62,500
Mahomed Seedat                3       50,000                –                –                –                –         7,500         7,500     232,256     297,256     134,070
Karen de Segundo                       50,000                –       10,000         7,500       10,000         7,500                –                –       85,000       85,000
Jim Sutcliffe                          1       50,000       15,000       10,000         7,500       17,500                –         7,500                –     107,500     102,730

                                                     366,667     215,000       37,500       50,000       37,500       35,000       37,500     232,256   1,011,423     881,800

This table and the associated footnotes have been subject to audit by KPMG Audit Plc.

Footnotes:
1 Roger Phillimore receives an additional fee for serving as Chairman, and Jim Sutcliffe receives an additional fee for serving as Senior Independent Director.

2 To 31 January 2013, the date of his retirement as a Director.

3 Mr Seedat provides ad hoc consultancy services to the Company under a separate consultancy agreement. His payments in Rand pursuant to this
agreement have been converted into pounds using the average ZAR:GBP exchange rate for FY2013 of £1 = R14.4238 (FY2012: R12.6827). Following
the Events at Marikana, Mr Seedat agreed to re-join the Executive Committee and increase very materially the number of days per month he committed
to the Company. His daily rate was increased to reflect the value of the services being provided to R25,000 per day, which the Committee was advised
was in line with market norms. Mr Seedat reverted to his originally contracted number of days per month and previous daily rate of R11,700 per day from
1 October 2013.

The basis of the fees payable to Non-executive Directors is set out in the policy report on page 80. Phuti Mahanyele, Gary Nagle
and Paul Smith were nominated as Directors by their employing companies, who hold shares in the Company or material
subsidiaries. In light of this relationship, no fees are payable to the individual but their respective employer invoices the Company
for an amount equal to the fee that would otherwise have been earned for their service as a Director, including any membership
of Board Committees, on a time apportioned basis as appropriate. No part of this benefit passes to the individual concerned.
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Directors’ remuneration in FY2013 (continued)
Percentage change in the CEO’s remuneration
The comparison of CEO remuneration required by the Regulations is made complex by Ian Farmer’s unfortunate health-related
absence in FY2012, Simon Scott’s tenure as Acting CEO and the appointment of Ben Magara on 1 July 2013. For the purposes
of the table below, the remuneration of the person fulfilling the role of CEO in FY2012 relates to Ian Farmer (to 31 August 2012)
and Simon Scott (for the month of September 2012, at the Acting CEO level of remuneration) and for FY2013 relates to a
combination of Simon Scott as Acting CEO (to 30 June 2013) and Ben Magara (from 1 July to 30 September 2013).

                                                                                                                                                                                                                  Year-on-Year       Year-on-Year
                                                                                                                                                                                                                          change:    change: group
                                                                                                                                                                                                                               CEO          employees
Item                                                                                                                                                                                                                          (%)                       (%)

Base salary                                                                                                                                                     -23.8%           15.8%
Taxable benefits                                                                                                                                              -84.1%           13.6%
Short-term incentives                                                                                                                                   3610.8%           12.8%

The year-on-year comparator change relates to all employees of the Group, as required by the Regulations, and is on a per capita
basis.

The year-on-year change in short-term incentives to the person fulfilling the role of the CEO reflects (1) that the person appointed
as CEO for 11 months of FY2012 received no bonus and (2) that the individuals who acted or served as CEO in FY2013 both
received bonuses. Please see page 92 for an explanation of how FY2013 bonuses were earned.

Directors’ pension entitlements
No Director who served during the year ended 30 September 2013 has any prospective entitlement to a defined benefit pension
or a cash benefit arrangement (as defined in s152, Finance Act 2004). This disclosure has been subject to audit by KPMG Audit plc.

The Company closed its UK defined benefit pension scheme in June 2007, and subsequently wound this up on an orderly basis.
The Company increased the level of life assurance and income continuance insurance provided to employees who had
participated in this scheme, which included Ian Farmer, to reflect (respectively) the loss of the spouse’s and ill-health early
retirement pensions provided by the scheme. The Company therefore provides a contractual life assurance benefit of eight times
salary to Ian Farmer, and of four times salary to Simon Scott and Ben Magara. All of these benefits are fully insured.

The Executive Directors are provided with a pension supplement, which may be taken either as a pension contribution to a defined
contribution plan, or in cash. The Company operates a defined contribution pension scheme for the benefit of its UK employees.
In South Africa the Company and Group participate in an industry wide defined contribution pension plan. In FY2013 Ian Farmer
received a payment equal to 30% of base salary, which he elected to take in cash. Both Simon Scott and Ben Magara have opted
to join the South African defined contribution plan and the Company contributes an amount equal to 20.52% of the 60% of the
base salary paid to Simon Scott for his South African employment, and the 70% of Ben Magara’s pay delivered through our South
African payroll.

No element of any Director’s remuneration other than base salary is pensionable.

Scheme interests awarded in FY2013 and held by Directors
To aid year-on-year comparability and avoid repetition, the table below shows all scheme interests held by the Executive Directors,
including those granted in the year ended 30 September 2013. No awards of this nature were made during the year to, or are held
by, any Non-executive Director.

The only awards structured as share options are those under the ASAP. As noted on page 78, this plan superseded our previous
practice of mandatory investment of half of participants’ after-tax bonus into Lonmin shares, the receipt of which was deferred for
three years. To retain the same economic effect and leave participants no worse off, we chose to utilise a nil-cost option structure,
with the face value of the award equating to the bonus that would otherwise have been paid and deferred.
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Directors’ remuneration in FY2013 (continued)
Scheme interests awarded in FY2013 and held by Directors (continued)

                                                                                                                                                      During year
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               Percentage
                                                                                                       As at                                                                                                                                                                                 of interests
                                                                             Date to        30.09.12                                                                                                       As at                                                                receivable if 
                                                       Perfor-             which          (or later                                  Rights                                                     30.09.13                             Exercise              Face    minimum
                                                       mance           perfor-           date of                                    Issue           Vested                             (or earlier                    period (ASAP)         value of        perfor-
Type of interest               Date of     cond-           mance         appoint-                                 adjust-                and                                 date of                  or vesting date          award3             mance
and basis of award 1          Grant        ition 2    measured             ment)         Granted              ment        released          Lapsed     retirement)                     (other awards)                  (£)     achieved

Executive Directors
Ben Magara 4

LTIP                         10.07.13         (a)     31.05.16                 –      130,302                 –                 –                 –      130,302                      10.07.16     359,998           1%
Recruitment 5           10.07.13         (b)              n/a                 –      130,302                 –                 –                 –      130,302        Dates to 31.05.16     359,998            n/a
LTIP                         27.09.13         (a)     30.06.16                 –      227,502                 –                 –                 –      227,502                      27.09.16     674,998           1%

                                           –                                                 –      488,106                 –                 –                 –      488,106                                  –   1,394,994                 

Simon Scott
LTIP                         29.09.10         (a)     30.06.13        20,434                 –        17,981                 –        38,415                 –                      29.09.13                –           1%
LTIP                         03.08.11         (a)     30.06.14        22,481                 –        19,783                 –                 –        42,264                      03.08.14     327,222           1%
LTIP                         27.09.13         (a)     30.06.16                 –      109,824                 –                 –                 –      109,824                      27.09.16     325,848           1%
ASAP                       12.12.11         (b)              n/a        13,180                 –        11,598                 –                 –        24,778    12.12.14 to 12.12.21     135,026            n/a
ASAP                       15.01.13         (b)              n/a                 –        44,171                 –                 –                 –        44,171    15.01.16 to 15.01.23     130,309            n/a
Special 6                  07.11.12         (c)     30.09.15                 –      254,570                 –                 –                 –      254,570                      07.11.15      814,624       100%

                                           –                                       56,095      408,565        49,362                 –        38,415      475,607                                  –   1,733,029                 

Former Director
Ian Farmer 7

LTIP                         02.08.10         (a)     30.06.13       51,886                 –        45,659                 –        97,545                 –                      02.08.13                –           1%
LTIP                         03.08.11         (a)     30.06.14       58,223                 –        51,236                 –                 –      109,459                      03.08.14     847,468           1%
ASAP                       12.12.11         (b)              n/a        27,628                 –        24,312                 –                 –        51,940    12.12.14 to 12.12.21     283,044            n/a

                                                                                   137,737                 –      121,207                 –        97,545      161,399                                       1,130,512                 

This table and associated footnotes have been audited by KPMG Audit plc

Footnotes:
1. Key to plans: LTIP = Nil cost restricted share awards granted under the Long-Term Incentive Plan which vest on the third anniversary of the date of grant

(see page 77); ASAP = nil cost options granted under the Annual Share Award Plan which vest on the third anniversary of grant and may then be
exercised until the tenth anniversary of grant, at the recipient’s discretion (see page 76); Recruitment and Special = one-off nil-cost restricted share awards
to acquire market-purchased shares, in each case made pursuant to LR 9.4.2R (see page 78).

2. Key to performance conditions:

(a) Average of the corporate element of the BSC of three financial years and RTSR compared to PGM peers over same three year period (see page 93);

(b) No performance condition other than continued service during three vesting period (see page 76);

(c) Average of corporate element of BSC of three financial years and average of personal performance measured in the BSC over same three year
period (see page 93).

3. Face value has been calculated using a strike price adjusted for the 2012 Rights Issue where relevant. The strike prices were calculated using the average
of the closing mid-market share price of Lonmin shares trading on the LSE during the following periods (the price below is adjusted for 2012 Rights Issue,
where relevant):

Date of Grant                                                  Plan                                                                  Date range                                                                                 Price (£)

02/08/2010                                               LTIP                                                             20 dealing days ending 30.06.2010                                    8.4572
29/09/2010                                               LTIP                                                             20 dealing days ending 31.08.2010                                    8.2125
03/08/2011                                               LTIP                                                             20 dealing days ending 30.06.2011                                    7.7423
12/12/2011                                               ASAP                                                          20 dealing days ending 09.12.2011                                    5.4494
07/11/2012                                               ASAP                                                          20 dealing days ending 30.01.2013                                    3.2000
15/01/2013                                               ASAP                                                          20 dealing days ending 14.01.2013                                    2.9501
10/07/2013                                               Recruitment Award                                      20 dealing days ending 28.06.2013                                    2.7628
27/09/2013                                               Special Award                                             20 dealing days ending 31.07.2013                                    2.9670

4. Mr Magara was appointed as a Director from 1 July 2013.

5. Mr Magara’s Recruitment Award is subject to vesting in three equal tranches on 31.05.14, 31.05.15 and 31.05.16. For further details please see page 78.

6. Mr Scott’s Special Award was made partly in lieu of an LTIP award, and in recognition of the exceptional circumstances of 2012.

7. Mr Farmer retired as a Director on 31 December 2012.

8. Subject to the Remuneration Committee’s discretion, dividend equivalents may be payable when LTIP awards vest. Neither dividends nor dividend
equivalents are payable in respect of ASAP options.
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Directors’ remuneration in FY2013 (continued)
Directors’ shareholdings and scheme interests
All Directors are subject to an obligation to amass and maintain a personal investment in Lonmin shares, linked to the base salary
or fee they receive from the Company. In the case of the CEO this is 300% of base salary, for other Executive Directors 200% of
base salary and for Non-executive Directors 100% of their base fee. In all cases this should be achieved within five years of the
earlier of (a) the policy coming into effect (on 1 August 2010) or (b) taking office or, once this has been achieved, within a further three
years should the market value fall below the required level. Using the Company’s closing share price of 319.3p on 30 September 2013,
compliance with these obligations by the serving Directors was as follows:

                                                                                                                                 Obligation                          Obligation to be met                            Achievement at
Director                                                                               (multiple of salary/NED base fee)                                        on or before                     30 September 2013

Current Directors
Len Konar                                                                                        100%                       1 August 2015                                  91%
Jonathan Leslie                                                                                100%                       1 August 2015                                  88%
Ben Magara                                                                                     300%                            1 July 2018                                  14%
David Munro                                                                                    100%                       1 August 2015                                138%
Roger Phillimore                                                                               100%                       1 August 2015                                407%
Simon Scott                                                                                     200%              27 September 2015                                  10%
Mahomed Seedat                                                                            100%                       1 August 2015                                541%
Karen de Segundo                                                                           100%                       1 August 2015                                  37%
Jim Sutcliffe                                                                                     100%                       1 August 2015                                107%

Former Director
Ian Farmer 1                                                                                     300%                       1 August 2015                                  25%

Footnote:
1. Position stated at 31 December 2012, his date of retirement from the Board. At that time Mr Farmer also held a significant number of options and awards

over shares which, assuming performance conditions were met and the shares vested, would have enabled him to meet the obligation.

Phuti Mahanyele, Gary Nagle and Paul Smith are not remunerated by the Company for serving as Non-executive Directors. As a
result, the Board does not impose any shareholding obligation on them. Their respective employing companies, who nominated
them as Directors, have material financial investments in the Company or its operating subsidiaries.

Cyril Ramaphosa also served as a Director during the year, retiring from office on 31 January 2013. He is a major shareholder in
and chairman of Shanduka Group, which controls Incwala. This latter company has an 18% equity interest in Lonmin’s principal
South African operating subsidiaries, which comprise all of the Group’s operational activities and substantially the whole of the
Group’s assets. As a result, Mr Ramaphosa has a very significant, but indirect, personal interest in Lonmin’s business and the
Board chose not to impose any shareholding obligation on him.

The interests of the Directors who served during the year during FY2013 as at 30 September 2013 or earlier date of retirement as
a Director in the shares of the Company, or scheme interests in relation to those shares are as follows:

Director                                                                                                               Scheme interests:
                                                                                           Shares1                     Options and awards over shares2

                                                                                                                                                                                           Subject to     Not subject to
                                                                                                                                                                                       performance       performance
                                                                                                                                            Note                                       conditions           conditions                    Total

Current Directors
Len Konar                                                                                                            14,200                    –                    –                    –
Jonathan Leslie                                                                                                    13,720                    –                    –                    –
Phuti Mahanyele                                                                                      3                    –                    –                    –                    –
Ben Magara                                                                                            4           25,000         357,804         130,302         488,106
David Munro                                                                                                        21,560                    –                    –                    –
Gary Nagle                                                                                              5                    –                    –                    –                    –
Roger Phillimore                                                                                                   63,700                    –                    –                    –
Simon Scott                                                                                                         10,000         406,658           68,949         475,607
Mahomed Seedat                                                                                                84,730                    –                    –                    –
Karen de Segundo                                                                                                 5,852                    –                    –                    –
Paul Smith                                                                                               5                    –                    –                    –                    –
Jim Sutcliffe                                                                                                         16,700                    –                    –                    –

Former Directors
Ian Farmer                                                                                               6         150,061         109,459           51,940         161,399
Cyril Ramaphosa                                                                                     7                    –                    –                    –                    –

This table and associated footnotes have been subject to audit by KPMG Audit plc
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Directors’ remuneration in FY2013 (continued)
Directors’ shareholding and scheme interests (continued)

Footnotes:
1. ‘Shares’ includes any owned by connected persons.

2. ‘Scheme interests’ comprise awards over shares (being the LTIP, Special Award and Recruitment Award) and options (the ASAP). Please refer to page 96
for further details.

3. Appointed 2 April 2013.

4. Appointed 1 July 2013.

5. Appointed 9 September 2013.

6. Retired 31 December 2012.

7. Retired 31 January 2013.

8. Please refer to the section above titled ‘scheme interests awarded in FY2013 and held by Directors’ for full details of scheme interests and of any awards
vesting, exercised or lapsing in the year.

9. No share option has vested but remains unexercised.

There have been no changes in the interests of each Director in the Company’s shares between 30 September 2013 and the date
of this report.

Other required disclosures
Service contracts
As noted on page 83, no Executive Director has a service contact with a notice period in excess of one year, or which would
require compensation on termination exceeding the value of one year’s salary and contractual benefits. All service contracts are
drafted on an evergreen, rather than fixed term, basis, so the unexpired term would always equal the notice period.

Payments to former Directors
The Company has a contractual arrangement with Mahomed Seedat, as noted in the ‘single figure’ remuneration table for
Non-executive Directors on page 94. In addition, the Company entered into a contractual arrangement with a company associated
with a former Director, Alan Ferguson, under which consulting services were provided to support the rights issue and refinancing
in late 2012. The total cost incurred by the Company for FY2013 was £70,118.

No other payments of money or any other assets were made during FY2013 to any former Director of the Company.

This disclosure has been subject to audit by KPMG Audit plc.

Payments for loss of office
Mr Farmer resigned as a Director and CEO of the Company on 31 December 2012. He remains an employee of the Company,
with no duties, on disability leave. As such, he continues to participate in the Company’s life assurance arrangements in the same
way as any other employee. The amounts paid to or receivable by him in the year ended 30 September 2013 as a consequence of
his loss of office were as follows:

Component                                                          Basis of calculation                                                                                                                                        Value (£)

Car allowance                                      Cash cost for the period 1.1.13 to 31.3.13 at a rate of £25,000 per annum                6,250

South African housing allowance          Cash cost for the period 1.1.13 to 31.3.13 at a rate of £7,000 per month                21,000

PHI income top-up                               80% salary continuation (inclusive of amounts received from PHI insurers)                  8,463

Private medical insurance (BUPA)         Cost of insurance premiums met for family membership from 1.1.13 to 30.9.13 1       2,681

Tax compliance support                       Costs incurred for advisory work in respect of the 2012-13 tax years in the UK
                                                            and South Africa in the period 1.1.13 to 30.9.13                                                        5,160

Travel costs                                          Two business class return air fares from the UK to South Africa 2                              12,923

Legal fees                                             Costs of independent legal advice in connection with ceasing to hold his
                                                            directorship and the changes to the basis of his employment by the Company        16,584

Total                                                                                                                                                                                      73,061

Footnotes:
1. The Company has agreed to bear the costs of private medical insurance to be provided to Mr Farmer and his dependant family members until 31 March 2018.

This insurance is purchased in the open market from an independent provider through a specialist broker.

2. These flights were provided to enable him to wind up his personal affairs in South Africa.

In addition, his outstanding scheme interests, as set out on page 96, will continue to run in the same way as any other employee.

There have been no other payments in relation to loss of office during FY2013.

This disclosure has been audited by KPMG Audit plc.
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Other required disclosures (continued)
Voting at the 2013 AGM
At the AGM on 31 January 2013 two votes were considered in relation to Directors’ remuneration; the annual advisory vote on the
Directors’ Remuneration Report (under the legal regime that preceded the Regulations) and a separate vote to approve a modification
to the rules of the Balanced Scorecard Bonus Plan. The voting outcomes were:

                                                                                     Votes for (and                          Votes against (and                         Proportion of                    Shares on which
Resolution                                                 percentage of votes cast)               percentage of votes cast)               share capital voting              votes were withheld

Remuneration Report                 322,667,098    71.0%         131,987,137    29.0%                          80.0%                  17,728,932
BSC Bonus Plan                        416,495,573    88.7%           52,953,167    11.3%                          82.6%                    2,935,383

The Committee engaged extensively with institutional shareholders and their representative bodies both before and after the AGM.
While a wide range of issues were discussed, there were essentially two concerns expressed; the payment of a bonus to Simon
Scott in respect of FY2012 and the Special Award issued to him on 7 November 2012. Only one institutional shareholder
contacted objected to both items, and there were approximately equal numbers of investors who expressed concern on each
item. In relation to the Special Award, about half of the dissent was in relation to the award having been made, with the other
investors objecting to the cash-settled nature of the award. In response to the views expressed, the award was converted onto
a share-settled basis on 5 March 2013.

No vote was taken in relation to the Directors’ remuneration policy at the 2013 AGM.

Directors’ remuneration in FY2014
Proposed implementation of remuneration policy
The remuneration policy for Executive and Non-executive Directors set out in the policy report will take effect and become binding
on the Company on 31 January 2014 and implemented on the basis set out in that report. It is unchanged to any significant
degree from that in force in recent financial years.

Some elements of pay for Executive Directors, forming a significant proportion of the total reward available, are subject to the
achievement of performance conditions. This applies to the following elements of remuneration:

• BSC Bonus and ASAP – as explained in the policy report (see page 75) and the section of this report titled ‘short-term
incentives – settled in cash’ on page 92, we use a Balanced Scorecard approach to the design of our annual bonus
arrangements.

At its November 2013 meeting the Committee considered the Balanced Scorecard for FY2014. It was agreed that the measures,
weightings and targets must reflect the Board-approved strategy for that year, in order to incentivise the inputs required to
deliver that strategy and/or the outcomes expected from it. So this matter could be given proper consideration, the Committee
agreed to hold an extra meeting early in 2014 to review final proposals.

The principles and process underpinning the design of the Balanced Scorecard are fully explained in the policy table on page 76.
As English law now makes any definitive statements in the policy report binding on companies for the duration of the policy, and
does not permit any variation of these without shareholder approval, the Committee believes that shareholders’ interests would
not be served by making any more specific statements in relation to the design of annual bonus plans.

In the opinion of the Directors, the targets set for the performance measures will be commercially sensitive or could, if disclosed,
cause regulatory complications for the Company and as permitted by the Regulations are not being disclosed in advance. In line
with our customary practice, there will be full retrospective disclosure in the 2014 Annual Report and Accounts.

• LTIP – full details of the performance measures, their weightings and the targets are given in the section of this report titled
‘Performance conditions for long-term incentive awards’ on page 93.
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We believe that keeping people safe is a team effort and that good working
relationships lead to good working practice.

The community investment
programme has been significantly
revamped as part of the community
value proposition initiative.

These are strong results. Despite the constraints faced at the
start of the financial year our ramp up was impressive and we
exceeded our production expectations with costs well under
control and with many areas of the business recording their
best performance in years.

Our top management team has
been strengthened and we have
the right people in place to take
Lonmin forward.
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Opinions and conclusions arising from our audit
Opinion on financial statements
We have audited the financial statements of Lonmin Plc for the year ended 30 September 2013 which comprise the Consolidated
Income Statement, the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, the
Company Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows and the
related notes. In our opinion:

• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at
30 September 2013 and of the group’s profit for the year then ended;

• the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
as adopted by the European Union;

• the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK Accounting Standards; and

• the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards
the group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

Our assessment of risks of material misstatement
In arriving at our audit opinion above on the group financial statements the risks of material misstatement that had the greatest
effect on our audit were as follows:

Impairment of non financial assets (excluding inventories and deferred tax)
• The risk: The PGM industry has experienced rising costs, and subdued demand resulting in a depressed pricing environment.

Other producers in the industry have closed unprofitable shafts, and have recognised impairments against assets. The
Company’s market capitalisation remains below the share of net assets attributable to shareholders of the Company. The
Akanani asset was impaired in 2012, and any change in assumptions could lead to further impairment, or reversal of
impairment. As such there is a risk that the group’s assets need to be impaired, or in the case of Akanani, impairment may
need to be reversed. As described in the Report from the Audit & Risk Committee on page 60, consideration of impairment
is one of the key judgemental areas that our audit is concentrated on.

• Our response: As detailed in the statement on accounting policies in Note 1 of the accounts, the group’s two key Cash
Generating Units (CGUs) are Marikana and Akanani. Our audit procedures included, among others, detailed testing of the
Directors’ impairment assessment for each CGU performed at year end. We obtained the discounted cash flow models,
which are detailed and complex, and performed procedures over the accuracy of calculation of the Net Present Value (NPV)
derived by each model. We agreed key inputs in the models to internally and externally derived sources. Certain of the key
inputs, specifically mineral resource, discount rate, PGM prices, capital and operating costs, inflation, exchange rates, and
sales terms, require significant estimation and judgement in their selection, and can have a significant impact on the derived
NPV. For these key inputs we critically assessed the reasonableness of the Directors’ assumptions by reference to external
data and forecasts, along with reports from the group’s external consultants. We utilised our own valuation specialists and
engineers to the extent necessary in performing our work. We considered the adequacy of the group’s disclosures (see Notes 1,
10 and 11) in respect of impairment testing, and whether disclosures about the sensitivity of the outcome of the impairment
assessment to changes in key assumptions properly reflected the risks inherent in the valuations.

Recoverability of the $399 million HDSA receivable
• The risk: As set out in note 14 of the accounts, the group has an amount due to it from a subsidiary of Shanduka Resources

(Proprietary) Limited (“the Shanduka subsidiary”) amounting to $399 million at 30 September 2013. The amount due is
secured by shares in the Shanduka subsidiary, whose only asset of value is its ultimate shareholding in Incwala Resources
(Pty) Limited (“Incwala”). The majority of the amount due was provided to the Shanduka subsidiary in 2010 so that it could
acquire 50.03% of Incwala, which has interests in the group’s subsidiaries, and provides the group with its Black Economic
Empowerment credits. Due to a decline in the performance and outlook of the PGM industry, subsidiaries of the group have
not been paying the quantum of dividends that were expected when the financing was first put in place, which was to be one
source of income from which the Shanduka subsidiary could make repayments of the amounts due by 2015. The value of the
collateral has also fallen significantly in recent times. Given the above factors, there is a risk that the Shanduka subsidiary may
not repay the amount when it falls due in 2015. This risk is further highlighted in the Report from the Audit & Risk Committee
on page 60.

• Our response: In this area our audit procedures included, among others, discussions with representatives from the Shanduka
subsidiary to understand their intentions with regards to repayment of the amounts due, and consideration of correspondence
between the group and the Shanduka subsidiary. We have critically assessed the value of the collateral of $403 million at
30 September 2013, which is determined based on the underlying values of the assets held by Incwala, less the consolidated
net liabilities of Incwala. Given those assets include Marikana and Akanani, we have made use of the audit work we performed
on impairment of those CGUs above. We also considered the adequacy of the group’s disclosures (see Notes 1 and 21a) with
regards to impairment testing for financial assets, and whether disclosures about the sensitivity of the value of the collateral to
changes in key assumptions properly reflected the risks inherent in the valuations.

Independent Auditor’s Report 
to the Members of Lonmin Plc only
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Opinions and conclusions arising from our audit (continued)
Physical quantities of inventory (excluding consumables)
• The risk: As detailed in the “Use of estimates and judgements” section in note 1 of the accounts, metal inventory is held

in a wide variety of forms across the mining and refinement processes, and prior to production as a final metal, is always
contained in a carrier material. It is not possible to determine the exact metal content contained in a carrier material until the
refinement process is complete. As such physical quantities of metal inventory are determined by sampling, and assays are
taken to determine the metal content and how this is split by type of metal. The accuracy of these samples and assays can
vary quite significantly, and as such the quantum of metal inventory requires a significant amount of estimation and
management judgement in its determination. As described in the Report from the Audit & Risk Committee on page 61,
determination of inventory quantities is one of the key judgemental areas that our audit concentrated on, as quantities
measured are a key determining factor in the carrying amount of inventory recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position at year end. 

• Our response: In this area our audit procedures included, among others, attendance at year end physical stock counts,
where the group engaged independent metallurgists to assist with the assessment of sampling methodologies used and the
adherence to appropriate stock count processes. We considered the competence of the metallurgists, the results of their
report, and sought to understand and corroborate the reasons for significant or unusual movements in inventory quantities
between the accounting records and the results of the sampling and assays performed as part of the year end physical stock
counts. We also considered the reasonableness of the downward adjustment to stock quantities that are not yet in a final
refined state to recognise the estimation uncertainty inherent in the sampling and assays and the fact that not all of the
material will eventually be recovered as refined metal. We assessed this by reference to historical experience of the Company
and across the industry. We also considered the adequacy of the group’s disclosures (see Note 1) about the degree of
estimation involved in arriving at the measured inventory.

Net realisable value of inventory (excluding consumables)
• The risk: As detailed in the “Inventories” section in note 1 of the accounts, inventory is carried in the financial statements at the

lower of cost and net realisable value. The PGM industry has experienced rising costs, and subdued demand resulting in a
depressed pricing environment. Fluctuations in production efficiency also have the potential to affect the carrying amount of
inventory. As such there is a risk that the cost of inventory exceeds its net realisable value. This risk is further highlighted in the
Report from the Audit & Risk Committee on page 61.

• Our response: We have obtained net realisable value calculations, agreed stock quantities in those calculations to the
accounting records, and tested prices by reference to externally available data in the market.

Our application of materiality and an overview of the scope of our audit
In establishing the overall audit strategy, and performing the audit, materiality for the group financial statements as a whole was set
at $21 million. This has been calculated with reference to a benchmark of group revenue, which we consider to be one of the
principal considerations for members of the Company in assessing the financial performance of the group, and is a less volatile
benchmark than profit.

We agreed with the audit committee to report to it all corrected and uncorrected misstatements we identified through our audit
with a value in excess of $1.0 million, in addition to other audit misstatements below that threshold that we believe warranted
reporting on qualitative grounds.

Whilst Lonmin Plc is a UK company, all of the group’s significant operations are located in South Africa.

Audits for group reporting purposes were performed by component auditors in South Africa over six reporting components. The
group audit team performed audits over four components, including Lonmin Plc as a standalone entity, along with the audit of the
group, including consolidation-type adjustments. Reviews for group reporting purposes were performed by component auditors in
South Africa over six other reporting components. The combined effect of this approach covered 100% of group revenue, more
than 95% of group profit before tax, and more than 95% of group assets.

The audits were performed to the local materiality levels set individually for each component and agreed with the group team,
unless this exceeded materiality for the group financial statements as a whole, in which case the materiality level was set at 95%
of materiality for the group financial statements as a whole. As such materiality for these audits ranged from $0.1 million to $20 million.
The reviews were performed on a materiality level of $20 million.

Detailed instructions were sent to component auditors, which covered the significant areas that should be covered by the audit
and review engagements (which included the relevant risks of material misstatement detailed above) and set out the information
required to be reported to the group audit team.

The group audit team was physically present in South Africa for the duration of the substantive testing phase of the South African
audit and review engagements. In doing so the group audit team was actively involved in the direction of the audits and review
engagements performed by the component auditors for group reporting purposes, along with the consideration of findings and
determination of conclusions drawn.

Independent Auditor’s Report 
to the Members of Lonmin Plc only
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Opinions and conclusions arising from our audit (continued)
Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion:

• the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies
Act 2006; and

• the information given in the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are
prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under ISAs (UK and Ireland) we are required to report to you if, based on the knowledge we acquired during our audit, we have
identified other information in the Annual Report that contains a material inconsistency with either that knowledge or the financial
statements, a material misstatement of fact, or that is otherwise misleading.

In particular, we are required to report to you if: 

• we have identified material inconsistencies between the knowledge we acquired during our audit and the Directors’ statement
that they consider that the Annual Report and financial statements taken as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable and
provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess the group’s performance, business model and strategy; or

• the Report from the Audit & Risk Committee on pages 57 to 64 does not appropriately address matters communicated by us
to the audit committee.

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or

• the parent company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are not in
agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

• certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review:

• the Directors’ statement, set out on page 68, in relation to going concern;

• the part of the Corporate Governance Statement in the Directors’ Report – Governance relating to the Company’s compliance
with the nine provisions of the 2010 UK Corporate Governance Code specified for our review; and

• certain elements of the report to shareholders by the Board on Directors’ remuneration.

We have nothing to report in respect of the above responsibilities.

Scope of report and responsibilities

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. A description of the scope of an audit of accounts is provided
on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at www.frc.org.uk/auditscopeukprivate. This report is made solely to the Company’s
members as a body and subject to important explanations and disclaimers regarding our responsibilities, published on our website
at www.kpmg.com/uk/auditscopeukco2013a, which are incorporated into this report as if set out in full and should be read to
provide an understanding of the purpose of this report, the work we have undertaken and the basis of our opinions.

Robert Seale (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of KPMG Audit Plc, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants
15 Canada Square
London, E14 5GL

10 November 2013

Independent Auditor’s Report 
to the Members of Lonmin Plc only
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We confirm that to the best of our knowledge:

• the financial statements, prepared in accordance with the applicable set of accounting standards, give a true and fair view of
the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation
taken as a whole; and

• the management report required by DTR 4.1.8R (contained in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report) includes a fair
review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the Company and the undertakings included
in the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that they face.

Roger Phillimore Simon Scott
Chairman Chief Financial Officer

10 November 2013

Responsibility Statement of the Directors in Respect
of the Annual Report and Accounts
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Consolidated Income Statement
for the year ended 30 September 

                                                                                                                                       Special                                                                         Special
                                                                                                               2013                   items                    2013                    2012                    items                    2012
                                                                                                     Underlying i               (note 3)                     Total            Underlying i               (note 3)                     Total
Continuing operations                                                  Note                       $m                       $m                       $m                       $m                       $m                       $m

Revenue 2 1,520 – 1,520 1,614 – 1,614

EBITDA ii                                                                           321                 (17)               304                193               (169)                 24
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment (157) – (157) (126) (600) (726)

Operating profit/(loss) iii                              4                     164                 (17)               147                  67               (769)              (702)
Impairment of available for
sale financial assets                                  14                          –                   (2)                  (2)                   –                   (6)                  (6)

Finance income                                            6                          9                  26                  35                    5                  30                  35
Finance expenses                                        6                      (19)                (25)                (44)                (19)                   –                 (19)
Share of profit/(loss) of equity
accounted investments 13 4 – 4 4 (10) (6)

Profit/(loss) before taxation                                             158                 (18)               140                  57               (755)              (698)
Income tax credit iv 7 (27) 85 58 (39) 187 148

Profit/(loss) for the year 131 67 198 18 (568) (550)

Attributable to:
– Equity shareholders of Lonmin Plc                                  109                  57                166                  15               (425)              (410)
– Non-controlling interests 22 10 32 3 (143) (140)

Earnings/(loss) per share v 8 31.2c (107.7)c

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share v, vi 8 31.1c (107.7)c

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 30 September

2013 2012
Total Total

Note $m $m

Profit/(loss) for the year 198 (550)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to the income statement
– Change in fair value of available for sale financial assets 14 – (8)
– Changes in settled cash flow hedges released to the income statement vii 8 –
– Foreign exchange loss on retranslation of equity accounted investments 13 (9) (5)
– Deferred tax on items taken directly to the statement of comprehensive income – (2)

Total other comprehensive expense for the period (1) (15)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period 197 (565)

Attributable to:
– Equity shareholders of Lonmin Plc 166 (425)
– Non-controlling interests 31 (140)

197 (565)

Footnotes:

i Underlying results and earnings/(loss) per share are based on reported results and earnings/(loss) per share excluding the effect of special items as defined in note 3.

ii EBITDA is operating profit/(loss) before depreciation, amortisation and impairment of goodwill, intangibles and property, plant and equipment.

iii Operating profit/(loss) is defined as revenue less operating expenses before impairment of available for sale financial assets, finance income and expenses

and share of profit/(loss) of equity accounted investments.

iv The income tax credit substantially relates to overseas taxation and includes net foreign exchange gains of $80 million (2012 – $17 million) as disclosed in note 7.

v During December 2012 the Group undertook a Rights Issue of shares. As a result the September 2012 loss per share and diluted loss per share have been

adjusted to reflect the bonus element of the Rights Issue as disclosed in note 8.

vi Diluted earnings/(loss) per share is based on the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue adjusted by dilutive outstanding share options.

vii Refer to note 6 for detail regarding the unwinding of the interest rate swap derivative.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
as at 30 September 

2013 2012
Note $m $m

Non-current assets
Goodwill 10 40 40
Intangible assets 11 462 462
Property, plant and equipment 12 2,908 2,889
Equity accounted investments 13 36 157
Other financial assets 14 430 418

3,876 3,966

Current assets
Inventories 15 449 260
Trade and other receivables 16 86 79
Tax recoverable 4 3
Cash and cash equivalents 30 201 315

740 657

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 17 (295) (328)
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 18 – (123)
Derivative financial instruments 19 – (5)
Deferred revenue 20 (23) (24)

(318) (480)

Net current assets 422 177

Non-current liabilities
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 18 – (613)
Derivative financial instruments 19 – (10)
Deferred tax liabilities 22 (501) (562)
Deferred revenue 20 (47) (70)
Provisions 23 (140) (143)

(688) (1,398)

Net assets 3,610 2,745

Capital and reserves
Share capital 25 569 203
Share premium 25 1,411 997
Other reserves 88 80
Retained earnings 1,341 1,208

Attributable to equity shareholders of Lonmin Plc 3,409 2,488
Attributable to non-controlling interests 201 257

Total equity 3,610 2,745

The financial statements of Lonmin Plc, registered number 103002, were approved by the Board of Directors on 10 November 2013 and were signed on its behalf by:

Roger Phillimore Chairman

Simon Scott Chief Financial Officer



Equity interest

Called Share Non-
up share premium Other Retained controlling Total

capital account reservesi earningsii Total interestsiii equity
$m $m $m $m $m $m $m

At 1 October 2011                                   203                997                  80             1,650             2,930                411             3,341
Loss for the year                                          –                    –                    –               (410)              (410)              (140)              (550)
Total other comprehensive expense:            –                    –                    –                 (15)                (15)                   –                 (15)
– Change in fair value of available

for sale financial assets                              –                    –                    –                   (8)                  (8)                   –                   (8)
– Foreign exchange on retranslation

of equity accounted investments               –                    –                    –                   (5)                  (5)                   –                   (5)
– Deferred tax on items taken directly

to the statement of comprehensive
income                                                      –                    –                    –                   (2)                  (2)                   –                   (2)

Transactions with owners, recognised
directly in equity:                                         –                    –                    –                 (17)                (17)                (14)                (31)

– Share-based payments                             –                    –                    –                  14                  14                    –                  14
– Dividends                                                  –                    –                    –                 (31)                (31)                (14)                (45)

At 30 September 2012 203 997 80 1,208 2,488 257 2,745

Equity interest

Called Share Non-
up share premium Other Retained controlling Total
capital account reservesi earningsii Total interestsiii equity

$m $m $m $m $m $m $m

At 1 October 2012                                   203                997                  80             1,208             2,488                257             2,745
Profit for the year                                          –                    –                    –                166                166                  32                198
Total other comprehensive expense:            –                    –                    8                   (8)                   –                   (1)                  (1)
– Changes in settled cash flow

hedges released to the income
statement iv                                                –                    –                    8                    –                    8                    –                    8

– Foreign exchange on retranslation
of equity accounted investments               –                    –                    –                   (8)                  (8)                  (1)                  (9)

Transactions with owners, recognised
directly in equity:                                    366                414                    –                 (25)               755                 (87)               668

– Share-based payments                             –                    –                    –                  14                  14                    –                  14
– Incwala equity accounting

adjustment v                                              –                    –                    –                 (39)                (39)                (76)              (115)
– Share capital and share premium

recognised on Rights Issue vi                 365                459                    –                    –                824                    –                824
– Rights Issue costs charged to

share premium vi                                        –                 (45)                   –                    –                 (45)                   –                 (45)
– Shares issued on exercise

of share options vii                                      1                    –                    –                    –                    1                    –                    1
– Dividends                                                  –                    –                    –                    –                    –                 (11)                (11)

At 30 September 2013 569 1,411 88 1,341 3,409 201 3,610

Footnotes:
i Other reserves at 30 September 2013 represent the capital redemption reserve of $88 million (2012 – $88 million) and a $nil hedging loss net of deferred

tax (2012 – $8 million).

ii Retained earnings include $5 million of accumulated credits in respect of fair value movements on available for sale financial assets (2012 – $5 million
accumulated credits) and a $6 million debit of accumulated exchange on retranslation of equity accounted investments (2012 – $3 million credit).

iii Non-controlling interests represent a 13.76% shareholding in each of Eastern Platinum Limited, Western Platinum Limited and Messina Limited and a
19.87% shareholding in Akanani Mining (Proprietary) Limited.

iv Refer to note 6 for detail regarding the unwinding of the interest rate swap derivative.

v Where an associate owns an equity interest in a group entity an adjustment is made to the equity accounting and the non-controlling interest to avoid
double counting. Any difference between the adjustment to the investment in the associate and non-controlling interest is taken directly to equity.

vi During December 2012 the Group undertook a Rights Issue in which 365,496,943 shares were issued as disclosed in note 31.

vii During the year 900,000 share options were exercised (2012 – 400,000) on which $0.9 million of cash was received (2012 – $0.4 million).
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 30 September 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
as at 30 September 

2013 2012 
Note $m $m 

Profit/(loss) for the year 198 (550)
Taxation 7 (58) (148)
Share of (profit)/loss of equity accounted investments 13 (4) 6
Finance income 6 (35) (35)
Finance expenses 6 44 19
Impairment of available for sale financial assets 3 2 6
Non-cash movement on deferred revenue (24) (13)
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 157 726
Change in inventories (189) 124
Change in trade and other receivables (2) 75
Change in trade and other payables (32) (28)
Change in provisions (23) (3)
Deferred revenue received 20 – 107
Share-based payments 14 14
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 5 –

Cash flow from operations 53 300
Interest received 1 4
Interest and bank fees paid (34) (31)
Tax paid (4) (10)

Cash inflow from operating activities 16 263

Cash flow from investing activities
Distribution from joint venture 13 1 7
Additions to other financial assets 14 – (2)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (156) (404)
Purchase of intangible assets (3) (4)

Cash used in investing activities (158) (403)

Cash flow from financing activities
Equity dividends paid to Lonmin shareholders – (31)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (11) (14)
Proceeds from current borrowings 30 257 120
Repayment of current borrowings 30 (380) (10)
Proceeds from non-current borrowings 30 369 589
Repayment of non-current borrowings 30 (988) (275)
Proceeds from equity issuance 31 823 –
Costs of issuing shares 31 (45) –
Loss on settlement of forward exchange contracts on equity issuance 31 (11) –
Issue of other ordinary share capital 1 –

Cash inflow from financing activities 15 379

(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents 30 (127) 239
Opening cash and cash equivalents 30 315 76
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 30 13 –

Closing cash and cash equivalents 30 201 315
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1     Statement on accounting policies
Reporting entity
Lonmin Plc (the “Company”) is a company incorporated in the UK. The address of the Company’s registered office is
4 Grosvenor Place, London, SW1X 7YL. The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended
30 September 2013 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) and the Group’s interest
in equity accounted investments.

Basis of preparation
Statement of compliance
The Group financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by the EU (adopted IFRSs) and approved by the Directors on this basis.

The Company has elected to prepare its parent company financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom generally
accepted accounting practice (UK GAAP). The parent company financial statements present information about the Company
as a separate entity and not about its Group.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 10 November 2013.

Basis of measurement
The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following:

• Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value.

• Available for sale assets are measured at fair value.

• Liabilities for cash settled share-based payment arrangements are measured at fair value.

• Non-current assets held for sale are stated at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell.

Going concern
In determining the appropriate basis of preparation of the financial statements, the Directors are required to consider whether
the Group can continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

The financial performance of the Group is dependent upon the wider economic environment in which the Group operates.
Factors exist which are outside the control of management which can have a significant impact on the business, specifically,
volatility in the Rand / US Dollar exchange rate and PGM commodity prices. The events at Marikana in August and September
2012 necessitated a review of the strategy and capital structure of the Group. To this end, the Lonmin Plc Board concluded
that reducing capital expenditure in the near term and raising additional equity, in conjunction with a revision to bank facilities
would result in the appropriate capital structure and retain the Group’s flexibility as regards financial risks.

In December 2012, Lonmin Plc successfully concluded a Rights Issue which raised net proceeds of $767 million (see note 31).
In conjunction with the Rights Issue, Lonmin Plc negotiated certain amendments to the terms of the Group’s existing debt
facilities. The proceeds of the Rights Issue were utilised to reduce the Group’s debt exposure.

The Directors have prepared cash flow and covenant forecasts for a period in excess of twelve months from the date of these
financial statements and have concluded that the capital structure, after the successful Rights Issue and debt facilities
amendments, provides sufficient head room to cushion against downside operational risks and minimises the risk of
breaching new covenants.

As a result, the Directors believe that the Group will continue to meet its obligations as they fall due and comply with its
financial covenants and accordingly have formed a judgement that it is appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a
going concern basis. Therefore, these financial statements do not include any adjustments that would result if the going
concern basis on preparation is inappropriate.

Functional and presentation currency
The consolidated financial statements are presented in US Dollars (rounded to the nearest million), which is the functional
currency of the Company and its principal operations.

Use of estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with adopted IFRSs requires the Directors to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

Judgements that have been made in the process of applying accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the financial statements, and estimates made that have a significant risk of resulting in a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are as follows:

Notes to the Accounts
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1     Statement on accounting policies (continued)
Use of estimates and judgements (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets
In determining the recoverable amount of goodwill, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment, judgement is
required in determining key inputs into valuation models. The key assumptions, and the Directors approach for determining
these, are described in the policy on Impairment – Non–financial assets.

Recoverability of the $399 million HDSA receivable
The Company holds a HDSA receivable at amortised cost. The receivable is secured on shares in the HDSA borrower, whose
only asset of value is its holding in Incwala Resources (Pty) Limited (Incwala). Incwala’s principal assets are investments in
Western Platinum Limited (WPL), Eastern Platinum Limited (EPL) and Akanani Mining (Pty) Limited (Akanani), all subsidiaries of
Lonmin Plc. One of the sources of income to fund the settlement of the receivable is the dividend flow from these underlying
investments. Given the current state of the PGM industry there have not been any substantial dividend payments to Incwala in
recent times. The Directors are also concerned that, in the current economic environment, the value of the security may have
fallen below the carrying amount of the receivable. There is therefore a risk that the amount outstanding will not be repaid in
2015. As described in the policy on Impairment – financial assets, an assessment is made at each reporting period to
determine whether there is objective evidence that the receivable is impaired. This assessment for indicators of a loss event,
involves a high degree of judgement.

Given the above matters, the Directors have determined that it is likely that a loss event may have occurred. Accordingly an
assessment has been performed to determine the extent of impairment, if any. This assessment has been made based on the
value of the security which is primarily driven by the value of Incwala’s underlying investments in WPL, EPL and Akanani. The
same valuation models for the Marikana and Akanani CGU’s that were prepared to assess “Impairment of non-financial
assets” above have been used as the basis for determining the value of Incwala’s investments. Thus similar judgements apply
around the determination of key assumptions in those valuation models.

The results of this assessment as well as sensitivities are described in note 21a.

Physical quantities of inventory (excluding consumables)
Inventory is held in a wide variety of forms across the value chain reflecting the stage of refinement. Prior to production as final
metal the inventory is always contained within a carrier material. As such inventory is typically sampled and assays taken to
determine the metal content and how this is split by metal. Measurement and sampling accuracy can vary quite significantly
depending on the nature of the vessels and the state of the material. An allowance for estimation uncertainty is applied to the
various categories of inventory and is dependent on the degree to which the nature and state of material allows for accurate
measurement and sampling. Judgement, therefore, is applied in arriving at appropriate quantities of inventory to recognise at
each reporting date.

New standards and amendments in the year
The following revised IFRS has been adopted in these financial statements. The application of this IFRS has not had any
material impact on the amounts reported for the current and prior years:

• IAS 1 – Amendments to Presentation of Financial Statements (effective 1 July 2012) requires that an entity present
separately the items of Other Comprehensive Income that may be reclassified to the income statement in future from
those that would never be reclassified to the income statement.

There were no other new standards, interpretations or amendments to standards issued and effective for the year which
materially impacted the Group’s financial statements.

Significant accounting policies
The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all periods presented in
these Group financial statements, and have been applied consistently by Group entities.

Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of an entity in order to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting
rights that are currently exercisable are taken into account.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are consolidated from the effective date of acquisition at
which date control commences or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate, at which date control ceases. Where
necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures to bring the
accounting policies used into line with those used by the Group.

Notes to the Accounts
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1     Statement on accounting policies (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)
Associates
An associate is an entity in which the Group has an equity interest and over which it has the ability to exercise significant
influence but not control over the financial and operating policies. Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Group
holds between 20% and 50% of the voting power of another entity. Associates are accounted for using the equity method and
are initially measured at cost. The Group’s investment includes goodwill identified on acquisition, net of any impairment losses.

The consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of the income and expenses and equity movements of
any associates.

Where an associate owns an equity interest in a Group entity an adjustment is made to the equity accounting and the
non-controlling interest to avoid double counting. Any difference between the adjustment to the investment in the associate
and non-controlling interest is taken directly to equity.

Where the adjustment results in net liabilities in the associate, as the Group has no obligation to fund these liabilities, they are
not recognised.

Joint ventures (JVs)
The Group undertakes a number of business activities through JVs. JVs are established through contractual arrangements
which result in the strategic, financial and operating policies of the venture being jointly controlled. Such JVs are treated as
jointly controlled entities and are accounted for using the equity method.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-Group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-Group transactions, are
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with associates and
JVs are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated
in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Foreign currency
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currencies of the Group entities
using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies at the financial reporting date are retranslated into the functional currency at the rates of exchange ruling at the
financial reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the historic rate.

Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in the income statement, except for differences arising on
the retranslation of available for sale financial assets and equity accounted investments which are recognised directly in equity.

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis.

Revenue
Revenue is derived from the sale of metal inventories and is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable,
after deducting discounts, volume rebates, value added tax and other sales taxes. A sale is recognised when: the significant
risks and rewards of ownership have passed to the buyer (this is generally when title and insurance risk have passed to the
customer, and the goods have been delivered to a contractually agreed location); recovery of the consideration is probable;
the associated costs and possible return of goods can be estimated reliably; there is no continuing management involvement
with the goods, and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. In certain circumstances, for example sometimes in the
sale of part-processed material, metal prices at the point of sale may be provisional. The impact of changes in metal prices to
the point of settlement are reflected through revenue and receivables.

All third party metal sales are recognised as revenue. The Group does not credit capitalised development costs with income
arising from production in development phases but rather recognises such metal as inventory (see Inventories policy).

Finance income and expenses
Finance income comprises interest on funds invested (including available for sale financial assets), dividend income, gains on
the disposal of available for sale financial assets net of costs of disposal and gains on hedging instruments that are recognised
in the income statement.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis by reference to the principal outstanding and the effective interest rate applicable.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the Group’s rights to receive payment have been established.

Finance expenses comprise interest expense on borrowings, bank fees (including bank fees which are capitalised and
amortised over the life of the facility), unwinding of discount on provisions and losses on hedging instruments that are
recognised in the income statement.

Notes to the Accounts
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1     Statement on accounting policies (continued)
Finance income and expenses (continued)
All borrowing costs are recognised in the Income Statement using the effective interest method except for borrowing costs
which are directly attributable to the acquisition, or construction of an asset. Such costs are capitalised to property, plant and
equipment or intangible assets during the period of construction or development provided that future economic benefit is
considered probable. Capitalised interest is shown as interest paid in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

The Company’s accounting policies in respect of the hybrid financial instrument issued to it by Shanduka, its BEE partner,
are detailed in the financial instruments section.

Expenditure
Expenditure is recognised in respect of goods and services received.

Research and development
Research expenditure is charged to the Income Statement in the period in which it is incurred.

Development expenditure which meets the recognition criteria for an intangible asset under IAS 38 – Intangible Assets, is
capitalised and then amortised over the useful economic life of the developed asset, otherwise it is charged to the income
statement as incurred. Borrowing costs related to the development of qualifying assets are capitalised.

Capitalised development expenditure is recognised at cost, and subsequently carried at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses, where it can be demonstrated that the expenditure will result in completion of an asset which, when
available for use or sale, will result in future economic benefit arising for the Group.

Exploration and evaluation expenditure
Exploration and evaluation expenditure relates to costs incurred on the exploration for and evaluation of potential mineral
reserves and includes costs relating to the following: acquisition of exploration rights; conducting geological studies;
exploratory drilling and sampling and evaluating the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting a mineral
resource as well as capitalised interest.

Expenditure incurred on activities that precede exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources, being all expenditure
incurred prior to securing the legal rights to explore an area, is expensed immediately.

Expenditure towards in-house exploration for and evaluation of potential mineral reserves for each area of interest is expensed
until it is considered probable that future economic benefit will arise through further exploration and subsequent development
of the area of interest or, alternatively, by its sale.

Pre-feasibility studies involve the review of one or more potential development options with the aim of moving forward to the
more detailed feasibility study stage. Expenditure related to such studies is expensed in full as there is insufficient certainty
that future economic benefit will be generated at this stage of a project.

Expenditure relating to feasibility studies which support the technical feasibility and commercial viability of an area is
capitalised under exploration and evaluation assets.

Where a feasibility study reaches a favourable conclusion, accumulated exploration and evaluation costs are transferred to
mineral rights within intangibles or capital work in progress within property, plant and equipment as appropriate on
commencement of the development phase of the related project. Where the feasibility study reaches an adverse conclusion,
any previously capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is written off immediately.

Expenditure on purchased exploration and evaluation assets is capitalised at fair value at the time of purchase. Subsequent
expenditure may be capitalised at cost. Carrying values are subject to impairment reviews as per the Group’s policy.
Exploration and evaluation expenditure is classified as property, plant and equipment or intangible depending on the nature of
the expenditure.

Capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is a class of assets which are not available for use. Therefore amortisation
is not provided on such assets.

Mineral mining rights, which are obtained following the completion of a feasibility study, are not included within exploration and
evaluation expenditure. They are capitalised at cost under IAS 38 – Intangible Assets and are amortised on a units of
production basis over the life of the mine.

Share-based payments
From the grant date the fair value of options granted to employees is recognised as an employee expense, with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period that the employees become unconditionally entitled to the shares.

The fair value of the amount payable to employees in respect of share appreciation rights, which are settled in cash, is
recognised as an expense, with a corresponding increase in liabilities, over the period that the employees become
unconditionally entitled to payment. The liability is remeasured at each reporting date and at settlement date. Any changes
in the fair value of the liability are recognised as a personnel expense in the income statement.

Notes to the Accounts
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1     Statement on accounting policies (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)
The fair value of each option or share appreciation right is determined using either a Black-Scholes option pricing model or a
Monte Carlo projection model, depending on the type of the award. Market related performance conditions are reflected in the
fair value of the share. Non-market related performance conditions are allowed for using a separate assumption about the
number of awards expected to vest; the final charge made reflects the numbers actually vested on the basis that non-market
conditions are met.

Pensions and other post-retirement benefits
The Group operates a number of defined contribution schemes in accordance with local regulations. A defined contribution
plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate legal entity and has no
legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are
recognised as an employee benefit expense in the income statement when they are due.

Taxation
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the income statement except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax to be paid or recovered on the taxable income for the year, using the tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date during the periods being reported upon, and any adjustments to tax payable in
respect of previous years.

Deferred tax as directed by IAS 12 – Income Taxes is recognised in respect of certain temporary differences identified at the
financial reporting date. Temporary differences are differences between the carrying amount of the Group’s assets and
liabilities and their tax base.

A deferred tax liability is recognised in a business combination in respect of any identified intangible asset representing the
difference between the fair value of the acquired asset and its tax base. Recognition of a deferred tax liability in respect of such
a difference gives rise to a corresponding increase in goodwill recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Deferred tax liabilities are offset against deferred tax assets within the same taxable entity or qualifying local tax group where
the entities have the right to settle current tax liabilities net. Any remaining deferred tax asset is recognised only when, on the
basis of all available evidence, it can be regarded as probable that there will be suitable taxable profits, within the same
jurisdiction, in the foreseeable future against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising in relation to investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities
and associates, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Business combinations and goodwill
Subject to the transitional relief in IFRS 1, all business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method.
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which is the date on which
control is transferred to the Group.

Acquisitions on or after 1 January 2010
For acquisitions on or after 1 January 2010, the Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:

• the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus

• the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus

• the fair value of the existing equity interest in the acquiree; less

• the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Costs related to the acquisition, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, are expensed as incurred.

Any contingent consideration payable is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent consideration is
classified as equity, it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, subsequent changes to
the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss.

On a transaction-by-transaction basis, the Group elects to measure non-controlling interests either at its fair value or at its
proportionate interest in the recognised amount of the identifiable net assets of the acquiree at the acquisition date.

Notes to the Accounts
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1     Statement on accounting policies (continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
Acquisitions between 1 October 2004 and 1 January 2010
For acquisitions between 1 October 2004 and 1 January 2010, goodwill represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition
over the Group’s interest in the recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities of the acquiree. When the excess was negative, a bargain purchase gain was recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the Group incurred in
connection with business combinations were capitalised as part of the cost of the acquisition.

Acquisitions prior to 1 October 2004 (date of transition to IFRSs)
IFRS 1 grants certain exemptions from the full requirements of Adopted IFRSs in the transition period. The Group and
Company elected not to restate business combinations that took place prior to 1 October 2004. In respect of acquisitions
prior to 1 October 2004, goodwill is included at 1 October 2004 on the basis of its deemed cost, which represents the
amount recorded under UK GAAP which was broadly comparable save that only separable intangibles were recognised and
goodwill was amortised. On transition amortisation of goodwill ceased as required by IFRS 1.

Acquisitions and disposals of non-controlling interests
Acquisitions and disposals of non-controlling interests that do not result in a change of control are accounted for as
transactions with owners in their capacity as owners and therefore no goodwill is recognised as a result of such transactions.
The adjustments to non-controlling interests are based on a proportionate amount of the net assets of the subsidiary. Any
difference between the price paid or received and the amount by which non-controlling interests are adjusted is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the parent.

Prior to the adoption of IAS 27 (2008), goodwill was recognised on the acquisition of non-controlling interests in a subsidiary,
which represented the excess of the cost of the additional investment over the carrying amount of the interest in the net
assets acquired at the date of the transaction.

Goodwill
Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash generating units and is not
amortised but is tested annually for impairment. In respect of equity accounted investees, the carrying amount of goodwill is
included in the carrying amount of the investment in the investee.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets, other than goodwill, acquired by the Group have finite useful lives and are measured at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Where amortisation is charged on these assets, the expense
is taken to the income statement through operating costs.

Amortisation of mineral rights is provided on a units of production basis over the remaining life of mine to residual value (20 to
40 years).

All other intangible assets are amortised over their useful economic lives subject to a maximum of 20 years and are tested for
impairment at each reporting date when there is an indication of a possible impairment.

Property, plant and equipment
Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is included in the statement of financial position at cost and subsequently less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Costs include expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets
includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working
condition for its intended use, and any other costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they
are located. Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gain or loss on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency
purchases of property, plant and equipment. Borrowing costs incurred on the acquisition or construction of qualifying assets
are capitalised to the cost of the asset.

Gains and losses on disposals of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds on
disposal with the carrying value of property, plant and equipment and are recognised net in the income statement.

Notes to the Accounts
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1     Statement on accounting policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Componentisation
When significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as
separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is
probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group and its cost can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised upon replacement. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of
property, plant and equipment are recognised in the income statement as incurred.

Capital work in progress
Development costs are capitalised and transferred to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
available for use.

Capitalised development costs include expenditure incurred to develop new operations and to expand existing capacity.
Costs include interest capitalised during the period up to the level that the qualifying assets permit.

Depreciation
Depreciation is provided on a straight line or units of production basis as appropriate over their expected useful lives or the
remaining life of mine, if shorter, to residual value. The life of mine is based on proven and probable reserves. The expected
useful lives of the major categories of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Method Rate

Shafts and underground Units of production 2.5% – 5.0% per annum 20 – 40 years 
Metallurgical Straight line 2.5% – 7.1% per annum 14 – 40 years 
Infrastructure Straight line 2.5% – 2.9% per annum 35 – 40 years 
Other plant and equipment Straight line 2.5% – 50.0% per annum 2 – 40 years 

No depreciation is provided on surface mining land which has a continuing value and capital work in progress.

Residual values and useful lives are re-assessed annually and if necessary changes are accounted for prospectively.

Impairment – Non-financial assets (excluding inventories and deferred tax)
The Group’s principal non-financial assets (excluding inventories and deferred tax assets) are property, plant and equipment,
intangibles and goodwill associated with mining and processing activities. For the purpose of assessing the recoverable amount,
these assets are grouped into cash generating units (CGUs). The Group’s two key CGU’s are:

i) Marikana, which includes Western Platinum Limited (WPL) and Eastern Platinum Limited (EPL). The Marikana CGU mines
and processes substantially all of the ore produced by the Group; and

ii) Akanani Mining (Proprietary) Limited, an exploration and evaluation asset located on the Northern Limb of the Bushveld
Complex in South Africa.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. At each financial reporting date, the Group
assesses whether there is any indication that those assets are impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the assets is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment (if any).

Goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are tested for impairment annually regardless of whether an
indication of impairment exists.

Items of property, plant and equipment that are not in use are reviewed annually for impairment on a fair value less costs to
sell basis.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. Any impairment is recognised immediately as an expense.

Value in use
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows, based on the most up to date business forecasts or studies for
exploration and evaluation assets, are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the assets for which estimates of future cash flows
have not been adjusted.

Notes to the Accounts
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1     Statement on accounting policies (continued)
Impairment – Non-financial assets (excluding inventories and deferred tax) (continued)
The key assumptions contained within the business forecasts and management’s approach to determine appropriate values
are set out below:

Key Assumption Management Approach

PGM prices Projections are determined through a combination of the views of the Directors,
market estimates and forecasts and other sector information. The Platinum price is
projected to be in the range of $1,600 to $2,100 per ounce in real terms over the life
of the mine. Palladium and Rhodium prices are expected to range between $750
and $1,200 and $1,000 and $2,000 respectively per ounce in real terms over the
same period.

Production volume Projections are based on the capacity and expected operational capabilities of the
mines, the grade of the ore, and the efficiencies of processing and refining
operations.

Production costs Projections are based on current cost adjusted for expected cost changes as well as
giving consideration to specific issues such as the difficulty in mining particular
sections of the reef and the mining method employed.

Capital expenditure requirements Projections are based on the operational plan, which sets out the long-term plan of
the business and is approved by the Board.

Foreign currency exchange rates Spot rates as at the end of the reporting period are applied.
Reserves and resources of the CGU Projections are determined through surveys performed by Competent Persons and

the views of the Directors of the Company.

Management uses past experience and assessment of future conditions, together with external sources of information in
order to assign values to the key assumptions.

Management has projected cash flows over the life of the relevant mining operation which is significantly greater than 5 years.
For the Marikana CGU a life of mine spanning until 2056 was applied. For the Akanani CGU the life of mine spans until 2049.
Projecting cash flows over a period longer than 5 years is in line with industry practice and is supported by the Group’s history
of the resources expected to be found being proven to exist. Management does not apply a growth rate because a detailed
life of mine plan is used to forecast future production volumes.

For each CGU a risk-adjusted pre-tax discount rate is used for impairment testing. The key factors affecting the risk premium
applied are the relevant stage of the development of the asset in the CGU (extensions to existing operations having
significantly lower risk than evaluation projects for example), the level of knowledge and consistency of the ore body and
sovereign risk. The rate applied in the Marikana CGU for 2013 was 11.8% real (2012 – 11.6% real). The rate applied for the
exploration and evaluation asset in the Akanani CGU for 2013 was 14.8% nominal (2012 – 14.3% nominal).

In preparing the financial statements, management has considered whether a reasonably possible change in the key
assumptions on which management has based its determination of the recoverable amounts of the CGUs would cause the
units’ carrying amounts to exceed their recoverable amounts. For the Marikana CGU management do not believe that a
reasonably possible change in any of the key assumptions would lead to impairment. The Akanani CGU was impaired in
2012, and as such a change to any of the key assumptions would lead to further impairment or reversal of impairment. The
approximate effects on the carrying amount of the Akanani CGU of movements in three key assumptions would be as follows:

Assumption Movement in assumption Approximate impact on recoverable amount

Metal prices +/-10% +/-$42m
ZAR:USD exchange rate +/-10% +/-$69m
Discount rate +/- 100 basis points +/-$61m

Fair value less costs to sell
Fair value less costs to sell has been determined by reference to the best information available to reflect the amount that the
Group could receive for the CGU in an arm’s length transaction.

When comparable market transactions or public valuations of similar assets exist these are used as a source of evidence.
However, the Group believes that mining CGUs tend to be unique and have their value determined largely by the nature of the
underlying ore body. The fair value therefore is typically determined by calculating the value of the CGU using an appropriate
valuation methodology such as calculating the post-tax net present value using a discounted cash flow forecast (as described
in value in use).

Exploration and evaluation assets
Under IFRS 6 exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that the
carrying amount of the assets may exceed their recoverable amount. When this occurs, any impairment loss is immediately
charged to the income statement.

Notes to the Accounts
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1     Statement on accounting policies (continued)
Impairment – Non-financial assets (excluding inventories and deferred tax) (continued)
Akanani exploration and evaluation asset
The Akanani CGU is currently at pre-feasibility study level and value in use calculations for the CGU are calculated using cash
flows derived from the results of the latest study. Given the Akanani CGU is at the exploration and evaluation stage it is
reasonably possible that the completion of that stage will result in changes to indicated and inferred reserves of PGM ounces
and a further refinement of capital and operating expenses. In addition the quantity of resources is also sensitive to the long-
term metal prices. Adverse changes in reserves and resources, capital and operating expenses, and long-term metal prices
might cause the recoverable amount to fall below the carrying amount of the CGU. As mentioned above, the Akanani CGU
was impaired in 2012, and given any reasonably possible change in assumptions could have an impact on the carrying
amount, a formal impairment assessment was performed again in 2013.

Goodwill
The recoverable amount of goodwill, as allocated to relevant CGUs, has been tested for impairment annually, or when such
events or changes in circumstances indicate that it may be impaired.

Any impairment is recognised immediately in the income statement.

Impairment losses within a CGU are allocated first to goodwill and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in
the unit on a pro-rata basis.

Reversal of impairment
At each financial reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that a previously recognised impairment
loss has reversed. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is only reversed to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation and amortisation, had the impairment not been made.
A reversal of impairment is recognised as income immediately except for previously impaired goodwill which is never reversed.

Impairment – financial assets (including receivables)
A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there
is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss event has
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future cash
flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest
rate. Interest on the impaired asset continues to be recognised through the unwinding of the discount. When a subsequent
event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

Leases
Assets held under finance leases are capitalised and included in property, plant and equipment at the lower of the present
value of the minimum lease payments or the fair value of the leased asset as determined at the inception of the lease. The
obligations relating to finance leases, net of finance charges in respect of future periods, are included within bank loans and
other borrowings, with the amount payable within twelve months included in bank overdrafts and loans within current
liabilities. The interest element of the rental obligation is allocated to accounting periods during the lease term to reflect the
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the obligation for each accounting period. Rentals under operating leases
are charged to the income statement on a straight line basis.

Assets held for sale
When an asset’s carrying value will be recovered principally through a sale transaction, to take place within twelve months of
the financial reporting date, rather than through continuing use it is classified as held for sale and stated at the lower of
carrying value and fair value less costs to sell. No depreciation is charged in respect of non-current assets classified as held
for sale. Immediately prior to sale the assets are remeasured in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies.

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost (which includes the applicable proportion of production overheads) and net
realisable value.

PGMs inventory is valued by allocating costs, based on the joint cost of production, apportioned according to the relative
sales value of each of the PGMs produced.

By-product metals are valued at the incremental cost of production from the point of split off from the PGM processing stream.

In the process of initially developing the ore reserve it is common that metal is produced, although not at normal operating
levels. Development is split into different phases according to the mining method used with differing levels of production
expected in each phase. The Group recognises the metal produced in each development phase in inventory with an
appropriate proportion of cost as operating costs. This allocation is calculated by reference to the produced volumes in
relation to the total volumes expected from the development.

Notes to the Accounts
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1     Statement on accounting policies (continued)
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and current balances with banks and similar institutions, which are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value and have an original
maturity of three months or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents
as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts as the bank overdraft is repayable on demand and forms an integral part
of the Group’s cash management.

Rehabilitation costs
Rehabilitation costs are provided in full based on estimates of the future costs to be incurred, calculated on a discounted
basis. As the provision is recognised, it is either capitalised as part of the cost of the related mine or written off to the income
statement if utilised within one year. Where costs are capitalised the impact of such costs on the income statement is spread
over the life of mine through the accretion of the discount of the provision and the depreciation over a units of production
basis of the increased costs of the mining assets.

Provisions
Provision is made when a present or legal obligation exists for a future liability in respect of a past event and where the
amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

Financial instruments
The Group’s principal financial instruments (other than derivatives) comprise bank loans, available for sale financial assets,
trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, trade and other payables and short-term deposits.

Non-derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value plus, for instruments not at fair value through the
income statement, any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition non-derivative financial
instruments are measured as described below.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. These also comprise bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand, for the purpose of the cash flow statement only.

Investments are classified into loans and receivables, held-to-maturity and available for sale. The classification depends on the
purpose for which the investments were acquired, the nature of the investments and whether the investment is quoted or not.
The classification of investments is determined at initial recognition.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables and investments classified as held-to-maturity are carried at amortised cost and gains or losses are
recognised in the income statement when the investments are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation
process.

The Company is the holder of a financial instrument issued by its BEE partner, Shanduka. The loan component of the hybrid
instrument was recognised initially at fair value and thereafter will be held at amortised cost. The loan is denominated in
Sterling. The financial instrument was translated to preference shares on 31 March 2011. The related dividends accumulate
on a month to month basis based on the same rates as the interest rates of the original financial instrument.

Available for sale financial assets
The Group’s investments in equity securities and certain debt securities are classified as available for sale financial assets.
Subsequent to initial recognition they are measured at fair value and any changes are recognised directly in equity except for
impairment losses and, in the case of monetary items, foreign exchange gains and losses. When an investment is written off
or sold, any cumulative gains or losses in equity are recycled into the income statement. Fair value is determined by using the
market price at the financial reporting date where this is available. Where market price is not available the Directors’ best
estimates of market value are used.

Bank loans
Bank loans are recorded at amortised cost, net of transaction costs incurred, and are adjusted to amortise transaction costs
over the term of the loan.

Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are principally used by the Group to manage exposure to market risks from treasury
operations and commodity price risks on by-products. The principal derivative instruments used are foreign currency swaps,
interest rate swaps, forward foreign exchange contracts and forward price agreements on by-products. The Group does not
hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.
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1     Statement on accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
 Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised in the statement of financial position at fair value and then remeasured
to fair value at subsequent reporting dates. Attributable costs are recognised in profit or loss when incurred. The method of
recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument and, if so, the
nature of the item being hedged. Hedging derivatives are classified on inception as fair value hedges or cash flow hedges.

On initial designation of the derivative as the hedging instrument, the Group formally documents the relationship between the
hedging instrument and hedged item, including the risk management objectives and strategy in undertaking the hedge
transaction and the hedged risk, together with the methods that will be used to assess the effectiveness of the hedging
relationship. The Group makes an assessment, both at the inception of the hedge relationship as well as on an ongoing basis,
of whether the hedging instruments are expected to be “highly effective” in offsetting the changes in fair value or cash flows of
the respective hedged items attributable to the hedged risk, and whether the actual results of each hedge are within a range
of 80 – 125%. For a cash flow hedge of a forecast transaction, the transaction should be highly probable to occur and should
present an exposure to variations in cash flows that could ultimately affect reported profit or loss.

When a derivative is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of the variability in cash flows attributable to a particular
risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction that could affect profit or loss, the
effective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in
the hedging reserve in equity. Any gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The fair value gains and losses accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss in the same period that the hedged item
affects profit or loss. If the hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, expires or is sold, terminated
or exercised, or the designation is revoked, then hedge accounting is revoked prospectively.

Changes in the fair value of any derivative instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is the transaction price, for example, the fair
value of the consideration given or received, unless the fair value of that instrument is evidenced by comparison with other
observable current market transactions in the same instrument (for example without modification or repackaging) or based
on a valuation technique whose variables include only data from observable markets. When transaction price provides the
best evidence of fair value at initial recognition, the financial instrument is initially measured at the transaction price and any
difference between this price and the value initially obtained from a valuation model is subsequently recognised in profit or loss
on a straight line basis over the life of the instrument but not later than when the valuation is supported wholly by observable
market data or the transaction is closed out.

Segmental reporting
The core principle of IFRS 8 – Operating Segments is that an entity shall disclose information to enable users to evaluate the
nature and financial effects of the business activities in which it engages and the economic environments in which it operates.
On this basis Lonmin has three reportable operating segments being:

• PGM Operations – which comprise operational mines and processing facilities which are located in South Africa.

• Evaluation – which relates to the Akanani asset which is located in South Africa and is in the evaluation stage.

• Exploration – this essentially relates to the costs of exploration projects which have the objective of identifying PGM
deposits which can be commercially realised and which can occur anywhere in the world.

Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on
a reasonable basis.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to acquire property, plant and equipment, and
intangible assets other than goodwill, and any capitalised interest.

EU endorsed IFRS not yet applied by the Group
The following new IFRS have been issued, but are not effective for Lonmin Plc for the financial year ended 30 September 2013:

• Effective for Lonmin Plc for the period beginning 1 October 2013:
– Annual Improvements to IFRS 2009-2011 cycle 
– IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
– IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine

• Effective for Lonmin Plc for periods beginning 1 October 2014:
– Transition Guidance (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12)
– IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements 
– IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements 
– IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
– IAS 27 (2011) Separate Financial Statements
– Amendments to IAS 28 (2008) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

The Group does not currently intend to early adopt these IFRS. The Group already applies the principals of IFRIC 20, and
as such no impact is expected from adoption of this standard. The Group is yet to finalise its assessment of the impact
of adopting the other new IFRS.

Notes to the Accounts
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2     Segmental analysis
The Group distinguishes between three reportable operating segments being the Platinum Group Metals (PGM) Operations
segment, the Evaluation segment and the Exploration segment.

The PGM Operations segment comprises the activities involved in the mining and processing of PGMs, together with associated
base metals, which are carried out entirely in South Africa. These operations are integrated and designed to support the process
for extracting and refining PGMs from underground. PGMs move through each stage of the process and undergo successive
levels of refinement which result in fully refined metals. The Chief Executive Officer, who performs the role of Chief Operating
Decision Maker (CODM), views the PGM Operations segment as a single whole for the purposes of financial performance
monitoring and assessment and does not make resource allocations based on margin, costs or cash flows incurred at each
separate stage of the process. In addition, the CODM makes his decisions for running the business on a day to day basis using
the physical operating statistics generated by the business as these summarise the operating performance of the entire segment.

The Evaluation segment covers the evaluation through pre-feasibility of the economic viability of newly discovered PGM
deposits. Currently all of the evaluation projects are based in South Africa.

The Exploration segment covers the activities involved in the discovery or identification of new PGM deposits. This activity
occurs on a worldwide basis.

No operating segments have been aggregated. Operating segments have consistently adopted the consolidated basis of
accounting and there are no differences in measurement applied. Other covers mainly the results and investment activities of
the corporate Head Office. The only intersegment transactions involve the provision of funding between segments and any
associated interest.

Year ended 30 September 2013

PGM
Operations Evaluation Exploration Intersegment
Segment Segment Segment Other Adjustments Total 

$m $m $m $m $m $m

Revenue (external sales by product):
Platinum 1,055 – – – – 1,055
Palladium 224 – – – – 224
Gold 28 – – – – 28
Rhodium 85 – – – – 85
Ruthenium 13 – – – – 13
Iridium 27 – – – – 27

PGMs 1,432 – – – – 1,432
Nickel 46 – – – – 46
Copper 15 – – – – 15
Chrome 27 – – – – 27

1,520 – – – – 1,520

Underlying i:
EBITDA/(LBITDA) ii 339 8 (4) (22) – 321
Depreciation, amortisation
and impairment (157) – – – – (157)

Operating profit/(loss) ii 182 8 (4) (22) – 164
Finance income 13 – – 14 (18) 9
Finance expenses (25) – – (12) 18 (19)
Share of profit of equity
accounted investments 4 – – – – 4

Profit/(loss) before taxation 174 8 (4) (20) – 158
Income tax expense (27) – – – – (27)

Underlying profit/(loss) after taxation 147 8 (4) (20) – 131
Special items (note 3) iii 68 – – (1) – 67

Profit/(loss) after taxation 215 8 (4) (21) – 198

Total assets iv 3,899 276 – 1,603 (1,162) 4,616
Total liabilities v (1,909) (187) (42) (30) 1,162 (1,006)

Net assets 1,990 89 (42) 1,573 – 3,610

Share of net assets of equity
accounted investments vi 36 – – – – 36

Additions to property, plant,
equipment and intangibles 174 7 – – – 181

Material non cash items –
share-based payments 13 – – 1 – 14
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2     Segmental analysis (continued)

Year ended 30 September 2012

PGM
Operations Evaluation Exploration Intersegment

Segment Segment Segment Other Adjustments Total 
$m $m $m $m $m $m

Revenue (external sales by product):
Platinum 1,064 – – – – 1,064
Palladium 212 – – – – 212
Gold 31 – – – – 31
Rhodium 152 – – – – 152
Ruthenium 17 – – – – 17
Iridium 39 – – – – 39

PGMs 1,515 – – – – 1,515
Nickel 55 – – – – 55
Copper 16 – – – – 16
Chrome 28 – – – – 28

1,614 – – – – 1,614

Underlying i:
EBITDA/(LBITDA) ii 202 3 (4) (8) – 193
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment (126) – – – – (126)

Operating profit/(loss) ii 76 3 (4) (8) – 67
Finance income 5 – – 14 (14) 5
Finance expenses (15) – – (18) 14 (19)
Share of profit of equity accounted investments 2 – – 2 – 4

Profit/(loss) before taxation 68 3 (4) (10) – 57
Income tax expense (39) – – – – (39)

Underlying profit/(loss) after taxation 29 3 (4) (10) – 18
Special items (note 3) iii (103) (481) – 16 – (568)

(Loss)/profit after taxation (74) (478) (4) 6 – (550)

Total assets iv 3,862 269 – 1,493 (1,001) 4,623
Total liabilities v (2,094) (188) (46) (551) 1,001 (1,878)

Net assets 1,768 81 (46) 942 – 2,745

Share of net assets of equity
accounted investments 42 – – 115 – 157

Additions to property, plant, equipment
and intangibles 439 5 – – – 444

Material non cash items – share-based payments 13 – – 1 – 14

Revenue by destination is analysed by geographical area below:

Year ended Year ended
30 September 30 September

2013 2012
$m $m

The Americas 411 319
Asia 461 485
Europe 451 508
South Africa 197 302

1,520 1,614

The Group’s revenues are all derived from the PGM Operations segment. This segment has two major customers who
contributed 62% ($937 million) and 30% ($459 million) of revenue in the year (2012 – 49% ($794 million) and 29% ($473 million)).
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2     Segmental analysis (continued)
Metal sales prices are based on market prices which are denominated in US Dollars. The majority of sales are also invoiced in
US Dollars with the exception of certain sales in South Africa which are invoiced in South African Rand based on exchange
rates determined in accordance with the contractual arrangements.

Non-current assets, excluding financial instruments, by geographical area are shown below:

Year ended Year ended
30 September 30 September

2013 2012
$m $m

South Africa 3,446 3,547
Europe – 1

3,446 3,548

Footnotes:
i Underlying results are based on reported results excluding the effect of special items as defined in note 3.

ii EBITDA/(LBITDA) and operating profit/(loss) are the key profit measures used by management.

iii The impairment of Akanani to the value of $nil (2012 – $602 million) is included under special items in the segmental analysis. Akanani forms part of
the Evaluation segment.

iv The assets under “Other” include the HDSA receivable of $399 million (2012 – $381 million) and intercompany receivables of $1,162 million (2012 –
$707 million).

v The liabilities under “Other” include non-current borrowings of $nil (2012 – $500 million).

vi Refer to footnote v in the statement of changes in equity.

3     Special items
‘Special items’ are those items of financial performance that the Group believes should be separately disclosed on the face of
the income statement to assist in the understanding of the financial performance achieved by the Group and for consistency
with prior years.

2013 2012
$m $m

Operating loss: (17) (769)
– Costs relating to illegal work stoppage i

Idle fixed production costs – (120)
Contract costs – (29)
Payroll costs – (7)
Other costs (7) (3)

– Capital raising costs – (5)
– Impairment of property, plant and equipment – 2
– Restructuring and reorganisation costs ii (10) –
– Costs incurred relating to disputed prospecting rights – (5)
– Impairment of exploration and evaluation asset iii – (602)
Impairment of available for sale financial assets iv (2) (6)
Share of impairment recognised in investment in associate – (10)
Net finance income: 1 30
– Interest accrued from HDSA receivable v 17 16
– Foreign exchange gain on HDSA receivable v 1 14
– Net change in fair value of settled cash flow hedges vi 7 –
– Unwinding fees relating to early settlement of interest rate swap vi (14) –
– Foreign exchange gain on holding Rights Issue proceeds received in advance (note 31) 1 –
– Loss on forward exchange contracts in respect of Rights Issue (note 31) (11) –

Loss on special items before taxation (18) (755)
Taxation related to special items (note 7) 85 187

Special gain/(loss) before non-controlling interests 67 (568)
Non-controlling interests (10) 143

Special gain/(loss) for the year attributable to equity shareholders of Lonmin Plc 57 (425)



Lonmin Plc
Annual Report and Accounts 2013

Financial Statements

/ 124

Notes to the Accounts

3     Special items (continued)
Footnotes:
i Residual strike related costs arising from the events at Marikana continue to be incurred. For the year ended 30 September 2013, these costs

totalled $7 million and largely consisted of communication costs relating to reputational rebuild as well as costs related to the ongoing Farlam
Commission.

The costs for 2012 related to fixed production overheads incurred during the illegal strike period for which there was no associated production
output and costs arising directly as a result of the strike action. The total of these strike related costs amounted to $159 million. Idle fixed
production costs incurred during the strike period amounted to $120 million. Costs relating to contractors not being able to fulfil their obligations
as a result of the disruption amounted to $29 million. The negotiated wage settlement included an amount to be paid to employees on their return
to work which totalled $7 million. Other costs related to the strike included additional security, media coordination and consumables.

ii These costs relate to the management restructuring exercise completed during 2013.

iii Impairment charges relate to the write down of goodwill and the exploration and evaluation asset of Akanani (see note 11).

iv The $2 million (2012 – $6 million) impairment of available for sale financial assets represents the loss in value below the original cost price of one
of our investments.

v During the year ended 30 September 2010 the Group provided financing to assist a subsidiary of Shanduka Resources (Proprietary) Limited
to acquire a majority shareholding in Incwala, Lonmin’s BEE partner. This financing gave rise to foreign exchange movements and the accrual
of interest.

vi Refer to note 6 for detail regarding the unwinding of the interest rate swap derivative.

4     Group operating profit/(loss)
Group operating profit/(loss) is stated after charging/(crediting):

2013 2012
$m $m

Depreciation charge – property, plant and equipment 150 120
Amortisation charge – intangible assets 7 6
Employee benefits of key management excluding share-based payments and attraction bonuses i 4 5
Share-based payments 14 14
Foreign exchange gains (49) (17)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 5 –
Special items (note 3) 17 769

Footnote:
i Employee benefits of key management excluding share-based payments and attraction bonuses include $2 million (2012 – $3 million) in respect

of Directors.

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and its associates included in operating costs:

2013 2012
$m $m

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Company’s annual accounts 0.4 0.4
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and its associates for other services:
The audit of the Company’s subsidiaries, pursuant to legislation 0.7 0.7
Audit-related assurance services:
– Interim Review 0.2 0.2

Other assurance services:
– Sustainability Assurance services 0.2 0.3
– Comfort letters in connection with capital raising initiatives – 0.1
– Comfort letters in connection with Rights Issue 0.7 –

All other non-audit services 0.2 –

2.4 1.7

Fees paid to KPMG Audit Plc and its associates for non-audit services to the Company are not disclosed in the individual accounts
of Lonmin Plc because the Company’s consolidated accounts are required to disclose such fees on a consolidated basis.
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5     Employees
The average number of employees and Directors during the year was as follows:

2013 2012
No. No.

South Africa 27,200 28,222
Europe 8 8

27,208 28,230

The aggregate payroll costs of employees, key management and Directors were as follows:

2013 2012
Employee costs $m $m

Wages and salaries 651 668
Social security costs 26 21
Pension costs 51 52
Share-based payments 14 14

742 755

The vast majority of employee costs are denominated in Rand and reported Dollar costs are therefore subject to foreign
exchange movements.

2013 2012
Key management compensation $m $m

Short-term employee benefits excluding share-based payments and attraction bonuses 4 5
Share-based payments 1 2
Attraction bonuses 1 –

6 7

The key management compensation analysed above represents amounts in respect of the Executive Committee (Exco) which
comprised the two executive Directors and six other senior managers, two of whom joined the Exco during September 2013
(2012 – two executive Directors and four other senior managers).

The Sterling equivalents of total Directors’ emoluments and emoluments of the highest paid Director together with full details
of Directors’ remuneration, pensions and benefits in kind are given in the Remuneration Committee Report.

The Group operates defined contribution schemes in the UK and South Africa. There were no accrued obligations under
defined contribution plans at 30 September 2013 and 2012.

The total pension cost for the Group was $51 million (2012 – $52 million), $50 million of which related to South African
schemes (2012 – $51 million).



Lonmin Plc
Annual Report and Accounts 2013

Financial Statements

/ 126

Notes to the Accounts

6     Net finance (expenses)/income
2013 2012
$m $m

Finance income: 9 5
– Interest receivable on cash and cash equivalents 1 4
– Other interest receivable – 1
– Foreign exchange gains on net cash/(debt) i 8 –
Finance expenses: (19) (19)
– Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts (11) (20)
– Effective portion of cash flow hedges released to the income statement – (5)
– Bank fees (7) (6)
– Unamortised bank fees realised on settlement of old loan facility (note 30) (3) –
– Capitalised interest ii 11 26
– Unwind of discounting on provisions (note 23) (9) (11)
– Ineffective portion of cash flow hedges released to the income statement – (2)
– Foreign exchange losses on net cash/(debt) i – (1)
Special items (note 3): 1 30
– Interest on HDSA receivable (note 14) 17 16
– Foreign exchange gain on HDSA receivable (note 14) 1 14
– Net change in fair value of settled cash flow hedges iii 7 –
– Unwinding fees relating to early settlement of interest rate swap iii (14) –
– Foreign exchange gain on holding Rights Issue proceeds received in advance (note 31) 1 –
– Loss on forward exchange contracts in respect of Rights Issue (note 31) (11) –

Net finance (expenses)/income (9) 16

Footnotes:
i Net cash/(debt) as defined by the Group comprises cash and cash equivalents, bank overdrafts repayable on demand and interest bearing loans

and borrowings less unamortised bank fees, unless the unamortised bank fees relate to undrawn facilities in which case they are treated as other
receivables.

ii Interest expenses incurred have been capitalised on a Group basis to the extent that there is an appropriate qualifying asset. The weighted average
interest rate used by the Group for capitalisation is 5.9% (2012 – 4.3%).

iii The interest rate swap entered into in 2011 was unwound after the funds raised from the Rights Issue were used to settle the underlying bank debt.
The equity related hedging loss of $8 million and the derivative liability of $15 million were transferred to the income statement resulting in net
finance income of $7 million. In addition unwinding fees of $14 million were incurred for early settlement of the interest rate swap.

7     Taxation
2013 2012
$m $m

Current tax charge (excluding special items):
United Kingdom tax expense – –
Current tax expense at 23.5% (2012 – 25%) i – –
Less amount of the benefit arising from double tax relief available – –
Overseas current tax expense at 28% (2012 – 28%) 2 10
Corporate tax expense – current year 3 9
Adjustment in respect of prior years (1) 1

Deferred tax charge (excluding special items):
Deferred tax expense – UK and overseas 25 29
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 26 31
Adjustment in respect of prior years (1) (2)

Tax credit on special items – UK and overseas (note 3): (85) (187)
Reversal of utilisation of losses from prior years to offset deferred tax liability – (2)
Foreign exchange on current taxation ii 1 –
Foreign exchange on deferred taxation ii (81) (17)
Tax on special items impacting profit before tax (5) (168)

Actual tax credit (58) (148)

Tax charge excluding special items (note 3) 27 39

Effective tax rate (41)% 21%

Effective tax rate excluding special items (note 3) 17% 68%
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7     Taxation (continued)
A reconciliation of the standard tax charge/(credit) to the actual tax credit was as follows:

2013 2013 2012 2012
% $m % $m

Tax charge/(credit) on profit/(loss) at standard tax rate 28 39 28 (195)
Tax effect of:
– Unutilised losses iii 4 5 – –
– Foreign exchange impacts on taxable profits (17) (23) (2) 14
– Adjustment in respect of prior years (1) (2) – –
– Disallowed expenditure 1 1 – –
– Expenses/(income) not subject to tax 5 7 – (1)
Special items as defined above (61) (85) (5) 34

Actual tax credit (41) (58) 21 (148)

The Group’s primary operations are based in South Africa. The South African statutory tax rate is 28% (2012 – 28%). Lonmin
Plc operates a branch in South Africa which is also subject to a tax rate of 28% on branch profits (2012 – 28%). The
aggregated standard tax rate for the Group is 28% (2012 – 28%). The dividend withholding tax rate is 15% (2012 – 15%).
Dividends payable by the South African companies to Lonmin Plc are subject to a 5% withholding tax benefitting from double
taxation agreements.

Footnotes:
i Effective from 1 April 2013 the United Kingdom tax rate changed from 24% to 23%. Effective from 1 April 2014 the United Kingdom tax rate will

change from 23% to 21% and from 21% to 20% from 1 April 2015. This does not materially impact the Group’s recognised deferred tax liabilities.

ii Overseas tax charges are predominantly calculated based in Rand as required by the local authorities. As these subsidiaries’ functional currency
is US Dollar this leads to a variety of foreign exchange impacts being the retranslation of current and deferred tax balances and monetary assets,
as well as other translation differences. The Rand denominated deferred tax balance in US Dollars at 30 September 2013 is $388 million
(30 September 2012 – $461 million).

iii Unutilised losses reflect losses generated in entities for which no deferred tax is provided as it is not thought probable that future profits can be
generated against which a deferred tax asset could be offset or previously unrecognised losses utilised.

8     Earnings/(loss) per share
Earnings/(loss) per share (EPS/(LPS)) has been calculated on the profit attributable to equity shareholders amounting to
$166 million (2012 – loss of $410 million) using a weighted average number of 532,130,347 ordinary shares in issue (2012 –
380,691,485 ordinary shares).

During December 2012 the Group undertook a capital raising by way of a Rights Issue. As a result the EPS/(LPS) figures have
been adjusted retrospectively as required by IAS 33 – Earnings Per Share. On 11 December 2012, 365,496,943 ordinary
shares were issued with nine new ordinary shares issued for every existing five ordinary shares held. For the calculation of the
EPS/(LPS), the number of shares held prior to 11 December 2012 has been increased by a factor of 1.878 to reflect the
bonus element of the Rights Issue.

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share is based on the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue adjusted by dilutive
outstanding share options in accordance with IAS 33 – Earnings Per Share. In the year to 30 September 2012 outstanding
share options were anti-dilutive and so were excluded from diluted loss per share in accordance with IAS 33 – Earnings
Per Share.

2013 2012 (restated)

Profit for Per share Loss for Per share
the year Number of amount the year Number of amount

$m shares cents $m shares cents

Basic EPS/(LPS) 166 532,130,347 31.2 (410) 380,691,485 (107.7)
Share option schemes – 2,105,203 (0.1) – – –

Diluted EPS/(LPS) 166 534,235,550 31.1 (410) 380,691,485 (107.7)

2013 2012 (restated)

Profit for Per share Profit for Per share
the year Number of amount the year Number of amount

$m shares cents $m shares cents

Underlying EPS 109 532,130,347 20.5 15 380,691,485 3.9
Share option schemes – 2,105,203 (0.1) – 3,174,636 –

Diluted Underlying EPS 109 534,235,550 20.4 15 383,866,121 3.9
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8     Earnings/(loss) per share (continued)
Underlying earnings per share has been presented as the Directors consider it important to present the underlying results of
the business. Underlying earnings per share is based on the earnings attributable to equity shareholders adjusted to exclude
special items (as defined in note 3) as follows:

2013 2012 (restated)

Profit for Per share (Loss)/profit Per share
the year Number of amount for the year Number of amount

$m shares cents $m shares cents

Basic EPS/(LPS) 166 532,130,347 31.2 (410) 380,691,485 (107.7)
Special items (note 3) (57) – (10.7) 425 – 111.6

Underlying EPS 109 532,130,347 20.5 15 380,691,485 3.9

Headline earnings and the resultant headline earnings per share are specific disclosures defined and required by the
Johannesburg Stock Exchange. These are calculated as follows:

Year ended Year ended
30 September 30 September

2013 2012
$m $m

Earnings/(loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders (IAS 33 earnings) 166 (410)
Add back loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (note 4) 5 –
Add back impairment of assets (note 3) 2 616
Tax related to the above items (1) (120)
Non-controlling interests (1) (86)

Headline earnings 171 –

2013 2012 (restated)

Profit for Per share Loss for Per share
the year Number of amount the year Number of amount

$m shares cents $m shares cents

Headline EPS 171 532,130,347 32.1 – 380,691,485 –
Share option schemes – 2,105,203 (0.1) – 3,174,636 –

Diluted Headline EPS 171 534,235,550 32.0 – 383,866,121 –

9     Dividends
2013 2012

$m Cents per share $m Cents per share

Prior year final dividend paid in the year – – 31 15.0
Interim dividend paid in the year – – – –

Total dividend paid in the year – – 31 15.0

Interim dividend paid in the year – – – –
Proposed final dividend for the year – – – –

Total dividend in respect of the year – – – –
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10   Goodwill
2013 2012
$m $m

Cost:
At 30 September 186 186

Impairment:
At 1 October 2012 146 73
Impairment charge in the year – 73
At 30 September 2013 146 146

Net book value at 30 September 40 40

At 30 September 2013 and 30 September 2012 goodwill is allocated as follows:

– $40 million is allocated to the Marikana CGU which is within the PGM Operations segment. This arose on the buy out of
9.11% of the non-controlling interest in the principal mining operations of the Group in 2004.

– Goodwill in relation to the Akanani CGU was fully impaired in 2012.

The recoverable amounts of each of the CGUs’ goodwill has been determined using the higher of value in use and fair value
less costs to sell.

In determining the recoverable amounts for the Marikana and Akanani CGUs the key assumptions have been set out in the
Group’s impairment policy (see note 1).

11   Intangible assets
2013 2012

Exploration Exploration
and Mineral and Mineral

evaluation rights Other Total evaluation rights Other Total
$m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m

Cost:
At 1 October 737 344 37 1,118 733 344 37 1,114
Additions 7 – – 7 4 – – 4

At 30 September 744 344 37 1,125 737 344 37 1,118

Amortisation and impairment:
At 1 October 529 100 27 656 – 94 27 121
Charge for the year – 7 – 7 – 6 – 6
Impairment charge – – – – 529 – – 529

At 30 September 529 107 27 663 529 100 27 656

Net book value:
At 30 September 215 237 10 462 208 244 10 462

The Group has exploration and evaluation assets of $215 million (2012 – $208 million) relating to the exploration and
evaluation operations at Akanani. After deducting deferred tax of $46 million (2012 – $46 million) the net carrying value of
Akanani in the books is $169 million (2012 – $162 million) including the non-controlling interests’ share.

Additions to exploration and evaluation assets include $4 million of capitalised interest (2012 – $nil).

The Group’s approach to assessing the intangible assets, including exploration and evaluation assets, for impairment is set
out in the accounting policies (see note 1). In 2012 we completed a pre-feasibility study on the Akanani exploration and
evaluation asset. This study provided an update on the results of the original concept study undertaken at the time of
acquisition. Based on the results of this pre-feasibility study we impaired the asset by $602 million. The impairment charge
was applied first to reduce goodwill to nil, with the rest allocated to reduce the exploration and evaluation asset.

The Group has no indefinite life intangible assets other than goodwill (see note 10).
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12   Property, plant and equipment

Capital work Shafts and Other plant
in progress underground Metallurgical Infrastructure and equipment Total

$m $m $m $m $m $m

Cost or deemed cost:
At 1 October 2012 827 1,555 821 629 143 3,975
Additions 150 4 1 9 10 174
Transfers (181) 67 55 58 1 –
Disposals – (4) (6) (2) (1) (13)

At 30 September 2013 796 1,622 871 694 153 4,136

Depreciation and impairment:
At 1 October 2012 – 504 253 300 29 1,086
Charge for the year – 47 42 51 10 150
Disposals – (4) (2) (2) – (8)

At 30 September 2013 – 547 293 349 39 1,228

Net book value:
At 30 September 2013 796 1,075 578 345 114 2,908

At 30 September 2012 827 1,051 568 329 114 2,889

Capital work Shafts and Other plant
in progress underground Metallurgical Infrastructure and equipment Total

$m $m $m $m $m $m

Cost or deemed cost:
At 1 October 2011 715 1,471 666 570 133 3,555
Additions 394 25 4 7 10 440
Transfers (282) 59 168 55 – –
Disposals – – (17) (3) – (20)

At 30 September 2012 827 1,555 821 629 143 3,975

Depreciation and impairment:
At 1 October 2011 – 467 240 258 23 988
Charge for the year – 37 30 47 6 120
Impairment charge reversal – – – (2) – (2)
Disposals – – (17) (3) – (20)

At 30 September 2012 – 504 253 300 29 1,086

Net book value:
At 30 September 2012 827 1,051 568 329 114 2,889

At 30 September 2011 715 1,004 426 312 110 2,567

Interest capitalised during 2013 amounted to $7 million (2012 – $26 million). In accordance with the Group accounting policies
no depreciation has been provided on surface mining land having a book value of $13 million (2012 – $13 million).
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 13   Equity accounted investments
The Group owns 23.56% of the ordinary shares of its associate, Incwala Resources (Pty) Limited which is incorporated in
South Africa (refer to footnote i).

The Group also owns 42.5% of the Pandora joint venture whose operations are in South Africa. The Group equity accounts
for the joint venture as a jointly controlled entity. The functional currency of the Pandora joint venture is the South African
Rand. As a result any foreign exchange translation gains or losses on the net assets of the entity are recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

2013 2012

Group Group
share of share of 

net assets Goodwill Total net assets Goodwill Total
$m $m $m $m $m $m

Net book value at 1 October 157 – 157 169 6 175
Incwala equity accounting adjustment i (115) – (115) – – –
Share of profit/(loss) 4 – 4 – (6) (6)
Distribution of profits (2) – (2) (9) – (9)
Capital contributions 1 – 1 2 – 2
Foreign exchange (9) – (9) (5) – (5)

Net book value at 30 September 36 – 36 157 – 157

The Group’s share of the net assets of equity accounted investments comprises the following:

2013 2012

Associate i Joint venture Total Associate Joint venture Total
$m $m $m $m $m $m

Non-current assets – 46 46 134 49 183
Current assets – 10 10 7 10 17
Current liabilities – (19) (19) (3) (17) (20)
Non-current liabilities – (1) (1) (23) – (23)

Net assets – 36 36 115 42 157

Amounts recognised by the Group in respect of the equity accounted investments comprise:

2013 2012

Associate i Joint venture Total Associate Joint venture Total
$m $m $m $m $m $m

Share of net assets – 36 36 115 42 157
Goodwill – – – – – –

– 36 36 115 42 157

The Group’s share of the profit/(loss) of equity accounted investments comprises the following:

2013 2012

Associate i Joint venture Total Associate Joint venture Total
$m $m $m $m $m $m

Revenue/income – 23 23 3 18 21
Expenses including taxation – (19) (19) (1) (16) (17)
Special item:
– Impairment of investment in Akanani – – – (10) – (10)

Profit/(loss) – 4 4 (8) 2 (6)

Footnote:
i Where an associate owns an equity interest in a Group entity an adjustment is made to the equity accounting and the non-controlling interest to

avoid double counting. Any difference between the adjustment to the investment in the associate and non-controlling interest is taken directly to
equity. Since Incwala only holds interests in WPL, EPL and Akanani, which are all subsidiaries of Lonmin Plc, the adjustment resulted in the
investment in the associate being reduced to nil.
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14   Other financial assets

Available HDSA
Restricted cash for sale receivable Total

$m $m $m $m

At 1 October 2012 18 19 381 418
Interest accrued 1 – 17 18
Foreign exchange differences (5) – 1 (4)
Impairment loss – (2) – (2)

At 30 September 2013 14 17 399 430

Available HDSA
Restricted cash for sale receivable Total

$m $m $m $m

At 1 October 2011 17 31 351 399
Additions – 2 – 2
Interest accrued 1 – 16 17
Movement in fair value – (8) – (8)
Foreign exchange differences – – 14 14
Impairment loss – (6) – (6)

At 30 September 2012 18 19 381 418

Restricted cash deposits are in respect of rehabilitation obligations.

Available for sale financial assets include listed investments of $13 million (2012 – $19 million) held at fair value using the
market price on 30 September.

The $2 million (2012 – $6 million) impairment of available for sale financial assets represents the loss in value below the original
cost price of one of our investments.

On 8 July 2010, Lonmin Plc entered into an agreement to provide financing of £200 million to Lexshell 806 Investments
(Proprietary) Limited, a subsidiary of Shanduka Resources (Proprietary) Limited, to facilitate the acquisition, at fair value, of
50.03% of shares in Incwala Resources (Proprietary) Limited from the original HDSA shareholders. The terms of the financing
provided by Lonmin Plc to the Shanduka subsidiary include the accrual of interest on the HDSA receivable at fixed rates
based on a principal value of £200 million which is repayable after 5 years including accrued interest, or earlier at the
Shanduka subsidiary’s discretion. Also refer to note 21a.

15   Inventories

2013 2012
$m $m

Consumables 51 65
Work in progress 367 193
Finished goods 31 2

449 260

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense and included in cost of sales amounted to $1,184 million (2012 –
$1,374 million).
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16   Trade and other receivables

2013 2012
$m $m

Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade receivables 24 33
Other receivables 54 43
Prepayments and accrued income 3 3
Unamortised bank fees 5 –

86 79

17   Trade and other payables

2013 2012
$m $m

Trade payables 120 114
Accruals and other payables 161 207
Indirect taxation and social security 14 7

295 328

18   Interest bearing loans and borrowings

2013 2012
$m $m

Short-term loans:
Bank loans – unsecured – 123
Long-term loans:
Bank loans – unsecured – 613

– 736

The maturity profile of interest bearing loans and borrowings is disclosed in note 21b.

As at 30 September 2013 unamortised bank fees of $5 million relating to undrawn facilities were treated as other receivables
(30 September 2012 – $6 million of unamortised bank fees relating to drawn facilities were offset against loans).

During the year under review, the Group revised its debt facilities on the back of the successful Rights Issue. The amended
US Dollar Facilities and amended Rand Facilities came into effect in December 2012. The proceeds of the Rights Issue were
used to repay the Group’s indebtedness under the original facilities, including (i) the repayment in full of amounts outstanding
(amounting to $300 million plus accrued interest and applicable break fees) under the US Dollar Term Loan, which facility was
cancelled; and (ii) the repayment of amounts outstanding under the US Dollar Revolving Credit Facility; and (iii) the repayment
of amounts outstanding under the Rand Facilities Agreements.

Bank debt facilities now consist of a $400 million syndicated revolving credit US Dollar facility and three South African Rand
bilateral facilities of R660 million each.

The main features of the $400 million syndicated facility which is supported by BNP Paribas S.A., Citigroup Global Markets
Limited, HSBC Bank Plc, J.P. Morgan Limited, Lloyds TSB Bank Plc, The Royal Bank of Scotland N.V. and Standard
Chartered Bank are as follows:

• a $400 million five year committed revolving credit facility that matures in May 2016; and

• the margin on the facility is in the range 300bps to 375bps.

The three R660 million bilateral facilities are at the WPL level, the operating company. These facilities are supported by
FirstRand Bank Limited, Investec Bank Limited and The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited. The main features of these
facilities are as follows:

• each facility is of a revolving credit nature and consists of a R330 million five year committed component that matures
in June 2016 and a R330 million one year committed component that can be rolled annually at the discretion of the
bank; and

• the margins on these facilities vary from facility to facility and bank to bank.
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18   Interest bearing loans and borrowings (continued)
The principal amendments to each of the original agreements were to remove the net debt/EBITDA and EBITDA/net interest
covenants and to substitute these with the following financial covenants:

• consolidated tangible net worth will not be less than $2,250 million;

• consolidated net debt will not exceed 25% of consolidated tangible net worth; and

• if:

– in respect of the amended US Dollar Facilities Agreement, the aggregate amount of outstanding loans exceeds $75 million
at any time during the last six months of any test period; or

– in respect of both the amended US Dollar Facilities Agreement and the amended Rand Facilities Agreements,
consolidated net debt exceeds $300 million as of the last day of any test period,

the capital expenditure of the Group must not exceed the limits set out in the table below, provided that, if 110% of
budgeted capital expenditure for any test period ending on or after 30 September 2013 is lower than the capital
expenditure limit set out in the table below for that test period, then the capital expenditure limit for that test period shall
be equal to 110% of such budgeted capital expenditure.

Capital expenditure
Test Period limit (ZAR)

1 October 2012 to 31 March 2013 (inclusive) 800,000,000
1 October 2012 to 30 September 2013 (inclusive) 1,600,000,000
1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014 (inclusive) 1,800,000,000
1 October 2013 to 30 September 2014 (inclusive) 2,000,000,000
1 April 2014 to 31 March 2015 (inclusive) 3,000,000,000
1 October 2014 to 30 September 2015 (inclusive) 4,000,000,000
1 April 2015 to 31 March 2016 (inclusive) 4,000,000,000
1 October 2015 to 30 September 2016 (inclusive) 4,000,000,000

As at 30 September 2013, Lonmin had net cash of $201 million, comprising of cash and equivalents (2012 – $421 million of
net debt). Undrawn facilities amounted to $598 million (2012 – $199 million).

19   Derivative financial instruments

2013 2012
$m $m

Current liabilities

Derivative financial instruments liability – 5

Non-current liabilities

Derivative financial instruments liability – 10

The Group does not undertake trading activity in financial instruments. Forward sales may be undertaken where the Board
determines that it is in the Group’s interest to hedge a proportion of future cash flows as they mitigate exposure to future price
fluctuations. Such forward sales are designated as cash flow hedges at inception. No forward sales were undertaken in 2013.

The interest rate swap entered into in 2011 was unwound after the funds raised from the Rights Issue were used to settle the
underlying bank debt. The equity related hedging loss of $8 million and the derivative liability of $15 million were transferred to
the income statement resulting in net finance income of $7 million.
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20   Deferred revenue
In March 2012 Lonmin Plc entered into a pre-paid sale of 75% of its current gold production for the next 54 months. Under
this contract Lonmin will deliver 70,700 ounces of gold over the period with delivery on a quarterly basis and in return received
an upfront payment of $107 million. Proceeds of the pre-paid sale are treated as deferred revenue and amortised to profit as
deliveries occur.

2013 2012
$m $m

Opening balance 94 –
Deferred revenue received – 107
Less: Contractual deliveries (24) (13)

Closing balance 70 94

Current liabilities

Deferred revenue 23 24

Non-current liabilities

Deferred revenue 47 70

21   Financial risk management
The main financial risks faced by the Group relate to the availability of funds to meet business needs (liquidity risk), the risk of
default by counterparties to financial transactions (credit risk), fluctuations in interest and foreign exchange rates and
commodity prices (market risk).

21a Credit risk
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

2013 2012
$m $m

Non-current assets:
HDSA receivable 399 381
Other financial assets 31 37

Current assets:
Trade receivables 24 33
Other receivables 54 43
Tax recoverable 4 3
Cash and cash equivalents 201 315

713 812

HDSA receivable
The HDSA receivable as described in note 14 is secured on shares in the HDSA borrower, Lexshell 806 Investments
(Proprietary) Limited, a subsidiary of Shanduka Resources (Proprietary) Limited. The HDSA borrower’s only asset of value
is its ultimate shareholding in Incwala. The value of the security is $403 million at 30 September 2013. As Incwala’s
principal assets are investments in WPL, EPL and Akanani, all subsidiaries of Lonmin Plc, the value in use models for the
Marikana and Akanani CGU’s as described in note 1 under Impairment of non-financial assets are applied to determine
the value of Incwala and in turn, the value of the HDSA borrower (the security). Key assumptions to the value in use
models are described in note 1 under Impairment of non-financial assets. Any downward changes in the key
assumptions would affect the value of the security which would lead to an impairment of the receivable as follows:

Assumption Movement in assumption Impairment of receivable

Metal prices –10% – $136m
ZAR:USD exchange rate –10% – $106m
Discount rate – 100 basis points – $49m
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21   Financial risk management (continued)
21a Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables
The Group is exposed to significant trade receivable credit risk through the sale of PGM metals to a limited group of
customers.

This risk is managed as follows:

• aged analysis is performed on trade receivable balances and reviewed on a monthly basis;

• credit ratings are obtained on any new customers and the credit ratings of existing customers are monitored on an
ongoing basis;

• credit limits are set for customers; and

• trigger points and escalation procedures are clearly defined.

It should be noted that a significant portion of Lonmin’s revenue is from two key customers. However, both of these
customers have strong investment grade ratings and their payment terms are very short, thereby reducing trade
receivable credit risk significantly.

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the reporting date by geographic location was:

2013 2012
$m $m

Asia 4 6
Europe 6 10
South Africa 14 17

24 33

The ageing of trade receivables at the reporting date was as follows:

2013 2012

Gross Provision Net Gross Provision Net
$m $m $m $m $m $m

Not past due 24 – 24 33 – 33

Banking counterparties
Banking counterparty credit risk is managed by spreading financial transactions across an approved list of counterparties
of high credit quality. Banking counterparties are approved by the Board and consist of the ten banks that have
participated in Lonmin’s existing bank debt facilities as described in note 18.

21b Liquidity risk and capital management
Liquidity risk
The policy on overall liquidity is to ensure that the Group has sufficient funds to facilitate all ongoing operations.

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including interest payments and excluding the impact of
netting agreements:

Carrying Contractual < 1 1 to 2 2 to 5 > 5
amount cash flows year years years years

30 September 2013 $m $m $m $m $m $m

Financial liabilities:
Trade and other payables 295 (295) (295) – – –

                                             

Carrying Contractual < 1 1 to 2 2 to 5 > 5
amount cash flows year years years years

30 September 2012 $m $m $m $m $m $m

Financial liabilities:
Unsecured bank loans 742 (840) (152) (80) (608) –
Trade and other payables 328 (328) (328) – – –
Derivative financial instruments 15 (15) (5) (5) (5) –
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21   Financial risk management (continued)
21b Liquidity risk and capital management (continued)

Capital management
The Group’s philosophy on capital management is to maintain a low level of financial gearing given the exposure of the
business to fluctuations in PGM commodity prices and the Rand/US Dollar exchange rate. The Group funds its
operations through a mixture of equity funding and bank borrowings.

The table below presents quantitative data for the components the Group manages as capital:

2013 2012
$m $m

Equity shareholders’ funds 3,409 2,488
Loans and borrowings – 736
Cash and cash equivalents (201) (315)

At 30 September 3,208 2,909

As part of the annual budgeting and long-term planning process, the Group’s cash flow forecast is reviewed and
approved by the Board. The cash flow forecast is amended for any material changes identified during the year, for
example material acquisitions and disposals. Where funding requirements are identified from the cash flow forecast,
appropriate measures are taken to ensure these requirements can be satisfied. Factors taken into consideration are:

• the size and nature of the requirement;

• preferred sources of finance applying key criteria of cost, commitment, availability, security/covenant conditions;

• recommended counterparties, fees and market conditions; and

• covenants, guarantees and other financial commitments.

In December 2012, Lonmin Plc successfully concluded a Rights Issue which raised net proceeds of $767 million (see
note 31). In conjunction with the Rights Issue, Lonmin Plc negotiated certain amendments to the terms of the Group’s
existing debt facilities. The proceeds of the Rights Issue were utilised to reduce the Group’s debt exposure.

21c Foreign currency risk
The Group’s operations are essentially based in South Africa and the majority of the revenue stream is in US Dollars.
However, the bulk of the Group’s operating costs and taxes are paid in Rand. Most of the cash received in South Africa
is in US Dollars. A majority of the Group’s funding sources are in US Dollars.

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on monetary items that are denominated in currencies other than the
functional currency of the relevant Group entity.

The table below shows the extent to which Group companies have monetary assets and liabilities in currencies other
than the functional currency of the relevant Group entity. Foreign exchange differences on retranslation of such assets
and liabilities are recognised in the income statement.

2013 2012

SA Rand Sterling Other Total SA Rand Sterling Other Total
$m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m

Non-current assets:
Other financial assets 14 – 17 31 18 – 19 37
HDSA receivable – 399 – 399 – 381 – 381

Current assets:
Trade and other receivables 68 – – 68 40 – – 40
Cash and cash equivalents 36 2 1 39 167 – – 167
Tax recoverable 4 – – 4 3 – – 3

Current liabilities:
Trade and other payables (284) (5) – (289) (284) (5) – (289)
Interest bearing loans and borrowings – – – – (123) – – (123)

Non-current liabilities:
Interest bearing loans and borrowings – – – – (122) – – (122)

(162) 396 18 252 (301) 376 19 94
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21   Financial risk management (continued)
21c Foreign currency risk (continued)

The principal exchange rates impacting the Group’s results are Rand/Dollar and Sterling/Dollar. Details of average
exchange rates and closing exchange rates can be found in the Operating Statistics.

The Group also carries a $388 million Rand denominated deferred tax liability on the balance sheet which is exposed to
currency risk (2012 – $461 million).

Our current policy is not to hedge Rand/US Dollar currency exposures and, therefore, fluctuations in the Rand to US
Dollar exchange rate can have a significant impact on the Group’s results. A strengthening of the Rand against the US
Dollar has an adverse effect on profits due to the majority of operating costs being paid in Rand.

The approximate effects on the Group’s results of a 10% movement in the Rand to US Dollar 2013 average and closing
exchange rate would be as follows:

2013 2012

Underlying operating profit/(loss) ±$130m ±$117m
Underlying profit/(loss) for the year ±$81m ±$69m
Equity ±$81m ±$69m
EPS (cents) ±15.2c ±18.1c

These sensitivities are based on 2013 prices, costs and volumes and assume all other variables remain constant.

21d Interest rate risk
The bulk of our borrowing facilities are in US Dollars and at floating rates of interest. The interest position is kept under
constant review in conjunction with the liquidity policy outlined in note 21b and the future funding requirements of the
business.

Based on contracted maturities the following amounts are exposed to interest rate risk over future years as shown below:

Weighted average
interest rate in 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

% $m $m $m $m

Liabilities:
Unsecured bank loans i 5.9 – – – –

Non-interest bearing At floating interest rates At fixed interest rates

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
$m $m $m $m $m $m

Financial assets:
US Dollar 10 36 162 148 – –
SA Rand 72 43 50 185 – –
Sterling – – 2 – 399 381
Other 17 19 1 – – –

99 98 215 333 399 381

Non-interest bearing At floating interest rates At fixed interest rates

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
$m $m $m $m $m $m

Financial liabilities:
US Dollar 6 39 – 212 – 300
SA Rand 284 284 – 245 – –
Sterling 5 5 – – – –
Other – – – – – –

295 328 – 457 – 300

Footnote:
i Figures are based on facilities outstanding at the financial reporting date.
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21   Financial risk management (continued)
21d Interest rate risk (continued)

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments
A change in the interest rate will have limited effect on equity and profit or loss due to the majority of interest being capitalised.

21e Commodity price risk
Our policy is not to hedge commodity price exposure on PGMs, except Gold, and therefore any change in prices will
have a direct effect on the Group’s trading results.

For base metals and gold, hedging is undertaken where the Board determines that it is in the Group’s interest to hedge a
proportion of future cash flows. The policy is to hedge up to a maximum of 75% of the future cash flows from the sale of
these products looking forward over the next 12 to 24 months. The Group did not undertake any hedging of base metals
under this authority in the financial year and no forward contracts were in place in respect of base metals at the end of
the year. In 2012 the Group undertook a pre-paid sale of Gold. Refer to note 20 for details.

The approximate effects on the Group’s results of a 10% movement in the 2013 average metal prices achieved for Platinum
(Pt) ($1,517 per ounce), Palladium (Pd) ($715 per ounce) and Rhodium (Rh) ($1,097 per ounce) would be as follows:

2013 2012

Pt Pd Rh Pt Pd Rh

Underlying operating profit/(loss) ±$106m ±$22m ±$9m ±$106m ±$21m ±$15m
Underlying profit/(loss) for the year ±$66m ±$14m ±$5m ±$63m ±$12m ±$9m
Equity ±$66m ±$14m ±$5m ±$63m ±$12m ±$9m
EPS (cents) ±17.2c ±3.7c ±1.4c ±16.5c ±3.2c ±2.3c

These sensitivities are based on 2013 prices, costs and volumes and assume all other variables remain constant.

21f Fair values
The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the statement of financial
position, are as follows:

2013 2012

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value

$m $m $m $m

Other financial assets 31 31 37 37
HDSA receivable 399 399 381 381
Trade and other receivables 78 78 76 76
Tax recoverable 4 4 3 3
Cash and cash equivalents 201 201 315 315

Financial assets 713 713 812 812

Trade and other payables (295) (295) (328) (328)
Unsecured bank loans – – (742) (742)
Derivative financial instruments – – (15) (15)

Financial liabilities (295) (295) (1,085) (1,085)

Net financial assets/(liabilities) 418 418 (273) (273)

Listed investments within other financial assets are marked to market. The unlisted investment is at Directors’ valuation
and the residual balances in available for sale financial assets relate to cash deposits held in respect of rehabilitation
obligations for which carrying values are at fair value.

The HDSA receivable represents loans held at amortised cost.

Derivative financial instruments are held at fair value.

For cash and cash equivalents the carrying value is equal to fair value.

For trade and other receivables and trade and other payables these are typically due within one month and therefore the
carrying amount is fair value.

For unsecured bank loans there is considered to be no material difference between the carrying amount and fair value.
Amounts are shown gross of unamortised bank fees unless the unamortised bank fees relate to undrawn facilities in
which case they are treated as other receivables.
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21   Financial risk management (continued)
21g Fair value hierarchy

The following is an analysis of the financial instruments that are measured at fair value.

They are grouped into levels 1 to 3 based on the extent to which the fair value is observable.

The levels are classified as follows:

Level 1 – fair value is based on quoted prices in active markets for identical financial assets or liabilities;

Level 2 – fair value is determined using inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

Level 3 – fair value is determined on inputs not based on observable market data.

2013

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$m $m $m $m

Other financial assets 13 – 4 17

2012

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$m $m $m $m

Other financial assets 15 4 – 19
Derivative financial instruments – (15) – (15)

15 (11) – 4

22   Deferred tax assets/(liabilities)

2013 2012

Deferred Deferred Net Deferred Deferred Net
tax assets tax liabilities balance tax assets tax liabilities balance

Deferred tax assets / (liabilities) in respect of: $m $m $m $m $m $m

Non-current assets – (607) (607) – (648) (648)
Provisions 100 – 100 75 – 75
Trading losses – – – 5 – 5
Share-based payments 6 – 6 6 – 6

106 (607) (501) 86 (648) (562)

Movement in temporary differences during the year
                                                    

Recognised in income

At 1 Special items Recognised in At 30
October Exchange Other special comprehensive September

2012 movements items Underlying income 2013
$m $m $m $m $m $m

Non-current assets (648) 81 5 (45) – (607)
Provisions 75 – – 25 – 100
Trading losses 5 – – (5) – –
Share-based payments 6 – – – – 6

(562) 81 5 (25) – (501)
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22   Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) (continued)

Recognised in income

At 1 Special items Recognised in At 30
October Exchange Other special comprehensive September

2011 movements items Underlying income 2012
$m $m $m $m $m $m

Non-current assets (773) 16 166 (57) – (648)
Provisions 47 1 – 27 – 75
Trading losses – – – 5 – 5
Share-based payments 10 – 2 (4) (2) 6

(716) 17 168 (29) (2) (562)

Unrecognised deferred tax assets/(liabilities)
Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) have not been recognised in respect of the following items:

2013 2012

Unrecognised Unrecognised
deferred tax deferred tax

Temporary assets/ Temporary assets/
differences (liabilities) differences (liabilities)

$m $m $m $m

Capital losses carried forward 162 32 162 45
Trading and other losses carried forward 88 18 85 24
Unredeemed capital expenditure 245 49 287 80
Unremitted profits of overseas subsidiaries (1,631) (82) (1,642) (82)

(1,136) 17 (1,108) 67

The temporary differences above, except for the unremitted profits from overseas subsidiaries, are subject to the local tax rate
in the United Kingdom at 20% (2012 – 23%), South Africa at 28% (2012 – 28%) and Canada at 18% (2012 – 18%). The
dividend withholding tax rate is 15% (2012 – 15%). Dividends payable by the South African companies to Lonmin Plc will be
subject to a 5% withholding tax benefitting from double taxation agreements. Therefore unrecognised deferred tax liabilities
generated by the timing difference relating to unremitted profits of overseas subsidiaries in 2013 only apply to Lonmin Plc for
dividends receivable from WPL and EPL at a rate of 5%.

At 30 September 2013, the Group had an amount of $114 million (2012 – $114 million) of surplus Advanced Corporation Tax
(ACT) available, subject to certain restrictions, for set-off against future United Kingdom corporation tax liabilities. ‘Shadow
ACT’ amounted to $274 million (2012 – $274 million) and must be set-off prior to the utilisation of surplus ACT.

No deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of the trading and other losses and the capital losses as
management believe the chances of recovery are low.

23   Provisions
2013 2012
$m $m

At 1 October 143 125
Capitalised to non-current assets 11 10
Established in the year 2 20
Utilised in the year – (3)
Unwinding of discount (note 6) 9 11
Foreign exchange differences (25) (20)

At 30 September 140 143

Provisions represent site rehabilitation liabilities and generally assume the cash flows occur at the end of the life of the mine.

The Group provided third party guarantees to the Department of Minerals and Energy amounting to $59 million (2012 –
$71 million) in connection with these rehabilitation obligations which the Group has to fund in order to restore the environment
once all mining operations have ceased.
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24   Contingent liabilities
2013 2012
$m $m

Third party guarantees i 10 12

Footnote:
i The Group provided third party guarantees to Eskom as security to cover estimated electricity accounts for three months.

25   Called up share capital and share premium account
Number $m

Ordinary shares of $1 each:
– Issued and fully paid – 2013 569,454,312 569
– Issued and fully paid – 2012 203,057,369 203
Deferred shares of £1 each:
– Issued and fully paid – 2013 and 2012 50,000 –

Issued and Paid up Share 
fully paid amount premium 
Number $m $m

At 1 October 2012:
Ordinary shares of $1 each 203,057,369 203 997
The issue of shares pursuant to:
– issue of shares to the Lonmin Employee Benefit Trust (Shareholder Value

Incentive Plan and Stay & Prosper Plan) 900,000 1 –
– issue of new shares on equity placing pursuant to the 9 for 5 Rights

Issue (note 31) 365,496,943 365 414

At 30 September 2013:
Ordinary shares of $1 each 569,454,312 569 1,411

The rights and obligations attaching to the Company’s ordinary shares and the provisions relating to the transfer of the
ordinary shares are governed by law and the Company’s Articles of Association.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive all shareholder documents, to receive notice of any general meeting,
to attend, speak and exercise voting rights, either in person or by proxy and are entitled to participate in any distribution
of income or capital.

There are no restrictions on the transfer of shares or on the exercise of voting rights attached to them, except where the
Company has exercised its rights to suspend voting rights or to prohibit transfer.
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26   Share plans
At 30 September 2013, the following options and awards were outstanding:

Weighted Weighted Weighted
average average average

exercise price remaining fair value
of outstanding contracted of options

Number options life granted
of shares (pence) (years) (£)

Share Plans

Executive Share Option Scheme
Outstanding at 1 October 2012 46,379 899.00 – –
Granted during the year – – – –
Rights Issue adjustment 40,809 – –
Exercised during the year – – – –
Lapsed during the year (87,188) 478.00 – –
Outstanding at 30 September 2013 – – – –
Exercisable at the end of the year – – – –

Long-Term Incentive Plan
Outstanding at 1 October 2012 1,975,198 – – –
Granted during the year 1,919,439 – – –
Rights Issue adjustment 1,737,949 – – –
Exercised during the year (294,344) – – –
Lapsed during the year (696,246) – – –
Outstanding at 30 September 2013 4,641,996 – 2.16 3.12
Exercisable at the end of the year – – – –

Stay & Prosper Plan
Outstanding at 1 October 2012 4,880,868 – – –
Granted during the year 3,628,780 – – –
Rights Issue adjustment 4,292,889 – – –
Exercised during the year (628,470) – – –
Lapsed during the year (1,367,641) – – –
Outstanding at 30 September 2013 10,806,426 – 2.14 3.24
Exercisable at the end of the year – – – –

ASAP
Outstanding at 1 October 2012 137,319 – – –
Granted during the year 491,074 – – –
Rights Issue adjustment 120,830 – – –
Exercised during the year (20,267) – – –
Lapsed during the year (11,941) – – –
Outstanding at 30 September 2013 717,015 – 8.96 3.46
Exercisable at the end of the year – – – –

Retention Plan
Outstanding at 1 October 2012 – – – –
Granted during the year 384,872 – – –
Rights Issue adjustment – – – –
Exercised during the year – – – –
Lapsed during the year – – – –
Outstanding at 30 September 2013 384,872 – 2.12 3.05
Exercisable at the end of the year – – – –

Further information about each of the above plans, including the performance conditions, can be found in the Remuneration
Committee Report.

Notes to the Accounts
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26   Share plans (continued)
Lonmin Employee Benefit Trust (the “Trust”)
At 30 September 2013 the Trust held 154,765 shares (beneficially and as bare trustee) (2012 – 164,951 shares). The market
value of these shares at the year end was $0.8 million. Where not waived, dividends payable on these shares are held by the
Trust on behalf of the participants. Ben Magara and Simon Scott are deemed to have a beneficial interest, to the extent of
their Invested and Bonus Shares pursuant to the Deferred Annual Bonus Plan (included in the table of Directors’ share
interests), and a non-beneficial interest in the balance.

Details of options granted during the year
The fair value of equity settled options granted in the year have been measured using the weighted average inputs below and
the following valuation models:

LTIP Monte Carlo
Stay & Prosper Monte Carlo

2013 2012

Range of share price at date of grant (£) 2.76 – 3.46 5.58 – 10.37
Exercise price (£) – –
Expected option life (years) 3 3
Volatility 47% 44%
Dividend yield 0.0% 1.7%
Risk free interest rate 0.1% 0.0%

Volatility was calculated with reference to the Group’s historic share price volatility up to the grant date. The number of years
of historic data used is equal to the term of each option.

27   Related parties
The Group has a related party relationship with its Directors and key management (as disclosed in the Remuneration Report
and in note 5) and its equity accounted investments (note 13).

The Group’s related party transactions and balances are summarised below:

2013 2012
$m $m

Purchases from joint venture – Pandora 46 44
Amounts due from joint venture – Pandora 9 6
Amounts due from associate – Incwala 2 2
Dividends to minorities – Incwala i 11 14
Interest accrued from HDSA investors in Incwala 17 16
Subscription paid to the Platinum Jewellery Development Association ii 7 14
Purchases made from Glencore Xstrata Plc iii 1 1
Sales to Glencore Xstrata Plc iii 36 27
Amounts due from Glencore Xstrata Plc iii 2 1
Amounts due from HDSA investors in Incwala iv 399 381

All related party transactions are priced on an arm’s length basis.

Footnotes:
i A Group company has made a series of non-interest bearing loans to Incwala Platinum (Proprietary) Limited (IP). IP is a substantial shareholder in

the Company’s principal operating subsidiaries. In 2013 advanced dividends of R110 million (2012 – R120 million) were made to IP bringing the
total advance dividends made between 2009 and 2013 to R493 million. IP has authorised the relevant Group company to recover these amounts
by reducing future dividends that would otherwise be payable to all shareholders.

In addition, the Group has committed to provide an additional loan facility to IP of R160 million which they can draw down on to meet their funding
obligations in March 2014.

ii The subscription paid by Lonmin is material to the Platinum Jewellery Development Association of which Lonmin is a member.

iii Glencore Xstrata Plc has a 24.54% shareholding in Lonmin Plc.

iv Refer to note 14 for details regarding the amounts due from HDSA investors in Incwala.
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28   Capital commitments

2013 2012
$m $m

Contracted for but not yet provided 19 71

29   Operating and finance leases
The full aggregate lease payments of the Group under non-cancellable operating leases are set out below:

Land and buildings

2013 2012
$m $m

Operating leases which fall due for payment:
Within one year 1 1
Between one and five years 2 3
Over five years 2 3

5 7

30   Net cash/(debt) as defined by the Group
Transfer of

Foreign unamortised
As at exchange bank As at

1 October and non-cash fees to other 30 September
2012 Cash flow movements receivables 2013
$m $m $m $m $m

Cash and cash equivalents 315 (127) 13 – 201
Current borrowings (123) 123 – – –
Non-current borrowings (619) 619 – – –
Unamortised bank fees ii 6 (3) 2 (5) –

Net cash/(debt) as defined by the Group i (421) 612 15 (5) 201

Transfer of
Foreign unamortised

As at exchange bank As at
1 October and non-cash fees to other 30 September

2011 Cash flow movements receivables 2012
$m $m $m $m $m

Cash and cash equivalents 76 239 – – 315
Current borrowings (10) (110) (3) – (123)
Non-current borrowings (308) (314) 3 – (619)
Unamortised bank fees ii 8 – (2) – 6

Net debt as defined by the Group i (234) (185) (2) – (421)

Footnotes:
i Net cash/(debt) as defined by the Group comprises cash and cash equivalents, bank overdrafts repayable on demand and interest bearing loans

and borrowings less unamortised bank fees, unless the unamortised bank fees relate to undrawn facilities in which case they are treated as other
receivables.

ii As at 30 September 2013 unamortised bank fees of $5 million relating to undrawn facilities were treated as other receivables (30 September 2012
– $6 million of unamortised bank fees relating to drawn facilities were offset against loans). During the year ended 30 September 2013 the term loan
was repaid and cancelled resulting in the related unamortised bank fees of $3 million being expensed. Additional bank fees incurred in amending
the USD and the Rand revolving credit facilities were capitalised and are being amortised over the remaining term of the facilities.
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31   Rights Issue
Overview of the Rights Issue offer
On 9 November 2012, Lonmin announced a fully underwritten 9 for 5 Rights Issue of 365,503,264 new shares at 140 pence
per new share for shareholders on the London Stock Exchange and at ZAR19.4872 per new share for shareholders on
the Johannesburg Stock Exchange. The offer period commenced on 20 November 2012 and closed for acceptance on
10 December 2012. The final number of shares issued was 365,496,943.

In the prospectus, Lonmin anticipated raising $817 million of total proceeds which, net of expenses of $40 million would raise
funds of $777 million. The issue was successful with a take up of just below 97% and the remaining 3% raised through a
rump placement. The Company raised total net proceeds of $767 million which was slightly below expectations given in the
prospectus as a result of exchange differences between the prospectus exchange rate and that achieved ($4 million) as well
as expenses being $5 million more than anticipated.

Accounting for the Rights Issue
The Rights Issue proceeds were received over the offer period and initially credited to a “shares to be issued” account at the
prevailing spot exchange rates at the dates of receipt resulting in the recognition of cash inflow of $823 million before the
impact of hedging arrangements. The retranslation of these receipts at the spot rate on closing resulted in a $1 million
exchange gain recognised through finance income as a special item.

Share capital and share premium of $365 million and $459 million respectively were recognised on the statement of financial
position using the spot exchange rate on the date of issuance being 11 December 2012. $45 million of issue costs were also
recognised and charged against share premium. Therefore the total net increase in share capital and share premium was
$779 million.

In order to minimise the risk of the exposure to currency fluctuations on the Rand and Sterling proceeds expected, the Group
entered into forward exchange contracts in synchronisation with the Rights Issue process. The Dollar weakened over the offer
period resulting in the Rand and Sterling proceeds received and translated at prevailing spot rates being more than due under
the forward exchange contracts. This resulted in the recognition of exchange losses of $11 million. This $11 million fair value
loss cannot be offset against equity (which it was effectively hedging for economic purposes) as, under IFRS, hedge
accounting can only be applied to cash flows which ultimately affect profit and loss. The loss on forward exchange contracts
has therefore been shown as a special charge in finance costs in the income statement. The offset is effectively in the
recognition of a higher credit to the share premium account.

A summary of the above transaction is shown below:

$m

Cash proceeds received at spot rates 823
Foreign exchange gain on retranslation of advance cash proceeds 1

Gross increase in share capital and share premium 824
Costs of issue charged to share premium (45)

Net increase in share capital and share premium 779
Loss on settlement of forward exchange contracts (11)

Total i 768

Footnote:
i Net cash proceeds amounted to $767 million (excluding the foreign exchange gain on retranslation of advance cash proceeds of $1 million).

32   Principal Group companies
The following companies have been consolidated in the Group accounts and materially contributed to the assets and/or
results of the Group and are classified according to their main activity.

Effective
Interest in

ordinary
Country of share capital Principal

Company incorporation % activities

Eastern Platinum Ltd South Africa 86.2% Subsidiary Platinum mining
Western Platinum Ltd South Africa 86.2% Subsidiary Platinum mining and refining
Messina Platinum Mines Ltd South Africa 86.2% Subsidiary Platinum mining
Akanani Mining (Proprietary) Ltd South Africa 80.1% Subsidiary Mineral exploration and evaluation

A full list of Group companies will be included in the annual return registered with Companies House.

Notes to the Accounts
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Lonmin Plc Company Balance Sheet
as at 30 September

2013 2012
Note $m $m

Non-current assets
Tangible fixed assets                                                                                                                          34                          1                    1
Investments                                                                                                                                                          1,535             1,523
Shares in subsidiary undertakings                                                                                                      35                 1,136             1,142
Other financial assets                                                                                                                        36                     399                381

Total non-current assets                                                                                                                                    1,536             1,524

Current assets
Deferred tax                                                                                                                                       37                          2                    2
Debtors                                                                                                                                             38                 1,255             1,071
Cash at bank and on hand                                                                                                                                       117                  67

Total current assets                                                                                                                                            1,374             1,140

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year                                                                                  39                   (695)              (701)

Net current assets                                                                                                                                                  679                439

Total assets less current liabilities                                                                                                                     2,215             1,963

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year                                                                   39                          –               (504)
Derivative financial instruments                                                                                                                                      –                 (10)
Bank loans and overdrafts                                                                                                                                             –               (494)

Net assets                                                                                                                                                           2,215             1,459

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital                                                                                                                      40                     569                203
Share premium account                                                                                                                    40                 1,411                997
Other reserves                                                                                                                                   40                       88                  79
Profit and loss account                                                                                                                      40                     147                180

Total shareholders’ funds                                                                                                                40                 2,215             1,459

The financial statements of Lonmin Plc, registered number 103002, were approved by the Board of Directors on 10 November
2013 and were signed on its behalf by:

Roger Phillimore Chairman

Simon Scott Chief Financial Officer



33   Accounting policies
Basis of preparation
The Lonmin Plc (the Company) balance sheet and related notes have been prepared in accordance with United Kingdom
generally accepted accounting practice (UK GAAP) and in accordance with UK company law. The financial information has
been prepared on a historic cost basis as modified by the revaluation of certain financial instruments. The accounts have been
prepared on a going concern basis, as detailed in note 1 of the Group financial statements. The following principal accounting
policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items which are considered material in relation to the Company’s
financial statements.

The Company’s functional currency is the US dollar. The reporting currency is also the US dollar.

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption contained in Section 408(4) of the Companies Act 2006 from presenting
its own profit and loss account.

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption in FRS 1 – Cash Flow Statements and has not prepared a cash flow
statement.

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption contained in FRS 8 and has therefore not disclosed transactions or
balances with wholly owned subsidiaries which form part of the group headed by Lonmin Plc.

Available for sale assets
The Company’s listed investment is measured at fair value and any changes are recognised directly in equity except when the
asset is impaired, then the impairment losses are taken to the income statement. Fair value is determined by using the market
price at the balance sheet date when this is available. For investments for which market price is not available the Directors’
best estimate of market value is used.

Investment in subsidiaries
The Company’s investment in shares in Group companies are stated at cost less any provision for impairment. The principal
subsidiaries of the Company are LSA (UK) Limited (registered in England) and AfriOre Limited (registered in the British Virgin
Islands) which are both wholly owned by the Company. LSA (UK) Limited holds the investments in Western Platinum Limited,
Eastern Platinum Limited and Messina Platinum Mines Limited. AfriOre Limited holds the investment in Akanani Mining
(Proprietary) Limited. For more information see note 32 of the Group financial statements.

Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are recorded at cost or valuation, which are not updated under the transitional arrangements of FRS 15
– Tangible Fixed Assets, less depreciation. Depreciation on fixed assets is provided on a straight-line basis. Assets are
depreciated over their estimated useful economic lives to residual value. Depreciation rates for the principal assets of the
Company are as follows:

Method Useful economic life Rate

Short-term leasehold property Straight line Over the life of the lease 3 – 5 years
Fixtures and Fittings Straight line 10% – 33% per annum 3 – 10 years

Tangible fixed assets are reviewed for impairment if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. When a review for impairment is conducted, the recoverable amount is assessed by reference to the net
present value of expected future cash flows of the relevant income generating unit or disposal value if higher in accordance
with FRS 11.

Financial instruments
The Company’s principal financial instruments (other than derivatives) comprise bank loans, investments, cash and short-term
deposits.

Bank loans were initially recorded at fair value, and have subsequently been recorded at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method.

Notes to the Company Accounts
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33   Accounting policies (continued)
Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are principally used by the Company to manage exposure to market risks from treasury
operations. The principal derivative instruments used are interest rate swaps which the Company has designated as cash flow
hedges. The Company does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised in the statement of financial position at fair value and then remeasured
to fair value at subsequent reporting dates. Attributable costs are recognised in profit or loss when incurred. The method of
recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument and, if so, the
nature of the item being hedged. Hedging derivatives are classified on inception as fair value hedges or cash flow hedges.

HDSA receivable
The HDSA receivable was recognised initially at fair value, and subsequently recorded at amortised cost.

Accounting for the financing provided by the Company for Shanduka’s acquisition of the non-controlling interests in the
Company’s principal subsidiaries is considered in note 14 of the Group accounts.

Leases
Operating lease rentals are charged to the profit and loss account on a straight line basis over the period of the lease.

Current Tax
The charge for taxation is based on the profit for the year and takes account of the taxation deferred because of timing
differences between the treatment of certain items for taxation and accounting purposes.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided, without discounting, in respect of all timing differences between the treatment of certain items for
taxation and accounting purposes that have originated but not reversed by the balance sheet date, except as otherwise
required by FRS 19.

Pension costs and other post-retirement benefits
For current employees, the Company either makes payments on behalf of employees into a defined contribution scheme
which the Company has set up, or makes direct payments to employees who may then make their own arrangements.

A defined contribution scheme is a post-employment benefit plan under which the Company pays fixed contributions into a
separate legal entity and had no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined
contribution pension plans are recognised as an employee benefit expense in the income statement when they are due.

Share-based payments
Equity settled schemes
From the grant date the fair value of options granted to employees is recognised as an employee expense, with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the employees become unconditionally entitled to the shares. 

Cash settled schemes
The fair value of the amount payable to employees in respect of share appreciation rights, which are settled in cash,
is recognised as an expense, with corresponding increase in liabilities, over the period that the employees become
unconditionally entitled to payment. The liability is remeasured at each reporting date and at settlement date. Any changes
in the fair value of the liability are recognised as a employee expense in the income statement.

Basis of fair value
The fair value of each option or share appreciation right is determined using either a Black-Scholes option pricing model or a
Monte Carlo projection model depending on the type of the award. Market related performance conditions are reflected in the
fair value of the share. Non-market related performance conditions are allowed for using a separate assumption about the
number of awards expected to vest; the final charge made reflects the numbers actually vested on the basis that non-market
conditions are met.

Notes to the Company Accounts
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33   Accounting policies (continued)
Share options and own shares held
In accordance with Urgent Issues Task Force Abstract 25 – National Insurance Contributions on Share Option Gains (UITF 25),
the Company provides in full for the employer’s national insurance liability estimated to arise on the future exercise of share
options granted.

As required under Urgent Issues Task Force Abstract 38 – Accounting for ESOP Trusts (UITF 38), the cost to the Company of
own shares held is shown as a deduction from shareholders’ funds within the profit and loss account. Consideration paid or
received for the purchase or sale of the Company’s own shares in the ESOP trust is shown separately in the reconciliation of
movements in the shareholders’ funds.

Dividend reinvestment programme
Under the Company’s Dividend Reinvestment Plan, shareholders can elect for the whole of their cash dividends to be
reinvested in Lonmin Plc shares which are purchased on their behalf in the market. All cash dividends are paid to the
Registrars who use the dividends of participants in the plan to fund these purchases. Accordingly, no new shares are issued,
dividends are paid and accounted for in the normal way, and there are no special accounting requirements for the
programme.

Foreign currency
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency of the Company using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
into the functional currency at the rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities are
translated at the historic rate.

Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in the income statement, except for differences arising on
the retranslation of available for sale financial assets, which are recognised directly in equity.

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis.

Exploration and evaluation expenditure
All exploration and expenses relate to pre-feasibility work and, in line with Group policy, are expensed as incurred.

Finance expenses
Finance expenses comprise interest expense on borrowings, bank fees (including bank fees which are capitalised and
amortised over the life of the facility), interest costs of pension scheme liabilities, and losses on hedging instruments that are
recognised in the income statement.

34   Tangible fixed assets
Fixtures and

fittings
$m

Cost:
At 1 October 2012 3
Additions –
Disposals –

At 30 September 2013 3

Depreciation:
At 1 October 2012 2
Charge for the year –
Disposals –

At 30 September 2013 2

Net book value:
At 30 September 2013 1

At 1 October 2012 1

Lonmin Plc
Annual Report and Accounts 2013

Financial Statements

/ 150



01 /
S

trategic R
eport

02 /
G

overnance
03 /

Financial S
tatem

ents
04 /

A
 D

eeper Look
05 /

S
hareholder Inform

ation
Lonmin Plc
Annual Report and Accounts 2013

Financial Statements

/ 151

www.lonmin.com

Notes to the Company Accounts

35   Shares in subsidiary undertakings

$m

Cost:
At 1 October 2012 1,538
Additions –

At 30 September 2013 1,538

Provisions:
At 1 October 2012 396
Increase 6

At 30 September 2013 402

Net book value:
At 30 September 2013 1,136

At 1 October 2012 1,142

$m

Cost:
At 1 October 2011 1,538
Additions –

At 30 September 2012 1,538

Provisions:
At 1 October 2011 138
Increase 258

At 30 September 2012 396

Net book value:
At 30 September 2012 1,142

At 1 October 2011 1,400

36   Other financial assets
Available HDSA
for sale receivable Total

$m $m $m

At 1 October 2012 – 381 381
Interest accrued – 17 17
Foreign exchange differences – 1 1

At 30 September 2013 – 399 399

Available HDSA
for sale receivable Total

$m $m $m

At 1 October 2011 2 351 353
Interest accrued – 16 16
Movement in fair value (2) – (2)
Foreign exchange differences – 14 14

At 30 September 2012 – 381 381

For details of the HDSA receivable, refer to note 14 of the Group accounts.
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37   Deferred tax

2013 2012
$m $m

Amounts falling due within one year:
Deferred tax assets 2 2

The Company had a deferred tax asset of $2 million (2012 – $2 million) relating to the South African branch, from which
management believes that there will be sufficient future taxable profits to justify carrying the asset.

The Company had an unrecognised deferred tax asset of $11 million at 30 September 2013 based on timing differences of
$47 million (2012 – $4 million based on timing differences of $19 million). No unrecognised deferred tax assets have been
disclosed in respect of United Kingdom operations as management believe the chances of utilising future United Kingdom
taxable profits are low. The Company had $114 million of unrecognised surplus ACT at 30 September 2013 (2012 –
$114 million). The Company had $274 million of unrecognised shadow ACT at 30 September 2013 (2012 – $274 million).

38   Debtors

2013 2012
$m $m

Amounts falling due within one year:
Amounts owed by subsidiary companies 1,250 1,071
Unamortised bank fees 5 –

1,255 1,071

39   Creditors
2013 2012
$m $m

Amounts falling due within one year:
Amounts due to subsidiary companies 685 685
Derivative financial instruments – 5
Other creditors 6 6
Accruals and deferred income 4 5

695 701

2013 2012
$m $m

Amounts falling due after one year:
Derivative financial instruments – 10
Unsecured bank loans falling due within 3 to 4 years – 494

– 504

Details of the loans are shown in note 18 to the Group accounts.
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Notes to the Company Accounts

40   Reconciliation of movements in equity shareholders’ funds

Called up Share premium Other Profit and
share capital account reserves i loss account Total

$m $m $m $m $m

At 1 October 2012 203 997 79 180 1,459
Loss for the year – – – (47) (47)
Share-based payments – – – 14 14
Changes in settled cash flow hedges released
to the income statement ii – – 9 – 9

Share capital and share premium recognised
on Rights Issue iii 365 459 – – 824

Rights Issue costs charged to share premium iii – (45) – – (45)
Shares issued on exercise of share options iv 1 – – – 1

At 30 September 2013 569 1,411 88 147 2,215

Called up Share premium Other Profit and
share capital account reserves i loss account Total

$m $m $m $m $m

At 1 October 2011 203 997 79 417 1,696
Loss for the year – – – (218) (218)
Dividends paid during the year – – – (31) (31)
Share-based payments – – – 14 14
Change in fair value of available for sale financial assets – – – (2) (2)
Shares issued on exercise of share options iv – – – – –

At 30 September 2012 203 997 79 180 1,459

The loss of the Company for the 2013 financial year amounted to $47 million (2012 – $218 million).

Further details of called up share capital and share premium can be found in note 25 to the Group accounts.

Details of shares held in the employee benefit trust can be found in note 26 to the Group accounts.

Footnotes:
i Other reserves at 30 September 2013 represent the capital redemption reserve of $88 million (2012 – $88 million) and a $nil hedging loss net

of deferred tax (30 September 2012 – $9 million hedging loss net of deferred tax).

ii Refer note 6 in the Group accounts for detail regarding the unwinding of the interest rate swap derivative.

iii During December 2012 the Group undertook a Rights Issue in which 365,496,943 shares were issued as disclosed in note 31 of the Group
accounts.

iv During the year 900,000 share options were exercised (2012 – 400,000) on which $0.9 million of cash was received (2012 – $0.4 million).



Notes to the Company Accounts

41   Other information
Employees
The average number of employees of the Company during the year was 58 (2012 – 56) which includes 46 (2012 – 51)
employees who work in the South African branch. Total employee expenses, excluding charges for share options, were
$15 million (2012 – $13 million) which includes $10 million (2012 – $9 million) for employees working in the South Africa branch.

The employee expenses are made up of wages and salaries $13 million (2012 – $11 million), social security costs $1 million
(2012 – $1 million) and pension payments $1 million (2012 – $1 million).

Directors’ emoluments are reported in the Remuneration Committee Report. No emoluments related specifically to their work
in the Company.

Pensions
For details of the Company’s pension scheme, refer to note 5 of the Group accounts.

Related party transactions
The Company’s only related party transaction has resulted in an amount due from HDSA investors in Incwala of $399 million
(2012 – $381 million) as per note 14 of the Group accounts. The Company also has a related party relationship with its
Directors and key management as disclosed in the Remuneration Committee Report.

Dividends
Refer to note 9 of the Group accounts.

Share-based payments
For details of the Company’s share plan and share option schemes, refer to note 26 of the Group accounts.
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Consolidated Group Five Year Financial Record
for the year ended 30 September

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Continuing operations $m $m $m $m $m

Consolidated income statement:
Revenue                                                                         $m             1,520             1,614             1,992             1,585             1,062
Operating profit/(loss)                                                     $m                147               (702)               307                203               (142)
Underlying operating profit/(loss)                                     $m                164                  67                311                228                 (93)
Profit/(loss) before taxation                                             $m                140               (698)               293                240               (272)
Underlying profit/(loss) before taxation                            $m                158                  57                315                237               (111)
Attributable profit/(loss) for the year                                $m                166               (410)               273                112               (285)
Underlying attributable profit/(loss) for the year               $m                109                  15                226                138               (103)
Basic earnings/(loss) per share i                                  cents               31.2            (107.7)              71.8               30.3              (87.2)
Underlying earnings/(loss) per share i                           cents               20.5                 3.9               59.4               37.4              (31.5)

Consolidated statement of financial position:
Non-current assets – property, plant and equipment      $m             2,908             2,889             2,567             2,199             2,036
Non-current assets – other                                             $m                968             1,077             1,680             1,667             1,329
Net current assets                                                          $m                422                177                244                504                443
Net cash/(debt)                                                               $m                201               (421)              (234)              (375)              (113)
Equity shareholders’ funds                                             $m             3,409             2,488             2,930             2,709             2,356
Equity shareholders’ funds per share i                         cents                599                652                770                713                650
Cost of dividend paid                                                      $m                    –                  31                  30                    –                    –
Dividends per share paid                                             cents                    –               15.0               15.0                    –                    –
Dividend in respect of the year per share                     cents                    –                    –               15.0               15.0                    –

Consolidated statement of cash flows:
Cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities                 $m                  16                263                630                  80                 (16)
Free cash (outflow)/inflow                                               $m               (154)              (159)               210               (203)              (271)
Trading cash inflow/(outflow) per share i                      cents                 3.0               69.1             165.7               21.7                (4.9)
Free cash (outflow)/inflow per share i                           cents              (28.9)             (41.8)              55.2              (55.0)             (82.9)

Footnote:
i The number of shares held prior to 11 December 2012 has been increased by a factor of 1.878 to reflect the bonus element of the Rights Issue.
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Strong operational
performance and
continued focus
on cost containment.

Record concentrator recovery
rates showing the benefit of the
continued multi-year investment in
the concentrator operating assets.

Value optimisation management (VOMA) is our strategy
process underpinning our drive to work efficiently, profitably
and strategically.
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Strategy to increase back up capacity at the
smelter proven to be successful.

Ore reserve position has been increased to
create greater flexibility and allow for ramp up
in production at Saffy shaft.
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Whilst proud of our operational
achievements we regard our solid
performance as the foundation
to build on.

Capital expenditure focused
on sustaining capital reflecting
our strategy in the current
market conditions.
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Safety Performance
Fatalities
Regrettably three of our colleagues were fatally injured
during the year as detailed in Performance. We extend
our sympathies to their families and friends and re-
affirm our commitment to operating without fatalities.
Each accident has been thoroughly investigated, the
root causes identified and measures implemented in
order to minimise repeat occurrences.

Fatalities

Incremental Improvement
Despite the challenges of the past year, Lonmin set a
new standard in safety performance during the first
half of 2013, achieving 6 million fatality free shifts over
a period of ten consecutive months, the longest
fatality free period ever achieved in the history of the
Company. In addition, our operations achieved a hard
rock underground industry record of 17 million fall of
ground free shifts. We commend our teams for these
exceptional achievements.

Injuries
Our LTIFR declined by 15.9% from 4.16 per million
man hours worked in 2012, to 3.50 per million man
hours worked in 2013. We have set a target for 2014
to reduce our LTIFR by a further 5.0%. We have
recorded 19,065 days lost due to Lost Time Injuries
(LTIs) and this translates to a severity rate of 210.32,
a year on year decrease of 8.6%. The primary causes
of LTIs were material handling (21.0%) and falls of
ground (17.0%). Most of the materials handling injuries
relate to hand injuries.

During the year, 21 level three safety incidents were
also recorded compared to 14 incidents in 2012.
Level three incidents are injuries that result in permanent
disability. The increase in the number of serious injuries
was mainly due to the increase in fall of ground
incidents. First aid treatment cases as well as those
cases receiving medical treatment are also recorded
and monitored and as from 2014, Lonmin will begin
to report on total recordable injuries.

Section 54 stoppages
Lonmin was issued with 18 Section 54 stoppages
during 2013, this compared to 37 stoppages for
2012, representing a significant reduction.

Safety Initiatives
We have a number of safety improvement initiatives
that we continue to roll out throughout our operations.
We have developed our Lonmin Sustainable
Development Standards which are aligned to the
requirements of the International Occupational Health
and Safety Standard OHSAS 180001 and these are
currently being rolled out. All our concentrator plants
in the Process Division have achieved integrated
ISO9001, ISO14001 and OHSAS 18001 accreditation.
Our target is to achieve 80.0% compliance throughout
our operations by 2015.

Two key initiatives we have worked on during the year
are as follows:

• We continue to roll out our leadership development
programme in safety using the DuPont ethos
and our current focus is on middle and senior
management as well as executive management;
and

• As a result of the change in the union representation
at our operations, we have concluded a new
Health and Safety agreement with all stakeholders
(principally our unions) and we are in the process
of electing new safety representatives and
reconstituting the Health and Safety Committees.

Industry Initiatives
We are committed to industry initiatives on safety and
have adopted the Mining Industry Occupational Safety
and Health leading practices. As a result, we are in the
process of promoting the following initiatives:

• Proximity Detection Systems for mobile equipment;

• Apply Lonmin Life Rules Response Triggers (Allert);

• Use of silencers on drills to reduce exposure to
high levels of noise; and

• Use of bolts and netting.

We are also supportive of the establishment of the
South African Mining Contractors Association which
was registered during the year. Directors from industry
and contracting companies were appointed to its
Board. The core purpose of the association is to
standardise contractor requirements and to agree
mutually beneficial arrangements regarding safety
inductions and certificates of fitness.
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OPERATIONALLY, 2013 HAS BEEN AN EXCEPTIONAL YEAR WITH TONNES MINED

FROM MARIKANA UNDERGROUND OPERATIONS BEING THE HIGHEST SINCE 2007

AT 11.0 MILLION TONNES.

Achievements

Mine Safe 2013 – Fall of Ground Fatality Free Shifts

Marikana Mining
Operations 17,000,000 11 April 2013

Rowland Shaft 14,000,000 18 April 2013

Karee Mine
(K4, K3, 4B/1B) 10,000,000 24 January 2013

K3 Shaft 6,000,000 16 February 2013

Saffy Shaft 5,000,000 22 May 2013

Fatality Free Shifts

4B/1B Shafts 7,000,000 4 March 2013

Karee Mine
(K4, K3, 4B/1B) 6,000,000 11 January 2013

Marikana Mining
Operations 6,000,000 12 April 2013

K3 Shaft 4,000,000 19 April 2013

Middelkraal Mine 3,000,000 25 January 2013

Saffy Shaft 2,000,000 22 April 2013

K4 Shaft 1,000,000 1 October 2012

Eastern
Platinum Mine 1,000,000 7 November 2012

Western
Platinum Mine 1,000,000 16 February 2013

Summary
While Lonmin has achieved significant safety records
this past year and set new South African mining
benchmarks we still view the loss of three colleagues
as unacceptable. We remain committed in our efforts
to achieve zero harm and believe that we have the
correct strategy and, together with all stakeholders,
will continue our journey on a positive trajectory
towards this goal.

Operational Review
Mining Division

The total tonnes lost during the financial year due
to Management Induced Safety Stoppages (MISS),
Section 54 stoppages and labour disruptions is
estimated to be 0.6 million tonnes, equivalent to
38,000 mined Platinum ounces. This was mainly a
result of the two day illegal work stoppage in May
2013 across the whole operations. This compares
to 2.4 million tonnes and 146,000 mined Platinum
ounces lost during the previous year mostly during
the strike in August and September 2012.

Total Tonnes Mined – Annual Trend

Marikana Ore Reserves:

FY13 FY12
(’000m2) (’000m2) Variance %

Karee 1,879 1,808 71 3.9%
Middelkraal 800 466 334 71.7%
Westerns 747 581 166 28.6%
Easterns 389 472 (83) (17.6)%

Total 3,815 3,327 488 14.7%

Performance with respect to ore development was
positive resulting in the ore reserve position increasing
by 14.7% from the level reported at the end of 2012
to 3.8 million centares. The most significant increase
was at the Middelkraal operations and is almost
entirely due to the increase at Saffy shaft where the
ore reserve position increased 108.7% from 2012 in
line with plans to ramp up production at the shaft.
Westerns operations also delivered a significant year
on year increase in ore reserves with a 36.6% increase
at Rowland shaft. The overall improvements are in line
with Lonmin’s strategy of creating greater flexibility
at these shafts. The ore reserve position remained
largely unchanged but healthy at the Karee operations
and decreased as planned at the Easterns operations.
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Mining grades as delivered to the concentrators
remained largely unchanged compared to 2012.
The salient factors affecting the mining grades are:

• Underground Merensky grade increased by 3.0%
due to higher in situ grades;

• UG2 reef grade was unchanged;

• Stoping dilution was controlled as planned; and

• The ratio of development to stoping ore
decreased slightly based on a planned less
aggressive ore reserve growth.

Business Improvement Initiatives

Technical and Leadership Skills Improvement
An increased emphasis is being placed on training
and development of people across all levels of the
Mining Division. A leadership development programme
was introduced during the year with the aim of
equipping all leaders with the necessary skills to face
the challenges of the ever changing working
environment. All mining crews attended a one day
team training session during the year as a follow up to
the three day training sessions that were held during
2012. Phase two of the team training programme has
been developed and will be rolled out during 2014.
Learnerships and skills development training in the
form of mining, engineering and technical services
learnership programmes as well as the learner official
and graduate programmes have begun to deliver
success as graduates of these programmes were
appointed into vacancies in the organisation during
the past year. Based on the successes to date, these
programmes are set to continue and be further refined.

Best Practice / Optimisation Teams
The optimisation and best practice teams were
strengthened during the year and have been deployed
across the operations with the aim of assisting in
identifying the causes of underperformance and to
assist in implementing the appropriate corrective
action. The process also involves coaching of
supervisors in supervisory best practice and coaching
the mining teams in best practice mining cycles and
work practices.

Absenteeism Project
Unplanned absenteeism remains a challenge in the
operations and a number of projects are underway to
mitigate the reasons for key team members not being
at work.

The inflationary cost pressures experienced by the
platinum industry continue to be of great concern
and productivity improvement programmes, as
outlined above, play an important role in reducing the
impact. Unit cost of production increases for mining
operations, at 5.8% year on year, were successfully
contained at below wage inflation.

Overview of Marikana Mines

Rand per tonne:

Karee
Karee performance is discussed in the Performance
section on page 25. Karee Mining costs increased by
6.0% to R678 per tonne.

Westerns
Production from our Westerns operations, Rowland,
W1 and Newman, at 2.90 million tonnes increased
in 2013 by 9.7%, or 256,000 tonnes from 2012.
Rowland achieved 14 million fall of ground fatality
free shifts – the best in the South African mining
industry in 2013. The depletion of Newman continued
as expected. Grades at both Rowland and Newman
shafts remained unchanged during 2013 when
compared to 2012. Mining costs increased by 5.0%
to R712 per tonne.

Middelkraal
The Middelkraal operations, Saffy (conventional) and
Hossy (mechanised / hybrid) mined 2.20 million
tonnes for 2013 which represents an increase of
24.9%, or 439,000 tonnes from 2012. This is largely
as a result of a more stable labour relations environment
during 2013 and the planned ramp up at Saffy. Grade
at Saffy shaft reduced by 4.0% year on year as a
result of higher dilution due to increased reef
development. At Hossy shaft, the grade increased by
3.0% as stoping production ramped up and the
diluting effect of the reef development was reduced.
Mining costs increased to R870 per tonne, or 4.0% as
the operations continue to ramp up to the increased
production targets.

Saffy shaft continued to ramp up production,
increasing output by 28.1% when compared to 2012.
Notwithstanding this increase in production, the ramp
up has been slower than planned as challenges
continued with difficult ground conditions accompanied
by a stringent support regime. The significant increase
in the ore reserve position has introduced the flexibility
required to address these challenges and additional
stoping crews have been deployed to the additional
face length that became available towards the end of
2013. This provides confidence that the further ramp
up in production planned for 2014 can be realised.
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Hossy shaft increased tonnes hoisted from 0.86 million
tonnes during 2012 to 1.05 million tonnes during
2013, an increase of 21.6%. This despite challenges
relating to machine reliability, the availability of
replacement parts and retention of trained artisans.
The decision to introduce hybrid mining continues to
deliver positive results. The roll out of the hybrid crews
will be further pursued in 2014.

Easterns
At our Easterns operations performance for the year
decreased from 1.0 million tonnes produced in 2012
to 0.9 million tonnes produced in 2013. This is in line
with the planned depletion of E1. Grade at E1 shaft
increased by 2.0% year on year as reef development
reduced in line with the declining production profile.
Grades increased at E2 shaft and E3 shaft by 3.7%
and 6.1% year on year respectively as stoping moved
to the higher grade lower levels of the shafts. Mining
costs increased to R688 per tonne, or 7.0% as the
production volumes reduced.

Opencast
Production at the Merensky opencast operation at
Marikana increased from 0.4 million tonnes in 2012 to
0.5 million tonnes in 2013. We evaluate our options
around opencast operations on a continuous basis
especially in this relatively subdued price environment.
It is currently planned to scale back on these operations
in 2014 as production from other shafts increase.

Pandora Joint Venture
2013 2012 Variance

Attributable production1

(’000 tonnes) 243 185 31.4%

Saleable metal in
concentrate2 (oz PGMs) 78,721 58,188 35.3%

Profit after tax $4m $2m 100%

Footnotes:
1 Represents Lonmin’s 42.5% share of the total tonnes mined.

2 Lonmin purchases 100.0% of the ore produced by the joint
venture for onward processing.

The project to extend the mining footprint at E3 shaft
by another two levels was completed at the end of
2013 with the newly developed 9 and 10 levels being
commissioned.

Process Division

People development
Our mission directed works teams have gone from
strength to strength this year. They are focused on
vertical alignment but more importantly they are used
to engage every employee in every aspect of the
workplace. The level of innovation from the shop floor
is impressive and contributing to the continuous
improvement in results.

We have also launched the first Processing learning
programmes with ten employees passing the first
phase on a MQF level 2. This is the first of its kind in
the platinum industry.

Process Division
The Process Division produced 709,029 ounces of
refined Platinum compared to 687,372 ounces in
2012. This represents an increase of 3.2%, despite
the refilling of the pipeline after the Events at Marikana
and the challenges experienced with the roof failure
of Number Two furnace in April.

Concentrators

Underground Concentrator Recoveries

2013 saw a continued improvement in the
concentrators’ efficiency, with an exceptional improved
year on year recovery performance from 86.1% to
87.0%. This was achieved against the backdrop of
one plant being out of operation for an upgrade for
the full year. We rationalised plant use and took the
opportunity to upgrade the plant at the same time.
The continued multi-year investment made in the
concentrator operating assets, to secure higher
sustainable runtimes over previous reporting periods,
enabled this outstanding performance.

The Eastern tailing treatment, plant continued to show
improved recoveries, whilst the Eastern concentrators
also delivered an encouraging improvement in the
reporting period. The continued impact of the
concentrator improvements can be seen in sustainable,
improved throughputs and efficiencies across the
plants that were in operation in 2013.

The Number One UG2 concentrator upgrade has
been successfully completed and commissioning
of this plant is anticipated in 2014. 
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Underground Milled Grade

The overall milled grade improved by 1.1% to
4.54 grammes per tonne when compared to the
previous year driven by a 0.9% increase in the
underground grade to 4.60 grammes per tonne
and a decrease in opencast ore milled.

Smelter
Despite the roof failure experienced on Number Two
furnace, the smelter delivered a solid performance
with the total tonnes smelted increasing by 20.9%
compared to 2012. Both the Number One and
Number Two furnaces had successful matte taps
in June 2013 after the completion of their rebuilds.
The strategy to increase the back up capacity at the
smelter has proven to be successful, as production
from the Smelter for the full year did not suffer after
the failure in April 2013 of the Number Two furnace
roof. Whilst the smelter was able to process the
backlog, some excess stock remained in the pipeline
at the refineries at the year end.

A full refurbishment of all the pyromet furnaces ancillary
equipment was completed to improve the reliability of
the back up capacity.

The new design and operational discipline of Number
One furnace has continued to prove to be more robust.

Tonnes Smelted

Refineries

’000 oz 2013 2012 Variance

Platinum 709 687 3.2%
PGMs 1,336 1,350 (1.0)%

Both the Base Metal Refinery (BMR) and the Precious
Metal Refinery (PMR) delivered a solid performance.

The operations at the BMR were focused on
de-bottlenecking, with the aim that higher throughputs
could be dealt with. The focus on continuous
improvement on the NISO4 crystalliser over the last
year, made the increased throughput in the last three
months less of a challenge compared to previous
years and allowed the BMR to operate at the maximum
design milling capacity. The BMR is now in a position
to handle higher throughputs sustainably in the future
as a result of the work completed and scheduled for
next year, on the NISO4 crystalliser and other parts
of the operations.

The product quality from the BMR continued to show
improvements over the last year.

The PMR has shown a 1.0% increase in first pass
efficiencies for Platinum over the last year, as a result
of the focus on continuous improvement projects.
The recoveries of other PGMs are also doing better
compared to the previous years.

Processing costs

Cost of production 2013 2012 Variance

Concentrating R1,051/oz R1,073/oz 2.1%
Smelting &
Refining R925/oz R877/oz (5.4)%

The costs performance for the year benefited from the
cash conservation programme which we implemented
towards the end of 2012. The unit cost increase was
well contained despite the above inflation increases in
power, labour costs and the weaker Rand which have
a direct impact on our input costs including chemicals
and steel balls.

During the year, the additional cost management
programme of total cost of ownership on all of our
procurement activities was introduced. This initiative
is expected to continue in reducing the total cost of
producing a PGM ounce.
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People

Labour Relations
In light of the significant changes in union membership,
it became necessary to terminate the recognition
agreement with the NUM and negotiate a new
arrangement with AMCU. The new recognition
agreement signed with AMCU is similar to recognition
agreements concluded elsewhere within the mining
industry and is in line with the requirements of the
Labour Relations Act. Importantly, the new agreement
recognises the fundamental rights of employees to
belong to the unions of their choice and the principles
that underpin the Deputy President facilitated
Framework for Sustainable Mining.

In view of the new recognition agreement being
concluded and in line with the requirements of
section 18 (2) of the Labour Relations Act, existing
recognition agreements had to be terminated to
ensure consistent application of the new recognition
thresholds. Notwithstanding, the minority unions
will represent their members during the 2013
wage negotiations which started in October 2013.
The notice period will also be used for extensive
consultations with all the unions on possible
engagement platforms beyond the 90 day notice.

The new recognition agreement lays the foundation
for managing relations with representative trade
unions. We remain committed to an inclusive union
recognition dispensation and the new agreement with
its 3 tier recognition levels enables participation by
different unions.

Housing

The Broad-Based Socio-Economic Empowerment
Charter for the South African Industry, known as
“the Mining Charter”, is a government instrument
designed to effect sustainable growth and meaningful
transformation of the mining industry. Housing and
Living Conditions is one of the elements of the
Mining Charter.

Human dignity and privacy for mineworkers are the
hallmarks to enhance productivity and expedite
transformation in the mining industry in terms of
housing and living conditions. In this regard mining
companies must implement measures to improve the
standards of housing and living conditions for
mineworkers. The conversion or upgrade of hostels
into family units and single private units is one of the
measures to attain the occupancy rate of one person
per room by 2014.

Integrated Human Settlements
Challenges facing Lonmin’s sustainable human
settlement initiatives include:

• The history of migrant labour, including the rise
of second families; 

• The proliferation of informal settlements;

• Rising costs of building and maintaining houses;

• Lack of land and space in which to develop
housing projects;

• Lack of bulk service infrastructure in and around
local communities;

• Identification of a suitable partner to develop
housing and amenities for our employees in
accordance with the Lonmin criteria;

• A lack of capital funding for developments;

• Little or no interest in home ownership from
employees;

• Few or no community facilities for local communities,
which diminishes employees’ interest in settling in
these areas;

• Lack of capacity in the local authorities; and

• Unaffordability of housing both for ownership and
rental accommodation.

Despite the above challenges Lonmin has made
housing and accommodation a Board initiative
because it recognises that, if done correctly, access
to housing has the capacity to change people’s lives.
The access to decent living conditions is a basic
human right, which affects numerous areas of human
settlements including health and family relationships.
This vision forms part of a larger integrated plan to
enhance employee and community value propositions.

Partnering with developers, capital funders and all
levels of government, provincial authorities and local
municipalities in order to achieve our goal of sustainable
communities is a critical success factor. The identification
of a viable partner has been a major challenge.

Following recent discussion and presentations made
to the national Department of Human Settlement and
the North West Province’s Department of Human
Settlement, a series of meetings and correspondence
have ensued.

Understanding of Needs: Consultative Process
that Requires other Stakeholders
A fundamental part of our human settlement vision
is to understand our employees’ way of living and
their needs in order to accelerate the provision of
housing opportunities to assist our employees in this
primary need.

In doing so, comprehensive studies were commissioned
and completed in 2008, 2010 and more recently
refreshed in 2013. The topics included profiling of the
demographics and assessing land availability.

In addition, we have ongoing dialogue with key
stakeholders such as organised labour, provincial
and local municipalities as these initiatives require
a collaborative approach with key stakeholders.
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Community relations

Community Value Proposition
Through the Community Value Proposition (CVP),
Lonmin wants to ensure it is working on the correct
projects and pitching them at a sustainable level, so
that the Company can leave a lasting legacy in the
communities around its operations.

The CVP process had three phases. Phase one
was an extensive research project that took into
consideration the National Development Plan,
Integrated Development Plans from municipalities,
Bapo Ba Mogale ten year development plan, some
of the documents produced by Statistics South Africa
and the Company’s economic footprint research.
The research output was discussed with various
stakeholders, including internal stakeholders, the
provincial government departments, local municipalities,
regional departments of health and education and
various community members in Marikana. Through
this engagement process, Lonmin was able to test
its research to understand what issues stakeholders
want the Company to prioritise and this will inform
step changes to our delivery approach in this and
related areas in the years ahead.

New Social and Labour Plan
Lonmin is required to submit new five year SLPs and
arrangements are at an advanced stage to finalise
these documents for implementation in 2014.

The primary focus of the new SLPs will be on
accelerating transformation and implementing measures
to significantly improve the living conditions of our
employees as well as our host and major labour
sending communities.

The community investment programme has been
significantly revamped as part of the community value
proposition initiative. Through extensive engagements
with stakeholders including provincial and local
government, traditional authorities and host
communities, it has been agreed that Lonmin will
pursue the vision of “Empowered, Sustainable
Communities beyond mining”.

This programme is one of a number of initiatives
including community empowerment, local recruitment
and procurement.

Local Economic Development
• Building of the Ipopeng Service Centre in

Modderspruit – provision of a safe work place
for the elderly citizens (arts and crafts) and also
includes a food centre;

• Rebuilt four fire raged homes in the GLC;

• Implemented the GLC Waste Management and
Refuse Collection programme. Through this
programme we have facilitated refuse collection
and removal from 26,500 households and 5,400
informal houses across the GLC. We have also
created 40 long-term jobs and created four local
small and medium enterprises;

• Launched the brick making facility in Bapong,
producing bricks, blocks and paving bricks and
creating 42 long-term jobs; and

• Commenced construction of a new primary
school in Mnxekazi village, in the Eastern Cape.
The school forms part of our contribution towards
the department of basic education’s programme
of eradicating mud schools. The new school
will have seven classrooms, a nutrition centre,
two Grade R classrooms, science lab, and
multi media centre – 56 short-term employment
opportunities created.

Other Assets

Limpopo
The date for completion of the proposed transaction
between Lonmin and Shanduka, our BEE partner,
remains 31 March 2015. In the interim, a number
of conditions precedent to the completion of the
transaction need to be satisfied including completion
of a feasibility review, the securing of funding and
obtaining all necessary approvals.

Akanani
We continue to await a decision by the DMR on our
application for renewal of the prospecting right.
Should we be successful in renewing the right, we will
have a period of three years from the date of renewal
to conduct further prospecting activities. A mining
right application would need to be submitted during
this three year renewal period failing which our rights
to Akanani would terminate. Akanani provides us with
options in the long-term.

Exploration International
Lonmin is exploring for PGM deposits around the
Sudbury Basin in Ontario, Canada in joint ventures
with Wallbridge Mining Company Limited and Vale S.A.

Exploration mapping, geophysical surveys and drilling
continued to generate targets for follow up in the
coming year on our Canadian and Northern Ireland
properties.

Exploration – South Africa
WPL carried out exploration activities on a PGM-Nickel
prospect on Vlakfontein, and has defined shallow, drill
ready targets. An application for renewal of Vlakfotein’s
prospecting right has been submitted to the DMR and
we await their response. Vlakfontein is entitled to one
renewal of three years and will be required to submit
a mining right during this renewal period failing which
Vlakfontein’s rights will terminate. Lonmin has a joint
venture with Boynton in the eastern Bushveld but may
proceed with litigation against Boynton on the basis
that it failed to comply with its promise to deliver an
unencumbered asset to the joint venture. In the
interim, Boynton awaits a response from the DMR on
whether its application for renewal of prospecting right
has been successful.
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Financial Review
Income Statement
The $97 million movement between the underlying operating profit of $67 million for the year ended 30 September
2012 and that of $164 million for the year ended 30 September 2013 is analysed below.

$m

Year to 30 September 2012 reported operating loss (702)
Year to 30 September 2012 special items 769

Year to 30 September 2012 underlying operating profit 67

PGM price 4
PGM volume (90)
PGM mix 3
Base metals (11)

Revenue changes (94)
Cost changes (including foreign exchange impact of $194 million) 191

Year to 30 September 2013 underlying operating profit 164
Year to 30 September 2013 special items (17)

Year to 30 September 2013 reported operating profit 147

Operating Costs
Total underlying costs in US Dollar terms decreased
by $191 million mainly due to positive metal stock and
foreign exchange movements partially offset by the
impact of increased production and cost escalations.
A track of these changes is shown in the table below.

$m

Year ended 30 September 2012
– underlying costs 1,547

Increase / (decrease):

Marikana underground mining 150
Marikana opencast mining 27
Limpopo mining (2)
Concentrating and processing 28
Overheads 13
2012 special idle fixed production costs
excluded from underlying costs 120

Underlying operating costs 336

Pandora and W1 ore purchases 29
Metal stock movement (393)
Foreign exchange (194)
Depreciation and amortisation 31
Cost changes (including foreign
exchange impact) (191)

Year ended 30 September 2013
– underlying costs 1,356

Marikana underground mining costs increased in the
year by $150 million or 18%, mainly as a result of a
12% increase in production on the back of a successful
ramp up following last year’s seven week production
disruption. This was compounded by the 14% wage
increase incurred in October 2012. Marikana opencast
mining costs increased by $27 million driven by a 19%
increase in production as well as wage inflation which
impacted on contractual mining rates.

Revenue
Total revenue declined by $94 million from 2012 to
$1,520 million for the year ended 30 September 2013.

As mentioned in the overview the PGM pricing
environment improved only marginally over the last
year and the impact on the average prices achieved
during the year on the key metals sold is shown below.

Year ended Year ended
30.09.13 30.09.12

$/oz $/oz

Platinum 1,517 1,517
Palladium 715 630
Rhodium 1,097 1,274

PGM basket (excluding
by-product revenue) 1,100 1,095

The US Dollar basket price (excluding by-products)
increased by 0.5% contributing $4 million to the
movement in revenue. It should be noted that whilst
the US Dollar basket price only increased by 0.5%
from the 2012 financial year, in Rand terms the basket
price increased by 17% impacted by the relatively
weaker Rand.

PGM sales volume for the year to 30 September 2013
was 6% down on the year to 30 September 2012.
The reduction in PGM volumes, mainly as a result of
process inventory replenishment following last year’s
production disruption as well as some inventory lock
up as a result of the smelter incident, contributed
$90 million to the overall decrease in revenue. However,
the mix of metals sold resulted in a positive impact of
$3 million mainly due to a higher proportion of Platinum
due to metal in process inventory timing differences.
Base metal revenue was down $11 million as the 15%
increase in Chrome volumes was more than offset by
lower base metal prices and lower sales volumes of
Nickel and Copper. 
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Operating Costs (continued)
Concentrating and processing costs increased from
2012 by $28 million or 8% as escalation effects, in
particular from electricity costs were partially offset by
reduced refined production due to smelter downtime.

Overheads increased by $13 million or 10% largely
due to cost escalation effects.

In 2012, $120 million relating to fixed production
overheads incurred during the strike for which there
was no associated production was re-allocated to
special costs.

Ore purchases increased by $29 million on the back
of a 32% increase in tonnes purchased.

The year under review saw a replenishment of stock
in process following last year’s pipeline depletion.
This has resulted in a $393 million positive impact on
operating profit, excluding exchange impacts, arising
from metal stock movements. The $393 million
comprises of a $253 million increase in stock in 2013
and a $140 million stock decrease in 2012.

The Rand weakened substantially against the US Dollar
during the year under review averaging Rand 9.24 to
USD1 compared to an average of Rand 8.05 to USD1
in 2012 resulting in a $194 million positive impact on
operating costs.

Depreciation, which is calculated on a units of
production basis, increased during the year by
$31 million as a direct result of increased production
in both opencast and underground mining.

Cost of production per PGM Ounce
The C1 cost per PGM ounce produced for the year
to 30 September 2013 was R8,832. This was an
increase of 3.8% compared to 2012. The containment
of unit costs in the face of cost escalation pressures
(14% wage escalation and 12% power escalation) was
achieved on the back of increased volumes, improved
recoveries and our continued focus on cost control.

In the current year, we have introduced a more
inclusive and transparent measure for unit costs,
“Cost of production per PGM ounce”. This measure
differs from the C1 cost per PGM ounce produced in
that it includes sales and marketing costs, as well as
other management and shared services costs. This
makes for a more easily understood cost comparison
and benchmarking tool. The cost of production per
PGM ounce in 2013 at R9,182 increased by 3.8%
over 2012 which is in line with the C1 unit cost
increase stated above. A trend analysis going back
five years reveals a similar correlation between the
two cost measures.

Further details of unit costs can be found in the
Operating Statistics.

Special Operating Costs
Residual strike related costs arising from the Events at
Marikana continue to be incurred. For the year ended
30 September 2013, these costs totalled $7 million
and largely consisted of communication costs relating
to reputational rebuild as well as costs related to the
ongoing Farlam Commission. In addition $10 million
was spent on the management restructuring exercise
which formed part of the LRP. The restructuring
exercise was cost neutral in 2013 but is expected to
yield savings of approximately R200 million per annum
going forward.

In 2012 special operating costs of $769 million were
charged. These related to the impairment of the
Akanani exploration and evaluation asset ($602 million),
strike related costs ($159 million) and other costs
amounting to $8 million.

Impairment of Available for Sale Financial Assets
The $2 million impairment of available for sale financial
assets represents the loss in value below the original
cost price of one of our investments.

In 2012 the $6 million impairment represented the loss
in value of one of our investments following the
company’s de-listing in December 2011.

Financing Costs
Year ended 30 September

2013 2012
$m $m

Net bank interest and fees (20) (27)
Capitalised interest payable
and fees 11 26
Exchange gain / (loss) 8 (1)
Other (9) (12)

Underlying net finance costs (10) (14)
Special finance income /
(costs)
Unwinding fees relating to
interest rate swap (14) –
Fair value movements in
cash flow hedges 7 –
HDSA receivable 18 30
Exchange loss in respect
of Rights Issue (10) –

Net finance (costs) / income (9) 16

The total net finance costs of $9 million for the year
ended 30 September 2013 represent a $25 million
adverse movement compared to the total net
finance income of $16 million for the year ended
30 September 2012.

Net bank interest and fees decreased from $27 million
to $20 million for the year ended 30 September 2013
as the benefit of settling debt following the successful
Rights Issue was partially offset by the unwinding of
previously unamortised bank fees on settlement of the
original loan facilities. Interest totalling $11 million was
capitalised to assets (2012 – $26 million).



01 /
S

trategic R
eport

02 /
G

overnance
03 /

Financial S
tatem

ents
04 /

A
 D

eeper Look
05 /

S
hareholder Inform

ation
Lonmin Plc
Annual Report and Accounts 2013

A Deeper Look

/ 167

www.lonmin.com

Financing Costs (continued)
Following the retiring of debt after the Rights Issue,
further periodic borrowings to fund the working capital
cycle were largely incurred in Rand and benefited from
the weakening of the Rand in relation to the US Dollar
as the year progressed. Exchange gains for the year
ended 30 September 2013 amounted to $8 million
compared to a loss of $1 million in 2012.

Other finance costs largely relate to the unwinding of
the discounting of site rehabilitation liabilities.

The interest rate swap entered into in 2011 to hedge
against interest rate fluctuations was unwound after
the underlying bank debt was settled. Fees amounting
to $14 million were incurred as a result. The
unwinding fees were partially offset by positive fair
value movements amounting to $7 million upon the
release of the cash flow hedge resulting from the
interest rate swap.

The HDSA receivable, being the Sterling loan to a
subsidiary of Shanduka Resources (Proprietary)
Limited (Shanduka), increased by $18 million during
the year to 30 September 2013 being $1 million of
foreign exchange gains and $17 million of accrued
interest. The $30 million increase in 2012 represented
$14 million worth of exchange gains and $16 million
of accrued interest. At 30 September 2013 the
balance of the receivable stood at $399 million
(2012 – $381 million) and is secured on shares in
the Shanduka subsidiary whose only asset of value
is its ultimate shareholding in Incwala Resources

Cash Generation and Net Debt
The following table summarises the main components of the cash flow during the year.

Year ended 30 September

2013 2012
$m $m

Operating profit / (loss) 147 (702)
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 157 726
Changes in working capital (246) 265
Other (5) 11

Cash flow generated from operations 53 300
Interest and finance costs (33) (27)
Tax (4) (10)

Trading cash inflow 16 263
Capital expenditure (159) (408)
Dividends paid to minority interests (11) (14)

Free cash outflow (154) (159)
Dividend from joint venture 1 7
Additions to other financial assets – (2)
Net proceeds from equity issuance 767 –
Issue of other ordinary share capital 1 –
Dividends paid to equity shareholders – (31)

Cash inflow / (outflow) 615 (185)
Opening net debt (421) (234)
Foreign exchange 13 –
Unamortised fees (6) (2)

Closing net cash / (debt) 201 (421)

Trading cash inflow (cents per share) 3.0c 69.1c

Free cash outflow (cents per share) (28.9c) (41.8c)

(Proprietary) Limited (Incwala). The value of the security,
based on the value of Incwala, calculated based on
discounted cash flows of Incwala’s underlying
investments in WPL, EPL and Akanani, currently
marginally exceeds this amount. Should the value of
security fall below the carrying amount of the receivable,
an impairment charge would be effected.

In order to minimise the risk of the exposure to currency
fluctuations on the Rand and Sterling proceeds
expected, the Group entered into forward exchange
contracts in synchronisation with the Rights Issue
process. The US Dollar weakened over the offer period
resulting in the Rand and Sterling proceeds received
and translated at prevailing spot rates being more
than that due under the forward exchange contracts.
This resulted in the recognition of exchange losses
under hedging arrangements of $11 million which
was partially offset by a $1 million exchange gain on
retranslation of advance proceeds of the Rights Issue.

Taxation
Reported tax for the current year was a credit of
$58 million after the tax effects of special items of
$85 million. The underlying tax charge is $27 million
reflecting an effective rate of 17%. The underlying
charge largely comprises deferred tax charges being
recognised on accelerated capital allowances. The low
underlying effective tax rate of 17% compared to a
standard tax rate of 28% is largely driven by exchange
effects on profits arising from a predominantly Rand tax
base translated to the US Dollar functional currency.
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Cash Generation and Net Debt (continued)
Cash flow generated from operations in the year
ended 30 September 2013 at $53 million was lower
than the $300 million recorded in 2012. The cash
benefits of improved profitability were more than offset
by adverse working capital movements, $189 million
was attributable to the replenishment of the metal in
process pipeline following last year’s production
stoppage as well as some lock up of the pipeline
experienced as a result of the smelter incident. It
should be noted that in 2012, working capital cash
flows benefited from the reduction in stock levels at
year end as well as from the revenue received in
advance on the forward sale of gold.

Trading cash inflow for the year to 30 September
2013 amounted to $16 million (2012 – $263 million).
The cash outflow on interest and finance costs
increased by $6 million as the benefit of reduced debt
levels was offset by amendment fees paid for revised
debt facilities and the cost of unwinding the interest
rate swap. Tax payments decreased by $6 million and
represent provisional corporate tax payments which
benefited from unredeemed capital expenditure
deductions. The trading cash inflow per share was
3.0 cents for the year ended 30 September 2013
against 69.1 cents for 2012. Note that the prior year
trading cash inflow per share has been recalculated,
in accordance with accounting standards, to take
into account the effects of the Rights Issue referred
to below.

Capital expenditure cash flow at $159 million was
$249 million below prior year reflecting our revised
strategy and capital investment programme. In Mining,
the expenditure incurred was focused on sustaining
capital across the various shafts as well as ore reserve
development projects at K3 shaft UG2 decline, Saffy
shaft and Rowland shaft. In the Process Division
spend comprised the completion of work at the
Number One shaft concentrator and the Number One
furnace integrity optimisation project.

The Group undertook a successful Rights Issue which
was completed in December 2012 and raised total
net proceeds of $767 million after costs and foreign
exchange charges. The proceeds of the Rights Issue
were utilised to settle debt resulting in a net cash
position at 30 September 2013 of $201 million
compared to a net debt position of $421 million at
30 September 2012.

Key Financial Risks
The Group faces many risks in the operation of its
business. The Group’s strategy takes into account
known risks, but risks will exist of which we are
currently unaware. This financial review focuses on
financial risk management.

Financial Risk Management
The main financial risks faced by the Group relate
to the availability of funds to meet business needs
(liquidity risk), the risk of default by counterparties to
financial transactions (credit risk) and fluctuations in
interest, foreign exchange rates and commodity prices
(market risk). Factors which are outside the control of
management which can have a significant impact on
the business remain, specifically, volatility in the Rand /
US Dollar exchange rate and PGM commodity prices.

These are the critical factors to consider when
addressing the issue of whether the Group is a
Going Concern.

Liquidity Risk
The policy on liquidity is to ensure that the Group has
sufficient funds to facilitate all ongoing operations. The
Group funds its operations through a mixture of equity
funding and borrowings. The Group’s philosophy is to
maintain an appropriately low level of financial gearing
given the exposure of the business to fluctuations in
PGM commodity prices and the Rand / US Dollar
exchange rate. We ordinarily seek to fund capital
requirements from equity.

As part of the annual budgeting and long-term
planning process, the Group’s cash flow forecast is
reviewed and approved by the Board. The cash flow
forecast is amended for any material changes
identified during the year, for example material
acquisitions and disposals or changes in production
forecasts. Where funding requirements are identified
from the cash flow forecast, appropriate measures are
taken to ensure these requirements can be satisfied.
Factors taken into consideration are:

• The size and nature of the requirement;

• Preferred sources of finance applying key criteria
of cost, commitment, availability, security /
covenant conditions;

• Recommended counterparties, fees and market
conditions; and

• Covenants, guarantees and other financial
commitments.

During the year under review, the Group revised its
debt facilities on the back of the successful Rights
Issue. The amended US Dollar Facilities and amended
Rand Facilities came into effect in December 2012.
The proceeds of the Rights Issue were used to repay
the Group’s indebtedness under the original facilities,
including (i) the repayment in full of amounts outstanding
(amounting to $300 million plus accrued interest and
applicable break fees) under the US Dollar Term Loan,
which facility was cancelled; and (ii) the repayment of
amounts outstanding under the US Dollar Revolving
Credit Facility; and (iii) the repayment of amounts
outstanding under the Rand Facilities Agreements.

The remaining facilities are summarised as follows:

• Revolving Credit Facility of $400 million at a
Lonmin Plc level; and

• Three bilateral facilities of R660 million each at a
WPL level.

The principal amendments to each of the original
agreements were to remove the net debt/EBITDA and
EBITDA/net interest covenants and to substitute these
with the following financial covenants:

• Consolidated tangible net worth will not be less
than $2,250 million;

• Consolidated net debt will not exceed 25 per cent
of consolidated tangible net worth; and

• If:

– in respect of the amended US Dollar Facilities
Agreement, the aggregate amount of
outstanding loans exceeds $75 million at any
time during the last six months of any test
period; or
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– in respect of both the amended US Dollar
Facilities Agreement and the amended Rand
Facilities Agreements, consolidated net debt
exceeds $300 million as of the last day of any
test period,

the capital expenditure of the Group must not
exceed the limits set out in the table below,
provided that, if 110 percent of budgeted capital
expenditure for any test period ending on or after
30 September 2013 is lower than the capital
expenditure limit set out in the table below for
that test period, then the capital expenditure limit
for that test period shall be equal to 110 percent
of such budgeted capital expenditure.

Test Period Capital expenditure limit (Rand)

1 October 2012 to
31 March 2013 (inclusive) 800,000,000

1 October 2012 to
30 September 2013 (inclusive) 1,600,000,000

1 April 2013 to
31 March 2014 (inclusive) 1,800,000,000

1 October 2013 to
30 September 2014 (inclusive) 2,000,000,000

1 April 2014 to
31 March 2015 (inclusive) 3,000,000,000

1 October 2014 to
30 September 2015 (inclusive) 4,000,000,000

1 April 2015 to
31 March 2016 (inclusive 4,000,000,000

1 October 2015 to
30 September 2016 (inclusive) 4,000,000,000

Credit Risk

Banking Counterparties
Banking counterparty credit risk is managed by
spreading financial transactions across an approved
list of counterparties of high credit quality. Banking
counterparties are approved by the Board and consist
of the ten banks that participate in Lonmin’s bank
debt facilities. These counterparties comprise: BNP
Paribas S.A., Citigroup Global Markets Limited,
FirstRand Bank Limited, HSBC Bank Plc, Investec Bank
Limited, J.P. Morgan Limited, Lloyds TSB Bank Plc,
The Royal Bank of Scotland N.V., The Standard Bank
of South Africa Limited and Standard Chartered Bank.

Trade Receivables
The Group is exposed to significant trade receivable
credit risk through the sale of PGMs to a limited group
of customers.

This risk is managed as follows:

• Aged analysis is performed on trade receivable
balances and reviewed on a monthly basis;

• Credit ratings are obtained on any new customers
and the credit ratings of existing customers are
monitored on an ongoing basis;

• Credit limits are set for customers; and

• Trigger points and escalation procedures are
clearly defined.

It should be noted that a significant portion of Lonmin’s
revenue is from two key customers. However, both of
these customers have strong investment grade ratings
and their payment terms are very short, thereby
reducing trade receivable credit risk significantly.

HDSA Receivables
HDSA receivables are secured on the HDSA’s shares,
whose only asset of value is its shareholding in Incwala.

Interest Rate Risk
Given that all debt has been repaid, this risk is not
considered to be high at this point in time. The interest
position is kept under constant review in conjunction
with the liquidity policy outlined above and the future
funding requirements of the business.

Foreign Currency Risk
The Group’s operations are predominantly based in
South Africa and the majority of the revenue stream
is in US Dollars. However, the majority of the Group’s
operating costs and taxes are paid in Rand. Most of
the cash received in South Africa is in US Dollars.
A majority of the Group’s funding sources are in
US Dollars.

The Group’s reporting currency is the US Dollar and the
share capital of the Company is based in US Dollars.

During the year under review, Lonmin did not
undertake any foreign currency hedging except in
relation to Rights Issue proceeds as described above.

Commodity Price Risk
Our policy is not to hedge commodity price exposure
on PGMs, excluding gold, and therefore any change
in prices will have a direct effect on the Group’s
trading results.

For base metals and gold, hedging is undertaken
where the Board determines that it is in the Group’s
interest to hedge a proportion of future cash flows.
The policy allows Lonmin to hedge up to a maximum
of 75% of the future cash flows from the sale of these
products looking forward over the next 12 to 24
months. The Group did not undertake any hedging
of base metals under this authority in the year under
review and no forward contracts were in place in
respect of base metals at the end of the period.

In respect of gold, Lonmin entered into a pre-paid
sale of 75% of its current gold production for the next
54 months in March 2012. In terms of this contract
Lonmin will deliver 70,700 ounces of gold over the
period with delivery on a quarterly basis and in return
received an upfront payment of $107 million. The
upfront receipt was accounted for as deferred revenue
on our balance sheet and is being released to profit
and loss as deliveries take place at an average price
of $1,510 per ounce delivered.

Contingent Liabilities
The Group provided third party guarantees to Eskom
as security to cover estimated electricity consumption
for three months. At 30 September 2013 these
guarantees amounted to $10 million (2012 – $12 million).
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Units 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Tonnes mined Marikana Karee1 kt 4,950 4,384 4,438 4,115 3,950
Westerns1 kt 2,899 2,643 3,434 3,694 3,912
Middelkraal1 kt 2,201 1,762 1,904 1,918 1,385
Easterns1 kt 910 997 1,174 1,082 935

Underground kt 10,960 9,786 10,949 10,809 10,182
Opencast kt 528 443 601 329 234

Total Marikana Underground & Opencast kt 11,487 10,229 11,550 11,137 10,415

Pandora (100%)2 Underground kt 571 435 394 391 335
Opencast kt – – – – 366

Total kt 571 435 394 391 702

Limpopo Underground kt – – – – 87

Lonmin (100%) Total Tonnes mined kt 12,058 10,663 11,944 11,529 11,204
% tonnes mined from UG2 reef (100%) % 73.9 71.7 73.2 76.1 78.5

Lonmin
(attributable)2 Underground & Opencast kt 11,730 10,413 11,718 11,304 10,801

Ounces mined3 Lonmin excluding
Pandora Platinum oz 717,882 635,346 695,474 686,108 609,108
Pandora (100%) Platinum oz 40,917 30,714 25,342 25,670 42,885

Lonmin Platinum oz 758,799 666,060 720,816 711,778 651,993

Lonmin excluding 
Pandora Total PGMs oz 1,340,678 1,174,776 1,306,082 1,297,452 1,151,770
Pandora (100%) Total PGMs oz 78,353 58,300 48,420 49,227 79,474

Lonmin Total PGMs oz 1,419,032 1,233,076 1,354,501 1,346,679 1,231,245

Tonnes milled4 Marikana Underground kt 10,854 9,936 10,896 10,655 10,148
Opencast kt 393 450 748 129 622

Limpopo Underground kt – – – – 92
Pandora (100%)5 Underground kt 574 432 394 391 335

Opencast kt – – – – 430

Lonmin Platinum Underground kt 11,428 10,367 11,290 11,046 10,576
Opencast kt 393 450 748 129 1,053
Total kt 11,822 10,817 12,037 11,176 11,628

Milled head Lonmin Platinum Underground g/t 4.60 4.56 4.54 4.67 4.57
grade6 Opencast g/t 2.92 3.01 2.23 2.25 3.70

Total g/t 4.54 4.49 4.40 4.65 4.50

Concentrator Lonmin Platinum Underground % 87.0 86.1 85.4 84.8 81.0
recovery rate7 Opencast % 85.3 85.9 81.6 63.8 65.1

Total % 87.0 86.1 85.3 84.7 79.8

Operating Statistics – 5 Year Review
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Operating Statistics – 5 Year Review

Units 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Metals in Marikana Platinum oz 706,012 646,393 694,149 668,620 612,910
concentrate8 Palladium oz 323,622 295,409 324,655 313,590 284,561

Gold oz 17,664 16,925 17,471 14,969 14,419
Rhodium oz 95,241 83,144 91,659 93,043 85,008
Ruthenium oz 144,304 127,269 144,369 144,913 130,080
Iridium oz 33,059 27,610 31,294 31,432 28,389
Total PGMs oz 1,319,902 1,196,750 1,303,597 1,266,566 1,155,367

Limpopo Platinum oz – – – – 3,770
Palladium oz – – – – 3,331
Gold oz – – – – 243
Rhodium oz – – – – 487
Ruthenium oz – – – – 688
Iridium oz – – – – 159
Total PGMs oz – – – – 8,679

Pandora Platinum oz 41,117 30,625 25,241 25,756 46,421
Palladium oz 19,190 14,261 11,847 12,108 20,866
Gold oz 315 228 179 176 350
Rhodium oz 6,563 4,743 3,865 4,036 6,425
Ruthenium oz 9,764 7,135 6,070 6,228 9,338
Iridium oz 1,773 1,195 996 1,041 1,767
Total PGMs oz 78,721 58,188 48,199 49,345 85,168

Lonmin Platinum Platinum oz 747,129 677,019 719,390 694,376 663,101
before Concentrate Palladium oz 342,812 309,670 336,502 325,698 308,758
Purchases Gold oz 17,979 17,153 17,650 15,145 15,013

Rhodium oz 101,803 87,886 95,524 97,079 91,920
Ruthenium oz 154,067 134,404 150,439 151,141 140,106
Iridium oz 34,832 28,805 32,290 32,473 30,315
Total PGMs oz 1,398,623 1,254,938 1,351,796 1,315,911 1,249,214

Concentrate Platinum oz 3,813 2,802 – – –
Purchases Palladium oz 1,132 973 – – –

Gold oz 14 10 – – –
Rhodium oz 421 329 – – –
Ruthenium oz 428 404 – – –
Iridium oz 172 129 – – –
Total PGMs oz 5,980 4,647 – – –

Lonmin Platinum Platinum oz 750,942 679,821 719,390 694,376 663,101
Palladium oz 343,944 310,643 336,502 325,697 308,758
Gold oz 17,993 17,163 17,650 15,144 15,013
Rhodium oz 102,225 88,216 95,524 97,079 91,920
Ruthenium oz 154,495 134,808 150,439 151,141 140,106
Iridium oz 35,004 28,934 32,290 32,473 30,315
Total PGMs oz 1,404,603 1,259,585 1,351,796 1,315,911 1,249,214
Nickel9 MT 3,743 3,489 3,537 2,972 2,794
Copper9 MT 2,340 2,226 2,223 1,824 1,763
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Units 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Refined Lonmin refined Platinum oz 707,665 648,414 686,877 607,794 655,291
production metal production Palladium oz 319,841 310,558 323,907 303,748 297,415

Gold oz 18,676 18,398 18,013 15,284 18,277
Rhodium oz 79,124 110,896 86,702 94,690 95,596
Ruthenium oz 171,052 153,394 164,374 147,854 146,506
Iridium oz 28,068 32,844 26,337 36,073 23,908
Total PGMs oz 1,324,426 1,274,503 1,306,210 1,205,443 1,236,992

Toll refined Platinum oz 1,364 38,958 44,396 77,571 2,025
metal production Palladium oz 662 21,043 49,119 15,274 941

Gold oz 289 729 2,879 1,100 58
Rhodium oz 1,837 4,717 14,402 5,411 1,532
Ruthenium oz 6,519 7,907 24,408 8,278 2,647
Iridium oz 1,012 1,944 5,249 1,695 513
Total PGMs oz 11,683 75,299 140,453 109,328 7,717

Total refined Platinum oz 709,029 687,372 731,273 685,365 657,317
PGMs Palladium oz 320,503 331,601 373,026 319,022 298,356

Gold oz 18,965 19,128 20,892 16,383 18,335
Rhodium oz 80,961 115,613 101,103 100,100 97,128
Ruthenium oz 177,571 161,300 188,782 156,133 149,153
Iridium oz 29,081 34,788 31,586 37,768 24,420
Total PGMs oz 1,336,109 1,349,802 1,446,662 1,314,772 1,244,709

Base metals Nickel10 MT 3,532 3,786 4,188 3,475 3,244
Copper10 MT 2,168 2,153 2,454 2,091 1,988

Sales Refined metal sales Platinum oz 695,803 701,831 720,783 681,424 659,703
Palladium oz 313,030 335,849 372,284 315,515 305,332
Gold oz 18,423 19,273 19,417 16,289 18,910
Rhodium oz 77,625 119,054 102,653 98,657 94,160
Ruthenium oz 168,266 170,751 187,189 153,865 146,009
Iridium oz 28,828 37,187 33,603 34,790 23,522
Total PGMs oz 1,301,973 1,383,945 1,435,929 1,300,540 1,247,636

Concentrate and Platinum oz – – – 24,850 23,253
other11 Palladium oz – – – – (2,848)

Gold oz – – – – 13
Rhodium oz – – – – 175
Ruthenium oz – – – – 303
Iridium oz – – – – 387
Total PGMs oz – – – 24,850 21,282

Lonmin Platinum Platinum oz 695,803 701,831 720,783 706,274 682,955
Palladium oz 313,030 335,849 372,284 315,515 302,485
Gold oz 18,423 19,273 19,417 16,289 18,922
Rhodium oz 77,625 119,054 102,653 98,657 94,335
Ruthenium oz 168,266 170,751 187,189 153,865 146,312
Iridium oz 28,828 37,187 33,603 34,790 23,909
Total PGMs oz 1,301,973 1,383,945 1,435,929 1,325,390 1,268,918
Nickel10 MT 3,586 3,843 4,180 3,033 3,318
Copper10 MT 2,130 2,197 2,448 2,169 2,045
Chrome10 MT 1,388,761 1,209,643 730,278 684,654 708,753

Average prices Platinum $/oz 1,517 1,517 1,769 1,525 1,086
Palladium $/oz 715 630 752 448 224
Gold $/oz 1,508 1,597 1,405 1,153 912
Rhodium $/oz 1,097 1,274 2,145 2,308 1,571
Ruthenium $/oz 74 103 168 173 97
Iridium $/oz 946 1,042 938 520 388
Basket price of PGMs12 $/oz 1,100 1,095 1,299 1,139 786
Full Basket price of PGMs13 $/oz 1,167 1,163 1,389 1,195 836
Basket price of PGMs12 R/oz 10,291 8,807 9,109 8,375 6,873
Full Basket price of PGMs13 R/oz 10,921 9,304 9,716 8,790 7,316
Nickel10 $/MT 12,772 14,330 21,009 18,569 15,006
Copper10 $/MT 7,113 7,201 8,612 6,623 6,291
Chrome10 $/MT 19 20 27 5 2

Operating Statistics – 5 Year Review
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Footnotes:
1 Karee includes the shafts K3, K4 (currently on care and maintenance), 4B/1B. Westerns comprises Rowland, Newman and W1. Middelkraal represents

Hossy and Saffy. Easterns includes E1, E2 and E3.

2 Pandora underground and opencast tonnes mined represents 100% of the total tonnes mined on the Pandora joint venture of which 42.5% is
attributable to Lonmin.

3 Ounces mined have been calculated at achieved concentrator recoveries and industry standard downstream processing losses to present produced
saleable ounces.

4 Tonnes milled excludes slag milling.

5 Lonmin purchases 100% of the ore produced by the Pandora joint venture for onward processing which is included in downstream operating statistics.

6 Head grade is the grammes per tonne (5PGE + Au) value contained in the tonnes milled and fed into the concentrator from the mines (excludes slag milled).

7 Recovery rate in the concentrators is the total content produced divided by the total content milled (excluding slag).

8 Metals in concentrate include metal derived from slag processing and have been calculated at industry standard downstream processing losses to
present produced saleable ounces.

9 Corresponds to contained base metals in concentrate.

10 Nickel is produced and sold as nickel sulphate crystals or solution and the volumes shown correspond to contained metal. Copper is produced as
refined product but typically at LME grade C. Chrome is produced in the form of chromite concentrate and volumes shown are in the form of chromite.

11 Concentrate and other sales have been adjusted to a saleable ounce basis using industry standard recovery rates.

12 Basket price of PGMs is based on the revenue generated in Rand and Dollar from the actual PGMs (5PGE + Au) sold in the period based on the
appropriate Rand / Dollar exchange rate applicable for each sales transaction.

13 As per note 10 but including revenue from base metals.

Units 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Capital expenditure1 Rm 1,500 3,296 2,907 1,989 2,106
$m 159 408 410 267 234

Cost per PGM ounce sold2,5

Group:
Mining – Marikana R/oz 6,247 5,963 5,292 4,575 4,468
Mining – Limpopo R/oz – – – – 7,404
Mining (weighted average) R/oz 6,247 5,963 5,292 4,575 4,490
Concentrating – Marikana R/oz 1,051 1,073 960 862 808
Concentrating – Limpopo R/oz – – – – 1,820
Concentrating (weighted average) R/oz 1,051 1,073 960 862 815
Smelting and refining3 R/oz 917 872 830 809 693
Shared business services R/oz 618 600 452 527 632

C1 cost per PGM ounce produced R/oz 8,832 8,507 7,534 6,773 6,630
Stock movement R/oz (970) (192) (272) (358) 112

C1 cost per PGM ounce sold before base metal credits R/oz 7,862 8,315 7,262 6,415 6,742
Base metal credits R/oz (627) (497) (606) (415) (440)

C1 cost per PGM ounce sold after base metal credits R/oz 7,235 7,817 6,656 6,000 6,302
Amortisation R/oz 992 708 617 571 516

C2 cost per PGM ounce sold R/oz 8,227 8,525 7,273 6,571 6,818

Pandora mining cost:
C1 Pandora mining cost (in joint venture) R/oz 5,242 5,229 5,020 4,727 3,371
Pandora JV cost / ounce to Lonmin (adjusting Lonmin share of profit) R/oz 8,229 7,644 7,228 7,253 5,956

Exchange rates Average rate for period4 R/$ 9.24 8.05 6.95 7.45 9.00
£/$ 0.64 0.63 0.62 0.64 0.64

Closing rate R/$ 9.99 8.30 8.05 6.92 7.47
£/$ 0.62 0.62 0.64 0.64 0.62

Operating Statistics – 5 Year Review
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Units 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Underlying cost PGM operations Mining $m (919) (877) (995) (811) (594)
of sales segment Concentrating $m (159) (168) (187) (153) (115)

Smelting and refining3 $m (133) (147) (172) (156) (112)
Shared services $m (101) (100) (97) (79) (88)
Management and
marketing services $m (26) (35) (32) (31) (34)

Ore and concentrate
purchases $m (64) (48) (46) (42) (41)
Limpopo mining $m (7) (9) (7) (5) (9)

Special item adjustment $m – 121 – – –
Royalties $m (6) (8) (12) (6) –
Share based payments $m (13) (12) (13) (12) (1)
Inventory movement $m 203 (140) (12) 111 (48)
FX and Group Charges $m 44 14 5 (43) (10)

$m (1,181) (1,412) (1,567) (1,226) (1,051)

PGM operations Mining Rm (8,545) (7,079) (7,002) (6,026) (5,302)
segment Concentrating Rm (1,469) (1,346) (1,297) (1,142) (1,019)

Smelting and refining3 Rm (1,235) (1,183) (1,203) (1,161) (982)
Shared services Rm (928) (805) (679) (586) (776)
Management and
marketing services Rm (243) (287) (217) (227) (298)

Ore and concentrate
purchases Rm (597) (385) (318) (315) (363)
Limpopo mining Rm (61) (76) (50) (37) (106)

Special Item Adjustment Rm – 966 – – –
Royalties Rm (55) (68) (82) (40) –
Share based Payments Rm (121) (99) (87) (87) –
Inventory movement Rm 2,145 (842) (119) 649 (289)
FX and Group Charges Rm (1,247) (218) (517) (53) 404

Rm (12,356) (11,424) (11,572) (9,025) (8,733)

Cost of Cost Mining Rm (8,545) (7,079) (7,002) (6,026) (5,302)
production Concentrating Rm (1,469) (1,346) (1,297) (1,142) (1,019)
(PGM operations Smelting and refining3 Rm (1,235) (1,183) (1,203) (1,161) (982)
segment) Shared services Rm (928) (805) (679) (586) (776)

Management and
marketing services Rm (243) (287) (217) (227) (298)

Rm (12,420) (10,701) (10,399) (9,142) (8,379)

PGM Saleable Mined ounces excluding
ounces ore purchases oz 1,340,678 1,174,776 1,306,082 1,297,452 1,151,770

Metals in concentrate before
concentrate purchases oz 1,398,623 1,254,938 1,351,796 1,315,911 1,249,214
Refined ounces oz 1,336,109 1,349,802 1,446,662 1,314,772 1,244,709
Metals in concentrate including
concentrate purchases oz 1,404,603 1,259,585 1,351,796 1,315,911 1,249,214

Cost of production Mining R/oz (6,373) (6,026) (5,361) (4,644) (4,604)
Concentrating R/oz (1,051) (1,073) (960) (868) (816)
Smelting and refining3 R/oz (925) (877) (832) (883) (789)
Shared services R/oz (661) (639) (503) (446) (622)
Management and
marketing services R/oz (173) (228) (161) (173) (239)

R/oz (9,182) (8,843) (7,815) (7,013) (7,069)

% increase in cost Mining % (5.8%) (12.4%) (15.4%) (0.9%) n/a
of production Concentrating % 2.1% (11.8%) (10.6%) (6.4%) n/a

Smelting and refining3 % (5.4%) (5.4%) 5.8% (11.8%) n/a
Shared services % (3.3%) (27.2%) (12.8%) 28.3% n/a
Management and
marketing services % 24.1% (41.9%) 7.0% 27.7% n/a

% (3.8%) (13.1%) (11.4%) 0.8% n/a

Footnotes:
1 Capital expenditure is the aggregate of the purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (includes capital accruals and excludes

capitalised interest).

2 It should be noted that with the restructuring of the business in 2011, 2010 and 2009 the cost allocation between business units has been changed and,
therefore, whilst the total is on a like-for-like basis, individual line items are not totally comparable.

3 Comprises of Smelting and Refining costs as well as direct Process Operations shared costs.

4 Exchange rates are calculated using the market average daily closing rate over the course of the period.

5 The cost per PGM ounce sold has been replaced by the cost of production from 2013.

Operating Statistics – 5 Year Review
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Reserves & Resources

• Revisions to the South African Mineral Resource estimates were confined to the Marikana and Pandora properties. The
Akanani, Limpopo and Loskop Mineral Resources were unchanged during 2013.

– The Mineral Resources at Marikana (excluding tailings) increased by 3.9 Moz of 3PGE+Au in 2013. This increase is
attributed to the extension of the Inferred Mineral Resources of 2.5 Moz and Indicated Mineral Resources of 2.0 Moz which
was offset by a decrease of Measured Mineral Resources.

– Measured Mineral Resources decreased by 0.6 Moz 3PGE+Au. Mining depletion accounted for a decrease of 1.5 Moz
which was offset by an increase of 0.9 Moz converted from Indicated Mineral Resources. 

– There were no material changes in geological losses at Marikana.

– The decrease of 0.05 Moz 3PGE+Au to the Pandora Mineral Resource was due to mining depletion.

• No revisions were made to the Mineral Resources in Sudbury and Kenya during 2013.

• The following revisions to the Marikana Mineral Reserves were made in 2013, there being no changes to the Limpopo Reserves:

– The focus at Marikana in 2013 was on ore reserve management which resulted in an increase of 0.4 Moz 3PGE+Au
Proved Mineral Reserves compared with 2012.

– The total UG2 Reef and Merensky Reef Mineral Reserves increased by 1.6 Moz to 42.9 Moz of 3PGE+Au due to an
increase in the Probable Mineral Reserves at K4 Shaft Merensky Reef as well as the inclusion of 0.7 Moz 3PGE from the
Eastern Platinum Number One tailings dam.

A summary of the changes to Lonmin’s Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves are shown in the following tables and should be
read in conjunction with the Key Assumptions section of this report. Detailed breakdowns of these Mineral Resources and Mineral
Reserves into their respective confidence categories can be found in the sections specific to the individual areas.

PGE Mineral Resources (Total Measured, Indicated & Inferred)1

30-Sep-2013 30-Sep-2012

Mt4 3PGE+Au Pt Mt4 3PGE+Au Pt
Area g/t Moz Moz g/t Moz Moz

Marikana 755.4 4.85 117.8 71.0 732.7 4.83 113.9 68.5
Limpopo2 128.8 4.07 16.8 8.4 128.8 4.07 16.8 8.4
Limpopo Baobab shaft 46.1 3.91 5.8 3.0 46.1 3.91 5.8 3.0
Akanani 216.0 3.84 26.7 10.9 216.0 3.84 26.7 10.9
Pandora JV 65.9 4.65 9.8 6.0 66.2 4.65 9.9 6.0
Loskop JV3 10.1 4.04 1.3 0.8 10.1 4.04 1.3 0.8
Sudbury PGM JV3 0.4 6.30 0.07 0.04 0.4 6.30 0.07 0.04
Tailings Dam3 22.5 1.10 0.8 0.5 22.5 1.10 0.8 0.5

Total Mineral Resource 1,245.1 4.48 179.1 100.5 1,222.7 4.46 175.2 98.1

Footnotes:
1) All figures are reported on a Lonmin Plc attributable basis, the relative proportions of ownership per project being shown in the Key Assumptions section

of this report. Mineral Resources are reported Inclusive of Mineral Reserves.

2) Limpopo excludes Baobab shaft.

3) Loskop and Sudbury PGM JV exclude Rh, due to insufficient assays, and therefore 2PGE+Au are reported. Tailings Dam exclude Au, due to assay values
below laboratory detection limit, and therefore are reported as 3PGE.

4) Quantities and grades have been rounded to one or two decimal places, therefore minor computational errors may occur.
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PGE Mineral Reserves (Total Proved & Probable)1

30-Sep-2013 30-Sep-2012

Mt4 3PGE+Au Pt Mt3 3PGE+Au Pt
Area g/t Moz Moz g/t Moz Moz

Marikana 281.2 3.98 36.0 21.9 269.8 4.06 35.2 21.3
Limpopo2 42.4 3.20 4.4 2.2 42.4 3.20 4.4 2.2
Limpopo Baobab shaft 9.4 3.16 1.0 0.5 9.4 3.16 1.0 0.5
Pandora JV 6.1 4.11 0.8 0.5 6.3 4.02 0.8 0.5
Tailings Dam3 21.1 1.10 0.7 0.5 – – – –

Total Mineral Reserve 360.2 3.70 42.9 25.6 327.9 3.92 41.3 24.4

Footnotes:
1) All figures are reported on a Lonmin Plc attributable basis, the relative proportions of ownership per project being shown in the Key Assumptions section

of this report.

2) Limpopo excludes Baobab shaft.

3) Tailings Dam exclude Au, due to assay values below laboratory detection limit, and therefore are reported as 3PGE.

4) Quantities have been rounded to one decimal place and grades have been rounded to two decimal places, therefore minor computational errors may occur.

Key assumptions pertaining to the 2013 Lonmin Mineral Resource and Mineral Reserve Statement
• Mineral Resources are reported inclusive of Mineral Reserves. Mineral Resources that are converted to Mineral Reserves are

also included in the Mineral Resource statement.

• All Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves quoted reflect Lonmin’s attributable portion only. There have been no changes in
the percentage attributable to Lonmin during the year. The following percentages were applied to the total Mineral Resource
and Mineral Reserve for each property:

Limpopo –
Limpopo – Baobab & Sudbury

Marikana Dwaalkop JV Doornvlei Akanani Pandora JV Loskop JV PGM JV

Lonmin Attributable 82% 41% 82% 74% 34.85% 41% 50%

– Incwala Resources, Lonmin’s BEE partner, owns 18% of both Western Platinum Limited and Eastern Platinum Limited,
and 26% of Akanani. Lonmin’s 23.56% holding in the share capital of Incwala does not factor in the calculations of its
attributable interest.

– Limpopo includes Dwaalkop JV, which is a JV between Mvelaphanda Resources (50%) and Western Platinum (50%) that
is managed by Lonmin.

– Eastern Platinum Limited has an attributable interest of 42.5% in the Pandora JV together with Anglo Platinum (42.5%),
Mvelaphanda Resources (7.5%) and the Bapo Ba Mogale Mining Company (7.5%).

– Western Platinum Limited has an attributable interest of 50% in the Loskop JV together with Boynton Investments (50%).

– Lonmin’s share of the Sudbury PGM JV is currently a nominal 50%, of the product from any PGE deposit developed on
the participating properties. The agreement is that Lonmin will be allocated its pro-rata share in PGE’s and Vale will be
allocated its pro-rata share in Nickel, Copper, Cobalt, Gold and Silver. The exchange of metals will be governed by
prevailing metal prices at the time of the refined metal production.

– Lonmin has a 49% attributable portion of the Bumbo Mineral Resource in terms of The West Kenya Earn-in and Joint
Venture Agreement between African Barrick Gold Limited and AfriOre International (Barbados) Limited, a wholly owned
subsidiary of Lonmin Plc.

• Where grades are reported as 3PGE+Au these are a summation of the Platinum, Palladium, Rhodium and Gold grades.
Modelling of available assay information, obtained from drillhole core, indicates that the proportion of 3PGE+Au contained in
5PGE+Au, which includes Ruthenium and Iridium, is approximately as follows:

UG2 Merensky Platreef

Marikana 0.81 0.92 –
Marikana Tailings 0.78 – –
Limpopo 0.86 0.93 –
Akanani – – 0.95
Pandora 0.81 – –

Reserves & Resources
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• Where Nickel (Ni) and Copper (Cu) grade estimates are derived from sufficient reliable information for the various Mineral
Resources, they are reported as average grades in percent. These grades represent acid soluble proportions. Acid soluble
percentages of Ni and Cu are closely correlated to the metals present as sulphide minerals.

• Mineral Resources are reported as “in-situ” tonnes and grade and allow for geological losses such as faults, dykes, potholes
and Iron Rich Ultramafic Pegmatite.

• Mineral Resources are estimated using a minimum true width of at least 90 cm and therefore may include some diluting material.

• Proved and Probable Mineral Reserves are reported as tonnes and grade expected to be delivered to the mill, are inclusive of
diluting materials and allow for losses that may occur when the material is mined.

• Tailings dams are residual deposits comprised of the rejected material from the process that converts ore into concentrate.
Lonmin’s tailings dams contain quantities of PGE’s, base metals and chromium. Lonmin has historically and continues to
assess the metal content and economic viability of reprocessing the metals in its tailings dams, and thus these residual
deposits continue to form part of its future Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves. Lonmin is currently assessing the Eastern
Platinum Limited Number 1 tailings dam (ETD1) dam that was formed from UG2 Reef tailings. ETD1 is located within the
Eastern Platinum mining right area. A Mineral Resource and Mineral Reserve estimate of the ETD1 has been included. The
remaining tailing dams will be considered as and when the appropriate assessments take place.

• For economic studies and the determination of pay limits, consideration was made of both short and long-term revenue drivers.
The following long-term global assumptions were used:

– Precious Metals (per Troy Ounce): Pt USD1,865, Pd USD888, Rh USD1,348, Ru USD95, Ir USD630, Au USD1,385.

– Base Metals (per metric tonne): Ni USD14,890, Cu USD7,233.

– Average exchange rate of USD1 to ZAR9.0.

• Dilutions are quoted as waste tonnes / (waste + ore tonnes) in percent.

• Bumbo Mineral Resources are reported using a cut-off grade of 0.7% copper equivalent.

• The copper equivalent formula for Bumbo was based upon commodity prices at the close of the market on 25 July 2011,
namely:

– Copper: USD9,633/tonne ($Cu)

– Zinc: USD2,441/tonne ($Zn)

– Gold: USD1,614/ounce ($Au)

– Silver: USD40/ounce ($Ag)

– The copper equivalent (CuEq) is as follows:

CuEq (%) = Cu% + (Zn%*($Zn/100)/($Cu/100)) + (Au g/t*($Au/31.1034768)/($Cu/100)) +
(Ag g/t*($Ag/31.1034768)/($Cu/100))

• Unless otherwise stated, the Lonmin Mineral Resources and Reserves estimates were prepared or supervised by various
persons employed by Lonmin.

Reserves & Resources
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Zero harm is achievable
and all injuries are
preventable.

Embedding our credibility around operational delivery.

A stable and predictable industrial
relations environment is essential.
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Lonmin’s shares are quoted on the London and Johannesburg stock exchanges and ADRs representing Lonmin shares are also
traded in an OTC market in the USA.

UK share register information
All holdings of the Company’s shares are maintained on the Company’s UK share register, with the exception of those held on the
South African branch register. The register is administered by Equiniti Registrars (formerly known as Lloyds TSB Registrars).

You can access information about your shareholding including balance movements and dividend payments on Shareview, an
electronic communications service provided by Equiniti. It also allows you to change your registered address details, set up a dividend
mandate, vote at general meetings and register to receive Company communications electronically.

To register for this free service, visit www.shareview.co.uk and follow the simple instructions. You will need your shareholder reference
number, which can be found on your share certificate, dividend tax voucher or proxy card.

South African branch register information
The South African branch register is administered by Link Market Services South Africa (Pty) Ltd.

Contact details for both the UK and South African registrars can be found in Corporate Information on page 182.

Dividends
No dividends will have been recommended or declared for the year ended 30 September 2013.

The following information regarding UK Capital Gains Tax and Individual Savings Accounts is relevant for UK resident, ordinarily
resident and domiciled individual shareholders. None of this information constitutes financial or tax advice and is intended as a
general guide only.

UK Capital Gains Tax
For UK Capital Gains Tax purposes, shareholders disposing of shares in either Lonmin Plc or Lonrho Africa Plc after 7 May 1998,
who held shares prior to that date, should apportion the base cost of their original Lonmin Plc shares between the two companies.
Based on the closing share prices on 7 May 1998 of Lonmin Plc and Lonrho Africa Plc, this apportionment would be 80.498% for
Lonmin Plc and 19.502% for Lonrho Africa Plc.

The Company’s capital reduction was completed on 22 February 2002. For the purposes of assessing any liability to capital gains tax, 
UK shareholders should apportion 13.33% of the base cost of their original shareholding to the capital reduction and the balance to
their new holding of ordinary shares of $1 each.

The base cost of Lonmin Plc ordinary shares, for shareholders who held shares prior to that date, at 31 March 1982 was 38.9 pence
(as adjusted for subsequent capitalisation issues), 155.6 pence as adjusted for the consolidation of the Company’s shares on 24 April
1998, 125.3 pence as adjusted for the de-merger of Lonrho Africa Plc on 7 May 1998, 266.1 pence as adjusted for shareholders who
took up their full entitlement of ordinary shares in the Rights Issue in June 2009 and 185 pence as adjusted for shareholders who took
up their full entitlement of ordinary shares in the Rights Issue in November 2012, assuming in each case that shares have been held
continuously by the relevant shareholder throughout the period. The precise tax analysis for each shareholder may depend on the
shareholder’s own position, for example, shareholders who did not take up their full entitlement in the Rights Issues but who instead
sold some or all of their rights may be required to adjust their base cost in their Lonmin Plc ordinary shares and the base costs
provided above are indicative only. Shareholders should seek independent tax advice as to their liability for capital gains tax in the
event that they sell their Lonmin Plc ordinary shares.

Lonmin Corporate Individual Savings Account (ISAs)
Investec Wealth & Investment Limited offers the Lonmin Corporate Stocks & Shares ISA for investment in Lonmin Plc shares.

UK registered shareholders may subscribe to the Lonmin Corporate ISA up to a maximum of £11,520 for the current tax year 2013/14
in cash to purchase Lonmin Plc shares or by direct transfer of eligible employee shares within 90 days of the release from an eligible
Sharesave Scheme up to a maximum value of £11,520 for the current tax year 2013/14. Maximum values for the forthcoming tax
year 2014/15 have yet to be announced by HMRC.

Contact details can be found in Corporate Information on page 182. Investec Wealth & Investment Limited is regulated by the FSA.
This is not a recommendation that shareholders should subscribe to the ISA. The advantages of holding shares in an ISA vary
according to individual circumstances and shareholders who are in any doubt should consult their financial adviser. 

ShareGift
Lonmin is proud to support ShareGift, an independent charity share donation scheme administered by the Orr Mackintosh
Foundation (registered charity number 1052686). Those shareholders who hold only a small number of shares, the value of which
make them uneconomic to sell, can donate the shares to ShareGift who will sell them and donate the proceeds to a wide range of
charities. Further information about ShareGift can be obtained from their website at www.ShareGift.org and a ShareGift transfer form
can be downloaded from the Company’s website.

Shareholder Information
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Beware of share fraud

Fraudsters use persuasive and high-pressure tactics to lure investors into scams.

They may offer to sell shares that turn out to be worthless or non-existent, or to buy shares at an inflated price
in return for an upfront payment.

While high profits are promised, if you buy or sell shares in this way you will probably lose your money.

How to avoid share fraud
1 Keep in mind that firms authorised by the FCA are unlikely to contact you out of the blue with an offer to buy or sell shares.

2 Do not get into a conversation, note the name of the person and firm contacting you and then end the call.

3 Check the Financial Services Register from www.fca.org.uk to see if the person and firm contacting you is authorised by the FCA.

4 Beware of fraudsters claiming to be from an authorised firm, copying its website or giving you false contact details.

5 Use the firm’s contact details listed on the Register if you want to call it back.

6 Call the FCA on 0800 111 6768 if the firm does not have contact details on the Register or you are told they are out of date.

7 Search the list of unauthorised firms to avoid at www.fca.org.uk/scams.

8 Consider that if you buy or sell shares from an unauthorised firm you will not have access to the Financial Ombudsman
Service or Financial Services Compensation Scheme.

9 Think about getting independent financial and professional advice before you hand over any money.

10 Remember: if it sounds too good to be true, it probably is!

Report a scam
If you are approached by fraudsters please tell the FCA using the share fraud reporting form at www.fca.org.uk/scams, where
you can find out more about investment scams.

You can also call the FCA Consumer Helpline on 0800 111 6768.

If you have already paid money to share fraudsters you should contact Action Fraud on 0300 123 2040.

Shareholder Information
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Corporate Information

Lonmin Plc
Registered in England and Wales
Company number 103002

Registered in the Republic of South
Africa as an external company
Registration number 1969/000015/10)

TIDM for Lonmin Ordinary Shares traded
on the LSE: LMI
ISIN: GB0031192486 
JSE code: LON

Registered Office
Lonmin Plc
4 Grosvenor Place
London
SW1X 7YL
United Kingdom
Tel: +44 (0)20 7201 6000
Fax: +44 (0)20 7201 6100
E-mail: contact@lonmin.com
Website: www.lonmin.com

Operational Headquarters
Physical address:
34 Melrose Boulevard
1st Floor
Building 13
Melrose North 
Melrose Arch
2196
South Africa

Postal address:
PO Box 98811
Sloane Park
2152
South Africa
Tel: +27 (0)11 218 8300
Fax: +27 (0)11 218 8310
E-mail: contact@lonmin.com
Website: www.lonmin.com

Company Secretary
Rob Bellhouse BSc FCIS

Head of Investor Relations
Tanya Chikanza

External Auditors
KPMG Audit Plc
15 Canada Square
London
E14 5GL
United Kingdom
Tel: +44 (0)20 7311 1000

Joint Financial Advisers
Greenhill & Co. International LLP
Lansdowne House
57 Berkeley Square
London
W1J 6ER
London
United Kingdom
Tel: +44 (0)20 7198 7400
Fax: +44 (0)20 7198 7500

Joint Stockbrokers and 
Financial Advisers
United Kingdom:
J.P. Morgan Securities plc
25 Bank Street
Canary Wharf
London
E14 5JP
Tel: +44 (0)20 7742 1000

HSBC Bank plc
8 Canada Square
London
E14 5HQ
Tel: +44 (0)20 7991 8888

South Africa:
J.P. Morgan Equities South Africa (Pty)
Limited
1 Fricker Road
Illovo
Johannesburg 2196
South Africa
Tel: +27 (0)11 507 0430
Fax: +27 (0)11 507 0503
    

Registrars
Equiniti
Aspect House
Spencer Road
Lancing
West Sussex
BN99 6DA
United Kingdom

UK Callers:
Tel: +44 (0)871 384 20521

Fax: +44 (0)871 384 2100

International Callers:
Tel: +44 (0)121 415 0230
Fax: +44 (0)1903 883113
Website: www.shareview.co.uk

Link Market Services South Africa 
(Pty) Ltd
Physical address:
13th Floor
Rennie House
19 Ameshoff Street
2001 Braamfontein 
South Africa

Postal address:
PO Box 4844
Johannesburg 2000
South Africa
Tel: +27 (0)11 713 0800
Fax: +27 (0)866 742450
Website: www.linkmarketservices.co.za

ADR Depository
BNY Mellon Shareowner Services
PO Box 358016
Pittsburgh
PA 15252-8016

US Callers: 
Tel: +1 888 269 2377 (toll free)

International Callers: 
Tel: +1 201 680 6825
E-mail: shrrelations@bnymellon.com
Website: www.adrbnymellon.com

ISA Provider
Investec Wealth & Investment Limited
Corporate ISA Department
The Plaza
100 Old Hall Street
Liverpool
L3 9AB
United Kingdom
Tel: +44 (0)151 237 2160
Fax: +44 (0)151 227 1730

1 Calls to this number cost 8p per minute plus network extras. Lines are open 8.30am to 5.30pm,
Monday to Friday.

Financial Calendar

30 January 2014 AGM and Q1 Production Report
12 May 2014 Interim Results including Q2 Production Report
24 July 2014 Q3 Production Report
November 2014 Final Results including Q4 Production Report

Please note that the Production Report for Q1 and Q3 incorporate the Company’s Interim Management Statements for the
respective half year.
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Acronyms and Abbreviations

ACT Advanced Corporation Tax

ADRs American Depository Receipts

AEL Atmospheric Emissions Licence

Ag Silver

AGM Annual General Meeting

AMCU Association of Mineworkers and
Construction Union

APB’s Auditing Practices Board’s

ASAP Annual Shareholder Award Plan

Au Gold

BEE Black Economic Empowerment

BMR Base metal refinery

BSC Balanced Scorecard

CCMA Commission for Conciliation, Mediation
and Arbitration

CEO Chief Executive Officer

CGUs Cash generating units

CO2 Carbon dioxide

CO2-e Carbon dioxide equivalent

Code The UK Corporate Governance Code
published by the FRC in June 2010

CODM Chief Operating decision maker

Cu Copper

CuEq Copper equivalent

CVP Community Value Proposition

DABP Deferred Annual Bonus Plan

DABP MA Deferred Annual Bonus Plan Matched Awards

DBE Department of Basic Education

DMR Department of Mineral Resources

DTR The Disclosure Rules and Transparency Rules
issued by the FSA

EBIT Earnings Before Interest and Taxation

EBITDA Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation
and Amortisation

EPL Eastern Platinum Limited

EPS Earnings Per Share

ESOP Employee Share Option Plan

ESOS Executive Share Option Schemes

ETD1 Eastern Platinum Limited Number 1
     tailings dam

ETFs Exchange Traded Funds

EU European Union

EVP Executive Vice President

Exco Executive Committee

FIFR Fatality Injury Frequency Rate

FRC Financial Reporting Council

FSA Financial Services Authority

GAAP Generally accepted accounting principles

GHG Greenhouse gases

GJ Gigajoules

GLC Greater Lonmin Community

g/t Grammes per tonne

HDSAs Historically Disadvantaged South Africans

HIV / AIDS Human immuno-deficiency virus / acquired
immune deficiency syndrome

HMRC Her Majesty’s Revenue & Customs

ICAM Incident Cause Analysis Methodology

IDPs Individual Development Plans

IFRSs International Financial Reporting Standards

Incwala Incwala Resources (Pty) Limited

IP  Incwala Platinum (Pty) Limited

Ir   Iridium

ISA Individual Savings Account

IASB International Accounting Standards Board

ISO International Standards Organisation

JSE Johannesburg Stock Exchange

JV  Joint Venture

Koz Thousand ounces

KPIs Key Performance Indicators

Kt  Thousand tonnes

LBITDA Loss Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and
Amortisation

LED Local economic development

LPS Loss per share

LRP Lonmin Renewal Plan

LSE London Stock Exchange

LTI Lost time injury

LTIFR Lost time injury frequency rate

LTIP Long-Term Incentive Plan

M3 Cubic metres

MHDC Marikana Housing Development Corporation

MISS Management induced safety stoppages

Moz Million ounces

MPRDA Mineral and Petroleum Resources
     Development Act

MWh Megawatts per hour

N.A Not Applicable

NED Non-executive Director

NGO Non-government organisation

Ni  Nickel

NUM National Union of Mineworkers

OTC Over-the-counter

OVCs Orphaned and vulnerable children

Oz Ounce

Pd Palladium

PGE Platinum Group Elements

PGMs Platinum Group Metals

PMR Precious metal refinery

Pt  Platinum

PwC PricewaterhouseCoopers Ltd

R   South African Rand

Rh Rhodium

RTSR Relative Total Shareholder Return

SAYE Save as you earn

Shanduka Shanduka Group (Proprietary) Limited

SLP Social and Labour Plan

SO2 Sulphur dioxide

S&P Stay & Prosper Plan

TB Tuberculosis

TCTC Total Cost to Company

TJ Terajoules

UK United Kingdom

UASA UASA – The Union

WPL Western Platinum Limited

ZAR South African Rand

Zn Zinc

$    Dollar

£    Great British Pound
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Sixteen-Eight Memorial Trust
Following the tragic events around our mine, Lonmin has committed, through the Sixteen-Eight Memorial Trust, to funding
the education of all the children of the employees who lost their lives. This funding will cover education costs from primary
school to university. R0.59 million has been distributed to date for basic and higher education. The fund is currently at
R5.7 million and is open to further donations from the public.

The bank account to which donations should be made is:

Branch Name: The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited (Sandton Branch, Johannesburg, South Africa)
Branch Code: 01-9205
Trust Current Account: 42 099 362 2
A/C Name: Sixteen-Eight Memorial
Swift Code: SBZAZAJJ

Disclaimer
The Strategic Report has been prepared to provide the Company’s shareholders with a fair review of the business of the Group and a description of the
principal risks and uncertainties it faces. It may not be relied upon by anyone, including the Company’s shareholders, for any other purpose. The Strategic
Report is designed to provide shareholders with an understanding of the Company’s business and the environment in which it operates, and, of necessity,
only focuses on material issues and facts. The omission of reporting on any specific topic should not be taken as implying that it is not being addressed.
It should be read in conjunction with the section titled ‘A Deeper Look’ and the Directors’ Report which contain other more information which cannot be
included in the Strategic Report, on the grounds of materiality.

The Strategic Report and other sections of the Annual Report and Accounts contain forward-looking statements. By their nature, forward-looking statements
involve a number of risks, uncertainties and future assumptions because they relate to events and / or depend on circumstances that may or may not occur in
the future and could cause actual results and outcomes to differ materially from those expressed in or implied by the forward-looking statements. No
assurance can be given that the forward-looking statements will be realised. Statements about the Directors’ expectations, beliefs, hopes, plans, intentions
and strategies are inherently subject to change and they are based on expectations and assumptions as to future events, circumstances and other factors
which are in some cases outside the Company’s control. The information contained in the Annual Report and Accounts has been prepared on the basis of the
knowledge and information available to Directors at the date of its preparation and the Company does not undertake any obligation to update or revise the
Annual Report and Accounts during the financial year ahead (other than as required by law or regulation). It is believed that the expectations set out in these
forward-looking statements are reasonable, but they may be affected by a wide range of variables which could cause actual results or trends to differ materially.
The forward-looking statements should be read in particular in the context of the specific risk factors for the Company, including those identified in the
Strategic Report. The Company’s shareholders are cautioned not to place undue reliance on the forward-looking statements. Shareholders should note that
certain parts of this Annual Report and Accounts have not been audited or otherwise independently verified.

Credits
The paper used in this report is produced using virgin wood fibre from well managed forests in Brazil,
Sweden and Germany with FSC® certification. All pulps used are Elemental Chlorine Free (ECF) and 
manufactured at a mill that has been awarded the ISO14001 and EMAS certificates for environmental
management. The use of the FSC logo identifies products which contain wood from well-managed
forests certified in accordance with the rules of the Forest Stewardship Council.

Pureprint Group Limited is FSC certified, PEFC certified and ISO 14001 certified showing that it is
committed to all round excellence and improving environmental performance is an important part of
this strategy. We aim to reduce at source the effect our operations have on the environment, and are
committed to continual improvement, prevention of pollution and compliance with any legislation or
industry standards. Printed by Pureprint Group Limited, a Carbon Neutral Printing Company.

Designed and produced by MAGEE
www.magee.co.uk
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The context
The mining industry is at a crossroad, calling
for a new collaborative model for decision
making to resolve issues and disagreements
before they turn into tension and mistrust.

Our commitment
We are committed to a process, including
fundamental change, to rebuild trust with
all our stakeholders.

g Safe sustainable start-up

g Improved Lost Time Injury Frequency
Rates (LTIFR)

g Production ramped up

g Corporate funding structure secured

g Focus on cost management continues

Lonmin

Government Investors

Use of invested
capital and infrastructure
work with labour and
industry to make better
use of invested capital
and infrastructure

Migrant and local
labour supply

review the current shift
system and leave cycles

Employee relations
and engagement

LONMIN

Employees/
communities

The Lonmin Renewal Plan:
a platform for operational excellence

We have developed a strategy
to navigate these uncertain
times and we have the expertise
and know how to safely and
sustainably deliver our cost
control ambitions, underpinned
by sound technical planning.

2013 Change
Initiatives

• Strong performance across the Company

– Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR) of 3.50, 
a 15.9% improvement on previous year, but sadly 
3 fatalities

– Production ramp up achieved well ahead of
Renewal Plan

– Highest Marikana underground tonnes hoisted
in 6 years (11 million)

– 751,000 Platinum ounces in concentrate achieved,
highest in 6 years and a 10.5% increase on last year

– Platinum sales of 696,000 ounces, exceeding
guidance of 660,000 ounces; pipeline rebuilt

– Immediately available ore reserves at 3.8 million
centares, up 14.7%

– Concentrator recoveries at record level at 87.0%

• Financial results

– Rights Issue of December 2012, raised net
proceeds of $767 million

– Underlying profit before tax of $158 million
($57 million in 2012)

– Net cash of $201 million (net debt of $421 million 
in 2012)

– Cost of production per PGM ounce increase
contained to 3.8% – exceeding guidance and lower
than South African inflation

– Capital expenditure of $159 million (below guidance
of $175 million – in line with guidance in Rand terms)

– Underlying Earnings per Share of 20.5 cents 
versus 3.9 cents in prior year (restated for impact 
of Rights Issue)

How we performed
in 2013:

Momentum re-established
at the beginning of the
financial year – we exceeded
our guidance.
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PROJECT
TEAM

Empowerment
address needs and
challenges of our
communities and
employees including

ESOPs and
Community trusts

Delivering shared value
We have established a project team
to deliver value for all our stakeholders
by focusing on five key initiatives,
which enhance the operational
achievements of the Lonmin
Renewal Plan.

C
OL

LABORATIVE

APPROACH

Housing and
accommodation

continue conversion of
hostels and contribute to

wellbeing and living conditions
of our employees and

communities

Lonmin Charter

Our Mission

To grow and build our portfolio
of high quality assets.

To deliver the requirements
of the South African broad-
based socio-economic Mining
Charter and we welcome the
opportunity to transform our
business.

To build a value-based
culture, which is founded
on safe work, continuous
improvement, common
standards and procedures,
community involvement and
one that rewards employees
for high performance.

We are successful
when
Our employees live and work
safely and experience the 
personal satisfaction that
comes with high performance
and recognition.

Our shareholders are realising
a superior total return on their
investment and support our
corporate sustainability values.

The communities in which we
operate value our relationships.

We are meeting our
commitments to all business
partners and our suppliers,
contractors, partners and
customers support our
Charter.

Our Values

Zero Harm
We are committed to zero
harm to people and the 
environment.

Integrity, Honesty & Trust
We are committed ethical 
people who do what we say
we will do.

Transparency
Open, honest communication
and free sharing of information.

Respect For Each Other
Embracing our diversity 
enriched by openness, 
sharing, trust, teamwork
and involvement.

High Performance
Stretching our individual and
team capabilities to achieve 
innovative and superior
outcomes.

Employee Self-Worth
To enhance the quality of life
for our employees and their
families and promote self 
esteem.

We are Lonmin, a primary producer of Platinum Group Metals. We create value by
the discovery, acquisition, development and marketing of minerals and metals.

We respect the communities and nations that host our operations and conduct 
business in a sustainable, socially and environmentally responsible way.

Roger Phillimore
Chairman

July 2013

Ben Magara
Chief Executive Officer

www.lonmin.com

Lonmin Plc
Annual Report and Accounts 2013
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Lonmin Plc
Registered in England, Company Number 103002
Registered Office: 4 Grosvenor Place, London SW1X 7YL

Annual Report and Accounts
For the year ended 30 September 2013

Lonmin Plc

Shared
Value…

Lonmin is one of the world’s largest primary
producers of Platinum Group Metals (PGMs).
These metals are essential for many industrial
applications, especially catalytic converters
for internal combustion engine emissions,
as well as their widespread use in jewellery.

Our core operations, consisting of eleven shafts and inclines, are situated

in the Bushveld Complex in South Africa, a country which hosts nearly

80% of global PGM resources. We have been granted a New Order

Mining Licence by the South African government for our core operations,

which runs to 2037 and is renewable to 2067. We have resources of

179 million troy ounces of PGMs and 43 million ounces of reserves.

We conduct business in a sustainable,
socially and environmentally responsible way.
We believe this is essential for Lonmin’s future and for the wellbeing of the communities
that host our operations.

See further information at www.lonmin.com

http://www.lonmin.com
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